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A Leading Partner in Innovative Mineral Solutions

2 0 2 0 
saw the entire world plunged 

into a battle against a Pandemic which 
has led to millions of lives being lost. 

Now in 2021, the fight against this Pandemic is 
still being fought across the globe by millions. We at 

Mintek would like to express our condolences to the 
families of those who lost loved ones to COVID-19. We 

also want to encourage those left behind to continue this 
fight with both their bodies and their minds.

In response to the Pandemic, Mintek repurposed its 
programmes and facilities to contribute to the national 
COVID-19 response. We established the capacity 
to produce hand and surface sanitisers which were 
distributed to our employees and key stakeholders. 
We also accelerated the development of COVID-19 
Rapid Diagnostics Test Kits and advanced our 
capacity to produce antigens and antibodies 
which are the key ingredients in the research, 

development and manufacture of rapid 
diagnostics kits. We also focused on 

repositioning the organisation to 
ensure that it remains relevant 

and true to its mission of 
being a global leader in 

innovative mineral 
solutions.

A Worldwide Pandemic Struck,
Mintek Countered with 

Innovation
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employees for the virus, protective clothing and equipment 
and development costs incurred for the in-house medical rapid 
test device. The lockdown and limitations on gatherings and 

movement brought about some savings on travel, training 
and conference fees. Overall expenditure decreased by 

13% which could also be attributed to the fact that 
there were no impaired fixed assets identified in the 
current year. Despite being in lockdown, Mintek 
adapted rapidly and income generation continued 
notwithstanding very difficult conditions. Overall 
revenue reduced to R554.3 million which is less 
than 1% lower than revenue in the 2019/20 
financial year. Mintek ended the financial year 
with a net surplus of R4.8 million which is 
significantly better than the R63.7 million deficit 
of 2019/2020.
  
During the year under review, Mintek successfully 

held the first Annual Strategic Planning Session 
with the newly appointed Board. The session 

was attended by Mintek Executive Management 
Committee (EXCO), Management Committee 

(ManCom) and Board members. The Chairperson of the 
Portfolio Committee on Mineral Resources and Energy Mr. 

Sahlulele Luzipo attended the session as a key guest speaker 
and provided valuable insight on what is expected from Mintek 
by the Parliament Portfolio Committee. 

Organisational challenges were underlined including a 
compelling case for change for Mintek to refocus its Research 
Development and Innovation (RDI) efforts to maintain relevance 
in the market. The Board and Management examined the 
mandate of Mintek against the new developments and found 
that it remains sound and equal to addressing key challenges 
facing the country. This journey brought about several strategic 
changes which included renewed focus on the research 
that the organization performs. Key strategic programmes 
were identified which support the mandate of our research 
institution and that of the Department of Mineral Resources 
and Energy (DMRE).

The Board approved the Mintek 2030 
Strategy in February 2021 which signaled 
the start of a new strategic direction for 
Mintek. What will remain on the radar of 
Mintek going forward are the five Strategic 
Goals which are to conduct relevant, applied 
research and technology innovation, foster 
industry establishment and expansion, 
develop a capable workforce, ensure 
financial sustainability, and lastly to develop 
and maintain world-class Research, 
Development & Innovation infrastructure.

On behalf of the Board, it gives me great 
pleasure to present to you the 2020/21 
Annual Report for Mintek. There is no doubt 
that the 2020/21 financial year was challenging, 
characterised by the impact that COVID-19 
had on key sectors and the situation has been 
no different for Mintek and the South African 
mining industry.

In a year that presented a true crisis and unique challenges, 
Mintek demonstrated resilience and dexterity by protecting its 
employees and societies, sustaining operations and delivering 
on major capital projects. None of us could have predicted 
the true impact of the pandemic on the global economy, but 
at this pivotal state, there were clear choices to be made and 
we set ourselves demanding and practical targets. Additional 
costs were incurred to respond to the pandemic. These 
costs included raw material purchases to produce the new 
Mintek sanitizer range, medical expenses incurred to test 

1 Board Chairperson’s Overview

Ms Futhi Zikalala Mvelase
Deputy Chairperson of the Board
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Mintek has the unique capabilities and set of competencies 
within the core staff base and therefore has the aptitude to 
respond and address some of the challenges which the country 
is facing. Mintek continued to enhance collaboration with key 
industry players to ensure that the organisation’s research 
and development efforts are directed toward partnering 
to solve specific customer needs and significant industry-
wide challenges. Various programs and initiatives have been 
implemented at Mintek to strengthen and increase the core of 
the organisation to deliver on our strategic objectives and key 
performance indicators. 

The Board remains confident of the business 
of Mintek and its core competence in working 
with industry partners to develop cutting-edge 
technologies for the mining industry and foster 
the country’s much needed economic growth. 

We will continue with our oversight role and efforts to ensure 
that the many achievable milestones set out by the National 
Development Plan come to fruition, as our country 
continues tirelessly to build a future for our youth. The 
unqualified audit opinion given to Mintek by the 
Auditor General South Africa is testament to the 
consistent resolve to uphold good governance. 

I am convinced, now more than ever, that 
we are on the right path in pursuing the 
new strategy which has a huge potential 
to improve Mintek’s competitiveness, 
establish and expand minerals-
based industries whilst contributing 
to knowledge generation, building the 
country’s knowledge-based economy, 
and strengthening South Africa’s global 
reputation in science and innovation. 

On behalf of the Board, I convey 
our appreciation to the Executive 
Management team ably led by the 
Chief Executive Officer, Dr Molefi 
Motuku. We also express our gratitude to 
our key stakeholders that have worked with 
us in ensuring that the year ends with notable 
achievements as outlined in this report. 

We are especially grateful to the Minister for the leadership 
and support he provided to us, while giving the Board space 
to exercise its independence in discharging its fiduciary duties. 
We are grateful for the financial and strategic support that we 
receive from the Department of Mineral Resources and Energy 
(DMRE).
 
Lastly, it is with deep sadness and sorrow that we reflect 
on the untimely death of the Mintek Board Chairperson, Dr 
Vanguard Mkosana, who was appointed to serve as Mintek 

Chairperson by Mineral Resources and Energy Minister, Mr 
Gwede Mantashe, starting from 1 June 2020. Through his 
sound leadership, Mintek embarked on a project to develop a 
new strategy to leverage our science, engineering, innovation 
and technology strengths. Even for the brief period he spent 
as the Chairperson, his contribution, leadership and extensive 
experience were what Mintek requires as we embark on a 
journey to implement the new Mintek 2030 Strategy.

Deputy Chairperson of the Board, 
Ms Futhi Zikalala Mvelase

The late Chairperson of the Mintek Board, Dr Vanguard 
Mkosana.
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1 Tjhebokakaretso ya Modulasetulo

Lebitsong la Lekgotla, ke thaba haholo 
ho le fa Pehelo ya Selemo le selemo ya 
2020/21 bakeng sa Mintek. Ha ho na pelaelo 
ya hore selemo sa ditjhelete sa 2020/21 e bile 
selemo sa diphephetso, se ikgethileng ka 
sekgahla seo COVID-19 e bileng le sona ho 
mekga ya motheo mme boemo bona bo ne 
bo sa fapana bakeng sa Mintek le indasteri ya 
morafo wa Afrika Borwa.

Selemong sena se hlahisitseng mathata a nnete le diphephetso 
tse ikgethileng, Mintek e bontshitse boitshireletso ka ho baballa 
basebetsi ba yona le setjhaba, ka ho hlokomela tswelopele ya 
mesebetsi esita le ho ba le tlhahiso bakeng sa diprojeke tse 
kgolo tsa kapitale. Ha ho le ya mong ho rona ya neng a ka 
nahana sekgahla sa nnete sa sewa ho moruo wa lefatshe, empa 
boemong bona ba bohlokwa, ho bile le dikgetho tse hlakileng 
tse lokelang ho etswa mme re ipehetse ditebello tse batlehang 

le tse ka etswang. Ho bile le ditshenyehelo tse eketsehileng e 
le ho lwantshana le sewa sena.  Ditshenyehelo tsena di ne di 
kenyeletsa ho rekwa ha thepa e so sebetswe e le ho hlahisa 
lethathamo la dinyanyatsi tse bolayang malwetse tse ntjha tsa 
Mintek, ditshenyehelo tsa bongaka tse rekilweng bakeng sa 

ho etsa diteko tsa basebetsi bakeng sa kokwanahloko, 
diaparo tsa boitshireletso le thepa esita le ditshenyehelo 

tsa tshebetso tse rekelwang bakeng sa disebediswa 
tsa bongaka tse etsang diteko tse sebediswang ka 
potlako hona meahong. 

Thibelo ya metsamao le ho kwallwa ha dikopano 
le metsamao ya batho di bakile dipoloko mabapi 
le bahahlaudi, kwetliso le ditjeo tsa ho tshwara 
diboka. Ka kakaretso ditshenyehelo di theohile ka 
13% e leng ho neng ho ka nahanelwa hore ho ne 
ho se na diasete tse tsepameng tse sitisitsweng 
tse ka hlwauwang selemong sena. Le ka ntle le ho 
ba ka hara nako ya thibelo ya metsamao, Mintek 
e ile ya itlwaetsa maemo kapele mme letsholo la 

theho ya mokotla kapa lekeno le ile la tswela pele 
ho sa natswe maemo ana a hlobaetsang hakana a 

thata. Ka kakaretso maemo a ditjhelete a ile a fokotseha 
ho a fihla ho R554.3 miliyone e leng e ka tlase ka 1% ho 

feta maemo a ditjhelete a selemo sa ditjhelete sa 2019/20. 
Mintek e kwetse selemo sa ditjhelete ka masalla a seatleng a 
R4.8 miliyone e leng e betere haholo ho feta kgaello ya R63.7 
miliyone ya selemo sa ditjhelete sa 2019/2020. 
 
Nakong ya selemo sena sa tekolo ya ditjhelete, Mintek 
e ile ya tshwara ka katleho seboka sa pele sa selemo sa 
Annual Strategic Planning Session hammoho le Lekgotla 
le kgethilweng botjha. Sebokeng sena ho ne ho tlile Mintek 
Executive Management Committee (EXCO), Management 
Committee (ManCom) le ditho tsa Lekgotla. Modulasetulo wa 
Komiti ya Potefoliyo bakeng sa Mehlodi ya Diminerale le Eneji 
e leng monghadi Sahlulele Luzipo o bile teng kopaneng ena 
jwaloka sebui se seholo sa moeti mme o ile a hlahisa ditaba 
tsa bohlokwa tsa dikeletso mabapi le se lebeletsweng ho 
Mintek ke Komiti ya Potefoliyo ya Palamente.

Diphephetso tsa mokgatlo di ile tsa hlokomelwa ka matla 
hammoho le taba e matla ya phetolo bakeng sa Mintek ho 
fetola tjhadimo ya yona ya mekutu ya Research Development 
and Innovation (RDI) bakeng sa ho sebetsa ka tshwanelo le ka 
katleho mmarakeng. Lekgotla le Bolaodi di hlahlobile thomo ya 
Mintek ho ya ka tshebetso e ntjha mme ha fumaneha hore e 
ntse e dutse ka tshwanelo e tshwanela ho rarolla diphephetso 
tsa motheo a tebileng naha. Leeto lena le tlisitse diphetoho tse 
fapaneng tsa tshebetso tse kenyeleditseng tjhadimo e ntjha 
ya diphuputso tseo mokgatlo o di etsang. Mananeo a motheo 
a ile a hlwauwa mme a tshehetsa thomo ya institjushene ya 
rona ya diphuputso le ya Department of Mineral Resources 
and Energy (DMRE).

Mofumahadi Futhi Zikalala Mvelase
Motlatsi wa Modulasetulo wa Lekgotla
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Lekgotla le dumelletse Mintek 2030 
Strategy ka Hlakola 2021 e leng e 
bontshitsweng qaleho e ntjha ya lehlakore 
la taolo bakeng sa Mintek.  Ho tla sala ho 
sephopholetsi sa Mintek ho tswela pele ke 
Diphetho tsa Tshebetso tse hlano e leng tse 
laolang diphuputso tse tshwanelehang, tse 
sebediswang le boitshimollelo ba theknoloji, 
ho kgothaletsa ho thehwa ha indasteri le 
katoloso, ho ntshetsa pele basebetsi ba nang 
le bokgoni, ho etsa bonnete ba ditjhelete tse 
tshwarellang, mme qetellong ho theha le ho 
baballa disebediswa tsa boemo ba lefatshe tsa 
Diphuputso, Ntshetsopele le Boitshimollelo. 

Mintek e na le bokgoni bo ikgethileng le sete ya boitsebelo 
ho basebetsi ba motheo mme ka hona e na le bohlwahlwa 
ba ho arabela le ho sebetsana le diphephetso tse ding tseo 
naha e tobaneng le tsona. Mintek e tswetse pele ho eketsa 
tshebedisano le baamehi ba bang ba motheo ba indasteri 
e le ho etsa bonnete ba hore mekutu ya diphuputso le 
ntshetsopele ya tsona ya mokgatlo e sebediswa bakeng sa 
ho sebetsa hammoho e le ho rarolla ditlhoko tse ikgethileng 
tsa bareki le diphephetso tse kgolo tsa indasteri ka bophara.  
Mananeo a fapaneng le mekutu a sebedisitswe mona Mintek 
e le ho matlafatsa le ho eketsa motheo wa mokgatlo e le ho 
phethahatsa merero ya rona ya tshebetso le ditshupo tsa 
motheo tsa tshebetso.
 
Lekgotla le dula le le motlotlo ka kgwebo ya 
Mintek le bokgoni ba boitsebelo ba yona ba 
motheo bakeng sa ho sebedisana le baamehi 
ba indasteri e le ho theha mekgwa ya bohlokwa 
ya theknoloji bakeng sa indasteri ya morafo le 
ho kgothaletsa kgolo e hlokwang haholo ya 
moruo.

Re tla tswela pele ka seabo sa rona sa tjhebokakaretso le 
mekutu e le ho etsa bonnete ba hore mekolokotwane e 
mengata e ka fihlellwang e beilweng ke Moralo wa Naha wa 
Ntshetsopele o a atleha, jwalokaha naha ya rona e tswela pele 
e sa kgathale ho aha bokamoso bakeng sa batjha ba rona.  
Maikutlo a tekolo e sa hlokeng tlhaloso a filweng Mintek ke 
Mohlahlobikakaretso wa Afrika Borwa ke bopaki ba tharollo ya 
kamehla bakeng sa ho ntshetsa pele puso ya nnete. 

Ke kgodisehile, jwale le kamehla, hore re tseleng e nepahetseng 
bakeng sa ho hlokomela mokgwa o motjha o nang le bokgoni 
bo phahameng ba ho ntlafatsa moya wa Mintek wa tlhodisano, 
ho theha le ho atolosa diindasteri tsa diminerale ha re ntse 
re ruta moloko wa tsebo, re aha moruo wa naha o theilweng 
hodima tsebo, le ho matlafatsa setumo sa lefatshe lohle sa 
Afrika Borwa ho saense le boitshimollelo.
 

Lebitsong la Lekgotla, ke fana ka thoholetso 
ho sehlopha sa Bolaodi sa Phethahatso 
se laolwang ke Mohlanka e Moholo wa 
Phethahatso e leng ngaka Molefi Motuku. 
Re bile re hlahisa thabo ya rona ho baamehi 
ba rona ba sehlooho ba sebeditseng le rona 
ho etsa bonnete ba hore selemo se fela ka 
diphihlello tsa bohlokwa jwalokaha di boletswe 
ka hara pehelo. 

Haholoholo re motlotlo ka Letona bakeng sa boetapele le 
tshehetso leo le re thusitseng ka tsona, le ho fa Lekgotla 
sebaka sa ho sebedisa boikemelo ba lona ho hlahisa 
mesebetsi ya lona ya ditjhelete. Re motlotlo ka tshehetso ya 
ditjhelete le mokgwa wa tshebetso tseo re di fumanang ho 
tswa ho Lefapha la Mehlodi ya Diminerale le Eneji Department 
of Mineral Resources and Energy (DMRE). 

Qetellong, ke ka maswabi a maholo le bomadimabe ho 
hopola lefu la tshohanyetso la Modulasetulo wa Lekgotla la 
Mintek e leng ngaka Vanguard Mkosana, ya ileng a amohelwa 
mosebetsing le ho sebetsa e le Modulasetulo wa Mintek ke 
Letona la Mehlodi ya Diminerale le Eneji e leng monghadi 
Gwede Mantashe, ho tloha ka la 1 Phupjane 2020. Ka lebaka 
la boetapele ba hae bo matla, Mintek e ile ya sebetsana le 
projeke ya ho ntshetsa pele mokgwa o motjha wa ho sebedisa 
matla a saense, boenjenere, boitshimollelo le theknoloji. Ka 
nako e kgutshwanyane eo a e sebeditseng e le Modulasetulo, 
nyehelo ya hae, boetapele le boiphihlelo bo boholo e bile 
seo Mintek e se batlang ha re ntse re tswela pele ka leeto ho 
sebedisa mokgwa oo motjha wa Mintek 2030 Strategy.

Motlatsi wa Modulasetulo wa Lekgotla,
Mofumahadi Futhi Zikalala Mvelase
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Egameni leBhodi, kuyintokozo enkulu 
kimina ukunethulela uMbiko Wonyaka 
WakwaMintek Ka-2020/21. Akungabazeki 
ukuthi unyaka wezimali ka-2020/21 ube 
yinselele, njengoba i-COVID-19 ikhahlameze 
imikhakha eyinhloko futhi kube yisimo 
esifanayo naseMintek kanye nayo yonke 
imboni yezezimayini yaseNingizimu Afrika.

Onyakeni odale inkinga yangempela nezinselele 
eziyingqayizivele, iMintek ibonise ukuqina namakhono 
ngokuvikela izisebenzi zayo nemiphakathi, isimamisa 
imisebenzi futhi yadiliva namaphrojekthi amakhulu ezizumbulu 
zemali.  Akekho kithina owayengabikezela umphumela 
wangempela wobhubhane emnothweni womhlaba, 
kodwa kulesi simo senguquko, kwakunezinto ezicacile 
okwakumele sikhethe kuzo futhi sazimisela imigomo enqala 
nesebenzisekayo. Kwadaleka izindleko ezengeziwe ukuze 

sisabele kulolu bhubhane. Lezi zindleko zazihlanganisa 
ukuthenga izinto zokwenza umsebenzi ukuze sikhiqize uhlobo 
olusha lwezibulala-magciwane (sanitizers) zakwaMintek, 
izindleko zezokwelapha ezadalwa ukuhlola igciwane 

kubasebenzi, izinto zokugqoka zokuzivikela kanye nemishini 
nezindleko zokuthuthukisa ezidalwe ukuthola umshini 

wokuhlola okusheshayo kwezokwelapha osebenza 
ngaphakathi enkampanini.

Ukuvaleleka kanye nokubekelwa imingcele 
mayelana nemibuthano nokuhamba kwenze 
kwaba nokonga okuthile ezimalini zezokuhamba, 
uqeqesho nezingqungquthela. Isiyonke imali 
esetshenzisiwe yehle ngo-13% okungase futhi 
kuthiwe kudalwe nawukuthi akubanga khona 
mpahla engathutheki eyonakalayo onyakeni 
esikuwo. Naphezu kokuvaleleka, iMintek 
yazivumelanisa nezimo ngokushesha futhi 
kwaqhubeka kwenziwa imali naphezu kwezimo 
ezinzima kakhulu. Isiyonke imali engenile yehla 

yafika ku-R554.3 miliyoni okungaphansi kuka-1% 
ngaphansi kwemali eyangena ngonyaka wezimali 

ka-2019/20. IMintek iqede unyaka wezimali inemali 
eyeqile engu-R4.8 miliyoni okungcono kakhulu kunemali 

eyashoda engu-R63.7 miliyoni ngo-2019/2020. 
  
Phakathi nonyaka esiwuhlolayo, iMintek ibambe ngempumelelo 
uMhlangano wokuqala Wonyaka Wokuhlela Okunamasu 
kukhona iBhodi elalisanda kumiswa. Kulo mhlangano 
kwakukhona i-Executive Management Committee (EXCO) 
yakwaMintek, i-Management Committee (ManCom) kanye 
namalungu eBhodi. USihlalo we-Portfolio Committee ye-
Mineral Resources and Energy uMnu. Sahlulele Luzipo weza 
kulo mhlangano njengesikhulumi esiyinhloko esivakashile futhi 
wanikeza ukuqonda okuwusizo ngalokho okulindelwe yi-
Parliament Portfolio Committee kuMintek.

Kwagcizelelwa izinselele ezikhona kule nhlangano 
kuhlanganisa nendaba enamandla yesidingo sokuba iMintek 
yenze ushintsho lokuba igxilise kabusha imizamo yayo ye-
Research Development and Innovation (RDI) ekubeni izigcine 
ifaneleka emakethe. IBhodi nabaPhathi bahlola umgomo 
weMintek lapho kubhekwa izenzakalo ezintsha futhi bathola 
ukuthi usenengqondo futhi uyalungelelana ekuxazululeni 
izinselele eziyinhloko ezibhekene naleli zwe. Le nkambo yaletha 
izinguquko eziningana ezinamasu ezazihlanganisa ukugxila 
okuvuselelwe kwezocwaningo olwenziwa yile nhlangano. 
Kwatholwa izinhlelo eziyinhloko ezinamasu ezisekela umgomo 
wenhlangano yethu yocwaningo kanye nowe-Department of 
Mineral Resources and Energy (DMRE).

IBhodi lagunyaza iMintek 2030 Strategy 
ngo-February 2021 okwabonisa isiqalo 
senkambo entsha enamasu ngeMintek. 

1 USihlalo Uthinta Amabal’engwe 

Ms Futhi Zikalala Mvelase
Deputy Chairperson of the Board
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Into iMintek eyohlala iyibheke ngeso elibukhali 
ukuya phambili yimiGomo Yamasu (Strategic 
Goals) emihlanu okuyile, ukwenza ucwaningo 
olufanelekayo, oluxazulula izinkinga 
ezingokoqobo nokusungulwa kwezinto 
zobuchwepheshe, ukukhuthaza ukumiswa 
nokwandiswa kwale mboni, ukwakha iqembu 
lezisebenzi ezinamakhono, ukuqinisekisa 
ukusimama ngokwezimali, futhi okokugcina 
ukwenza nokulondoloza ingqalasizinda 
yoCwaningo, Intuthuko Nokusungulwa 
Kwezinto esezingeni eliphezulu.

IMintek inabantu abanolwazi oluvelele namaqembu abantu 
abanamakhono phakathi kwezisebenzi zayo eziyinhloko 
futhi ngenxa yalokho inekhono elingokwemvelo lokusabela 
nokuxazulula ezinye zezinselele leli zwe elibhekene 
nazo. IMintek iyaqhubeka ithuthukisa ukusebenzisana 
nababambiqhaza abayinhloko kule mboni ukuqinisekisa ukuthi 
imizamo yocwaningo nentuthuko yale nhlangano iqondiswa 
ekusebenzisaneni nabanye ukuze kuxazululwe izidingo ezithile 
eziqondene namakhasimende kanye nezinselele zemboni 
yonkana. Izinhlelo ezihlukahlukene nemikhankaso kuye 
kwasetshenziswa eMintek ukuqinisa nokwandisa ingxenye 
eyinhloko yenhlangano ukuze yethule izinjongo zayo zamasu 
nezinkomba eziyinhloko zokufeza umsebenzi.

IBhodi lilokhu linethemba ngebhizinisi leMintek 
kanye namakhono eqembu eliyinhloko 
endabeni yokusebenzisana nophathina kule 
mboni ukwakha izinto zobuchwepheshe 
zezinga eliphezulu embonini yezezimayini 
kanye nokukhuthaza ukukhula komnotho 
okudingwa kakhulu yileli zwe. 

Sizoqhubeka nendima yethu yokwengamela nemizamo 
yokuqinisekisa ukuthi izigaba eziningi ezifinyelelekayo 
ezamiswa wuHlelo Lwentuthuko Lukazwelonke ziyafezwa, 
njengoba izwe lethu liqhubeka ngokuzikhandla ukwakhela 
intsha yethu ikusasa. Umbiko omuhle wokucubungulwa 
kwamabhuku ezimali onikwe iMintek yi-Auditor General South 
Africa uwubufakazi bokuzimisela okungashintshi ukusekela 
ukulawula okuhle. 

Ngiyakholiseka, manje kunanini, ukuthi sisendleleni efanele 
ekulandeleleleni isu elisha elinethuba elikhulu lokuthuthukisa 
ukufaneleka kweMintek, ukumisa nokwandisa izimboni 
ezisekelwe kumaminerali kuyilapho sifaka isandla ekwakheni 
ulwazi, ukwakha umnotho wezwe osekelwe olwazini, kanye 
nokuqinisa idumela leNingizimu Afrika emhlabeni wonke 
kwezesayensi nokusungulwa kwezinto.
 
Egameni leBhodi, ngidlulisela ukwazisa 
kuyithimba le-Executive Management eliholwa 

ngempumelelo nguChief Executive Officer, uDkt 
Molefi Motuku. Sifuna nokudlulisela ukubonga 
kwethu kubabambiqhaza bethu abayinhloko 
abaye basebenza nathi ekuqinisekiseni ukuthi 
lo nyaka uphela ngezimpumelelo ezifinyelelwe 
eziphawulekayo njengoba ziboniswe kulo 
mbiko.  

Sibonga ngokukhethekile kuNgqongqoshe ngobuholi 
nokusekela asinike khona, kuyilapho enika iBhodi ithuba 
lokusebenza ngokuzimele ekufezeni imisebenzi yayo ethinta 
ukwethembana kwezezimali. Siyabonga ngokusekelwa 
ngokwezimali nangamasu esikuthola ku-Department of 
Mineral Resources and Energy (DMRE).

Okokugcina, kungilethela ukudabuka okukhulu nosizi ukuba 
sicabange ngokushona ngaphambi kwesikhathi kukaSihlalo 
weBhodi lakwaMintek, uDkt Vanguard Mkosana, owamiswa 
ukuba abe uSihlalo wakwaMintek nguNgqongqoshe 
Wemithombo Yezezimayini Namandla, uMnu Gwede 
Mantashe, kusukela ngomhla ka-1 June 2020. Ngobuholi 
bakhe obuhle, iMintek yaqalisa iphrojekthi yokwakha isu elisha 
lokusebenzisa ngokunenzuzo isayensi yethu, ubunjiniyela, 
ukusungula izinto kanye namandla ezobuchwepheshe. Ngisho 
nesikhathi esincane asichithe enguSihlalo, iqhaza lakhe, 
ubuholi kanye nolwazi lwakhe olubanzi bekuyilokho iMintek 
ebikudinga njengoba siqalisa indlela yokusebenzisa iMintek 
2030 Strategy entsha. 

Deputy Chairperson of the Board,
Ms Futhi Zikalala Mvelase
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For the year under review (2020/21 FY), Mintek delivered 
a resilient and strong performance as we saw much of the 
world tested to its limits under the COVID-19 pandemic.  In 
addressing the pandemic, I am enormously proud of how our 
staff pulled together to come up with initiatives that add value 
to the country and the broader stakeholders.  We showed 
significant agility and flexibility in safeguarding the health 
and safety of our staff while supporting business continuity.  
In pursuit of re-establishing the scientific outputs of being 
the global leader in mineral and metallurgical innovation, we 
adopted a realistic outlook of the imminent opportunities and 
challenges.

Mintek embarked on a strategy to realign its vision of being “a 
global leader in mineral and metallurgical innovation” through 
innovation-led research, development, technology transfer 
and industry-facing research programmes.  Achieving the 
objectives outlined in the “Mintek Strategy 2030”, which was 
approved by the Board in February 2021, depends on the 
quality, caliber and skills of the available human resource base, 
especially those involved in technical research.
 
The Science, Engineering and Technology (SET) Human 
Capital Development programme has become a crucial 
vehicle in rebuilding research expertise and excellence in 
science and innovation.  The programme is aimed specifically 
at strengthening and expanding the cohort of research staff 

involved directly in SET activities to deliver on the organisational 
mandate as well as reposition Mintek internationally as a 
Research and Technology Organisation (RTO).  The focus of 
the programme is two-fold; firstly, embarking on a targeted 
recruitment drive to attract top talent with the requisite 
experience, qualifications and expertise needed to strengthen 
core technical disciplines.  Secondly, an internal investment 
programme aimed at affording internal staff the opportunity to 
upgrade their qualifications to an honours, master’s or doctoral 
level by pursuing research projects aligned with Mintek’s core 
business.  However, it is important to note that this initiative 
complements an existing and ongoing programme of staff 
development across the organisation focused on different 
stages of an individual’s career as well as those employed in 
various support activities such as finance, project management 
and technical certification.

Mintek currently has 58 SET staff members pursuing doctoral 
(20 employees) and master’s degrees (38 employees) in 
various fields of science and engineering as part of the SET 
Postgraduate Qualifications Enhancement Programme.  
The topics undertaken by these candidates are aimed at 
strengthening and developing new divisional competencies in 
core research areas.
 
Mintek also ensured that it builds and transforms its human 
capital base to better reflect the demographics and strategic 
needs of our country.  Out of a total staff headcount of 507, 
243 (48%) constitute the science, engineering and technology 
base.  Of these, 80% are black and 53% are female, while 
19% have doctoral qualifications and 22% have master’s level 
qualifications. Mintek invested R9.1 million at the end of the 
year under review towards human capital development and 
we are proud of the stellar achievements of our employees 
who graduated with flying colours.

A special recognition to our employees who have once again 
continued to raise the Mintek flag high on various local and 
international platforms and have received various recognitions 
for excellence in their research and engineering work.  Dr. 
Quinn Reynolds, Principal Engineer, has been appointed 
Associate Professor (extraordinary) in the Department of 
Process Engineering, Stellenbosch University.  Mr. Kondwani 
Banda, Research Engineer, was recently elected Treasurer 
for the Young Professionals Council of the Southern African 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMMYPC).  Dr. Amanda, 
Skepu, Chief Scientist, was recently appointed a member of 
the UNISA Life Sciences Faculty Advisory Board Committee.

To bolster business development, commercialization, business 
excellence and enablement, the organisation established new 
functions and competencies.  Consequently, an Office of 
Technology Transfer was established as a strategic business 
unit through the support from the National Intellectual Property 
Management Office (NIPMO).  Highly skilled professionals 
in the areas of intellectual property management and 
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CEO, Dr Molefi Motuku is speaking during the Board Induction 
held in July 2020

new products and services.  We will also continue collaborations 
with industry partners and other science councils to develop 
revenue generating applications and notable outputs.  We will 
continue to build on achievements made thus far in strategic 
areas with high impact; including Rare Earth Elements, 
production of battery precursor materials, incubating Fuel 
Cell manufacturing at Mintek, establishment and expansion of 
diagnostic industry in RSA, revival of the Ferroalloys industry 
in the country, unlocking the Bushveld Complex’s Titaniferous 
Magnetite, unlocking SA iron (Fe) Ore deposits for the future, 
as well as development of coal gasification technologies.

I would like to thank our Management and all our employees 
for their hard work, passion and commitment towards fulfilling 
the Mintek mandate as well as their support as we implement 
the new strategy. My sincere gratitude to the Board for their 
oversight and assuring support in the last year. I am confident 
that its composition and combined skills sets have the ability 
to steer this organisation forward.

Lastly, with a heavy heart, I would like to acknowledge the 
great loss suffered by Mintek and the Board following the 
sudden demise of the Chairperson of the Board of Mintek, Dr. 
Vanguard Mkosana, who passed away after a short illness.  
Indeed, the late Dr. Mkosana was a leader of great intellect 
and vision who contributed immensely to the formulation and 
ultimate realisation of the Mintek 2030 Strategy.  Mintek will 
continue in its trajectory to deliver on its primary responsibility 
to conduct applied research and develop technologies that 
have the potential to establish and expand minerals-based 
industries whilst contributing to knowledge generation, building 
the country’s knowledge-based economy and strength.

Chief Executive Officer
Molefi Motuku, PhD

commercialisation have since been appointed.  Following 
the completion of the research and development phase of 
various health related projects, Mintek embarked on a drive 
to commercialise health related innovations through the 
establishment of PhilisaSechaba Healthcare (Heal the Nation).  
Additionally, a new Research, Development and Innovation 
operations function was established to lead and drive business 
excellence and enablement. 

Mintek is committed to ensuring collaboration and strategic 
partnership with industry, higher education institutes and 
other research and technology organisations. These essential 
relationships form part of the organisation’s commitments to 
an array of key sustainability and national objectives.  Mintek 
is involved in a project for the development of advanced 
corrosion solutions for metal-based petrochemical and energy 
industries through research and development under the 
Ferrous Materials Development Network (FMDN), as part of 
the Advanced Materials Initiative (AMI) of the Department of 
Science and Innovation (DSI).  A contract was signed with an 
entity interested in developing a commercial smelting facility 
to process vanadium-bearing titanomagnetite (VTM) in our 
new flexible furnace facility, in order to demonstrate fluxless 
smelting of hot feed in a DC furnace.

For the reporting year, Mintek achieved total revenue amounting 
to R554.3 million, which is a decline of less than 1% from 
R557.5 million during FY 2019/2020.  Although this reduction 
seems insignificant, it is concerning that commercial revenue 
has declined significantly from R271.7 million to R256.2 million 
which represents a 6% decline that can be attributed to the 
global economic environment which was further exacerbated 
by the Covid-19 pandemic. Overall expenditure decreased 
by 13% from R628.6 million during FY 2019/2020 to R545.7 
million during FY 2020/2021.  Employee costs remains the 
principal cost driver for Mintek where 52% (48%: 2019/2020) 
of total cost related to salaries.  As the result of natural attrition 
as well as freezing of non-critical positions, this cost was 
reduced by R16.1 million to R284.0 million.  Our BEE spend 
as a percentage of total discretionary spend exceeded target 
and ended the year at 94%.

Mintek achieved a net surplus of R4.8 million despite the trying 
economic conditions and this is against a deficit of R63.7 
million during the FY2019/2020 where the main contributor 
to the net deficit was an increase in expenditure due to assets 
related exceptional items that were recognized during that 
year.  Mintek’s short term obligations were adequately covered 
by current assets at reporting date although the current ratio 
declined slightly to 1.6:1 in 2020/2021 (1.7:1 FY 2019/2020). 
Despite a positive financial position, we remain cautious, yet 
hopeful about our future prospects.  Once again, we received 
a clean audit from the Auditor-General of South Africa.  We 
are proud of this achievement which is a reflection of our 
commitment to upholding good governance practices and 
ethical operations.

Mintek will continue working towards expansion of revenue 
streams, adopting new marketing approaches and including 
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Re bontshitse moya wa tswelopele le ho tadima mahlakore 
ohle bakeng sa ho baballa bophelo bo botle le boipoloko 
ba basebetsi ba rona ha re ntse re tshehetsa tswelopele ya 
kgwebo.  Bakeng sa ho kgothaletsa ho thehwa botjha ha 
dihlahiswa tsa saense e le ho totobatsa ho ba moetapele 
wa lefatshe bake ng sa boitshimollelo ho tsa diminerale le 
dimetale, re sebedisitse tjhadimo ya nnete ya menyetla e ka 
hlahang esita le tsona diphephetso.

Mintek e sebedisitse mokgwa wa ho ikamahanya botjha le 
ponelopele ya yona ya ho ba “moetapele wa lefatshe lohle wa 
boitshimollelo ho tsa diminerale le dimetale” ka diphuputso tse 
laolwang ke boitshimollelo, tswelopele, phetisetso ya theknoloji 
le mananeo a diphuputso a kgothaletsang indasteri.  E le ho 
fihlella merero e boletsweng ho “Mintek Strategy 2030”, mme 
e ananetswe ke Lekgotla ka Hlakola 2021, ho itshetlehile ka 
boleng, mofuta le tsebo ya mesebetsi ya basebetsi ba leng 
teng, haholoholo bao ba amanang le diphuputso tsa tekgeniki. 
Lenaneo la Ntshetsopele ya Basebetsi la Science, Engineering 
and Technology (SET) le fetohile sesebediswa sa bohlokwa 
bakeng sa ho aha botjha boitsebelo bo hlwahlwa ba 
diphuputso le boipabolo ho saense le boitshimollelo.  Lenaneo 
lena le reretswe ka ho qolleha ho matlafatsa le ho eketsa 
hore sehlopha sa basebetsi ba diphuputso se sebetsang ka 
ho otloloha ka mesebetsi ya SET ho phethahatsa thomo ya 
mokgatlo esita le ho beha botjha Mintek maemong a matjhaba 
jwaloka Research and Technology Organisation (RTO).  

Boikemisetso ba lenaneo lena bo na le mahlakore a mabedi; 
tabeng ya pele, ho sebetsa ka thata letsholong la ho thaotha 
le lebeletsweng e le ho hohela batho ba nang le ditalenta 
tse phahameng tse nang le boiphihlelo bo tshwanelehang, 

mangolo a thuto le boitsebelo bo hlwahlwa bo batlwang ho 
matlafatsa mesebetsi ya motheo ya botekgeniki. Tabeng 
ya bobedi, lenaneo la ka hare la matsete le reretsweng 
ho fa basebetsi ba ka hare monyetla wa ho ntshetsa pele 
mangolo a bona a thuto ho isa ho honours, master’s kapa 
boemong ba bongaka ka ho etsa diprojeke tsa diphuputso tse 
amanang le motheo wa kgwebo ya Mintek.  Leha ho le jwalo, 
ho molemo ho hlokomela hore boikitlaetso bona bo kgema 
hammoho le lenaneo le seng le ntse le le teng le ntseng le 
tswela la ntshetsopele ya basebetsi mona ho mokgatlo mme 
le tadimane le dikgato tse fapaneng tsa mosebetsi wa motho 
ka mong esita le bao ba hirilweng mesebetsing e fapaneng ya 
tshehetso e jwaloka ditjhelete, botsamaisi ba projeke esita le 
tiisetso ya botekgeniki. Ha jwale Mintek e na le basebetsi ba 
58 ba SET ba ithutelang dithuto tsa bongaka (basebetsi ba 
20) le ba etsang mangolo a kgau ya master’s (basebetsi ba 
38) mekgeng e fapaneng ya saense le boenjenere e le karolo 
ya lenaneo le bitswang la SET Postgraduate Qualifications 
Enhancement Programme.  Dihlooho tse kgethilweng le 
bahlahlobuwa bana di reretswe ho matlafatsa le ho ntshetsa 
pele boitsebelo bo botjha ba mafapha a dikarolo tsa motheo 
wa diphuputso. 

Mintek e bile e entse bonnete ba hore e aha le ho fetola maemo 
a basebetsi ba yona hore a totobatsa ka tsela e betere maemo 
a tikoloho le ditlhoko tse ka sebediswang tsa naha ya rona.  
Ho tswa ho paloyohle ya basebetsi ya 507, 243 (48%) ke ya 
saense, boenjenere le theknoloji. Ho tsena, 80% ke batho 
ba batsho mme 53% ke batho ba batshehadi, athe 19% e 
na le mangolo a bongaka ha 22% e na le mangolo a thuto a 
boemo ba master’s. Mintek e tsetetse R9.1 miliyone mafelong 
a selemo sena se hlahlojwang mabapi le ntshetsopele ya 
basebetsi mme re motlotlo ka diphihlello tsa bohlokwa tsa 
basebetsi ba rona ba qetileng dithuto tsa bona ka dinaledi.

Kananelo e ikgethileng re e lebisa ho basebetsi ba rona bao 
hape ba tswetseng pele ho phahamisa folakga ya Mintek 
maemong a fapaneng a lehae le a matjhaba mme ba fumana 
kananelo tse fapaneng bakeng sa boipabolo ho diphuputso 
tsa bona le mosebetsi wa boenjenere. Ngaka Quinn 
Reynolds, Moenjenere e Moholo, o amohetswe e le Associate 
Professor (ya ikgethileng) lefapheng la Department of Process 
Engineering, Yunivesithing ya Stellenbosch. Monghadi 
Kondwani Banda, Moenjenere wa Diphuputso, haufinyana 
o sa tswa kgethwa ho ba Motshwaramatlotlo bakeng sa 
Lekgotla la Young Professionals la Southern African Institute 
of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMMYPC).  Ngaka Amanda, 
Skepu, Rasaense e Moholo, haufinyana o sa tswa amohelwa 
e le setho sa komiti ya UNISA Life Sciences Faculty Advisory 
Board Committee.

E le ho matlafatsa ntshetsopele ya kgwebo, moya wa 
kgwebisano, boipabolo ba kgwebo le ho fana ka thuso, 
mokgatlo o theile mesebetsi e metjha le boitsebelo.  Qetellong 
Ofisi ya Phetisetso ya Theknoloji e ile ya thehwa e le yuniti 

2 Tekolobotjha ya Mohlanka e Moholo wa Phethahatso

Bakeng 
sa selemo sena 

se lekolwang (Selemo sa 
Ditjhelete sa 2020/21), Mintek 

e bile le tshebetso e setletseng e 
matla jwalokaha re bone tse ngata 
mona lefatsheng di tsukutlwa haholo 
ke sewa sa COVID-19. Mabapi le ho 
lwantsha sewa sena, ke motlotlo haholo 
kamoo basebetsi ba ileng ba sebetsa 
hammoho ho etsa mekutu e bileng 

le boleng ho naha ya rona esita 
le ba amehang tshebetsong 

ena ka kakaretso.  
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ananetswe nakong ya selemo seo.  Ditshwanelo tsa nako e 
kgutshwanyane tsa Mintek di ne di akareditswe ka botlalo ka 
diasete tsa nako ya jwale nakong ya ho etsa pehelo le hoja 
seabo sa hona jwale se theohile hanyenyane ho isa ho 1.6:1 
ka 2020/2021 (1.7:1 Selemo sa Ditjhelete 2019/2020).
 
Le ka ntle ho maemo a matle a ditjhelete, re dula re ntse re 
fadimehile re ela hloko, empa re na le tshepo ya ditebello tsa 
rona tsa bokamoso.  Hape, re fumane sephetho se hlwekileng 
sa tshekatsheko ya ditjhelete ho tswa ho Mohlahlobikakaretso 
wa Afrika Borwa.  Re motlotlo ka boiphihlelo bona e leng bo 
totobatsang boikemisetso ba rona ba ho theha le ho tshwarella 
mesebetsi ya puso e lokileng esita le tshebetso e hlwahlwa ya 
melawana ya boitshwaro.

Mintek e tla tswela pele ho sebeletsa katoloso ya metjha ya 
ditjhelete, ho sebedisa mekgwa e metjha ya mebaraka le ho 
kenyeletsa dihlahiswa tse ntjha le ditshebeletso.  Re tla boela 
re tswela pele ka tshebedisano le diindasteri tsa bomphato 
esita le makgotla a mang a saense e le ho theha ditshebeletso 
tse hlahisang ditjhelete le mekgwa e meng ya tlhahiso.  Re tla 
tswela pele ho aha diphihlello tse entsweng ho tla fihla mona 
dikarolong tsa bohlokwa tse nang le sekgahla se phahameng; 
ho kenyeletswa Rare Earth Elements, tlhahiso ya thepa ya 
dibeteri, ho baballa tlhahiso ya Fuel Cell mona Mintek, ho 
thehwa le katoloso ya indasteri ya tekolo mona RSA, ho 
hlabollwa ha indasteri ya Ferroalloys ka hara naha, ho senola 
Bushveld Complex’s Titaniferous Magnetite, ho senola dikarolo 
tsa manya a tshepe SA iron (Fe) Ore bakeng sa bokamoso, 
esita le ntshetsopele ya ditheknoloji tsa gase ya mashala.

Ke rata ho leboha Bolaodi ba rona le basebetsi bohle ba rona 
bakeng sa mosebetsi wa bona o thata, lerato le boitlamo ba 
ho phetha thomo ya Mintek esita le tshehetso ya bona ha 
re sebedisa mokgwa ona o motjha. Thabo ya ka le motlotlo 
ke e lebisa ho Lekgotla bakeng sa tjhebokakaretso ya bona 
le ho etsa bonnete ba ho ba le tshehetso selemong sa ho 
qetela. Ke na le tshepo ya hore motswako wa lona le mefuta 
ya boitsebelo bo kopaneng e na le bokgoni ba ho kgannela 
mokgatlo pele.

Qetellong, ka pelo e bohloko, ke rata ho tsebisa ka tahlehelo 
e kgolo eo Mintek e bileng le yona le Lekgotla kamora ho ba 
le mahlomola a tshohanyetso ka Modulasetulo wa Lekgotla la 
Mintek, Ngaka Vanguard Mkosana, ya hlokahetseng kamora 
ho kula nako e kgutshwanyane.  Efela e le nnete, mofu 
Ngaka Mkosana e ne e le moetapele wa kelello e hlwahlwa 
le ponelopele mme o bile le seabo se seholo bakeng sa ho 
thehwa le ho sebediswa ha Mintek 2030 Strategy.  Mintek e 
tla tswela pele bakeng sa merero ya bokamoso ho phetha 
bokamoso ba yona bo boholo ba ho laola diphuputso le ho 
theha mekgwa kapa ditheknoloji tse nang le bokgoni ba ho 
theha le ho atolosa diindasteri tsa diminerale le ho thusa ho 
aha moloko wa tsebo ka boitsebelo, ho aha naha ka tsebo ya 
moruo le matla.
 

Molefi Motuku, PhD
Mohlanka e Moholo wa Phethahatso 

ya mokgwa wa kgwebo ka tshehetso ya National Intellectual 
Property Management Office (NIPMO). Ditsebi tse nang 
le boitsebelo mererong ya bolaodi ba thepa ya kelello 
le kgwebisano di ile tsa amohelwa. Ho latela qetello ya 
diphuputso le kgato ya ntshetsopele ya diprojeke tsa bophelo 
tse amehang, Mintek e sebetsane le letsholo ho hweba ka 
boitshimollelo ba bophelo bo botle ka ho theha PhilisaSechaba 
Healthcare (Fodisa Setjhaba).  Ho eketsa mona, mesebetsi ya 
Diphuputso tse ntjha, Ntshetsopele le Boitshimollelo e ile ya 
thehwa ho etella pele le ho kganna bokgabane ba kgwebo le 
hona e thusa ho tswela pele. 

Mintek e ikemiseditse ho etsa bonnete ba hore e ba le 
tshebedisanommoho le mokga wa boena ka kopanelo le 
indasteri, ditsha tsa thuto e phahameng esita le mekgatlo 
e meng ya diphuputso le theknoloji. Dikamano tsena tsa 
bohlokwa di theha karolo ya boikemisetso ba mokgatlo ba 
merero e mengata e tshwarellang ya setjhaba.  Mintek e na le 
seabo projekeng ya ntshetsopele ya ditharollo tse tswetseng 
pele tsa thosholeho ya dimetale tsa dikhemikhale tsa petrolo 
le diindasteri tsa eneji ka tsela ya diphuputso le ntshetsopele 
tlasa Ferrous Materials Development Network (FMDN), e le 
karolo ya Advanced Materials Initiative (AMI) ya Department of 
Science and Innovation (DSI).  Ho saennwe kontraka le setheo 
se thahasellang ho ntshetsa pele sesebediswa sa qhibidihiso 
ya kgwebo e le ho sebedisa vanadium-bearing titanomagnetite 
(VTM) ka hara sesebediswa se setjha sa rona se ka fetohang 
sa furnace, e le ho bontsha ho qhibidiha ha phepelo e tjhesang 
ho DC furnace.

Bakeng sa selemo sena sa pehelo, Mintek e fihleletse paloyohle 
ya tjhelete e kana ka R554.3 miliyone, e leng palo e theohileng 
ka palo e ka tlase ho 1% ho tloha ho R557.5 miliyone nakong 
ya Selemo sa Ditjhelete sa 2019/2020.  Le hoja phokotseho 
ena e bonahala e le nyenyane, ho a tletlebisa hore tjhelete ya 
kgwebo e theohile haholo ho tloha ho R271.7 miliyone ho isa 
ho R256.2 miliyone e leng tjhelete e bontshang ho theoha 
ka 6% e ka tsejwang e bakilwe ke tikoloho e akaretsang ya 
moruo wa lefatshe e leng e ileng ya eketswa hape ke sewa sa 
Covid-19. Ditshenyehelo ka kakaretso di fokotsehile ka 13% 
ho tloha ho R628.6 miliyone nakong ya selemo sa ditjhelete 
sa 2019/2020 ho isa ho R545.7 miliyone nakong ya selemo 
sa ditjhelete sa 2020/2021.  Ditshenyehelo tsa basebetsi di 
dula e le sesosa se seholo sa tshenyehelo bakeng sa Mintek 
moo 52% (48%: 2019/2020) ya ditshenyehelo tsohle tse 
amanang le meputso.  Ka lebaka la phokotseho ya tlhaho 
esita le ho thibelwa ha maemo a mesebetsi e itseng eo eseng 
ya bohlokwa hakaalo, tshenyehelo ena e fokoditswe ka R16.1 
miliyone ho isa ho R284.0 miliyone.  Ditshenyehelo tsa ditheko 
tsa rona tsa BEE ho ya ka diphesente tsa palo yohle eo o ka e 
sebedisang ka boikgethelo, e tlotse palo e neng e lebeletswe 
mme e kwetse selemo ka 94%.

Mintek e fihleletse masalla a seatleng a R4.8 miliyone le ka ntle 
ho maemo a hlobaetsang a moruo mme hona ho kgahlano 
le kgaello ya R63.7 miliyone nakong ya Selemo sa Ditjhelete 
sa 2019/2020 moo monyehedi e moholo wa kgaello eo e 
seatleng e bileng keketseho ya ditshenyehelo ka lebaka la 
dintho tse ikgethileng tse amanang le diasete tse neng di 
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Sibonise amandla amakhulu okuthatha izinyathelo 
ezisheshayo nokuzivumelanisa nezimo lapho sivikela 
impilo nokuphepha kwezisebenzi zethu kuyilapho sisekela 
ukuqhubekela phambili kwebhizinisi. Ekulweleni ukumisa 
kabusha imikhiqizo yezesayensi yokuba ngabahola phambili 
emhlabeni wonke kwezamaminerali nasekusungulweni 
kwezinto kwezokusetshenzwa kwensimbi, samukela isimo 
esingokoqobo sokubheka amathuba aseduze nezinselele.  
IMintek yaqalisa isu lokulungelelanisa umbono wayo 
“wokuzihola phambili emhlabeni wonke kwezamaminerali 
nasekusungulweni kwezinto kwezokusetshenzwa kwensimbi” 
ngokwenza ucwaningo oluholwa ukusungulwa kwezinto, 
intuthuko, ukudluliselwa kwezobuchwepheshe kanye 
nezinhlelo zocwaningo ezenziwa ngokuthintene nabezimboni. 
Ukufinyelela imigomo evezwe “kuMintek 2030 Strategy”, 
eyagunyazwa yiBhodi ngoFebruary 2021, kuxhomeke 
kukhwalithi, izinga namakhono abantu abatholakalayo 
be-human resources, ikakhulu labo ababandakanyekayo 
ocwaningweni lwezobuchwepheshe.  

Uhlelo lwe-Science, Engineering and Technology (SET) Human 
Capital Development luye lwaba yindlela eyinhloko ekwakheni 
amakhono ezocwaningo nomsebenzi omuhle kakhulu 
kwezesayensi nokusungulwa kwezinto. Lolu hlelo luhloselwe 
ngokukhethekile ukuqinisa nokwandisa iqembu lezisebenzi 
zocwaningo elibandakanyeka ngokuqondile emisebenzini ye-
SET ukuze lethule umgomo wenhlangano futhi liyimise kahle 
iMintek emhlabeni wonke ibe yi-Research and Technology 
Organisation (RTO). Lolu hlelo lugxila ezintweni ezimbili; 
okokuqala, ukuqalisa umkhankaso wokuthungatha izisebenzi 
ezithile ukuze kuhehwe lezo ezinamakhono amakhulu 

ezinolwazi oludingekayo, amaphepha emfundo namakhono 
afunekayo ukuqinisa imikhakha eyinhloko yezobuchwepheshe. 
Okwesibili, uhlelo lokutshalwa kwemali kwangaphakathi 
oluhloselwe ukunikeza izisebenzi zangaphakathi ithuba 
lokuthuthukisa ulwazi lwazo lwemfundo lufike ezingeni lwe-
honours, master’s noma lwezobudokotela ngokulandelela 
amaphrojekthi ezocwaningo alungelelaniswe nebhizinisi 
leMintek eliyinhloko. Nokho, kubalulekile ukuphawula ukuthi 
lo mkhankaso uphelelisa uhlelo olukhona noluqhubekayo 
lokuthuthukiswa kwezisebenzi kuyo yonke inhlangano 
olugxile ezigabeni ezihlukahlukene zomsebenzi womuntu 
ngamunye kanye nalabo abaqashwe emisebenzini yokusekela 
ehlukahlukene njengeyezimali, ukuphathwa kwamaphrojekthi 
kanye nokuthola amaphepha emfundo kwezobuchwepheshe.
Njengamanje iMintek inamalungu ezisebenzi ze-SET angu-
58 afundela ezobudokotela (yizisebenzi ezingu-20) kanti 
ezenza iziqu ze-master’s (yizisebenzi ezingu-38) emikhakheni 
ehlukahlukene yesayensi nobunjiniyela njengengxenye ye-
SET Postgraduate Qualifications Enhancement Programme. 
Izifundo ezifundwa yilaba bafundi zihloselwe ukuqinisa 
nokuthuthukisa abantu abanamakhono amasha eminyangweni 
emikhakheni eyinhloko yezocwaningo.

IMintek iye futhi yaqinisekisa ukuthi yakha futhi iguqula 
iqembu le-human capital ukuze libonise kangcono 
izidingo zesimo samaqembu ezizwe namasu zezwe lethu. 
Kuyingqikithi yenani lezisebenzi ezingu-507, ezingu-243 
(48%) zikusayensi, ubunjiniyela nezobuchwepheshe. Kulezi, 
u-80% ngabamnyama kanti u-53% ngabesifazane, kuyilapho 
u-19% unamaphepha emfundo ezobudokotela futhi u-22% 
unamaphepha emfundo ye-master’s. IMintek itshale izimali 
ezingu-R9.1 miliyoni ekupheleni konyaka esikhuluma ngawo 
ekuthuthukisweni kwe- human capital futhi siyaziqhenya 
ngempumelelo esezingeni eliphezulu yezisebenzi zethu 
ezithole iziqu zagogoda ngamazinga aphezulu.

Kube nokuqashelwa okukhethekile kwezisebenzi zethu eziye 
zaphinda zaqhubeka ziphakamisela phezulu ifulege leMintek 
ezithangamini ezihlukahlukene zakuleli nasemazweni omhlaba 
futhi ziye zathola ukuqashelwa okuhlukahlukene ngenxa 
yokwenza kahle kakhulu emsebenzini wazo wezocwaningo 
nobunjiniyela. UDkt. Quinn Reynolds, onguNjiniyela Oyinhloko, 
uye wamiswa waba yi-Associate Professor (extraordinary) 
eMnyangweni we-Process Engineering, Stellenbosch 
University.  UMnu. Kondwani Banda, uNjiniyela Wezocwaningo, 
muva nje ukhethwe waba nguMgcinimabhuku ezimali we-
Young Professionals Council of the Southern African Institute 
of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMMYPC). UDkt. Amanda, Skepu, 
uSosayensi Oyinhloko, muva nje wamiswa waba yilungu le-
UNISA Life Sciences Faculty Advisory Board Committee.

Ukuze kuqiniswe ukuthuthukiswa kwebhizinisi, 
ezentengiselwano, ukuphathwa kahle kakhulu kwebhizinisi 
kanye nokuhlonyiswa kwabantu, inhlangano iye yamisa 
imisebenzi emisha kanye namakhono olwazi. Ngenxa yalokho, 

2 Umbiko Omfushane KaChief Executive Officer

Mayela-
na nonyaka esi-

wuhlolayo (2020/21 FY), 
iMintek yethule umsebenzi 

onamandla noqinile njengoba 
ingxenye enkulu yomhlaba iye 
yavivinywa kakhulu ngaphansi 
kobhubhane lweCOVID-19. Ekub-
hekaneni nobhubhane, ngiziqhenya 
kakhulu ngendlela izisebenzi zethu 
ezibambisane ngayo ukuze ziqha-

muke nemikhankaso ezuzise 
izwe kanye nababam-

biqhaza kabanzi.   
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kwaba ngukunyuka kwemali eyasetshenziswa ngenxa 
yempahla ehlobene nezinto ezikhethekile ezaqashelwa 
phakathi nalowo nyaka. Izibopho zesikhathi esifushane 
zeMintek ziye zakhavwa ngokwanele yimpahla yamanje 
ngosuku lokwenza lo mbiko nakuba isilinganiso samanje 
sehlile kancane safika ku-1.6:1 ngo-2020/2021 (1.7:1 FY 
2019/2020).   

Naphezu kwesimo esihle ngokwezimali, sisalokhu siqaphile, 
nakuba sinethemba ngamathemba ethu esikhathi esizayo. 
Siphindile futhi sathola umbiko omuhle wokucubungulwa 
kwamabhuku ezimali okwenziwe nguMcubunguli Wamabhuku 
Ezimali Jikelele waseNingizimu Afrika. Siyaziqhenya ngale 
mpumelelo ebonisa ukuzibophezela kwethu ekusekeleni 
imikhuba emihle yokulawula nokwenza imisebenzi ngokulunga. 
IMintek izoqhubeka isebenzela ukwandisa izindlela 
zokungenisa imali, yamukela izindlela ezintsha zokumaketha 
futhi ihlanganisa imikhiqizo emisha namasevisi. Sizoqhubeka 
futhi nokusebenza ngokubambisana nophathina bethu kule 
mboni kanye neminye imikhandlu yesayensi ukuze sakhe 
izinhlelo zokungenisa imali nemikhiqizo ephawulekayo. 
Sizoqhubeka sakhela ezimpumelelweni ezifinyelelwe kuze 
kube manje emikhakheni yamasu enemiphumela emikhulu; 
kuhlanganisa Izici Zomhlaba Ezingavamile, ukukhiqizwa 
kwama-battery precursor materials, ukufudumeza ukwakhiwa 
kwama-Fuel Cell eMintek, ukumisa nokwandisa imboni ehlola 
izinto eRSA, ukuvuselelwa kwemboni yeFerroalloys kuleli zwe, 
ukuvula i-Titaniferous Magnetite ye-Bushveld Complex, ukuvula 
izindawo ezinetshensimbi i-SA iron (Fe) Ore ukulungiselela 
isikhathi esizayo, kanye nokwakha ubuchwepheshe bokwenza 
igesi ngamalahle.

Ngithanda ukubonga abaPhathi bethu kanye nazo zonke 
izisebenzi ngokusebenza kwazo kanzima, intshiseko 
nokuzibophezela ekugcwaliseni umgomo weMintek kanye 
nokusekela kwazo njengoba siqala ukusebenzisa isu elisha.
Ngibonga kakhulu kuyiBhodi ngokwengamela kwayo 
nokusekela okuqinisekisayo onyakeni odlule. Ngiyaqiniseka 
ukuthi indlela eyakheke ngayo kanye nabo bonke abantu 
abanamakhono kuyo behlangene, banekhono lokuqondisa le 
nhlangano iye phambili. Okokugcina, ngenhliziyo egcwele usizi, 
ngithanda ukuzwakalisa ukulahlekelwa okukhulu okwenzeke 
eMintek nakuyiBhodi ngemva kokushona ngokuzumayo 
kukaSihlalo weBhodi laseMintek, uDkt. Vanguard Mkosana, 
owashona ngemva kokugula isikhashana. Ngempela, uDkt. 
Mkosana ongasekho ubengumholi onohlonze ngokukhalipha 
futhi enombono obanzi owaba neqhaza elikhulu ekwakhiweni 
nasekufezekisweni ekugcineni kweMintek 2030 Strategy. 
IMintek izoqhubeka endleleni yayo yokudiliva isibopho sayo 
esiyinhloko sokwenza ucwaningo oluxazulula izinkinga 
ezingokoqobo nokwakha ubuchwepheshe obungase bumise 
futhi bandise izimboni ezisekelwe kwezamaminerali kuyilapho 
iba neqhaza ekudaleni ulwazi, ukwakha umnotho wezwe 
osekelwe olwazini namandla. 

Molefi Motuku, PhD
Chief Executive Officer

kwamiswa i-Office of Technology Transfer njengophiko 
lwamasu ebhizinisi ngosizo lokusekelwa yi-National 
Intellectual Property Management Office (NIPMO). Kusukela 
lapho sekuye kwamiswa ochwepheshe abanamakhono 
aphezulu emikhakheni ye-intellectual property management 
kanye nezentengiselwano. Ngemva kokuqedwa kwesigaba 
sezocwaningo nentuthuko samaphrojekthi ahlobene 
nezempilo ahlukahlukene, iMintek yaqalisa umkhankaso 
wokuthengisa izinto ezisunguliwe ezihlobene nezempilo 
ngokusebenzisa ilungiselelo lePhilisaSechaba Healthcare 
(Yelapha Isizwe). Ngaphezu kwalokho, kwamiswa umsebenzi 
omusha wezoCwaningo, Intuthuko Nokusungulwa Kwezinto 
ukuze uhole futhi ukhuthaze ukwenziwa kahle kwebhizinisi 
nokuhlonyiswa kwabantu.

IMintek izibophezele ukuqinisekisa ukuthi kuba 
nokubambisana nokusebenzisana okunamasu nabakule 
mboni, nezinhlangano zemfundo ephakeme kanye nezinye 
izinhlangano zezocwaningo nezobuchwepheshe. Lobu 
budlelwano obubalulekile bakha ingxenye yokuzibophezela 
kwale nhlangano ohideni lwemigomo eyinhloko kazwelonke 
neyokwenza isimo sisimame. IMintek ibandakanyeka 
kuyiphrojekthi yokuthuthukiswa kwezixazululo zokugqwala 
zezinga eliphezulu ezimbonini zezamakhemikhali kaphethroli 
nezamandla ezisebenzisa insimbi ngocwaningo nentuthuko 
ngaphansi kwe-Ferrous Materials Development Network 
(FMDN), njengeyingxenye ye-Advanced Materials Initiative (AMI) 
ye-Department of Science and Innovation (DSI). Kwasayinwa 
isivumelwano nenkampani enesifiso sokwenza isikhungo 
sokuncibilikisa insimbi ethengiswayo ukuze kusetshenzwe 
i-vanadium-bearing titanomagnetite (VTM) esikhungweni 
sobhayela bethu esisha esisebenza ngokuvumelana nezimo, 
ukuze sibonise ukuncibilikisa okungenakugeleza kwezinto 
ezingenayo ezishisayo kubhayela we-DC.  

Mayelana nonyaka esiwubikayo, iMintek ifinyelele isamba 
semali engenile efika ku-R554.3 miliyoni, okuwukwehla 
okungaphansi kuka-1% ukusuka ku-R557.5 miliyoni phakathi 
ne-FY 2019/2020. Nakuba lokhu kwehla kubonakala 
kukuncane, kuyakhathaza ukuthi imali engeniswe ukuthengisa 
yehle kakhulu ukusuka ku-R271.7 miliyoni ukuya ku-R256.2 
miliyoni okumelela ukwehla okungu-6% okungase kuthiwe 
kubangelwe yisimo somnotho emhlabeni wonke esabuye 
sabhebhethekiswa nawubhubhane lwe-Covid-19. 

Isiyonke imali esetshenzisiwe yehle ngo-13% isuka ku-R628.6 
miliyoni phakathi kwe-FY 2019/2020 iya ku-R545.7 miliyoni 
phakathi kwe-FY 2020/2021. Izindleko zezisebenzi kusalokhu 
kuyizona eziyizindleko ezinkulu eMintek lapho u-52% (48%: 
2019/2020) wazo zonke izindleko uhlobene namaholo. Ngenxa 
yokushiya kwabantu emsebenzini kanye nokuvala imisebenzi 
engabalulekile kakhulu, izindleko zancipha ngo-R16.1 miliyoni 
zaya ku-R284.0 miliyoni. Ukusebenzisa kwethu imali ku-
BEE ngokwephesenti lakho konke esinqume ukuyisebenzisa 
kukho, kweqile emgomweni futhi kwaphela unyaka kuku-94%.   
IMintek ifinyelele imali eyeqile engu-R4.8 miliyoni naphezu 
kwezimo zomnotho ezivivinyayo futhi lokho kwenzeke 
naphezu kwemali eshodile engu-R63.7 miliyoni phakathi kwe-
FY2019/2020 lapho imbangela eyinhloko yokushoda kwemali 
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3.1 Financial Performance

Mintek’s total income for the year 2020/2021 decreased 
slightly by a negligible 0.6% compared to last year, from 
R 557.5 million to R554.3 million. The state grant portion of the 
total income increased by 2.5% from R238.9 million to R244.9 
million, while the income that is obtained from commercial 
activities decreased by 6% from R271.1 million to R256.2 
million. The insignificant decline in total income demonstrates 
that Mintek’s business model makes the entity resilient and 
can withstand challenging environments.

Profitability for 2020/21 was largely affected by a number of 
factors. First, commercial income was higher than planned. 
This is attributed to additional revenue from process automation 
and mineral processing. Secondly, funding from the MTEF 
projects and specifically for the derelict and ownerless mines 
projects were higher than planned due to more sites and holing 
closures that were completed than anticipated despite the 
impact that the COVID-19 lockdown had on the rehabilitation.

The financial position remains strong and the balance sheet 
shows an entity with a healthy R963.9 million in assets. There 
was an increase in non-current assets from R409.5 million 
to R455.2 million mainly due to the revaluation of land and 
buildings of R27.6 million. Asset acquisitions to the value of 
R46.3 million were recorded and capitalisation of assets under 
construction in the prior year of R5.4 million. Payables were 
higher than last year due to increased commercial activities, 
but there was a slight decrease in unspent grants due to the 
effects as outlined above. 

The costs of employment remained almost constant, without 
compromising justice and fairness in how employees are 
compensated. This year the total salary bill was R284.0 million, 
which is a decrease from R300.1 million last year. 

The costs of employment was 52% of total expenditure in 
2020/21, compared to 48% in the previous year.  

Mintek is pleased to have achieved and maintained a healthy 
balance between different revenue streams. R&D revenue 
generated 57% of total commercial revenue, down from 63% 
in the previous year. 

The BEE spend as a percentage of total discretionary spend 
exceeded target and ended the year at 94%. 

The company will continue working towards expansion of 
revenue streams, adopt new marketing approaches and 
include new products and services such as sanitizers. It will 
also continue collaborations with industry partners and other 
science councils to develop revenue generating applications.

0.6% R557.5
to 554.3
Million

DECREASE

TOTAL
INCOME

2020/2021
2.5%

R238.9
to R244.9

Million

INCREASE

STATE
GRANT

2020/2021

6%
R271.1

to R256.2
Million

DECREASE

COMMERCIAL
ACTIVITIES

2020/2021

R
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3.2 Technical Performance and Scientific Outputs

Despite the challenges of the COVID-19 Pandemic affecting 
the global commercial climate, Mintek was able to record 
notable achievements against the scientific and technological 
objectives. We made all efforts possible to make up for lost 
time attributed to COVID-19 restrictions and are pleased to 
have exceeded the target for journal papers (36/30), books 
(1/0), book chapters (12/4) and patents (5/4). Although there 
was concerted effort to limit the COVID-19 downstream 
implications on our capable workforce, delays on projects 
due to lockdown measures lead to the organisation falling 
short in delivery of targets with respect to conference papers 
(24/70), invention disclosures (13/18) and trademarks (5/8). 
Against this backdrop, we are pleased that a number of staff 
participated in a total of 80 virtual events as a substitute for not 
attending conferences in person. 

To demonstrate our commitment and continued effort in 
fulfilling our responsibility towards the country’s minerals 

Dr Amanda Skepu is taking a delegation on tour of the 
Mintek RDT kits manufacturing facility.

industry, Mintek participated alongside the DMRE at 
the PDAC Canada-Africa Chamber of Business 22nd 
Annual African Mining Breakfast and Mine Africa’s 
19th Investing in African Mining Seminar 9 – 10 March 
2021. The CEO presented four unique investment 
opportunities in Mining and Mineral Processing in 
South Africa offered by Mintek with emphasis on the: 
(a) rare earths processing plant powered by Mintek 

technologies (b) world-class ferrochrome furnace 
development opportunity enabled by Mintek’s smelting 

technology (c) Minataur™ - a flexible, scalable gold refining 
technology for emerging gold producers and (d) investing in an 
integrated development for the production of vanadium, iron 
and titanium from the Bushveld Complex.

Mintek played a pivotal role in the drafting of the DMRE 
Chrome Smelter revival plan that was approved by Cabinet. 
Implementation of the plan includes the approval to implement 
a tax on ore exports, as well as technological interventions. 
A social-compact will be developed with industry with Mintek 
being nominated to participate on the committee.

Dr Phillemon Matabola Showcases the capillary 
ultrafiltration membranes developed for the treatment of 
industrial wastewater.
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Mintek Board visited Mintek for a tour of the new developments.

The DIGIECOQUARRY project was selected to be funded 
under the EU H2020 Framework Programme. This project will 
bring commercial contract research to Mintek over four years 
and provide an ideal basis to establish the Gemini program.

Mintek completed the DSI/CSIR funded Li-ion battery project 
and presented the results from the study to a number of 
different stakeholders including government departments, 
industry, OEMs and NGOs, and the outcome was very well 
received. The final report was submitted to the DSI. The 
project involved an assessment of the viability of establishing a 
Li-ion battery recycling plant in South Africa.  The assessment 
shows that to be viable there would need to be at least 500tpa 
of high grade Li-ion batteries.  Currently only around 6tpa of 
such batteries is collected, however it is expected that there 
will be a rapid growth in end of life Li-ion batteries and the 
market will need to be continually monitored to reassess the 
point at which local recycling will be viable.

The Versatic 10 acid/Nicksyn™ has been selected as the 
process solution of choice for an international battery recycle 
project. An initial order of 200L of Nicksyn™ has been placed 
with the Mintek partner, Excel Industries in India. The choice 
of the Mintek proprietary Nicksyn™ reagent is consistent with 
the initial design criteria for this synergist, aimed at making the 
Versatic 10 acid, nickel extraction system much more selective 
for Ni over impurities that may be in the process stream.  As 
the drive for the production of high specification battery grade 
materials gains momentum, the demand for Nicksyn™ is 
expected to increase due to these unique properties. 

Mintek embarked on an accelerated effort to produce the first 
Mintek COVID-19 point-of-care Rapid Diagnostic Test (RDT) 
kits. However, following the emergence of the 501Y.V2 strain, 
it became necessary to re-evaluate all the COVID-19 point-of-
care rapid diagnostic test kits to see if they detect the 501Y.V2 
strain. The four revised 501Y.V2 detecting prototype COVID-19 
RDT kits, covering both Antigen Detection and Antibody 
Detection have been validated internally on laboratory samples 
and initially sent the University of Cape Town (UCT) for the first 
round of external evaluations and have been optimized as per 
the recommendations. 

The four revised prototypes that have been optimized have 
been sent for certification to the South African Health Products 
Regulatory Authority (SAHPRA)-appointed external evaluation 
laboratory at the Department of Molecular Medicine and 
Haematology (DMMH), which is a Division of the Wits Health 
Consortium (Pty) Ltd that is based at the University of the 
Witwatersrand (Wits). These will be the first RDTs certified to 
detect the 501Y.V2 variant along with the original strain.

Concurrently, the Diagnostics Unit is working towards the 
completion of the SAHPRA Application documentation, 
including the Technical Dossiers for the RDT kit products. The 
products are planned to be registered with SAHPRA soon after 
the successful completion of the current external evaluation 
tests, after which they will be made commercially available.



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |   Highlights: the year at a glance

2020/2021
at a G

lance

25

For the review period ended 31 March 2021, the total perma-
nent employee head count at Mintek was 507. This comprised 
290 males and 217 females. The skilled technical, academi-
cally qualified, junior management and supervisor occupation-
al level account for 55% of the total staff complement from 
the previous year. This is the occupational level that Mintek 
will leverage for growth into senior management levels. The 
semi-skilled occupational level is at 20%. Female representa-

tion at Mintek remains a key focus of the recruitment and gen-
der transformation efforts. Impact of these efforts is evident in 
improving female representation which has reached the 43% 
mark in the period under review. While this is a commendable 
milestone, Mintek remains committed to pursue the voluntary 
stretch target of 46%, which is higher than the female com-
ponent in the Gauteng economically active profile of the pop-
ulation.

OCCUPATIONAL
LEVELS

MALE FEMALE
TOTAL

A C I W NSA A C I W NSA

Top Management 2 1 3

Senior Management 6 3 1 1 2 1 14

Professionals,
Specialists and 

mid-management
15 1 4 12 4 14 1 4 6 2 63

Skilled technical,
academically-quali-
fied, junior manage-

ment and supervisors

85 6 3 18 5 133 5 5 18 2 280

Semi-skilled 72 5 1 20 1 99

Unskilled 46 1 1 48

Total Permanent 226 13 7 35 9 169 7 10 26 5 507

Percentage 45% 3% 1% 7% 2% 33% 1% 2% 5% 1% 100%

Gender Percentage 57% 43%

Mintek has a total of 12 employees that are classified as 
disabled, constituting 2% of total staff. This is below with the 
target of 3% for the year. The majority were employed at “skilled 
technical, academically-qualified, junior management and 
supervisor” occupational level. There were also significantly 
more male employees living with a disability than females, 
(67% vs 33%). We are committed to ensuring that the work 
environment and the tools of trade are adapted to support the 
disabled employees to perform their work with the minimum 

3.3 People Performance 

level of disruption. This profile is in line with the nature of the 
work of Mintek. 

Mintek has a total of 63 professionals, specialists, and middle 
management-level employees, which represents 12% of 
the total workforce. At senior and top management levels, 
Mintek has 14 senior managers (3% of the total) and three top 
managers, forming a percent of the total. 
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Training and Development
The Human Capital Development (HCD) programmes includes 
initiatives that support the development of human capital 
to enable Mintek in meeting its current and future skills 
requirements.  The cluster consists of bursary programmes 
for full-time and part-time studies, a work-integrated learning 
programme, various Science, Technology, Engineering & 
Mathematics promotion programmes, and various internship 
programmes.

In order to create an enabling environment where both 
economic growth may continue and allow for effective 
transformation, the skills profile of South Africa must change 
and begin to match the demographics of the country, while 
meeting growth needs and maintaining standards.  Effective 
transformation and retention of critically skilled people will only 
be achieved through a focussed approach with programmes 
that form part of a clear and driven strategy that addresses all 
levels of the problem.  The success of the HCD programme is 
dependent on state grant funding. The ultimate objective is to 
ensure a steady stream of technically competent staff to meet 
Mintek’s current and future skills requirements.

The main programmes of the unit are as follows:

• Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics 
promotion activities to encourage learners taking 
Mathematics and Science at school and studying further 
in Science, Engineering or Technology at university

• Work-based learning/In-Service Training for National 
Diploma students

• Undergraduate and Postgraduate Bursary programmes 
for full-time Science and Engineering students

• Graduate and postgraduate Internship programmes 
in partnership with the Department of Science and 
Innovation, the Mining Qualifications Authority and the 
National Research Foundation

• Facilitating access to various R&D grant and infrastructure 
funding opportunities from government for Mintek’s 
operating divisions

Training Partnerships
Mintek implements a number of internship programmes 
aimed at providing young people with an opportunity to learn, 
gain work experience and/or improve their skills. These are 
provided in partnership with different organizations such as 
the Mining Qualifications Authority (MQA), the Department of 
Science and Technology, the National Research Foundation 
and the South African Agency for Science and Technology 
Advancement (SAASTA). 

Organisational demographics
Mintek’s most critical resource is its 507 employees that ensure 
that the organisation continually strives towards the attainment 
of goals in pursuit of its mandate. For the review period ended 
31 March 2021, the total permanent employee head count at 
Mintek was 507.

This comprised 290 males and 217 females. Of the total, 
48% are in the Science, Engineering and Technology space 
(SET), which is the core business of Mintek. It is this group 
that is jointly responsible for the attainment of Mintek’s 
scientific outputs outlined above, and continues to place the 
organisation’s technologies, products and services on the 
global map. The SET representation at Mintek remains a key 
focus of the recruitment and transformation efforts.

507 TOTAL STAFF

217 FEMALES

290 MALES

48% SET

63

14

12%

3%

Professionals Specialists
& Middle Management-Level

Senior Managers

of the total workforce

of the total workforce

EMPLOYEES BREAKDOWN
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Number of participants in internship programmes

The South African Agency for Science and Technology 
Advancement’s (SAASTA’s) National Youth Programme is 
an initiative run on behalf of the Department of Science & 
Technology where unemployed science, engineering and 
technology graduates are given the opportunity to gain on the 
job experience at SAASTA partner organisations. Mintek is one 
of SAASTA’s partners, with interns joining the ICT department. 
During the financial year 2020/2021 there were thirty (30) 
students participating in the programme.

PROGRAMME NUMBER OF PARTICIPANT

DST/NRF Internship 5

DST/NRF Post-Doctoral Programme 13

MQA Work Integrated Learning 49

MQA Higher Education & Training Internship 68

SAASTA 3

Mintek Internship 1

Total 139

Target 2020 60

Work Integrated Learning (WIL) is another critical HCD 
programme that aims to give practical learning to S4 
students from Universities of Technology. The programme 
is implemented in partnership with the Mining Qualifications 
Authority (MQA). It assists graduates to gain work experience 
and thus contributes to improving their chances to secure jobs. 
The target audience of this programme is mainly unemployed 
graduates who have completed either a National Diploma, 
BTech or BSc at a University. 

MQA provides grant funding to Mintek, who in turn, pays a 
stipend to the interns while they are undergoing work based 
training for the 24 month placement period.  In the same way 
that other interns are offered various soft-skills and technical 
training, the HET group also obtains similar opportunities.  The 
current group of 49 are benefiting from the MQA grant funding 
provided for the 2020/2021 year that Mintek has taken up in 
full. 

The Department of Science and Technology and the 
National Research Foundation have designed a professional 
development programme for Masters and Doctoral graduates 
to develop their research competencies in a real world 
environment outside of university at institutions such as Mintek, 
and other science councils as well as other research bodies. 
During the financial year 2020/2021 there were thirteen (13) 
candidates on this programme doing their Pre-PhD and Post-
Doctoral.

Investing in Mintek’s people
Mintek’s total spend on training and development is a good 
indicator of its commitment to employee development. The 
total amount paid to service providers for training during 
2020/2021 was R1 321 911.33, which was 0.90% of payroll 
for the period under review. Of this, 96% (R 572 155.12) was 
on technical skills that are core to Mintek’s business, while R 
9675.00 was on soft skills.

The primary partnership is with MQA because it is the Sector 
Education & Training Authority (SETA) for the Mining Sector 
and the SETA to which Mintek pays over skills development 
levies. Included in the MQA partnership are a number of pivotal 
capacity building programmes, which are highlighted below. 
Subsequent to funding received from MQA the Training and 
Development unit have partnered with the following universities 
(Tshwane University of Technology and Vaal University of 
Technology) to host Work Integrated Learners.
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We focus on continuous
improvement and out of 
the box thinking. We also 
emphasise a focus on value for 
money in creativity and ensure 
that innovators understand 

and respect 
the right to recourse.

creativity respect & 
dignity

We value the rights and 
dignity of others, both individuals 
and the community. We appreciate 

diversity, we listen and hear 
others and welcome 

alternative points of view. 
We debate the issue and 

not the person.

results 
orientation

We focus on outputs, results 
deliverables, and recognise 
the excellence when it is there. 
But we understand that not 
all staff produce final outputs 
and we appreciate their inputs. 
We differentiate and recognise 

contributions.

teamwork

We are proactive, interven-
tionist, involved, integrated 
and work together towards 
a common vision. We are 
not too restrictive in terms of 
roles and responsibilities and 
we give ownership of value 
chain to members of the team 

where this is earned.

integrity

We Speak freely, with respect, 
but not afraid of reprisal. We 
are also accountable for our 
own actions we do what we 
say we will do, when we say 
we will do it. We have profes-
sional integrity and trust is a 

consequence.

4.1 Introduction

regional and on an international basis. The activities range from 
initial investigations to process development and the design, 
construction, as well as commissioning of industrial plants. 
Mintek also offers comprehensive metallurgical feasibility study 
services to companies evaluating the opportunity to develop 
new mineral deposits. 

Over and above our own programmes, Mintek works closely 
and formed strategic partnerships with industry, academic 
institutions, research institutions, government, state owned 
entities and communities and in conjunction with engineering 
partners, as it supplies a flexible package of technology for 
process development and optimisation.

The organization has a total staff complement of 507 
permanent employees (247 SET staff) with 17 out of the 507 
employees on fixed term contracts of between 1 to 5 years.

Mintek is a science council established in 1934 by an act of 
Parliament, the Mineral Technology Act No. 30 of 1989, to 
assist in ensuring the growth and sustainability of the South 
African minerals and metals sector through its mandate. 
Mintek’s mandate is to promote mineral technology; foster 
industry establishment and expansion in the field of minerals 
and products through research, development and technology 
transfer. The fulfilment of this mandate requires Mintek to 
respond to some of the major challenges South Africa is 
currently faced with, such as contribution to economic 
development, and addressing the triple challenges of poverty; 
unemployment and inequality, through fostering industrial 
growth and development. 

Mintek provides world class research & development expertise, 
testwork, and process optimisation for the precious and base 
metals, ferroalloys and industrial materials sectors both on 

Vision
The vision of Mintek is to be a leading partner in innovative mineral solutions.

Mission
The mission of Mintek is to lead research, development and innovation utilising minerals to drive sustainable industry development 
and inclusive economic growth.

Values
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How we Operate
In pursuit of its mandate and to attain its strategic intent, Mintek’s operations are centred around the following strategic pillars: 

1

Conduct relevant, applied re-
search and technological in-
novation by pursuing a focussed 
approach to research and technol-
ogy development that emphasises 
high-impact scientific outputs and 

outcomes;

2

Fostering the
establishment of new indus-
tries and expansion of existing 
ones, as well as addressing 
the challenges facing nascent, 
emerging, mature and declin-
ing industries;

4

Ensure financial sustainability 
and securing Mintek’s future by 
achieving a solid research port-
folio that is funded through both 
private and public sources and 
commercialising Mintek’s tech-
nologies;

Develop a capable workforce that has the 
requisite skills, expertise and capabilities to 
drive and support rigorous scientific research 
and technological development in pursuit of 
Mintek’s mandate of conducting research and 
fostering industry development and expan-
sion. The workforce profile will reflect the de-

mographic profile of South Africa;

3

Develop and maintain world-class
Research, Development and Innovation 
(RDI) infrastructure that supports Mintek’s 
research, technology innovation and the de-
velopment of products and services that en-

courage industry growth and expansion.

5

Mintek’s strategic approach to research is oriented around the 
fulfilment of five key pillars. The first pillar focuses on relevant 
applied research as well as high-impact scientific outputs and 
outcomes. The second pillar on fostering industry growth and 
development brings our attention to an area of our mandate 
that has tended to stay in the blind spot in the recent past, 
and we aim to foster industry establishment and expansion of 
existing industries in the minerals sector. The third pillar is of a 
capable workforce.

It is central to all programmes and activities as it recognizes 
people as the most important asset of Mintek that enables us 

to deliver on the other four pillar, whilst ensuring that it (capable 
workforce that is) is in line with the socio-economic realities of 
South Africa, and broad representation of diverse cultures and 
peoples. The fourth pillar of financial sustainability is both an 
enabler for the attainment of all our goals, and a goal that, if not 
attained, would compromise the impact of our R&D activities.

The fifth and last driver focuses our attention on infrastructure 
and building a Mintek campus of the future that will enable 
the organisation to meet its scientific research goals. The 
integration of these pillars into a coherent strategy requires a 
complex balancing of competing priorities.
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Mintek’s scope of research, operations, products and services is indicated below. 

4.2 Mintek Value Chain

EXPLORATION 
& MINING

Mintek’s work in the 
area of exploration 
& Mining includes:

 Geochemical
   sample analysis; 

 Mineral/ore 
   characterisation; 

 Certified Reference  
   Materials (CRMs); and    

 Artisanal and Small- 
   Scale Mining (ASSM). 

 ASSM Technology; 

 ASSM training assistance; 

 Mining inputs economic  
   studies; and

 Urban mining.

CONCENTRATION

In the comminution, 
flotation and physical 

separation parts of the 
value chain, Mintek’s 

work includes:

 Flowsheet design and
    optimisation and piloting;

 Plant audits;

 Control and optimisation  
   strategies;

 Bulk sample
   preparation; and

 Gravity, magnetic,
   electrostatic, flotation and
   mineral density separation.

Mintek Value Chain
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HYDROMETALLURGY &  
BIOTECHNOLOGY

In hydrometallurgy and 
biotechnology, Mintek’s 

work includes:

 Atmospheric and pressure
   leaching;

 Bioleaching (refractory 
   gold and base metals);

 Solvent extraction 
   and ion exchange

 Electrowinning;

 Process simulation;

 Reagent development
   and evaluation;

 Gold recovery by CIP/RIP;

 Activated carbon
   regeneration;

 Uranium processing
   expertise U3O8 recovery; 

 Leach circuit control; and

 Rare Earths Element (REE).

PYROMETALLURGY

With respect to 
pyrometallurgy, Mintek’s 

work includes:

 Pelletisation and
   briquetting; Preheating
   and pre-reduction;

 DC arc process
   development and piloting;

 Modelling and simulation;

 Submerged-arc furnace
   (SAF) control strategy;

 Fluidised bed and 
   controller technologies;

 Refractories performance
   investigations; 

 High temperature solid
   state and phase equilibrium
   investigations; and

 Ore, slag, matte and alloy  
   characterisation.

REFINING & VALUE 
ADDITION

In the latter part of the 
value chain, Mintek’s 

scope includes:

 Gold refining and
   value-added  products/
   chemicals; New industrial
   applications for gold: 
   catalysis,nanotechnology
   & biomedical;

 Pyrometallurgical refining
   of inc (PWG to SHG) and
   off-grade ferro-alloy fines;

 Titanium chlorination
   technology;

 “Smart” materials 
    and sensors;

 PGM-based superalloys;

  Low-nickel stainless alloys;

  Jewellery fabrication; 
   Gold and platinum
   jewellery alloys; and

 Identification of
   downstream  
   metal-based industries.

POST MINING & 
LANDSCAPING

Mintek also has resident 
expertise in the following:  

 Engineering,design, 
   manufacturing, installation
   and commissioning; and

 Project management
   services and Regional
   mineral-based studies.

Mintek Value Chain
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Mintek operates on a global scale, although it is geographically located in the single campus. During the reporting period, our 
products and services reached a total of 44 countries across the globe, including South Africa. 

4.3 Mintek Global Footprint

Gold PGMs Ferrous  Metals Equipment &
Technology Base Metals

Evaluation and
design of recovery
circuits for refractory
and non-refractory
mineralisation.

Diagnostic leaching
and comparative
testwork on various
comminution,
concentration and
recovery options.

Cyanide speciation
monitoring,
online cyanide
measurement and
control, cyanide
destruction.
Assistance with
ICMI gap or full
certification audits.

MinfurnTM technology
for granular activated
carbon regeneration.

MinataurTM

all-hydrometallurgical
gold refining process

New industrial uses
for gold - catalysis,
biomedicine, and
nanotechnology.

Design and
optimisation
of integrated
comminution,
flotation and smelting
circuits.

Design and
optimisation of base
metal recovery and
PGM refining circuits.

ConRoast smelting
technology for
high-chromium
low-sulphur PGM
materials.

Catalyst development
for automotive, fuel
cell, and industrial
applications.

Novel PGM-containing
alloys, and
powder metallurgical
processes.

Iron ore beneficiation.

DC arc smelting
processes for
chromite, ilmenite,
nickel laterites,
magnetite,
magnesium metal
production, and
metal recovery from
slags and dusts.

Materials
characterisation
(physical, mechanical
and corrosion
properties), and
failure investigations.

MinfurnTM

regeneration
furnace for activated
carbon in the gold
processing, water
treatment, and food
industries.

MINATAURTM gold
refining process.

DC arc furnaces.

AtomijetTM atomiser
for base and
precious metals.

SAVMINTM process
for acid mine
drainage purification.

Bioleaching of
copper, nickel,
cobalt, zinc and
polymetallic
concentrates.

Heap bioleaching
of low-grade
chalcopyrite-bearing
materials.

Integrated circuit
design for metal
recovery and
purification
by leaching/
heap leaching,
precipitation, ion
exchange, and SX/
EW.
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Industrial Minerals  
& Diamonds

Process Control 
Strategies Uranium Rare Earth 

Elements
Economic & 

Regional Studies

Physical beneficiation
- comminution,
flotation, gravity,
dense media,
electrostatic and
magnetic separation,
and optical sorting.

Kimberlite indicator
mineral investigations.
Alluvial diamond
provenance studies.

Advanced process
control and
optimisation strategies
for milling, flotation,
and leaching circuits,
and submerged-arc
furnaces.

Online cyanide
measurement and
control.

Heap leach operator
guidance software
and in-heap
instrumentation.

Ambient, pressure
and heap leaching,
solvent extraction,
fixed bed and
countercurrent
(NIMCIX) ion
exchange, resinin-
pulp, and ADU
precipitation.

Mintek is registered
as a uranium testwork
facility with South
Africa’s National
Nuclear Regulator
(NNR) and the
Department of Mineral
Resources.

Physical beneficiation
– comminution,
flotation, gravity, and
magnetic separation,
sensor based sorting.

Concentrate cracking
and refining flowsheet
development and
optimisation.

Regional commodity-
based mineral
economic studies.

Resource-based
technology strategies.

Sustainable mineral
development studies.
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by the South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC) 
and Technology Innovation Agency (TIA) for accelerated 
development of the test kits. In addition, an improved HIV 3rd 
generation test kit capable of detecting HIV 1 and 2 antibodies 
and Malaria RDT kits have been developed by Mintek and 
are at the evaluation stage by an accredited, independent 
laboratory for their performance. Furthermore, a prototype for 
a TB detection test kit has recently been developed.

The Mintek diagnostic manufacturing facility has obtained a 
SAHPRA manufacturing license for HIV, Malaria and TB test 
kits and has also received the ISO 13485:2016 certification, 
which ascertains that the Diagnostics manufacturing facility 
processes are safe and effective for manufacturing medical 
devices. 

The envisaged benefits of the programme include the 
establishment of a health diagnostics/medical device industry 
that will contribute to the broad-based goal of the South 
African government to establish a state pharmaceutical entity. 
The health diagnostics leg of the envisioned State-owned 
pharmaceutical entity will position South Africa towards the 
localisation of the RDT kits products, thereby ensuring the 
security of supply in South Africa and the broader Southern 
African Development Community (SADC) region. In this way, 
there will be the attendant benefit of import substitution by 

Establishing the Health Diagnostic Industry 
in South Africa 

The Mintek Health Diagnostics Manufacturing Programme 
intends to foster the establishment and expansion of a 
diagnostic industry in South Africa through the development 
and manufacture of high-value rapid diagnostic products 
beneficiated through gold and key raw materials. The end-goal 
of this programme is to establish a robust Rapid Diagnostic Test 
(RDT) kits manufacturing capability at Mintek for commercial 
exploitation.

The current status of the programme entails acceleration 
towards commercialisation of four RDT kits namely COVID-19 
antigen and antibody rapid tests, HIV, Malaria and TB rapid 
tests. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Mintek reprioritised 
its Research, Development and Innovation (RDI) activities 
into quickly developing rapid test kits that detect COVID-19 
antibodies and antigens.

Four prototypes are currently evaluated for their performance 
by an accredited, independent laboratory. Once the 
performance has been validated, the South African Health 
Products Regulatory Authority (SAHPRA) licence application 
will be sought. This project was also awarded an R3m grant 

5.1 Research and Development

The Mintek MinDiagnostics SARS-COV-2 Antigen and Antibody Rapid Diagnostic 
Test Devices are currently undergoing for external validations to test their 

performance on clinic samples.
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Left: Mintek has produced the first COVID-19 
antibodies which are the key ingredients in the 
manufacture of RDTs.

Right: A nasal swab test for COVID-19 is taken 
from Mintek employee during Health Screening 
Programme.

being accelerated in parallel with the optimisation of the TB 
rapid diagnostic test (RDT) kits that are under development 
by Mintek. The intention is to incubate the manufacturing of all 
these health-related products under a dedicated commercial 
complex.

Diagnostic Testing and Screening for 
SARS-CoV-2
Mintek has maintained a robust COVID-19 monitoring 
programme since the start of the pandemic. This can be 
attributed to a reduced spread of COVID-19 amongst its 
employees in the workplace since the start of the COVID-19 
pandemic. The monitoring entailed the collection of SARS-
CoV-2 specimens from employees by the Mintek Clinic 
which were then screened through the utilisation of molecular 
diagnostic assays such as the Polymerase Chain Reaction 
(PCR) tests internally in the BSL 3 Laboratory located in the 
Mintek Advanced Materials Division. A total of 1682 SARS-
CoV-2 PCR tests were conducted during the reporting period, 
927 of this were carried out during the first quarter of 2021 
which marked the second wave of infections in South Africa.

reducing the reliance on imports, thereby directly contributing 
to South Africa’s Gross Domestic Product (GDP). From a 
South African policy perspective, the localisation of this 
industry will further support the Department of Trade, Industry 
and Competition’s (the DTIC) Industrial Policy Action Plan 
(IPAP). This Programme will further unlock and leverage local 
manufacturing capabilities to further serve the Rest of Africa 
(RoA) growing market and boost intra-Africa trade.

Localising Production of Antibody and An-
tigen Products

Additional to the manufacture of rapid diagnostic test kits 
for the various burden of diseases, Mintek has localised the 
production of antibody and antigen products, which are the 
key ingredients n the manufacturing of RDT kits and other 
health-related products. 

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has necessitated 
Mintek to embark on an accelerated effort to produce the first 
Mintek COVID-19 antibody product. Two COVID-19 antibody 
proteins have been successfully produced and purified. The 
two antibody compounds were evaluated against two strains 
of bacteria and are being tested for their ability to bind to 
COVID-19 antigens. The Biomarker Production team is also 
working towards adding HIV Antigen production to its workflow. 
Efforts towards the production of this antigen are ongoing. In 
addition to this, the Team has started to work on the design 
of both Antibodies and Antigens for TB. The work is currently 
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In South Africa, Diagnostic laboratories are required to 
comply with several legislative requirements to perform 
diagnostic testing for human subjects. Mintek has engaged 
with the Department of Health (DoH) to apply for a permit as 
a laboratory to conduct SARS-CoV-2 diagnostic testing, to 
which the DoH responded by providing a minimum checklist 
of requirements for Mintek to comply with. In line with the 
upgrading of the Health Platform infrastructure, the BSL3 
facility was re-certified. Two new Biosafety Class II Cabinets, 
a PCR instrument and an Automatic Nucleic Acid Extraction 
System were procured.

All new instruments are in place and fully operational. All 
biochemistry personnel received training on SARS-CoV-2 PCR 
testing.  Given the ongoing sample volumes and the need to 
be ready for the predicted surges of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the Team in collaboration with the Mintek Clinic decided on 
automation of the SARS-CoV-2 Testing Sample Control 
process. This is the Department of Health (DoH) requirement 
for obtaining a permit to provide COVID-19 testing according 
to Regulation 178. The DISA LIMS system has been installed 
which also includes the implementation of a barcode system 
for sample control.

Solar Thermal Technology - Big DISH      
Facility for industrial heat research appli-
cations  
The industry sector has not attracted the same level of 
attention in the global drive to reduce carbon emissions, 
resulting in predictions showing that this sector will be by far 
the biggest greenhouse gas producer by 2060. The South 
African industrial energy demand is dominated by process 
heat requirements, of which most is currently met by burning 
greenhouse gas-producing fossil fuels. Concentrated solar 
thermal technologies have been shown to achieve operating 
temperatures over 1000 °C, and coupled with the excellent 
solar resource South Africa possesses, this technology might 
just be the solution to address the large carbon footprint of the 
industry sector.

A Solar Thermal Applications in Minerals Processing (STAMP) 
roadmap was developed at Mintek in 2019 after which the 
process, aimed at establishing a solar thermal research facility, 
was kicked off. An agreement was signed with Stellenbosch 
University in 2019 to lend Mintek their McDonnell Douglas 
Aeronautics Corporation (MDAC) parabolic dish, originally 
used for power generation. A Science-Vote application 
was awarded at the end of 2019 to establish such a facility 
at Mintek, and the dish was relocated from Stellenbosch 
University to Mintek in August 2020. 

The BigDish facility under construction at Mintek is planned 
for research into applying solar thermal process heat to a 
variety of industrial heat applications.



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |   Research, Development & Innovation 41

R
eserach, 

D
evelop

m
ent &

 Innovation

The DC arc furnace technology developed by Mintek have been 
applied sucessfully in  a variety of smelting applications.

The facility is currently under construction and when 
commissioned will be the largest of its kind in Southern Africa, 
which has been aptly named the BigDish facility. It is predicted 
that this McDonnell Douglas Aerospace Corporation (MDAC) 
dish will be able to produce close to 75 kW of thermal power 
under Randburg solar irradiance conditions. The BigDish 
facility is planned for research into applying solar thermal 
process heat to a variety of industrial heat applications. These 
applications range from pre-heating with solar thermal to 
reduce energy demand when smelting to directly melting low 
melting temperature metals for recycling and refining purposes. 
The planned research is aimed at the pyrometallurgy industry, 
but the temperature range of the BigDish facility would allow 
other fields of industrial heat to be investigated as well. There 
are also two engineering master’s degree studies underway 
as part of commissioning and establishing the BigDish facility 
at Mintek. Commissioning of the BigDish facility is planned for 
the beginning of 2022.

Gasification of coal fines using DC arc 
plasma furnace

Mintek filed a provisional patent on the recovery of values from 
the co-gasification of sewage sludge and other biowastes 
using a metallurgical type DC arc furnace. The proposed 
metallurgical approach is particularly attractive for the 
valorisation of sewage sludges and other biowastes due to its 
combined ability to completely sterilize pathogens, significantly 
reduce the volume of wastes, recover valuable components, 
and remove and/or stabilise heavy metals in stable phases. 

The technology thus enhances the sustainability of urban 
waste management systems and has approach has 
distinct advantages such as high-temperature density, 
high scalability (up to an excess of 100MW compared 
to between 0.05 to 2.4MW for existing industrial 
plasma torch systems) and the ability to destroy 
organics and mitigate the formation of toxic emissions 
when compared to other conventional thermochemical 
treatment technologies provide unique advantages 
over the existing industrial technologies. 

The protected technology is indisputably considered to 
be one of the most promising thermochemical treatment 
technologies available for the holistic valorisation of organic 
and inorganic industrial and domestic wastes. The invention 
is a spin-off from the patent on the gasification of coal fines 
using DC arc plasma furnace and seeks to demonstrate the 
technical feasibility at an industrial scale in line with Water-
Energy-Food (WEF) nexus (SDGs 6, 7 and 2, respectively).  The 
development of the technology was funded via the State Grant 
Open-Call process to validate technical parameters, scalability 
and techno-economic evaluations, and will form the basis for 
industrial partnerships and bilateral funding applications to 
advance the technology.

Establishing E-Waste Beneficiation           
Capacity in South Africa
The generation of electrical and electronic waste (e-waste) is 
reported as the fastest growing solid waste stream in South 
Africa, and globally. In 2018, South Africa produced 360,000 t 
of e-waste with less than 10% of the waste properly recycled. 
Globally, more than 53 Mt of e-waste was generated in 2019, 
and this figure is projected to increase to 74.7 Mt by 2030.

E-waste contains toxic substances including heavy metals and 
organic chemicals. The rapidly increasing volumes of e-waste 
can pose serious risks to human health and environmental 
pollution, if not managed properly. Most of the e-waste 
streams also contain valuable metals such as copper, tin, 
gold, silver and palladium in concentrations higher than their 
primary mineral counterparts. However, the complex and toxic 
nature of e-waste, owing to the heterogeneous occurrence of 
multi-metallic and non-metallic species, render them difficult to 
process by conventional processing technologies for recovery 
of the metal values.
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Mintek identified CRTs and PCBs as a priority recycling 
opportunity and invested in developing suitable, cost-effective 
technologies aiming to increase e-waste recycling rates 
while delivering socio-economic and environmental benefits. 

MINTEK developed pyrometallurgical (eWasteSmeltTM) 
and hydrometallurgical (chloride/sulphate leach) 

processes (Re-MetTM) for the recovery of metals 
from e-waste fractions.  

The eWasteSmelt™ technology is based on 
a gas-fired rotary furnace to bring about a 
thermal reduction of e-waste to produce 
metals. This furnace technology does 
not depend on electricity, and it is 
associated with lower capital and 
operating costs (compared to electric 
furnaces).

The Re-MetTM hydrometallurgical 
process is based on chloride/
sulphide leaching and has been 
developed to recover gold, silver, 
copper and palladium from PCBs. 
A process flowsheet and economic 

model has been developed. These 
technologies have the potential to expand 

the local e-waste recycling value chain 
by enabling the industry to produce value-

added products. 

The Versatic 10 acid/Nicksyn™ has 
been selected as the process solution 

of choice for an international battery 
recycling project

Nicksyn™ is a Mintek-developed reagent which when in 
combination with a tertiary branched carboxylic acid such 
as Versatic 10 acid, can enhance the separation of nickel 
and/or cobalt from calcium, magnesium and manganese in 
various sulphate media. Mintek developed the Nicksyn™ 
reagent during the 1990s and although it was shown that the 
Nicksyn™ synergistic system would offer both capital and 
operating cost benefits, commercialisation was unsuccessful 
due to the well-established D2EHPA and Cyanex 272 solvent 
extraction circuits in the industry. 

The drive for the production of battery-grade Ni and Co 
in the last few years has changed the attractiveness of the 
Nicksyn™/ Versatic 10 acid system dramatically due to the 
much higher selectivity of this system for Ni and Co over the 
impurities. Highly successful pilot plant test work with Tenova 
Advanced Technologies has led to an enquiry for the supply of 
the first fill of 10m3 of Nicksyn™.

It is envisaged that license fees of about R700 000 will be 
earned from the first fill. Since reagent losses and reagent 

REE Plant

There is a lack of capacity in South Africa to process e-waste 
streams such as printed circuit boards (PCBs) and hazardous 
fractions (with limited value) such as cathode ray tubes 
(CRTs). While the South African e-waste recycling industry 
has become more integrated and formalised with over 100 
formerly registered companies, there is limited participation in 
the processing stage of the value chain.

This contributed to the low e-waste recycling rates in South 
Africa, stockpiling and landfilling of CRTs, and exporting of 
partially upgraded PCB fractions to overseas markets. To 
increase recycling rates and for the economy to benefit fully 
from the value contained in PCBs, economically viable waste 
management technologies that offer socio-economic and 
environmental benefits are needed.
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deterioration occur in solvent extraction circuits, there will be 
an additional yearly income stream as well as the prospect of 
future fills at R700 000 per fill. The Versatic 10 acid/Nicksyn™
has been selected as the process solution of choice for an
international battery recycle project. An initial order of 200L
of Nicksyn™ has been placed with the Mintek partner, Excel
Industries in India.

The choice of the Mintek proprietary Nicksyn™ reagent is 
consistent with the initial design criteria for this synergist, 
aimed at making the Versatic 10 acid, nickel extraction system 
much more selective for Ni over impurities that may be in 
the process stream. As the drive for the production of high 
specification battery-grade materials gains momentum, the 
demand for Nicksyn™ is expected to increase due to these 
unique properties.  Mintek has also selected Nicksyn™ as 
a synergist for use in its battery-grade material programme, 
extending the potential use to the production of high purity 
Co as well.

Successful demonstration of SAVMIN™
The Sibanye-Stillwater has approved the dismantling of the 
Mintek Acid Mine Drainage Technology, SAVMIN™ at its site 
at Randfontein in Gauteng province. This follows a successful 
demonstration campaign that proved the technical viability of 
the process at the site. The dismantling of the plant paves the 
way for the return of the pilot plant for assembly at Mintek. The 

demonstration campaign has yielded three patents and two 
front-end engineering designs for potential applications. 
The SAVMIN™ demonstration plant also hosted a technology 
demonstration open day and numerous visits of potential 
clients and important stakeholders such as the Parliamentary 
Portfolio Committee and the Department of Mineral Resources 
and Energy. These initiatives raised the profile of Mintek and 
confirmed Mintek’s drive to support the minerals industry in 
South Africa by transferring new technology to the industry. 

Two front-end engineering design packages have been 
completed for SAVMIN™ technology. They are for a simplified 
sulphate removal process as well as for a fully-Integrated 
SAVMIN™ process. These designs are important elements of 
the drive to commercialise the SAVMIN™ technology in the 
minerals as well as associated industries.

The marketing and technology transfer of SAVMIN™ 
has reached an important milestone since SRK UK has 
commissioned a small project to generate specific data on 
the SAVMIN™ process.  This data will be used as input to 
a simulation program for refinement of the estimated waste 
volume, as well as the energy requirement associated with a 
SAVMIN™ plant.  The output from the simulation will provide 
important decision support for the potential application of the 
technology as an alternative to reverse osmosis.

The SAVMIN Acid Mine Drainage Plant at the Sibanye Still-Water Demonstration site 
in Randfontein

43
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Thakadu Battery Materials to supply 
battery-grade material to the global 
markets for electric mobility and 
stationary energy storage.

Thakadu Battery Materials’ Nickel Sulphate 
plant – A Success Story  Addressed by the 
Mandate of Mintek.
The commencement of production at the Thakadu Battery 
Materials, nickel sulphate refinery plant at Sibanye-Stillwater 
in Marikana, North West province has marked a significant 
milestone in the local beneficiation of minerals in South Africa. 
The milestone is also a notable achievement for Mintek for 
which Mintek was established, “to promote mineral technology 
and to foster the establishment and expansion of industries in 
the field of minerals and products derived therefrom” through 
research development and technology transfer.”

The R300m plant, which is the first for South Africa, enables 
Thakadu Battery Materials to supply battery-grade material to 
the global markets for electric mobility and stationary energy 
storage. The new nickel sulphate refinery uses a flowsheet 
developed by Mintek to purify crude nickel sulphate extracted 

from a platinum group metal concentrate that would otherwise 
be sold as a lower value product. In 2017, Mintek performed 
an optimisation test work to refine the flowsheet provided by 
Thakadu Battery Material to purify a nickel sulphate solution 
stream. 

The flowsheet was refined by Mintek to obtain strict 
specifications of the composition and physical structure of 
the final Nickel Sulphate crystals. Novel strategies for impurity 
rejection using ion exchange and precipitation principles were 
developed during this project by Mintek. Mintek contributed by 
applying tacit knowledge and skills to achieve the outcomes 
desired by Thakadu. The Thakadu Nickel Sulphate Plant will 
refine crude nickel sulphate feed from its long-term supply 
agreement with Sibanye-Stillwater and other supplemental 
feed sources and its production target is 16000 tpa in 2021 
with ramp-up to steady-state production of 25,000 tpa.
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5.2 Innovation

Second Minfurn200 installed at a Gold Mine 
in South Africa
Mintek has installed the second Minfurn200, carbon 
regeneration furnace, at a gold mine in Carletonville after 
the successful commission of the first unit in 2019. The 
development and commercialisation of the Minfurn200, 
capable of regenerating 200kg/hour of activated carbon, is 
a notable achievement for Mintek which benefit gold mines 
operations by reducing energy consumption and improve 
operational process efficiencies.

The gold mines play a significant role in the South African 
economy by generating revenue and providing employment. 
Activated carbon is used by all the gold mines in South Africa 
for recovering gold in the cyanide leaching process. With time, 
the carbon becomes contaminated by organic materials and 
loses some of its ability to adsorb gold, leading to a decrease in 
gold recovery. Regeneration at high temperature decomposes 
the organic matter and restores the original activity of the 
carbon. The activated carbon is regenerated and reused in 
the process. 

Typically all the mines use the rotary kiln for the regeneration 
of activated carbon. Rotary kilns are energy-intensive 
and have poor operational efficiencies. Minfurn is 
an alternative technology developed by Mintek 
to regenerate activated carbon. Minfurn uses a 
novel Direct Resistive Heating (DRH) technology 
to generate heat inside the carbon by applying 
electrical energy.  DRH results in maximising the 
energy utilization that makes Minfurn a highly 
energy-efficient regeneration furnace.  Minfurn 
units with smaller capacities (25 to 125 kg/h) 
are operational in various gold mines worldwide. 
Major installations of Minfurn includes Peru, 
Zimbabwe, Brazil, Russia, Chile, Cote d’Ivoire 
and Sudan.

The Minfurn42 that regenerates 42 kg/h of 
activated carbon was installed and commissioned at 
Hippo Creek Gold mine in Zimbabwe.  The installation 
will help improve the quantity of gold recovery for the 
mine and reduce the operational cost. Robust design along 
with higher energy and operational efficiencies of Minfurn200 
will help gold mines to improve their throughput and reduce 
operational cost.

Instruments and Control for Optimisation 
of Gold Leaching
Mintek has installed 20 units of Cynoprobe Online Cyanide 
Analyser, an instrument that measures free and weak acid dis-
sociable (WAD) cyanide in gold processing, bringing the num-
ber of commercial units installed to 160 in 30 countries around 
the world, with several more in production.
The Cynoprobe online cyanide analyser was developed by 
Mintek in the 2000s to address the issue of inefficient dosing 
on cyanide in gold leach circuits, which is used to dissolve the 
gold into a solution. Too little cyanide results in high soluble 
gold losses to tailings, and too much has adverse economic 
and environmental impacts.

The Minfurn200 capable of regenerating 200kg/hour 
of activated carbon has been installed at gold mine in 
Carletonville.



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |   Research, Development & Innovation Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |   Research, Development & Innovation46

R
es

er
ac

h,
 

D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
&

 In
no

va
tio

n

The 2020/21 financial year was a record in terms of Cynoprobe 
sales, coming in at 20, with several of these being the result 
of large tenders. The surprising boom in light of the world-
wide COVID-19 pandemic, coupled with logistical challenges 
of shipping to site has made challenges of commissioning of 
several of units which had to be moved to the 2021/2022 fi-
nancial year.

Measurement of cyanide concentration gives insight into the 
plant operation and can allow production personnel to make 
informed decisions about the dosing, however coupling the 
measurement with an automatic control system provides more 
consistent results. This is no trivial matter, however, as chang-
es can take of the order of 30 minutes to show an effect, by 
which time over-or under-correction cannot be avoided, and 
the impact could take hours to be mitigated.

Coupling the Cynoprobe’s measurements with Mintek’s ad-
vanced model predictive controller, which takes these long 
time delays and slow dynamics in its stride, allows for much 
more optimal control of the dosing rates to ensure that the 
concentration stays as close to target as possible.

The relatively fast measurement frequency of the Cynoprobe 
facilitates tight cyanide control, less overdosing and reduction 
in cyanide consumption.  Tighter control of cyanide concen-
tration makes it possible to reduce the normal cyanide operat-
ing set-point without compromising gold recovery. As a result, 
cyanide reagent costs have shown reductions of up to 20% 
and less cyanide is discharged into the tailings stream which is 
important from an environmental perspective.

Economic quantification of these benefits is generally difficult 
to obtain due to confidentiality issues and varies from plant to 

plant, but it has been shown that one such example of utilising 
the Cynoprobe together with the LeachStar advanced process 
control system has yielded cumulative annual savings in cya-
nide of more than US$4.5m.

Mintek’s C² Meter, a complementary product that measures 
the concentration of carbon (used to adsorb the dissolved 
gold) in the leach tanks is also continued to grow the installa-
tion base in 13 countries by 18 units bringing the number of C2 
meters to 124 worldwide. Keeping the carbon concentrations 
at optimal levels in each tank of the circuit has been shown to 
yield marked improvements in reducing the soluble gold loss-
es in the tailings stream.

Minstral Furnace Controller

Mintek continued to expand the global footprint of its 
Minstral submerged-arc furnace control system, despite 
the international lockdowns brought on by the onset of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. Due to the PC-based nature of the 
control system, it was possible to successfully commission 
four new Minstral systems in Brazil, 100% remotely.

FurnStar Minstral is a submerged-arc furnace control system 
that optimises furnace operation using a patented resistance 
algorithm, enabling stable operation at optimal power.
Coupled with Minstral’s automatic electrode-control algorithm, 
the Minstral Furnace Controller has helped the furnace 
operators allocate power at various levels in the furnace, 
depending on the requirements of the process.

These installations bring the number of Minstral systems 
around the world to 149 in 12 countries.

The Cynoprobe cyanide analyser offers the functionality to measure both ‘free’ and 
weak acid dissociable (WAD) cyanide concentration of up to three independent 

streams. 
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Samples are analysed using an XRF handheld scanner 
to guide sampling of confiscated pig iron from shipping 
containers at the Durban harbour 

Mineralogical and chemical analysis as 
evidence in illegal mining cases
Illegal mining continues to be a growing concern in South 
Africa. The Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development 
Act 28 of 2002 (MPRDA) prohibits mining without the required 
statutory authorisation (Section 5 (4).  Law enforcement 
and prosecution by the state, requires tangible evidence to 
determine the chemical and mineralogical composition of ores 
as a form of “evidence” in these cases.

Mintek conducted mineralogical and chemical analysis of ore 
samples derived from three separate cases of illegal mining 
activities for the Department of Mineral Resources and Energy 
(DMRE). These results were used as prosecution evidence.

The cases included a confiscated shipment of 33 containers 
by the South African Revenue Services (SARS) at the Durban 
Harbour; Chrome ores transported in confiscated trucks at the 
Polokwane and Modikwa SAPS offices in Limpopo; as well 
as for ore at illegal mining activities in Witrantjie, Northwest 
province.

Working closely with a multidisciplinary team including SARS 
and SAPS in handling these cases, the DMRE requested 

expert analyses from Mintek as evidence to prepare cases 
for prosecution by the National Prosecution Authority (NPA).  
Mintek was requested to provide comprehensive reports that 
entailed the chemical composition and mineral concentration 
of the materials in each of the cases. Sampling was conducted 
by Mintek’s Mineralogy (MNL) and Analytical Services Divisions 
(ASD). 

Case 1: Confiscated shipment by SARS at 
the Durban Harbour
The DMRE and SARS confiscated 33 shipping containers 
at the port of Durban in KwaZulu-Natal due to suspicion of 
incorrect declaration of value to SARS. An assessment was 
requested from Mintek to determine the value of the material 
as the exporter had declared a value of approximately R997 
000 and that the samples were scrap iron. The valuation by 
Mintek concluded the correct declaration to be approximately 
R3.4 million and that the samples were in fact pig iron. Pig 
iron is not a component of scrap metal, it is the first product 
obtained during the production of iron and steel through blast 
furnaces.  

The samples were analysed for bulk chemistry by ICP-OES, 
gain on ignition (GOI) and fire assay (FA) to determine the 
precious element content. They were further analysed by X-ray 
diffraction (XRD) to determine the bulk modal composition of 
each. The bulk sample chemistry determined that iron was 
the most significant element detected, ranging from 72 to 97 
%. The average GOI was 33 % and the total carbon ranged 
between 2.6 and 4.1 %. Gain on ignition is an indication 
that the Fe oxidised during analysis and gained mass. The 
mineralogical assessment determined that the samples 
had a composition that is alike to pig iron and not scrap as 
declared. A desktop study of pig iron and the market value of 
the shipment, including a report on the extent of environmental 
disturbance with quantities and estimated monetary value of 
the environmental liability, were also provided.

Case 2: Sampling and analysis of confis-
cated suspected chrome ores from Polok-
wane and Modikwa SAPS. 
The Mintek team travelled to Polokwane SAPS and Modik-
wa SAPS in Limpopo province to assess, sample and anal-
yse confiscated consignments of suspected chrome ores on 
tipper-semi trailer trucks and stockpiles. Ore was sampled 
from eight trucks and stockpiles at the Polokwane SAPS, and 
on two trucks and stockpiles at the Modikwa SAPS using a 
handheld X-ray fluorescence (XRF) instrument to guide the 
sampling. The confiscated ore on the trucks at the Polokwane 
SAPS contained predominantly coarse (>10 cm), run-of-mine 
(ROM) material representing chromite ore and host rocks. The 
sampled stockpiles consisted of fines (<1mm) which suggest-
ed they may be ore concentrates. The first stockpile appeared 
the darkest in colour, confirmed by the highest grade of >30% 
Cr, compared with a lower grade for the second stockpile. 

5.3 Services
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A Mintek engineer is collecting chromite ore samples from 
the illegal mining site in Witrantjie, Northwest province. 

Samples taken from trucks and stockpiles at the Modikwa 
SAPS site contained fines (<1mm) with coarser pieces 
(~10 cm), stockpiles of rocks (>10cm).  The samples 
were bagged at the site by the Mintek team and 
were delivered to Mintek for further analysis 
at the Mineralogy and Analytical Services 
Divisions through XRD and bulk chemical 
assays.

Based on the field observations 
and qualitative grab sampling 
conducted at the two sites, the 
ores were confirmed as chromite 
and waste rocks. Stockpiles 
at both sites comprised fines 
that graded higher in Cr2O3 
content than the rocks in the 
trailers, suggesting some pre-
processing of ore had taken 
place.

Case 3: Sample analysis 
of ore from illegal mining 
activities in the Northwest 
province  

The Mintek staff accompanied the DMRE on an 
inspection visit to chromitite workings at Witrantjie in 
Northwest province.  The purpose of the inspection was 
to retrieve ore samples for analysis to determine the grade 
and quality, specifically the Cr, Fe, Al and Si content as well as 
the concentration of chromite in the samples
The open-pit workings are adjacent to the Pilanesburg intrusive 
complex and corresponded to Critical Main Zone positions 
within the Rustenburg Layered Suite of the Bushveld Complex. 
The chromitite abundance of material places the mined area 
within the Critical Zone, and the low concentrations of precious 
metals would suggest that the material was being mined from 
below the Upper Group Chromitite reef, in all likelihood for the 
ferrochrome market.

The samples were analysed by different bulk chemistry methods 
and were further analysed for the bulk modal mineralogical 
composition of each. The chemical assay and bulk modal 
mineralogy analyses indicated that the bulk of the material 
sampled constituted chromite ore of sufficient quality to be of 
value in the 38 basis and 42 basis run-of-mine chromite ore 
market (where 38 basis indicates a 36-38 % Cr2O3 content, 
and 42 basis is for 40-42 % Cr2O3). A significant proportion 
of the sample material however contained high Al and Si, as 
well as relatively low actual chromite mineral content (as per 
XRD analyses). The near-surface operation of course results in 
a significant proportion of the mineral make-up to be alteration 
phases, chiefly talc. Mintek has shown its capabilities to 
support the DMRE and SAPS in its interventions to curb 
illegal mining activities in South Africa. This allows for proper 

evaluation of the illegal mining activities and can be used as 
part of scientific affidavit submissions in order to ensure that 
there is no loss of fiscal revenue through incorrect declaration, 
loss of fiscal expenditure through the cost of land rehabilitation 
and prosecution of illegal miners if needed.

Unlocking additional value from Chromite 
tailing of UG2 tailings

With the low platinum price and the rising demand for stainless 
steel, there has been a growing demand from South African 
platinum operations to develop processing flowsheets to 
recover fine chrome lost to Upper Ground 2 (UG2) flotation 
tailings. Reprocessing of UG2 tailings offers a cost-effective 
alternative for chromite recovery in an industry where 
underground operations are prohibitively costly and where 
the demand for chromite lumpy ore has also significantly 
deteriorated. It is cheaper for ferrochrome producers to source 
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chrome ore from PGMs tailings than to mine deeper lumpy 
ores. Typical conventional chrome processing techniques 
such as gravity separation do not recover fine chrome particles 
finer than 75μm. Recovery losses increase substantially at 
sizes finer than 75μm as about 50% of chrome is dominated in 
this fraction. The presence of para-magnetic gangue reduces 
the grades and recoveries that can be achieved via magnetic 
separation.

With millions of tonnes of historical tailings produced by 
primary platinum producers at 17-20%Cr2O3 grade, 
chrome ore and PGMs producers are now focusing on the 
reprocessing of tailings to recover fine chrome as this will also 
increase mine revenues, save jobs and minimise potential 
adverse environmental effects associated with the disposal of 
chromium.
To unlock additional value from chromite tailings, Mintek 
evaluated the recovery of fine chromite on UG1-3, MG2 and 
LG6 fines by flotation under acid and neutral pH conditions at a 
laboratory scale. The intention was to produce a metallurgical 
grade product of specification 40-42% Cr2O3. Chromite grade 
product above 40%Cr2O3 was achieved at recoveries ranging 
from 40.5% to 96.5% exceeding what is typically achieved for 
gravity and magnetic separation. At a product grade of 40-
42% Cr2O3, recoveries of 10- 58% (UG1 and UG2) and 6.7-

24.2% (UG2, MG, LG) are typical for gravity and magnetic 
separation respectively depending on the head grade.
Although laboratory-scale batch flotation of chromite is 
technically possible, a continuous pilot-scale investigation of 
this nature in the past has never been conducted by Mintek 
before, mainly due to the high cost of reagents. Mintek further 
evaluated the flotation of fine chromite from UG2 tailings at 
a continuous pilot scale. The novel circuit evaluated included 
removal of naturally floatable minerals and slimes using frother 
only. This removal of slimes is critical in minimising chromite 
reagent consumption. Rougher, cleaner and recleaner stages 
of direct chromite flotation were required to obtain a final 
product of over 40% Cr2O3.

It was shown at a pilot-scale that a slow accumulation of 
slimes and high gangue entrainment in the final cleaner must 
be effectively dealt with to ensure stable operating conditions.  
The final runs showed that a counter-current split circuit with 
water dilution in the cleaners was able to obtain product 
grades of over 40% Cr2O3 at recoveries of >80%.
When this novel process is fully operational, existing ferrochrome 
smelting capacity will be increased and new entrants could 
be allowed into the market, with the commensurate creation 
and retention of employment combined with environmental 
rehabilitation. 

Left: The Mintek team collects samples from small-scale pits at Witrantjie in  the 
Northwest Pronvice

Right: The Mintek Flotation plant
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Typical Pilot Scale Tumbling Mills available at Mintek

The laboratory bench-scale Gravity spriral is one of 
the  separation techniques used to separate minerals of 
different relative densities.

To unlock additional value from chromite tailings, Mintek 
evaluated the recovery of fine chromite on UG1-3, MG2 and 
LG6 fines by flotation under acid and neutral pH conditions at a 
laboratory scale. The intention was to produce a metallurgical 
grade product of specification 40-42% Cr2O3. Chromite grade 
product above 40%Cr2O3 was achieved at recoveries ranging 
from 40.5% to 96.5% exceeding what is typically achieved for 
gravity and magnetic separation. At a product grade of 40-
42% Cr2O3, recoveries of 10- 58% (UG1 and UG2) and 6.7-
24.2% (UG2, MG, LG) are typical for gravity and magnetic 
separation respectively depending on the head grade.

Although laboratory-scale batch flotation of chromite is 
technically possible, a continuous pilot-scale investigation of 
this nature in the past has never been conducted by Mintek 
before, mainly due to the high cost of reagents. Mintek further 
evaluated the flotation of fine chromite from UG2 tailings at 
a continuous pilot scale. The novel circuit evaluated included 

removal of naturally floatable minerals and slimes using frother 
only. This removal of slimes is critical in minimising chromite 
reagent consumption. Rougher, cleaner and recleaner stages 
of direct chromite flotation were required to obtain a final 
product of over 40% Cr2O3.

It was shown at a pilot-scale that a slow accumulation of 
slimes and high gangue entrainment in the final cleaner must 
be effectively dealt with to ensure stable operating conditions.  
The final runs showed that a counter-current split circuit with 
water dilution in the cleaners was able to obtain product grades 
of over 40% Cr2O3 at recoveries of >80%.
When this novel process is fully operational, existing ferrochrome 
smelting capacity will be increased and new entrants could 
be allowed into the market, with the commensurate creation 
and retention of employment combined with environmental 
rehabilitation. 



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |   Research, Development & Innovation 51

R
eserach, 

D
evelop

m
ent &

 Innovation

5.4 Derelict & Ownerless Mine Rehabilitation

Left: Samples are being retrieved for analysis to determine the 
grade and quality as well as the concentration of chromite in the 
samples at Witrantjie open-pit workings.

Right: The Rehabilitated site at the Dublin Asbestos Mine 
showing erosion control blankets and storm water drain.

Mintek continued with the implementation of the Derelict 
& Ownerless Mines (D&O) programme which is executed in 
conjunction with and funded by the Department of Mineral 
Resources and Energy (DMRE). The programme is currently 
funded to the value of R450 million over a period of three years 
ending March 2022. The work completed during the year 
included rehabilitation of asbestos mines in Limpopo provinces 
and closure of Derelict Mine Shafts/Holings in the Gauteng 
province. The year marked the successful completion of the 
rehabilitation of the Penge village and Dublin asbestos mines 
in the Limpopo province.

Notable Achievements in the Asbestos rehabilitation 
Programme

• Achieved practical completion of the Penge village and 
Dublin Mines 

• Works at the Uitkyk, Lagerdraai and Uitval asbestos 
mines rehabilitation Lepelle Nkumpi municipality were 
suspended due to ongoing community protests.

• Notable achievements in the Hollings closure  

• 41 holings of derelict and ownerless gold mines in 
Gauteng have been sealed during the financial year. 
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6 Human Capital Development

6.1 Developing Research Leaders

The objective of this programme is to retain and grow the skills base of existing staff through the Human Capital Development 
Programme.  Our researchers have received achievement through qualification attainment, collaboration and industry body 
recognition which affirms our growing research leadership.

Dr Kirsten Youlton, received a PhD in geosciences from the University of 
the Witwatersrand for a research project entitled “The Study of Alternative 

Leaching Processes on South African Gold Ores”. The research 
investigated the extraction of gold using alternative leaching processes 
on South African deposits, aiming to reduce the environmental impact 
of gold processing while increasing the feasibility of difficult to process 
ores. Alternative techniques were evaluated against cyanide and the thio 
sulphate leaching method was shown to be significantly more feasible 
than previously predicted. Dr Youlton is a Scientist in the Mineralogy 

Division.

Dr Lerato Machogo-Phao, graduated with her PhD degree in Chemistry 
from the University of the Witwatersrand. Her interest was in the synthesis 

of semiconductor nanomaterials for use in renewable energy applications. 
Tapping into South Africa’s ailing gold-mining industry, her project aimed 
to look at the beneficiation of one of the country’s most precious minerals. 
She focused particularly on the synthesis and characterization of novel 
gold selenide nanostructures for use in Dye Sensitised Solar Cells. Upon 
joining Mintek as a Scientist-in-Training, she received on-the-job-training 
in the Analytical Services Division where she gained knowledge and 

experience in various analytical techniques such as ICP-MS and ICP-OES. 
Currently, she is in the Advanced Materials Division where she is involved in 

nanomaterials synthesis for various applications and testing their cytotoxicity. 
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Nozuko Mani, graduated with an MSc (Eng) - Mining Engineering (Mineral 
Economics) from the University of Witwatersrand. Her research project is 

titled “Transfer of Social Labour Plan commitments during the sale of 
a mine: Rustenburg Platinum and Vedanta Zinc International (formerly 
Black Mountain Zinc Mining) case study”. Her research endeavoured to 
investigate how SLP commitments are transferred to the new owner, 
the role of legislation and policy, and lessons for local communities, 
companies, policymakers, and all associated stakeholders with regards 
to transfers on mine ownership. Nozuko currently works as Head: Mineral 

Economics in the Mineral Economics and Strategy Unit. 

Patricia Maphutha, obtained an M.Eng in metallurgical engineering from 
the University of Pretoria for a dissertation titled “Investigation into the 
dephosphorization of ferromanganese alloys for production of advanced 
high strength steels.” Patricia was commended by her examiners, Prof 
Guven Akdogan of Stellenbosch University and Dr Robert Cromarty of 
the University of Pretoria, for tackling such a difficult topic and going at it 
with so much tenacity in spite of all the technical challenges she faced. 
Patricia works as a Senior Engineer in the Pyrometallurgy Division

Aphelele Sithole, Engineer in Pyrometallugy Division was awarded 
an M.Eng degree in technology management (CUM LAUDE) by the 
Department of Industrial Engineering at the University of Stellenbosch.  
Her examiners, Prof Chris Pistorius of Carnegie Mellon University in 
Pittsburgh USA and Prof Stephen Matope of Stellenbosch University, 
were very impressed by the depth of her work.

6.2 Future Research Leaders Class 
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Martin Sitefane, was awarded a MSc. in engineering by the Department 
of Chemical and Metallurgical Engineering at the University of the 
Witwatersrand. His examiners, Prof Chris Pistorius of Carnegie Mellon 
University in Pittsburgh USA and Prof Hurman Eric of the University of the 
Witwatersrand, enjoyed the combination of plant-based and laboratory 
work Martin addressed in his dissertation “The evaluation of sintering as 
a potential cause of dust blockage for a submerged arc furnace applied 
in silicomanganese production.”

Tsholofelo Koadibane, Engineer in the Minerals Processing Division 
graduated with an MSc in project management from the University of 
Pretoria. Her MSc research is titled “The use of maintenance management 
technologies in the South African coal mining industry”. She has a unique 
privilege to work with extraction of different commodities including 
PGMs, Gold, Coal, Copper and Iron. She is a senior engineer in the 
minerals processing division.
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One of the initiatives implemented as part of Mintek’s 
repositioning process has been the launch of a human capital 
development programme specifically aimed at enhancing 
the quality, calibre and technical skills profile of personnel 
directly involved in research, experimental development 
and innovation (RDI) activities. The SET Human Capital 
Development programme is focused on building a healthy 
pipeline of research staff (from the recent graduates through 
to established professionals), elevating the overall qualification 
profile of its technical staff complement, focused researcher 
‘career ladder’ progression, inculcating a culture of self-
development, collaboration and research excellence amongst 
staff.

In order for Mintek to meaningfully advance on its mandate 
and compete locally and globally with similar research 
organisations, a more rigorous approach has been adopted 
with regard to the prioritisation, support and fast-tracking 
of the technical qualifications upgrading process. Although 
existing studies undertaken by staff continue to be funded, the 
emphasis of the SET Human Capital Development Programme 
is specifically on upgrading the qualifications of the cohort 
of engineers, scientists and technicians engaged directly in 
technical research to that of an NQF 9 or 10 (i.e. Masters 
and Doctoral) level. The SET Post-graduate Qualifications 
Enhancement programme provides staff with the opportunity 
to submit technical applications motivating for bursary support. 

The motivation follows the format of a proposal that an applicant 
would need to submit to an institution of higher learning – it  
includes a brief technical introduction, problem statement, 
research hypothesis, aims and objectives, background and 
significance, advancement of the state-of-the-art (novelty), 
impact of the study, study design and methods, resources 
and budgets, ethical considerations, and reference sections. 
Staff are encouraged to pursue research topics aligned 
with divisional research projects and programmes as far as 
possible. In addition to receiving mentorship and support from 
supervisors, they are able to apply for research funding to 
undertake any necessary testwork required. 

It has been encouraging to see the overwhelming response 
from employees that have submitted applications as part of 
this process. Their submissions covered the entire scope of 
Mintek’s core business and the full spectrum of technology 
readiness levels (TRL’s), starting with basic research, right 
through to commercialisation and technology transfer. A total 
of 30 staff members are currently pursuing their studies under 
this programme, encompassing 17 Master of Science (MSc), 
5 Masters of Engineering (MEng), and 7 PhDs.

6.3 SET Human Capital Development Programme 

Left: Masaku Kgatle is conducting Dye degradation studies 
using Fe-based trimetallic nanoparticles for the production of 
reusable water in the Nanotechnology Innovation Centre (NIC) 
water laboratory.

Right: Aphelele Sithole, Martin Sitefane and Patricia Maphutha 
in the high-temperature laboratory in Pyrometallurgy Division.
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The project is led by Dr Skepu, Chief Scientist at the Mintek 
Advanced Materials Division who is the principal investigator 
and Dr Salerwe Mosebi, of UNISA, as the co-investigator. 
The project was awarded a R3 million grant to support the 
development of local capacity to supply reagents for existing 
gold standard COVID-19 testing as well as to offer rapid 
alternatives for the direct detection of the virus. Mintek was 
one of the seven institutions in the country who received the 
grant award. 

Mintek Collaborates with UNISA on 
COVID-19 rapid tests
Mintek has formed a research collaboration with the UNISA 
College of Agriculture and Environmental Sciences (CAES) 
to develop rapid antigen-detecting and antibody-detecting 
tests kits.  Through this collaboration, both institutions were 
awarded South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC)/ 
TIA/ DSI grant in 2020 for the co-development of COVID-19 
antigen rapid test kits. 

6.4 Collaboration

Left: Minister Gwede Mantashe is taking a COVID -19 rapid antibody 
and antigen tests developed by Mintek.

Right: The Mintek  MinDiagnostics SARS-CoV 2, Antibody rapid  
diagnostic test kits currently undergoing external validations.
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6.5 Recognition by Industry Bodies

Dr Quin Reynolds, Principal Engineer in the Pyrometallurgy Division was 
appointed Associate Professor (extraordinary) in the Department of 

Process Engineering, Stellenbosch University for a three-year period. The 
Associate Professorship in this category of appointment give recognition 
to individuals for their proven specialised expertise, and/or their eminence 
in their profession and field of study, and to involve them in the academic 
programmes of the relevant Department. Dr Reynolds holds a PhD in 
chemical engineering from the University of Cape Town for his work on 
arc modelling. He is currently working on high-speed measurements and 

photography of DC arcs, the use of high-performance computing, and 
various aspects of pyrometallurgical process modelling at Mintek.

Dr Jestos Taguta, Research Engineer in the Minerals Processing Division 
received the National Research Foundation (NRF) Y-rating. The rating was 

awarded based on the quality of his research outputs in recent past 
years. The NRF-Y rating is awarded to researchers who are 40 years 
and younger, who have held the doctorate or equivalent qualification for 
less than five years at the time of application, and who are recognised 
as having the potential to establish themselves as researchers within five 
years after evaluation. Taguta holds PhD and MSc degrees in chemical 
engineering from the University of Cape Town. He is a recipient of the 

International Mineral Processing Congress (IMPC) Young Author Award at 
the bi-annual XXVIII International Mineral Processing Congress, 2016 held 

in Quebec City, Canada.

Stellenbosch University Associate Professor Appointment

NRF Y-rating for Dr Jestos Taguta raises the Mintek researcher profile
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Representative for the Professional Development Committee (PDC) of the Extraction & 
Processing Division Council (EPD 

President - Elect of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMM)

Dr Joalet Steenkamp, Technical Specialist in Pyrometallurgy Division was 
appointed a representative for the Professional Development Committee 

(PDC) of the Extraction & Processing Division Council (EPD) effective 30 
March 2021 for a two-year term. The EPD is one of five Technical Division 
of the Minerals, Metals & Materials Society (TMS) in the USA and is home 
to those TMS members whose work is related to the extraction and 
processing of minerals and metals. Dr Steenkamp holds a PhD degree in 
metallurgical engineering from the University of Pretoria. She is a visiting 
Adjunct Professor at the University of the Witwatersrand, School of 

Chemical and Metallurgical Engineering. She is a Fellow of the Southern 
African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMM).

Ms Isabel Geldenhuys, was elected as President of the SAIMM (Southern 
African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy) for the year 2021/22. She 

fulfils the role of President-Elect until June 2021. Isabel is a chemical 
engineer and a registered professional engineer with over 20 years of 
pyrometallurgical experience. She has extensive experience in managing 
research and development projects, and providing commercial test 
work and consultancy services to industry. Isabel specialises in DC arc 
furnace technologies, and has presented papers at several international 
conferences. Her research interests include DC furnace technology, 

ferrochromium, ferronickel, slag cleaning, and PGM smelting processes. 
Isabel is currently a Technical Consultant to Mintek.
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Incoming Junior Vice-President of the SAIMM

Appointment to the Unisa Life Sciences Faculty Advisory Board Committee

Dr Elias Matinde, was nominated as the incoming Junior Vice President 
and will commence his role as Junior Vice President in August 2021. 
Dr Elias Matinde is currently employed as the Head of Research and 
Development in the Pyrometallurgy Division at Mintek. He holds a PhD 
and MSc. in Metallurgy from Tohoku University in Japan, MBA (University 
of Zimbabwe), BSc (Hons.) Metallurgical Engineering (University of 
Zimbabwe) and PGDip in Education (Wits). He is a Professional Engineer 
(ECSA), a Fellow of SAIMM and was the 2017-2018 Fellow of the African 

Science Leadership Program.

Dr Amanda Skepu, Chief Scientist who heads the Mintek Diagnostics Unit 
of the Health Platform in the Advanced Materials Division was appointed a 

member of the UNISA Life Sciences Faculty Advisory Board Committee. 
As a committee member, she will provide advice to the Life Sciences 
Faculty on academic curriculum, identify research opportunities and 
professional development of academic staff. She will also advise and 
evaluate changes within the industry, adapt the faculty qualifications 
to meet new demands within the profession. Dr Skepu’s appointment 
will further strengthen Mintek’s collaboration with UNISA on diagnostics 

development which started with the current collaboration on antigen 
production for the COVID-19 RDT prototype. 
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SANAS Assessor and ECSA Mock Accreditation Panel

Postgraduate Research Symposium (PRIS)-First Prize Award

Dr Alain Mwamba, Senior Engineer in the Advanced Materials Division 
was appointed in dual roles as the South African National Accreditation 
System (SANAS) Technical Assessor and Engineering Council of South 
Africa (ECSA) Mock Accreditation Panel member. As the SANAS 
Technical Assessor, he sits on the accreditation panel for the powder 
metallurgy laboratory which is responsible for assessing procedures 
relating to conformity to SANAS and international standards. He assesses 

the competency of staff and conformity of the work done.

Taswald Moodley, was awarded the First Prize (formerly known as the ECSA 
award) in the main category at the University of KwaZulu-Natal (UKZN) 
Postgraduate Research Symposium (PRIS) which consisted of over 800 
delegates from all disciplines within the College of Agriculture Engineering 
and Science. Taswald is an Engineer in the Minerals Processing Division. 
He studied a PhD in Chemical Engineering at the UKZN, which is 
currently under examination. The focus of his thesis is on comminution; 
specifically using measured data from nuclear imaging experiments to 
validate computer-simulated data at the continuum scale. Taswald is 
an Engineer in the Minerals Processing Division. He is a member of the 

Particle Technology Group (PTG) that straddles UKZN and the University 
of Cape Town (UCT).

He has recently participated in the Faculty of Engineering and Built Environment 2021 ECSA Mock Accreditation at the University 
of Johannesburg (UJ). Apart from these appointments, Mwamba has also been appointed external examiner for the Stellenbosch 
University Master’s degrees thesis and PhD thesis for the University of Johannesburg, a role he previously held at Wits University 
and the University of Cape Town.
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Young Professionals Council Treasurer Election

Kondwani Banda, a research engineer in the Pyrometallurgy Division was 
elected Treasurer for the Young Professionals Council of the Southern 

African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (SAIMMYPC) for the period 
2020-2021.  The appointment sets precedence towards being elected, 
secretary in 2021, vice chairman in 2022 and chairman of the SAIMM-
YPC in 2023. His role in the SAIMM includes championing the marketing 
and strategic partnership portfolio, and facilitation of a series of online 
webinars under #YPC Connected Series. Kondwani holds an MSc in 
Metallurgical Engineering from the University of Witwatersrand. He 

actively works on R&D projects from laboratory- to pilot-scale furnaces 
and fluid bed chlorinators.

Left: The Mintek hygiene staff is disinfecting workspaces following a 
COVID-19 exposure.

Right: Ashma Singh, Joseph Moema and Hendriëtte van der Walt are 
some of  a cohort of staff pursuing PhD studies.
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For a global leader in its field, it is vital for Mintek to adopt a business practice of sustainable development. Mintek has therefore 
tailored its activities, to not only meet the needs of its stakeholders, but also ensuring that its practices enhance, protect and 
sustain human and natural resources for the future. The activities vary from the wellbeing of our employees to raising awareness 
and funds for just causes.

7 Sustainable Development

7.1 Performance Against Mintek’s Sustainability Focus Areas
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How Mintek performed in 2020/21 FY What Mintek is committed to

• Allocated 35 full time (54.29% for postgraduate 
studies) and 71 part time bursaries (58 for post 
graduate studies) towards enhancing science 
and research capacity in the organisation.

• Exceeded target of 15% for percentage staff 
with Doctorates, with 19% of staff having the 
qualification by end of year.

• Target of 25% not met and achieved 22% of 
staff with Masters’ degrees. 

• Provided experiential learning opportunities 
for 42 students who were pursuing a SET 
qualification during the year.

• Recorded 91% of staff in the designated group 
representation (towards achievement of EE 
targets). This exceeds the target of 90%.

• As in last year, achieved the target of 3% for 
employees with disabilities.

• Increase efforts to produce, retain and attract 
staff with Doctorate and Masters Degrees, as is 
befitting a research institution.

• Continued campaign to enhance the upgrading 
of SET qualifications across the organization. 

• Continue pursuing employment equity in the 
organisation, and in particular, increase the 
female component at Mintek.

• Implement a campaign to attract senior level 
researchers with international recognition and 
standing.
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How Mintek performed in 2020/21 FY What Mintek is committed to

• The Lost Time Injury Frequency rates at year-
end was 0 and well below the targets of 1.0.

• There were no major environmental incidents 
reported during the year. In addition, there were 
no work-related fatalities during the year.

• The health incident frequency rate was 2.2 
above the target of 1.0. 

• During the period of FY2020/2021, Mintek could 
not reach the annual target of 100% wellness 
interventions due to COVID-19.

• Conducted medical surveillances for employees, 
bursars and trainees. A total of 476 medicals 
were conducted for employees, contractors and 
students which includes, 51 entrance medicals, 
379 annual medicals and 32 exit medicals.

• Continue to maintain a safe working environment 
for Mintek’s staff, the most important asset for 
the organisation.

• Continue efforts to have zero harm in all areas of 
safety, health and wellness.

• Mintek will continue to enforce compliance to 
Covid-19 regulations thus controlling the rate of 
Covid-19 transmission.

• Wellness interventions play a pivotal role in 
assisting employees to maintain a relatively 
healthy state. Efforts to conduct health risk 
screenings will be maintained in the ambit of 
Covid-19 regulations.

• Continue efforts to conduct risk based medical 
surveillance ensuring that the health and safety 
of employees is protected against exposure.

The table below lists Mintek’s sustainability-related focus areas and summarises its progress in addressing these areas.
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7.2 Safety, Health and Wellbeing of Our People

En
su

re
 s

af
et

y, 
he

al
th

 a
nd

w
el

lb
ei

ng
 o

f M
in

te
k’

s 
 p

eo
pl

e
How Mintek performed in 2020/21 FY What Mintek is committed to

• A total of 175 Audiometry tests were performed 
and 3 recorded a PLH result of (10- 19.9%) 
while a total of 19 fell within the PLH (5 – 
9.9%). A total of 153 recorded normal readings 
of PLH (0 – 4.9%) as per the SANS 10083-
2013 specifications. All the cases with PLH > 
5 are known cases which have been further 
investigated through diagnostic audiograms 
and ENT specialist assessments.

• Spirometry test has been suspended as it is one 
of the Aerosol Generating Procedures (AGP). 
Spirometry will only be performed where there is 
a clinical indication for testing and the subjects 
are adequately protected from contracting 
SARS-Cov-2.

• Mintek supports all wellness initiatives and 
recognizes the benefits of investing in the 
wellness of their employees. At the end of 
the financial year, there were 204 Health Risk 
screening tests conducted, 58 PSA tests, 150 
TB and STI screening, 36 PAP smear tests, 40 
Breast examinations, 22 Uro-flow and 150 HCT 
(HIV counselling and Testing) tests

• Continue to comply with the Health and 
Safety Act to protect employees from harmful 
exposure such as high noise levels. Continue 
efforts to increase audiometry screening and 
ENT assessments as per SANS10083-2013 
stipulations.

• Efforts to protect employees from exposure to 
procedures that are considered high risk will be 
maintained by only conducting tests that are risk 
based.

• Continue to host programs such as the blood 
donation drives, TB screening and health 
awareness campaigns. This includes weight 
maintenance programmes through amongst 
others, the boot camp sessions held at Mintek 
after work hours.
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How Mintek performed in 2020/21 FY What Mintek is committed to

• SSME trained 100 small scale miners on a 
Skills Programme for Small Scale Mining: 
Surface Mining in Kimberly Northern Cape. The 
beneficiaries are former illegal diamond miners 
who the Department of Mineral Resources and 
Energy formalised through the office of the 
Honourable former Deputy Minister Oliphant. 
The miners are members of the Batho Pele 
Cooperative based in Kimberly. 

The skills programme training covered the following 
aspects,

• South African policies and legislation such as 
the Mine Health and Safety Act.

• Elementary Geology covers the basic 
understanding of rocks, minerals and ore 
deposits.

• Minerals processing covers the basics of 
minerals recovery.

• Basic health and safety requirements.

Research is critical to what Mintek does and critical to the 
ongoing success of the institution. It is, by its very nature, an 
exploration of new ideas and new processes. Consequently, it 
may generate risks, which arise as a result of those processes, 
or by virtue of the way in which research is organised, 
conducted and managed.
Chief Investigators (CIs) and team members are experts in 
their particular field of research and are therefore expected to 

ensure that they understand the hazards and risks associated 
with their research and are competent to manage these 
hazards and risks effectively. They need to apply this knowledge 
to ensure that the research under their supervision is carried 
out in a safe manner. With the outbreak of the COVID-19 
pandemic, all risk assessments were reviewed and updated 
with controls put in place to manage the spread of COVID-19 
infections in the work place.
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The SHEQ committee reviews operational performance, 
anticipates potential issues and provides support in setting 
direction for improvements.

A functional safety, health, environment and quality unit 
provides a coordinated and effective specialist advisory 
support to the SHEQ committee. Employees are represented 
by an appointed and trained OHS Representative in all matters 
related to their safety and health.

Four (4) Corporate SHEQ meetings were held during the finan-
cial year. The meetings are used for monitoring and reporting 
on progress that is made against safety and health targets and 
standards; progress on environmental protection, including ra-
diation protection and nuclear material management as well 
as training and inspections, among other things. The meet-
ings also review policy, objectives, targets and procedures of 
our SHEQ system, as well as customer satisfaction frequency 
rates, both internal and external. This is a consultation forum 
for management and staff as required by ISO45001 and the 
Occupational Health and Safety Act requirements.

Mintek has been certified by accredited independent ex-
ternal auditors to meet the requirements of safety and 
health (ISO45001:2018), environmental management (ISO 
14001:2015), and quality (ISO 9001:2015). Certification was 
maintained after a surveillance audit conducted in July 2020. 
ASD and HMD maintained their ISO17025 Laboratory Accred-
itation. The National Nuclear Regulator (NNR) conducted an 
inspection on site as part of the regulators routine inspections. 
An Environmental Legal Compliance audit was conducted by 
an external assurance provider as per Mintek’s risks imple-
mentation plan. Internal audits were conducted in various di-
visions throughout the organization to ensure that all divisions 
meet the requirements of the standards. All divisions audited 
met and exceeded the audit target score of 80%.

Mintek endeavours to conduct business while preventing the 
spread of COVID-19 in line with the commitments outlined in 
the Mintek COVID-19 Policy as well as the Mintek’s Return 
to Work Plan. A fire risk assessment and Local ventilation 
extraction and fume hood extraction efficiency survey were 
conducted by an external assurance provider as required from 
the Mintek risk implementation plan.

All researchers take responsibility for their own health and 
safety and ensure that they don’t compromise the health and 
safety of other employees by the things they do or fail to do. 
Mintek SHEQ structures and teams work tirelessly to ensure 
that employees, amongst others:
  
• follow Mintek’s SHEQ policy, procedures and safe 

systems of work;
• use protective clothing and equipment as recommended;
• risk-assess, or assist with the risk assessment of their 

work;
• attend training and put it into practice in the workplace; 
• report incidents that have resulted in, or could have 

resulted in, injury or damage;   
• assist in the investigation of accidents with the aim of 

introducing preventative measures; 
• report unsafe conditions or actions work co-operatively 

to improve health and safety standards and performance; 
and

• work safely and efficiently.

Mintek’s Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) 
committee is a management committee that oversees the 
policies relating to safety, health, environment and quality and 
their implementation across Mintek.  Mr Alan Mckenzie has 
been appointed Mintek’s COVID-19 Compliance Manager to 
ensure adherence to the Department of Labour’s Directive (C19 
OHS). He is also the Chairperson of the SHEQ Committee.  
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The focus has been on monitoring the effectiveness of 
COVID-19 controls on site and raising awareness to employ-
ees on measures to be taken to prevent the spread of this 
disease. Workplace inspections and internal audits are con-
ducted continuously as planned. There is also ongoing com-
munication through the safety and health committees.
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MINTEK’S Health Incident Frequency Rate (HIFR) 
(MARCH 2021)
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MINTEK’S Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) 
(MARCH 2021)
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The Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) started at 0.2 on 
01 April 2020 and ended on 0 on 31 March 2021, against a 
target of 1.0. The few injuries that were sustained in the work-
place were minor and were treated by the Occupational Health 
Clinic. 

All the SHEQ targets except Health Incident Frequency Rate 
were achieved. A total of 14 health incidents were recorded 
between April 2020 and March 2021 which are all COVID 19 

related. These are cases which investigations reports showed 
evidence that infection may have occurred at Mintek.  In all 
other cases there is no evidence to suggest internal infection.
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Other key SHEQ scores that were achieved at the end of the financial year, and can also be seen in the graphs that follow include:
 
• There were no major environmental incidents reported during the year, resulting in the Environmental Incidents (EI) being 0 

throughout, against a target of 1.
• The number of Public Dissatisfaction Incidents (PDI) started at 2 on 01 April 2020 and ended at 0 on March 2021 against a 

target of 1.
• The % External Client Satisfaction Frequency Rate (%CSFR) started the financial year on 95% and ended at 94% at the end 

of the financial year. 
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MINTEK’S Environmental Incidents (EI) 
(MARCH 2021)

EI %

3

2

1

0

TARGET

1

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Ap
r 2

02
0

M
ay

 2
02

0

Ju
n 

20
20

Ju
l 2

02
0

Au
g 

20
20

Se
p 

20
20

O
ct

 2
02

0

No
v 

20
20

De
c 

20
20

Ja
n 

20
21

Fe
b 

20
21

M
ar

 2
02

1

Public Dissatisfaction Incidents (PDI) 
(MARCH 2021)
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Mintek continues to integrate its sustainable development 
agenda, and associated programs and standards fully in 
all activities and all functions as an essential element of 
management. Like most businesses, Mintek has environmental 
aspects as a result of its activities therefore adheres to the 
following licensing requirements provided by the City of 
Johannesburg:

• Atmospheric emissions licence;
• Discharge of  waste water; and
• Flammable Substances storage.

All licenses have been retained throughout the financial year. 
Mintek was also registered with the Department of Water and 
Sanitation for “Schedule 1 use”. In order to reduce Mintek’s 
water footprint, the gardens are watered with borehole water. 

This registration qualifies under Schedule 1 of the National 
Water Act, 1998.  Mintek proactively monitors ground water 
and management of waste that follows the waste lifecycle 
that prioritises reduction, re-use and recycling, recovery, and 
treatment before disposal. 

Wellness and Occupational Health
Mintek’s wellness programme is a comprehensive programme 
that includes occupational and primary health management 
provided under the auspices of the Clinic. It is evident 
that Covid-19 is reshaping the future of the provision of 
Occupational health care services. 

The coronavirus pandemic has wide-reaching and long-
lasting implications that impact all aspects of the employee 
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MINTEK’S % External Customer Satisfaction Frequency Rate (%CSFR) 

(MARCH 2021)
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lives, therefore plans can’t address only coronavirus testing 
and care but there must be some plans which are offering 
increased support for behavioural health and social needs due 
to the coronavirus outbreak. In-house medical centres play a 
vital role in ensuring that organizations are within the ambit of 
legislation through conducting Occupational health screening 
processes and providing mandatory Covid-19 screening and 
testing of employees and visitors within the workplace.

Occupational Health
Occupational health services are best suited in identifying both 
occupational and non-occupational risk factors that can pose 
a challenge to the health of employees in the workplace and 
are covered by the following aspects:

a) Medical surveillance programme ( entrance, periodic, exit 
and executive medicals)

b) Medical surveillance testing: Audiometry, Spirometry (lung 
function test), biological monitoring

c) Injuries on duty(IOD)
d) Non-Occupational health (primary healthcare, wellness 

screenings etc.
e) Covid-19 screening and testing

Biological monitoring
Biological monitoring tests are conducted on employees who 
are at risk of exposure to Hazardous Chemical Substances. 
The aim of conducting these tests is to assess the internal dose 
of the HCS and to prevent any adverse effects of exposure to 
the health of employees.
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Injury on Duty
There were 11 cases (B1 injuries) and these are the cases 
that were treated by the on-site clinic. There was one case 
with a B1 injury, where the person is referred externally for 
treatment. This case did not result in a lost-time. There were 
2 cases which resulted in Lost- time and were reported to the 
Compensation Commissioner.

Non-Occupational health
A total of 957 consultations were conducted at the on-site 
clinic where services such as primary health care, preventative 
healthcare and health risk screening programmes are provided. 
The most common cases seen presented with respiratory 
tract infection symptoms. A number of cases seen were also 
referrals from those who failed the Covid-19 screening on 
entrance. 

Covid-19 related activities
1. Covid-19 symptom screening and temperature checks 

are conducted on entrance for employees, contractors 
and visitors. A total of 122 822 screening were conducted 
and a total of 253 screening failures were detected. These 
were referred to the on-site clinic for further management 
and for further Covid-19 testing. 

2. A total of 4 075 Covid-19 tests (PCR tests) were 
conducted. Some of these tests were conducted through 
the support of the Sandown clinic and the tests were 

analysed at the NHLS. The other samples were analysed 
internally and the positive results were verified through 
external laboratories. 

3. A total of 98 positive cases were recorded at Mintek 
and there was 1 case of death due to Covid-19 infection 
complications. There were 3 cases of Covid-19 re-
infection. 15 of these cases were reported to the 
Compensation Commissioner as they were linked to 
workplace exposure.

4. 80% of cases that tested positive were asymptomatic 
and none presented with a high temperature. The most 
common symptoms reported were loss of taste, loss of 
smell, sore throat and coughing. 

 

Wellness
Mintek supports all wellness initiatives and recognizes the 
benefits of investing in the wellness of their employees. At the 
end of the financial year, there were 204 Health Risk screening 
tests conducted, 58 PSA tests, 150 TB and STI screening, 36 
PAP smear tests, 40 Breast examinations, 22 Uro-flow and 
150 HCT (HIV counselling and Testing) tests.

EWP program:
1. A Counsellor (Storme Brand) was appointed to provide 

counselling sessions to employee’s whist the tender 
process was in progress. She provided online sessions.

EXPOSURE NUMBERS

Chromium 45

Cobalt 30

Lead 34

MIBK 4

Nickel 31

Trichloro 4

TBE 7

Uranium 960

The tests to the following elements were performed:

All the tests were found to be within the expected BEI. 



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |   Sustainable Development 73

S
ustainab

le
 D

evelop
m

ent

2. The appointment of a EWP service provider was finalised 
and Universal Corporate Wellness (UCW) was appointed 
to provide the service.

 
3. So far, 78% of cases seen were those of self-referral 

whilst 11% were those referred from the OH clinic. 71% 
of those who accessed the service are female and 29% 
are males. The most preferred method of service contact 
is through telephone calls followed by email. 

Protecting the Environment
Programmes that are geared towards protecting the 
environment continued into the 2020/21 financial year. 
The approach that Mintek uses integrates the sustainable 
development agenda, into all activities and all functions as 
an essential element of management. Mintek also continues 
to responsibly ensure that its operations do not contribute to 
environmental degradation by monitoring its environmental 
footprint and implementing a wide range of measures to 
protect the environment.

The measures that we implement in Mintek are integrated 
into our Risk Management processes as well as the 
comprehensive SHEQ system of Mintek. Key elements of this 

include careful management of water and energy use, as well 
as the management of waste that follows the waste lifecycle 
that prioritises reduction, re-use and recycling, recovery, and 
treatment before disposal. 

Management of waste
Due to the nature of its work, Mintek generates all kinds 
of waste, including certain types of waste that could be 
hazardous and could pollute the environment. Effective 
environmental protection programmes require a strong 
collaboration between the organisation and its employees, 
which is an approach that Mintek uses. Mintek has a waste 
management procedure which guides the organization on 
how waste is managed. Both general and hazardous waste 
are generated from Mintek’s work activities.

Mintek has a system of separating waste at source, some 
waste streams are treated on site before disposal. There are a 
number of initiatives put in place to reduce waste to landfill. The 
waste management contractor provides an integrated service 
for sorting, collection, treatment, disposal and recycling waste. 
A total of 94172kg waste was recycled this financial year. The 
bulk materials recycled were cans, followed by scrap metal 
and paper. 

22 200

0
0

0

68 410

436

Scrap Metal cardboard Paper Glass Plastic Newspaper Cans Polypoprolene

Weight Kg

3962730
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Water Use Management
Mintek appreciates that South Africa is a water-scarce country, and that all citizens, including corporate citizens, need to play a 
major role in conserving the scarce resource. As a result, Mintek monitors and tracks its daily activities impact on water resources. 
Mintek uses freshwater as a basic input for daily operations and recycled water for irrigation. Test works at Mintek consume water 
and release effluents that are treated prior to being discharged into the main sewer. It is within this context that Mintek ensures 
that it recycles water as far as possible, and the effluent discharged from its plant does not contaminate natural water sources. 
Borehole water is used to water the gardens.

Energy Management
Energy utilisation is monitored throughout the year to ensure that the base electrical load is kept certain levels, both as a cost 
management exercise and an attempt to limit the use coal based energy source. The graph below shows that the utilization 
levels attained this year are comparable to those of the same period last year. Mintek consumed 8394063.71kWh in 2020FY and 
7013337.87kWh in 2021FY showing a reduction in power consumption from the grid of 16.4% year on year. Consumption trend 
is shown in Figure 4, below.

Mintek continually strives to operate in a manner that accounts for the social and environmental impact created by the business. 
As such, Mintek is committed to developing policies that integrate responsible practices into daily business operation and 
demonstrates social purpose and clear values for employees and other stakeholders. 
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7.3 Corporate Social Responsibility

Mineral Education Trust Fund
Mintek maintained its continuous support to the Mineral 
Education Trust Fund, which was founded by the Chamber 
of Mine for the industry to consolidate its support towards 
education, teaching and research. The purpose of the fund 
is to support institutions of higher learning to attract, retain 

and develop undergraduate teaching staff. It is also to create 
academic centres of excellence and foster collaboration. 
Handover of sanitisers and PPE to support learning and 
teaching at Cosmo City Secondary. Mintek handed sanitisers 
and PPE to Cosmo City Secondary School on 22 October 
2020 as part of a Community Engagement Programme to 
support learning and teaching during COVID -19. A range of 
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surface, hand, hand gel sanitisers and sanitiser dispensing 
stands manufactured by Mintek as part of its repurposed 
activities for COVID-19 response were given to the school. In 
addition to sanitisers, face shields to protect teachers in the 
classroom, and COVID-19 awareness information posters to 
remind learners of prevention guidelines. Mintek’s relationship 
with the school dates back to 2018 when it adopted the school 
to inspire learners to follow careers in science, technology and 
engineering, which is core to Mintek’s research activities.  The 
school has benefited from Mintek’s programs and support 
over the period.

Youth Summit Participation
Mintek exhibited and gave talks at the Youth Summit 2020 
organised by the Dodo Group in Kathu, Northern Cape to 
showcase career opportunities for school learners and small, 
medium and micro-enterprises in the mining and energy 
sector. The summit was attended by the Department of Mineral 
Resources and Energy, mining stakeholders, and Grade 8 -11 
learners in the John Taolo Gaetsewe District Municipality. Day 
1 of the Summit was learner-focused where learners from 
Baiteredi and KP Toto Technical and Commercial High school 
in Mothibistad.

Mintek presented career opportunities in the Mining Industry 
which they can follow. Mintek engaged the audience on 
Day 2 of the event   by discussing its previous programmes 
on artisanal small scale mining and training programmes 
that Mintek had undertaken in partnership with the Mining 
Qualifications Authority and Local Government in the 
Northern Cape Province. The importance of Mintek’s 
participation was to raise awareness on the 
importance of Education, and Innovation as a 
cornerstone for any society key to the long term 
socio-economic development of the country.

Support of Local Government Clinic with 
Sanitisers and Medical PPE
Mintek reinforced its partnership with Sandown Clinic, a 
dedicated COVID-19 testing site for the public in Johannesburg 
by giving sanitisers, PPE and clinic essential stock valued at 
R35 670 in May 2020. The donation of PPE and the essential 
stock was given to support the clinic to continue offering 
essential primary healthcare services to the public in the City 
of Johannesburg region E during the period of PPE stock 
shortages which were caused by COVID -19.

The items donated include hand, surface and hand gel 
sanitisers, Personal Protective Equipment, including N95 
masks and COVID-19 test kits. The items offered clinic 
healthcare workers, protection against COVID-19 and enabled 
them to continue offering primary health care co packages to 
the public. Mintek’s partnership with Sandown Clinic dates 
back to 2018 when the two have supported each other. 
The Sandown clinic hosted Health outreach programmes at 
Mintek. These outreach programmes have been essential in 
the early detection of diseases including COVID -19.

A student from the Northwest University is receiving advise 
oncareer opportunities from Kondwani Banda (right) on Science 

and Engineering career opportunities at Mintek during the Youth 
Summit. 
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The role of the Mintek Board of Directors (the Board) is to 
provide ethical and effective leadership and strategic direction 
to enhance the long-term value of Mintek and its shareholders, 
according to the Mineral Technology (Mintek) Act and the 
Mintek Board Charter. The Board approves the strategy, 
operating policies, goals and priorities of the organisation 
including monitoring compliance with applicable legislation, 
achievement against strategic objectives and policies. Except 
for the CEO, all members of the Board are Non-Executive 
Directors. Board members are actively involved in and bring 
independent ruling to bear on the Board’s considerations and 
decisions. 

The Minister of Mineral Resources and Energy, as the 
Shareholder representative of the Government of South Africa, 
has the legislative authority to appoint persons who have 
achieved distinction in science, engineering or industry or who 
have special knowledge or experience in relation to one or 
more aspects of Mintek’s functions. The Mineral Technology 
Act prescribes that the Board shall consists of a Chairman, 
and not fewer than six but not more than nine other members, 
all of whom are appointed by the Minister, and the President or 
CEO who shall serve on the Board by virtue of his appointment. 

8.1 Governing Body Matters

8.2 The Board of Directors

As the Accounting Authority of the organisation, the Board is 
accountable for the preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements in accordance 
with South African Statements of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (GRAP) and as required by the PFMA. For 
such internal control as the Accounting Authority determines, 
it necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 
separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The Accounting 
Authority, in consideration of the prepared consolidated and 
separate financial statements, is responsible for assessing the 
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

The Board was appointed by the Minister with effect from 1 
June 2020 for a three-year term, ending on 31 May 2023. The 
Board members have a diverse set of skills, relevant business 
acumen, knowledge and experience to effectively discharge 
their fiduciary duties.

The Board established the following Board Committees 
which have their purpose and responsibilities outlined in their 
respective approved Charters:

BOARD

HR & REMCOAUDIT & RISK
COMMITTEE RDIC
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The members of Mintek Board and Committees including their roles are listed below:

Mintek Board Members
(Period: from 1 June 2020 to 31 March 2021)

Director Date of 
Appointment

Category Race Gender Board ARC HR
&Remco

RDIC

Dr VM Mkosana 01/06/2020 Non-Executive 
Director Black Male Chairperson - - -

Mr R 
Heydenrich 

01/06/2020 Non-Executive 
Director White Male Member - -

Member

Mr LL 
Makibinyane

01/06/2020 Non-Executive 
Director Black Male Member Member Member -

Ms P Maruping 01/06/2020 Non-Executive 
Director Black Female Member - - Member

Mr M Mokupo 21/06/2020
Independent
Non-Executive 
Director

Black Male - Member - -

Mr H Motaung 01/06/2020 Non-Executive 
Director Black Male Member - - Chairperson

Dr M Motuku 01/01/2019 Executive Director Black Male Member - - -

Ms PN Zikalala 
Mvelase

01/06/2020 Non-Executive 
Director Black Female Member Member Chairperson -

Ms NF 
Ngcwabe

01/06/2020 Non-Executive 
Director Black Female Member Member - -

Dr MW Ngobeni 01/06/2020 Non-Executive 
Director Black Female Member - Member -

Ms MM Phiri 01/06/2020 Non-Executive 
Director Black Female Member Chairperson - -

Ms M Thomani 21/06/2020
Independent 
Non-Executive 
Director

Black Female - Member - -

Prof L Zungu 01/06/2020
Non-Executive 
Director

Black Female Member - Member Member
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8.3 Profiles of Non-Executive Directors

Dr Vanguard Mbuyiseli Mkosana Ms Margaret Mosibudi Phirii
PhD; MA; Dip-HR; Senior Exec Programme for

Southern Africa; Cert. Corporate Coaching; Cert. Public
Management and Development

Vanguard is the Founder and Chairman of Phokophela 
Investment Holdings (Pty) Ltd. Former Director General of 
Department of Labour, erstwhile Board chairman of a number 
of companies including : Human Capital Group (Pty) Ltd, the 
Eastern Cape Rural Development Agency; ASPIRE, Mayibuye 
Transport Corporation (MTC), Zizi-Consulting (Pty) Ltd, 
board member of Proudly South African, General Secretary 
of the Congress of South African Writers (COSAW) Overall 
Convenor of Government in NEDLAC, former Convenor and 
spokesperson for Africa Group in ILO. His value addition to the 
board is in Corporate Governance with emphasis on Strategy, 
Organisational Performance, Risk Control and Organisational 
Sustainability.

Bachelor of Commerce; Honours Bachelor of Accounting 
Science; CA(SA)

Margaret is a managing director at Mohale Seoka Consulting. She 
is also a CEO of Seoka Phiri Construction and Transportation. 
She is a qualified chartered accountant, registered auditor and 
tax practitioner with over 21 years of experience in public and 
private sector. She worked at Auditor-General South Africa 
(AGSA) for twenty years. She has extensive exposure on external 
audit, including internal controls, control environment, Board 
evaluations, investigation, financial statements preparation & 
review, audit of performance information, corporate governance 
principles, IT governance and risk management. She is a 
member of South African Institute of Chartered Accountants, 
Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors, Public Sector Audit 
Committee Forum and Institute of Directors SA.

Ms Ntombifuthi Phydelis Zikalala-Mvelase Ms Pontsho Maruping

B. Proc; LLB

Futhi is an admitted Attorney of the High Court and practices as 
such as an Associate Attorney at Friedrich Incorporated. She has 
served in various executive roles in both public and private sector, 
including State Diamond Trader, DMRE, Commission on Gender 
Equality, Domestic Violence Assistance Programme, and Centre 
for Criminal Justice including being admitted as an attorney in 
1991. She has also served in various non-executive roles that 
include Board of Directors at Airports Company South Africa 
(ACSA), Chairperson of the Human Resources, Remuneration 
and Nominations Committee at ACSA, Chairperson of the 
Board of JIA Piazza Park which operates the InterContinental 
Hotel O R Tambo Hotel, Committee Member of various other 
Board Committees at ACSA. She is the Chairperson of the 
Board of the Limpopo Jewellery Business Incubator. She is a 
guest lecturer at the Wits Law School, Wits University.  

MBA; Masters in Space Systems Engineering; BEng 
(Hons) (Management of Technology); BSc-Eng (Mineral 
processing); Dip. in Economic Geology; Dip. in Science 

Education

Pontsho is the Deputy Managing Director (Operations and 
Business Processes) at the South African Radio Astronomy 
Observatory. Her experience spans both the private and public 
sector with more than ten years at executive level. She was an 
executive at the Technology Innovation Agency (TIA) responsible 
for Innovation Funding and Pre-commercialisation Support. Her 
major career highlights include coordinating the development 
of the National Nanotechnology Strategy which was approved 
by Cabinet in 2006 and coordinating the development of the 
Health and Safety Culture Transformation Framework for the 
Mining industry.

Prof Lindiwe Zungu Mr Lefadi Lucas Makibinyane

PhD (Occupational Health)  
   

Lindiwe is the Executive Dean of Graduate Studies at Unisa. She 
has a rich tapestry of experience in the academic research field 
having published numerous scientific papers in peer-reviewed 
local and international journals. She previously worked for the 
University of Limpopo (Medunsa campus) and the University of 
Johannesburg. Zungu holds memberships of various local and 
international organisations such as Harvard Alumni Association 
(HAA Membership), as well as membership of various board and 
advisory councils (Resigned 21 July 2021).

C. Eng; MIChemE; MIoDSA

Lefadi is the Council Member of Presidential BEE Advisory 
Council. He is an accredited Charted and Professional Engineer 
with multisector exposure, technical and financial expertise. 
Makibinyane has served in various executive roles in both public 
and private sector, including IDC, Anglo American/ Lethabo 
Power Station, Nampak Liquid Packaging and a CEO\ of 
Consulting Engineers South Africa (CESA). He has over 18 years 
Board experience.
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Ms Ntokozo Faith Ngcwabe Mr Harold Motaung

BA Geography; BA (Hons) Geography and 
Environmental Management; LLB

Ntokozo is the DDG: Mineral Policy and Promotion at the 
Department of Mineral Resources and Energy. She is an 
experienced researcher on relevant information on global 
competitiveness and attraction of new investment. Ngcwabe 
participating in the drafting and publishing of the Mineral and 
Petroleum Resources Development Act, 2002 (MPRDA). She 
represented South Africa at the United Nations Environmental 
Initiatives other several related government engagements 
overseas including the Kimberly Process Certification Scheme. 
She also served as a board member at the State Diamond 
Trader between 2009 and 2011.

 
 BSc. Mining Eng; MBA; Blasting Cert.

Harold is the former CEO and Director of Atlatsa Resources, a 
position he occupied from 01 April 2011 until July 2020. He is 
the Director of Northern Lights (Pty) Ltd. He is a Mining Engineer 
by profession with over 28 years of mining experience. Motaung 
progressed through traditional mining ranks of a miner. Motaung 
was appointed on numerous boards of government associated 
institutions including the National Nuclear Reactor. He was the 
chairperson of Mintek and SAMREC Holdings, the controlling 
shareholder of Atlatsa.  

Mr Philippus Rudolf Heydenrich Dr Maropeng Ngobeni

B Eng (Chemical); M Eng (Chemical)

Rudi is the CEO at Heydenrich Consulting Pty (Ltd). He has 
established himself as a leader in the fields of New Business 
Development, Research and Development, Technology 
Assessments and Technology transfer in the field of Energy 
and Chemicals technologies. He also served on a number of 
Divisional Boards, Advisory Boards and JV constructs. His 
strengths are in the strategic domain but has also demonstrated 
the ability to translate strategy into tactical plans and then 
provide the oversight on the delivery against plan.

PhD, Chemistry

Maropeng is a Research Scientist at Sasol Group Technology 
(Research and Technology). He is an experienced professional 
with more than 12 years’ experience in the scientific field. 
Ngobeni’s experience is mainly in catalyst development 
research for high temperature Fischer-Tropsch synthesis. He 
has knowledge in acid-base catalysis. He joined Sasol Group 
Technology as a research scientist since 2007. He holds a PhD 
Degree in Chemistry.
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The Executive Management Committee comprises of the Chief 
Executive, Chief Financial Officer General Manager: Technology, 
General Manager: Corporate Services, who are responsible for 
business development, technology development and research, 
corporate services and financial health of the organisation. The 
principal duties of the Chief Executive includes the formulation 
and implementation of Mintek strategy as agreed by the 
Board; approval and monitoring of business plans, stakeholder 

8.4 Executive Management Committee

relations and providing high level executive leadership. The 
committee also deals with Mintek’s budget, structure and key 
policies of administration, and key procurement processes. 
Furthermore, the Executive Management Committee ensures 
that governance mechanisms are established to ensure 
periodic review of systems of corporate governance as set out 
in the King IV Report.

Profiles of Members of the Executive Management Committee
The Executive Management Committee of Mintek consists of the following:

Dr Molefi Motuku Mr Sakhi Simelane

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

PhD and MSc degrees in Materials Engineering, BSc in 
Mechanical Engineering, BSc Physics.

Value add to the organisation

Research and Development, Corporate Governance, 
General Management, Strategic Planning.

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

MBA, BCom Hons (Auditing), BCom.

Value add to the organisation

Finance, Auditing, Strategic Planning and General 
Management. 

Ms Gugu Nyanda Mr Alan McKenzie

GENERAL MANAGER: CORPORATE SERVICES

MBA, BA Hons, BPaed, Dip. HRM

Value add to the organisation

Corporate Governance, Human Resources Management, 
Strategic Planning, Communications, Integrity & Compliance 

Management (Resigned 31 September 2020). 

GENERAL MANAGER: TECHNOLOGY

MSc, BSc Hons.

Value add to the organisation

Analytical Services, Pyrometallurgy, Minerals Processing, 
General Management
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Corporate governance involves the organisational undertak-
ings that have been put in place to provide applicable set of 
checks and balances within which the stewards of the organ-
isation operate. The objective of corporate governance is to 
ensure that those to whom the stakeholders entrust the direc-
tion and success of the organisation act in the best interest of 
these stakeholders.

Mintek supports the overarching goals of the King IV Report 
on Corporate Governance in South Africa 2016 (King IV) 
and has implemented the principles of leading with fairness, 
accountability, integrity, responsibility, and transparency. As a 
science council, Mintek undertakes to ensure that business 
processes, systems and controls are governance compliant 
while certifying efficiency in business.

Mintek plays an essential role within the South African 
landscape with reference to research, innovation, optimum 
service delivery, development and growth. Mintek functions in 
the interest of the South African public. It is thus, paramount 
that it is seen to be an institution of integrity that proactively 
upholds the highest ethical standards. The Board and executive 
management are accountable for ensuring that the manner in 
which the organisation executes its policy responsibilities and 
carries out its mandate aligns to its values of integrity, creativity, 
results orientation, respect and dignity and teamwork

There are a few legislative frameworks that Mintek operates 
within, they are: 

8.5 Governance Structure

8.6 Governance Framework

Statement
The Board hereby considers Mintek’s annual financial statements to be a fair depiction of the organisation’s financial position at 
year-end in terms of the South African Statements of Generally Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP) and as required by the 
Public Finance Management Act (PFMA).

• The  Mineral Technology Act No. 30 of 1989;

• The Public Finance Management Act (PFMA), which also 
governs Mintek and finance management related matters 
perspective as a Schedule 3B Company;

• The King IV Report which aims at promoting best practice 
in corporate governance across organisations and applies 
to public enterprises that fall under the PFMA; 

• The Governance Protocol which provides guidance to the 
public sector and its entities operating within the political-
economic sphere. While the Protocol applies to Mintek 
it does not seek to supersede the King Code, but rather 
amplify the requirements; and 

• According to the Protocol, Boards constitute a 
fundamental base of corporate governance, and as such, 
Mintek must be headed and controlled by an effective 
and efficient Board appointed in terms of the Mineral 
Technology Act. 

Good governance consist of careful and balanced devotion to 
the interests of all stakeholders, the conscientious observance 
of the regulation and of good practice guidelines, complete 
attention to the facts and logical deliberation on the choices to 
be made, and most importantly  ensuring that accountability 
is enforced.
The below governing structure depicts the interconnected 
association, factors and other influences upon the institution.
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The Role of the Board of Directors
The Board provides leadership to the organisation and is jointly 
responsible for promoting and safeguarding the long term 
success of the business. The Board firmly believes that sound 
corporate governance is fundamental for the achievement of 
sustainable value for all stakeholders. The Board is responsible 
for oversight across the organisation, in areas such as 
operational model, business and risk strategy, regulatory 

Mintek Organisational Structure

compliance and financial soundness. As the Accounting 
Authority, the Board trusts that the principal objective of 
corporate governance system is to ensure that both the Board 
and executive management carry out their responsibilities 
ethically and effectively.

The duties of the Board are specified in the Mineral Technology 
Act and the PFMA. With the exception of the Chief Executive 
of Mintek, all members of the Board are independent non-
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Three well-constituted committees assist the Board to 
discharge its duties. The Board attains reports on governance 
and oversight matters from the committees. These committees 
are selected according to the skills sets required for the 
committees to fulfil their functions. The three committees are 
the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), the Human Resources 
and Remuneration Committee (HR&Remco) and the Research, 
Development and Innovation Committee (RDIC).

During the Board meeting of 26 February 2021 the Board 
approved the name changes of the Human Resources 
Committee to Human Resources and Remuneration Committee 
and the Technical Committee to Research, Development and 
Innovation Committee. The aim of the name changes was to 
ensure that the committee were fit-and-proper with mandate 
and strategy of the organisation. Each of these committee has 
its own Charter.

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
The ARC deals with all matters prescribed by the regulations 
issued regarding the PFMA and Auditing Standards. The 
Committee performs final review of the key risk matters affecting 
the organisation, including monitoring the maintenance and 
safeguarding of assets and financial sustainability. Furthermore, 
the Committee ensures the integrity of the financial statements 
and oversee the effectiveness of the internal financial controls 
and the external and internal audit functions.

executive. Board members are actively involved in and bring 
independent judgement to bear on the Board’s deliberations 
and decisions. Mintek has clear separation of responsibilities 
at the head of the organisation between the leadership of the 
Board (the responsibility of the Chairman) and the executive 
management responsibility for leadership of Mintek’s business 
(the responsibility of the Chief Executive). Amongst others, the 
Board is also responsible to: 

• Ensure that technology and systems used in Mintek 
are adequate to run the business properly and for it to 
compete through the efficient use of its assets, process 
and human resources;

• Ensure that Mintek complies with all relevant laws, 
regulations and codes of best business practise;

• Regularly assess its performance and effectiveness as 
a whole and that of individual executives, including the 
Chief Executive Officer; and

• Monitor and evaluate the implementation of strategies, 
policies, management performance criteria and business 
plans; ensure that procedures and practices are in place 
that protect Mintek’s assets and reputation.

The Board is accountable to the Minister of Mineral Resources 
and Energy and as a result a shareholder performance 
agreement (the Compact) has been concluded between 
the Board and the Executive Authority. The Compact entails 
strategic objectives to be achieved and forms the basis for 
quarterly performance reporting to the Executive Authority on 
these objectives. Mintek has a Board Secretariat that supports 
the Board to enhance maximum functioning of the Board.

8.7 Board Committees and their Functions 

Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee (HR & Remco)
HR & REMCO creates and monitors policies and values-
based systems to ensure that the organisation’s operations 
are aligned with the labour laws and certain best practices 
relating to employees. The Committee further ensures that the 
remuneration policies and strategy attract, retain and motivate 
the right workforce.  

Research, Development and Innovation 
Committee (RDIC)
RDIC ensures that key research and innovation processes 
are conducted ethically, effectively and benchmarked against 
international best practices, and that research outputs, 
organisational climate and credibility remain compatible 
with the role and objectives of the organisation. Advises on 
utilisation of expertise, project proposals and financing thereof, 
looking into various co-operatives and related strategies and 
the possible expansion of the organisation’s business within 
the said mandate.
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The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)

The ARC supports the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to:

Committee Objectives Highlights of Activities

• Effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

• Compliance with applicable laws, regulations and 
supervisory requirements;

• Oversee and provide advice on the organisation’s 
risk management;

• Evaluate the effectiveness of mitigating strategies 
implemented to address the material risks of the 
organisation;

• Supporting Mintek’s business sustainability under 
normal as well as adverse operating conditions; 

• The preparation of accurate financial reporting 
and statements in compliance with all applicable 
legal requirements and accounting standards; 
and

• The operation of adequate systems and control 
processes. 

• Approved the revised ARC & internal audit 
Charters for 2021.

• Approved and recommended the Delegation of 
Authority Policy to the Board for final approval.

• Actively interacting with the CAE in ensuring that 
the internal audit strategic plan for 2019/20 to 
2021/22 is practical and achievable. 

• Approved and recommended the Mintek 
Shareholder Compact for 2020/21 including 
sections dealing with the group financials and risk 
management for final approval by the Board.

• Approved and recommended the 2019/20 Annual 
Integrated Report.

The Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee (HR & Remco)

The HR&Remco is established to assist the Board, amongst others with the following:

Committee Objectives Highlights of Activities

• Reviewing and determining human resource-
related policies, including conditions of 
employment, reward, remuneration and retention 
policies;

• Appraise annually the performance of the chief 
executive;

• Review annually the committee’s charter and 
recommend for approval by the board;

• Consideration of the annual review of remuneration 
packages; and 

• Studying aspects of the shareholder’s compact 
that relate to human resource development, and 
reviewing performance against target. 

• Approved and recommended the HR&Remco 
charter for final approval by the Board.

• Approved and recommended the committee’s 
name change from Human Resources Committee 
to Human Resources and Remuneration 
Committee, for final approval by the Board.

• Recommended the quarterly performances of the 
organisation for final approval by the Board.

• Welcomed the State of the Organisation: Mintek 
Diagnostic Report and recommended that the 
report be discussed at length during the strategic 
planning session.

• Presentation on the current Mintek Remuneration 
Framework was discussed.

• Deliberated on and recommended Mintek 
Strategy 2030 for approval by the Board. 

HR &
Remco

ARC
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As highlighted in the table above, during the year under 
review, the fairly new Board’s activities focused on approving 
crucial documents such as the Integrated Annual Report, 
Annual Financial Statements, and Shareholder’s Performance 
Agreement for 2021/22 financial year.

The Board also focused on orienting itself with the business 
operation of the organisation, one document that assisted 
with the process was the State of the Organisation: Mintek 
Diagnostic Report.  Furthermore, the Board had its first 
Strategic Planning Session in 18-20 November 2020. To this 
end, the work of the Board and Committees ensured that 
Mintek’s operations were conducted with due regard to the 
expectations and needs of all its stakeholders.  

Board and Committee Meeting Attendance 
The Board had to adapt its practices in order to function 
effectively through the COVID-19 pandemic. Although it was 
recently appointed, the Board rose to the challenge to continue 
to operate effectively notwithstanding the many challenges 

presented by the pandemic. After its formal appointment 
in June 2020, the Board induction was hosted in a hybrid 
platform to accommodate members who were not able to 
attend in-person. All the Board and Committee meetings 
were conducted virtually and the Board was regularly updated 
by executive management in between formal meetings on 
Mintek’s response to the pandemic.

The Board has adopted formal Terms of Reference, which 
are reflected in the Board Charter. The Board meets at least 
four times a year. Circumstances might rise and necessitate 
ad hoc meetings to deliberate on urgent, substantive matters. 
The Board reserves at least one day per year to discuss 
the strategic long-term plan of the organisation and its 
subsidiaries. Board meetings are attended by all members of 
executive management. Furthermore, selected members of 
executive management and senior management participate in 
certain committee meetings.

Research, Development and Innovation Committee (RDIC)  

The RDIC is established to support the Board in discharging its duties relating to:

Committee Objectives Highlights of Activities

• To ensure that key innovation and research 
processes are conducted ethically, effectively 
and benchmarked against international 
best practice, and that research outputs, 
organisational climate and credibility remain 
consistent with the mandate, objectives and 
the role of the organisation;

• Advises on utilisation of expertise, project 
proposals and financing thereof, looking into 
various co-operatives and related strategies 
and the possible expansion of Mintek business 
within the said mandate;

• Provides a forum for discussing technical issues 
for consideration by the board in informing 
strategy development and implementation in 
Mintek; and

• Assists the Board in accomplishing its duties 
relating to the legal mandate of Mintek regarding 
its core business.

• Approved and recommended the committee’s 
name change from Technical Committee 
to Research, Development and Innovation 
Committee, for final approval by the Board

• Approved and recommended the RDIC charter 
for final approval by the Board

• Tracked the corporate SHEQ activities and 
safety statistics.

• Approved and recommended the Shareholder 
Compact for 2021/22 financial year. 

• Deliberated on and recommended Mintek 
Strategy 2030 for approval by the Board. 

RDIC
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The Board and Committee meetings are held in an 
environment of intellectual honesty of purpose, truthfulness 
and mutual respect. These meetings require reporting of the 

Board and Committee Meeting Attendance
(1 June 2020 to 31 March 2021)

Name of Directors and/ or 
Committee Members Scheduled

Board ARC HR & Remco RDIC

Total Numbers of Meetings 3 *4 2 2

Dr Vanguard Mbuyiseli Mkosana (Chair) 3/3 n/a n/a n/a

Ms Margaret Mosibudi Phiri 3/3 4/4 n/a n/a

Ms Ntombifuthi Phydelis Zikalala-Mvelase 3/3 4/4 2/2 n/a

Mr Lefadi Lucas Makibinyane 3/3 4/4 2/2 n/a

Ms Pontsho Maruping 3/3 n/a n/a 2/2

Prof Lindiwe Zungu 1/3 n/a 2/2 2/2

Mr Harold Motaung 3/3 n/a n/a 1/2

Dr Maropeng Ngobeni 3/3 n/a 2/2 n/a

Ms Ntokozo Faith Ngcwabe 2/3 2/4 n/a n/a

Mr Philippus Rudolf Heydenrich 3/3 n/a n/a 2/2

Ms Mavis Thomani n/a 4/4 n/a n/a

Mr Pascalis Mokupo n/a 4/4 n/a n/a

*ARC had a special meeting to approve and recommend reports to the Board for final approval

highest standard by executive management and robust, and 
constructive challenge, and debate among all Board and 
Committee members.

8.8 Boad and Committee Meeting Attendance
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8.9 Management Committee

Code of Conduct and Business 
Ethics

Mintek will continue to comply with all major 
recommendations of the Code of Corporate 
Practices and Conduct as set out in the King IV 
Report on Corporate Governance. The Executive 
leadership and the fairly newly appointed Board 
of Directors recognises that systems of corporate 
governance should be appraised continually to 
ensure that these are sound and constant with top-
flight standards relevant to the operations of the 

organisation.

Mintek Management Committee 
(Mancom)

The Management Committee (Mancom) is 
constituted by the EXCO, Managers and the 
Committee Secretariat. Mancom meet on a 
monthly basis and may also have special meetings 
to address issues that need urgent attention. The 
committee have the critical duty for directing the 
activities of the organisation, ensuring that they are 
well run and delivering the outcomes for which it 
has been set up. Mancom also ensures that the 
undertakings of the organisation are aligned with 
the founding mandate, principles, objects and 

value.

Executive Management 
Committee (EXCO)

EXCO is made up of the Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer and General Manager: 
Technology. The Chief Audit Executive and the 
Committee Secretariat attend to support EXCO to 
ensure respectively that there are effective internal 
controls and compliance with best practice in 
corporate governance. EXCO is responsible for 
Mintek’s operational activities, developing strategy 
and policy proposals for consideration by the 
Board, and implementing the Board’s directives. 
The committee has a properly constituted mandate 

and meet on a weekly basis.

Skills Development Committee 
(RSC)

The Skills Development Committee evaluates 
skills development needs to of the employees 
and the organisation and continually evaluates the 
implementation of identified needs. It also develops 
and implements external and internal skills 
development strategies. Monitors the progress of 
the skills development of the organisation. Further, 
it monitors the implementation of the Workplace 
Skills Planning and focuses on the statutory 
objectives, mainly those embodied in the Skills 

Development Act.

Employment Equity Forum 
(Diversity Forum)

The Diversity Forum is established in terms of 
the Employment Equity (EE) Act, and serves the 
purpose of consultation on key organizational 
policies and plans, including EE Plan. The forum 
makes recommendations to Mintek on the 
development of the organisation’s employment 
equity and diversity policies, practices and action 
plans. It maintains an overview of diversity issues 
relating to all aspects of employees’ work, and 
receives and comments on all relevant reports in 
relation to agreed employment equity and diversity 

objectives and action plans. 

Risk Steering Committee (RSC)

The Risk Steering Committee identifies the key 
strategic risks that would prevent achievement of 
Mintek’s objective; assigns ownership of specific 
identifiable risks; evaluates the significance of 
each risk; and assesses Mintek’s risk appetite. The 
committee also identifies suitable responses and 
mitigating actions to each risk. It ensures that the 
internal control system assists to manage the risks; 
and regularly reviews the RM policy and the Risk 

Implementation Plan.

ICT Steering Committee

The ICT Steering Committee directs, review, and 
approve ICT strategic plans, oversees major 
initiatives, and allocates necessary resources. 
The committee establishes ICT priorities for 
the organisation and governance framework to 
support these priorities. It also ensures that ICT 
resources, strategic and operational plan align 
with the organisations directions; and reviews 
and approve business cases to ensure that ICT 

resources are optimised. 
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Mintek’s remuneration strategy and practice is informed by a 
rigorous analysis of remuneration trends in the environment. 
Despite the tough competition created by mining industry 
remuneration practices, Mintek continues to strive to maintain 
a fair, robust and appropriate remuneration and rewards 
practice for its employees, which is augmented by other 
interventions that are aimed at improving staff motivation and 
retention.

The determination of Mintek’s remuneration strategy and 
policy is among the duties of the Human Resources and 
Remuneration Committee (HR&Remco) of the Board. The 
committee ensures that remuneration policy framework 
supports the strategic aims of the business and enables 
the recruitment, motivation and retention of employees at all 
levels, while complying with all relevant regulatory and legal 
requirements. 

Board Remuneration 
The remuneration of the Board members is determined by the 
Minister of Finance, who issues the National Treasury’s Ser-
vice Benefit Packages for Office-Bearers of Certain Statutory 
and Other Institutions on an annual basis. The determination 
provides for a fixed daily rate that caters for preparation and 
attendance of meetings. It is adjusted annually as the Minister 
of Finance may deem necessary. In addition, travel and sub-
sistence costs are paid in line with Mintek’s Subsistence and 
Travel Policy. 

Remuneration Policy 
Mintek’s Remuneration Policy applies to all Mintek employees 
appointed on a permanent, contract and casual basis. The 
policy shall provide the basis on which to determine an 
appropriate rate of pay for each job in Mintek; a rate of pay 
that is fair, consistently applied across all jobs, and that is 
competitive with market trends.

This policy applies in line with Section 10(1)(b) of the 1989 
Mineral Technology Act which requires the Board to 
determine conditions of employment including the payment 
of remuneration, allowances, subsidies and other benefits 
in accordance with a system approved by the Minister. This 
function has been further delegated by the Board to the 
position of GM: Corporate Services in line with delegation of 
authority.

There were no changes to the Remuneration Policy during 
the period under review. The policy objectives remain that 
of implementing a fair and just rewards and benefits scheme 
that does not discriminate on race, gender, creed or in any 
other form of discrimination. It also advances the principles of 
fairness and equity in pay by promoting internal parity.

The quest to contain Mintek’s salary bill also continued during 
the year under review. While management ensure that Mintek 
employees are fairly rewarded, management also ensure that 
there is a healthy balance between revenue and total employee 
costs. As a consequence, the remuneration mix that has been 
adopted included a performance-based, once-off bonus that 
does not have a long-term impact on the size of the salary 
bill. The growth rate of the salary bill is kept within the inflation 
target range. 

Other financial benefits
The basket of other employee benefits is a deliberate strategy 
adopted by Mintek to mitigate the risk associated with our 
inability to compete with industry, in term of salary packages. 
The intention is to improve the quality of work life for the 
employees of Mintek, while also improving organisational 
performance. This basket includes a generous study package 
comprising a comprehensive bursary scheme that includes 
transfer payments to academic institutions, purchasing 
of study materials and books as well as leave provision for 
attending classes, preparation for exams and consultation 
with supervisors for Masters’ and Doctoral students.

8.10 Remuneration Policy and Practices
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 Mintek has a well-developed management system that includes safety, health, environment and quality (SHEQ). 
The Mintek Board, with assistance from the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), is responsible for the governance of risk. 

Mintek recognises that proactive risk management is both a 
critical element of sound corporate governance and a crucial 
enabler in realising opportunities. Mintek has a well-developed 
management system that includes safety, health, environment 
and quality (SHEQ). The Mintek Board, with assistance from 
the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), is responsible for the 
governance of risk by ensuring that management maintains 
a sound system of risk management and internal controls to 
ensure that Mintek achieves its strategic objectives.

The Risk Steering Committee (RSC) is a management 
committee that reviews the risk management process, 
internal controls, and significant risks facing the organisation 
and reports to via the Risk Management Officer (RMO) to the 
ARC. The RMO provides the ARC with a risk assessment 
report at appropriately scheduled intervals. The ARC ensures 
that management has implemented a process for risk 
management, including an annual risk management plan to 
identify, manage and report on the risks that might prevent 
Mintek from achieving its strategic objectives. In particular 
the Audit and Risk Committee: 
• reviews and recommends amendments to the risk 

management policy;

• ensures appropriate review of identified risks, together 
with the assessment of probability and impact;

• ensures appropriate review of risk action plans for 
identified risks;

Until July 2020 Mintek did not have an appointed Board and 
consequently there was no ARC top provide oversight.  In 
addition, the period of national lockdown impacted the holding 
of physical meetings.  Following the appointment of the new 
Board, in late 2020 the normal quarterly meeting schedule was 
resumed and the risk report was tabled at the ARC meetings.  

During a risk review undertaken at the end of 2019, it 
was identified that Mintek’s prevailing risk management 
framework was not well aligned with the core RDI activities 
of Mintek as were beginning to emerge as part of the new 
strategy development process.  In many cases whilst the 
risks are covered in the risk plan, it would be better to align 
them with the core activities of Mintek to ensure that they 
are adequately monitored and responded to.  During the 
period work was undertaken to begin the process of aligning 
the risk management system with the emerging new Mintek 
Strategic Objectives.  In addition, it was decided to integrate 
the management of corporate risks with the Mintek corporate 
SHEQ structures.  The main driver behind this is that SHEQ 
is largely a risk management and mitigation process.  During 
2020, the SHEQ and risk structures were merged and the 
redefining of the combined strategy commenced. This 
process was contingent on the finalisation of the new Mintek 
Strategy, which was formally adopted by the Mintek Board 
in March 2021. Following the finalisation of the new Mintek 
Strategy, the risk implementation plan will be updated during 
2021/2022 and aligned with the core business of Mintek.

Notwithstanding the above, a significant proportion of the 
effort undertaken during the review period relates to the 
management of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Mitigating the Top Risks

Mintek’s top risks include these risks and opportunities that 
have a direct potential on income, expenditure and capital 
as these are the key drivers of the financial risk appetite and 
tolerance metrics, negatively impact Mintek’s value chain, 
cause a deviation from expected outcomes and/or negatively 
influence reputation. Having identified the key strategic risks, 
the Risk Steering Committee considered the different ways  

9.1 Mitigating the Top Risks
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During 2020 the global COVID-19 pandemic reached South 
Africa and had a significant impact on Mintek.  Such a global 
infectious disease pandemic was never identified as a risk 
to Mintek.  Whilst many of the impacts, like lower economic 
activity, changing government revenues and priorities were 
identified, the effect that such a pandemic would have on the 
internal operations of Mintek, for example the testing of staff, 
case management, lockdowns etc were never part of the risk 
implementation plan as they had not been contemplated.

Significant activity took place over the review period to manage 
the medical aspects of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

These include;
• Testing and screening capacity.  Mintek had to 

invest significant amounts in both bolstering the internal 
capacity to test, and also the capacity to screen staff 
and manage cases.

• The workplace needed to be reconfigured and in 
places modified to ensure that the required protocols 
are followed and that Mintek is compliant with legislation.

• Having decontamination and sanitising capacity to 
minimise the risk of infections in the workplace.

The capacity that was built to manage and respond to the 
pandemic is significant and significantly exceeds what is 
legislatively required.  Mintek adopted the approach of balancing 
lives and livelihoods, but also followed the precautionary 
principal and an effort to ensure that risks are minimal. This 
aided in maximising Mintek’s ability to operate during the 
pandemic period.

A second emerging risk is associated with community unrest 
on the Derelict and Ownerless Mines rehabilitation programme.  
Mintek manages aspects of the programme on behalf of the 
Department of Mineral Resources and Energy, but there 
is a growing trend of community unhappiness and unrest 
which is delaying the implementation of the programme. The 
community engagement and management responsibilities for 
the programme lie with the Department of Mineral Resources 
and Energy and they are working closely with Mintek to 
address them.  However, there is an impact on the collective 
ability to deliver on the rehabilitation activities.

9.2 Emerging Risks

Response Options for 
Mitigating the Top Risks

that Mintek could respond to these risks, and the responses 
were recorded in the Risk Implementation Plan.

The options for responses include:

Avoiding the risk 
by not starting the activity that creates 

exposure to the risk;

Mitigating the risk
 through improvements to the control 

environment (risk treatment may include 
methods, procedures, applications, 

management systems, and the use of 
appropriate resources that reduce the 

probability or possible severity of the risk);

Transferring the risk exposure, 
usually to a third party better able to 

manage the risk, e.g. through insurance 
or outsourcing;

Exploiting the risk, 
where the risk exposure represents a 
potential missed or poorly-realised 

opportunity;

Terminating the activity 
that gives rise to the intolerable risk; 

and

 Integrating some or all of the risk 
responses outlined above.
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As far as the historic top 10 risks are concerned, the impact of a number of them is being felt as a consequence of the COVID-19 
pandemic. This summary gives a general overview of each risk and the associated risk mitigation. 

9.3 Review of Top Risks

Risk 1 – Loss of commercial revenue

The issue of commercial revenue remains the most significant problem being experienced by Mintek 
currently.  There was a slight increase in commercial income in the 2019 / 2020 financial year when 
compared to the previous financial year, the results for the 2020 / 2021 financial year indicate that 
the commercial revenue is again be slightly higher, however this is off a low base and is again 
still significantly lower than 5 years ago.  Significant effort has been expended in ensuring that 
marketing opportunities are maximised.  This has obviously been hampered by the travel restrictions 
associated with the COVID-19 pandemic.  There has been a significant increase in requests for 
proposals, however, the significant increase in the number and value of proposals has not as yet 
translated into a significant increase in commercial work.  In the case of the Pyrometallurgy and 
Hydrometallurgy Divisions there are pilot plant projects that have been secured for the current 
financial year and these will be executed in the coming months.  We envisage the constrained 
environment to continue, particularly in South Africa given the depressed state of the economy and 
the continuing COVID-19 pandemic.

Risk 2 – Operational-incident causes injuries, destruction                    
              of building and equipment and the loss of licenses to  
              operate scheduled processes

Any of these events would have serious implications for Mintek in terms of reputational damage.  
Injuries to personnel and/or damage to the facilities, and/or loss of operating licences will also create 
reputational damage combined with the possible inability to operate and direct loss of revenue.  To 
mitigate this risk Mintek has our ongoing SHEQ monitoring systems, including inspections and is 
also currently in the final stages of a series of legal compliance audits to ensure that all facilities and 
systems are compliant.

Risk 3 – Failure to attract and retain skilled personnel

The loss of experienced and senior staff either through retirement or resignation has continued.  As 
part of the strategy review process all business units has redefined their business plans, including 
looking at the capacity required to deliver on the mandate.  There has been a push to fill senior 
technical vacancies.  However, the recruitment of a suitable person in some positions remains 
somewhat problematic.  In many cases headhunting is required and even recruitment agencies are 
struggling to propose suitable candidates.

In an effort to address this issue more holistically, Mintek has conceptualised an enhanced human 
capital development programme aimed at developing and retaining the requisite skills.  This 
programme has been focusing on the development of post graduate qualifications of current Mintek 
staff in an effort to grow the talent that is proving difficult to recruit.
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Risk 4 – Changing Government policy and priorities

Any changes in these areas may affect Mintek’s State funding grants in two ways:  if too little, 
Mintek will suffer under the current lower commercial activities, whereas an increase in funding may 
suffer from lack of capacity.  The constrained national fiscus was already impacting on Mintek at 
the beginning of 2020 where funds were being directed to other priorities.  However, the COVID-19 
pandemic has had a significant negative impact on this.  In the MTEF review process, funds are 
being directed towards the management of the pandemic and towards stimulating the economy.  
This has begun to impact Mintek in the form of lower transfers from National Treasury.

Risk 5 –Surge in operational costs

Costs are proactively managed and continuously monitored.  Labour costs remain the most 
significant factor in Mintek’s operating costs and therefore the workforce planning is reviewed 
twice per year. Where possible local content / production/ manufacturing is key in the supply 
chain when purchasing items.  The various divisions are currently finalising business plans aimed 
at ensuring that they are all viable and sustainable.  In the meantime, a moratorium has been 
placed on external recruitment for lower level and support positions. Careful thought is given 
before filling a vacancy and the position frozen if possible and other underutilized staff reassigned 
where possible. Capital and operational expenditure is carefully monitored and unnecessary or 
“nice to have” items are not bought.

Risk 6 – Employee exposure to hazardous substances

Appropriate measures, including adequate ventilation, emission gas scrubbing, training and the 
wearing of personal protective equipment, are in place and there has been no change in the 
operating environment. Furthermore, employees are subject to an entry medical examination, a 
yearly monitoring medical examination and an exit medical when they leave Mintek.  In addition, 
for scheduled processes monthly biological monitoring is in place to track possible exposure. Any 
problems highlighted in the medicals are acted upon appropriately e.g. remove a person from a 
working environment where they may be exposure.  The management of the COVID-19 pandemic 
initially had a negative impact on the medical team’s ability to monitor staff, however capacity was 
addressed to ensure that the normal monitoring protocols are adhered to.

Risk 7 – Spillage of hazardous materials including radioactive 
              substances

The main risk related to spills during transport of hazardous substances. Mintek only makes use 
of transport companies licenced by the relevant authorities such as the Department of Mineral 
Resources and Energy, National Nuclear Regulator and the Department of Health etc.  These 
transporters are required to have protocols in place to contain and address spills.

As far as spills on Mintek’s site are concerned, all staff handling hazardous substances are required 
by law to undergo annual training that includes containing and addressing spills.  Mintek also 
maintains the relevant equipment to contain and clean up after spills.  The processing of hazardous 
liquids required bunded areas designed to contain any spills that might occur, greatly assisting in 
the management of spills.  As far as radioactive substances are concerned, Mintek employs a full 
time radiation protection officer to oversee all work on radioactive substances, and work is only 
performed in designated areas and according to the guideline document   An emergency response 
plan has been developed for incidents within Mintek’s campus as well as outside along with a public 
communication procedure if so needed.
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Risk 8 – Inadequate ICT Security

ICT security risks can be divided into a number of generic areas.  The first is the physical security of 
Mintek’s computer hardware, including both the centralised servers and associated equipment, and 
the hardware under the control of individual users.  There are a number of policies and procedures 
in place to protect these assets from both theft and physical destruction.

However, the greatest emerging threat in ICT security is cyber security.  On a monthly basis cyber-
attacks become more sophisticated and the corresponding preventative and mitigation measures 
need to continually increase to meet the rising risk. Over the past year Mintek has initiated a 
programme to assess the resilience of our systems to cyber-attack.  This assessment includes 
an analysis of the strength of our anti-hacking systems. During the COVID-19 pandemic there has 
been an increase in the number of cyber-attacks, but thus far none have succeeded.

Data is also an important aspect of Mintek’s IP value and as such data loss is also an important part 
of ICT security.  Mintek has extensive data backup protocols which are tested on a monthly basis to 
ensure that all critical data is backed up and can be restored at relatively short notice.

Risk 9 – Non Compliance to Foreign laws relating to safety, health and
              or environment

The client is responsible for these requirements in the contract, however, the project chief 
investigator will need to ensure that the project information chart details the requirements.  This 
risk is only applicable in cases where Mintek staff are working on foreign sites, aside from the 
Measurement and Control Division this is a rare occurrence.

Risk 10 – Loss of external electrical power

Although instances of power outages have increased as a consequence of Load Shedding, Mintek 
has generators to provide sufficient emergency power if an outage occurs.  The installation of 
the Egoli gas pipeline will also allow some equipment to operate on gas rather than electricity.  
This continues to be a risk that needs to be managed.  Load Shedding at short notice, or not in 
accordance with the schedule causes the greatest disruptions.  However, over the past few months 
the communication and scheduling has been better and consequently easier to manage.

9.4 Summary

The process of reviewing Mintek’s risks is continuing and the 
next phase is to ensure that Mintek’s risk profile is aligned and 
benchmarked against similar organisations as well as its core 
business. In addition, the principles of total combined risk 
assurance are being assessed to optimise Mintek’s approach 
to risk identification and management.

Mintek’s commercial revenue in 2020 / 2021 was higher than 
in 2019 / 2020, and Mintek moved from a loos making to a 
break even financial position. This is ascribed to a greater 
external focus and an intensified effort to ensure that marketing 

opportunities are maximised locally and in the SADC region. 
Requests for commercial proposals have increased and some 
pilot plant projects have been secured and executed. However, 
Mintek envisages the constrained environment to continue, 
particularly in South Africa given the depressed state of the 
economy as a consequence of the downgrade in investment 
ratings and the Covid-19 pandemic.

In order to minimise reputational damage due to operational 
incidents that may cause injuries, destruction of building and 
equipment and the loss of licenses to operate scheduled 
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Mintek takes fraud very seriously and is committed to 
a high standard of ethical conduct and adopts a zero-
tolerance approach to fraud. Mintek has adopted a fraud 
prevention plan that incorporates principles contained in the 
Public Sector Anti-Corruption Strategy and aligned to the 
Protected Disclosure Act, 2000 (Act 26 of 2000) and seeks 
to focus particularly on creating awareness and promoting 
ethical business conduct. The Fraud Prevention Committee 
activities are under review to align them with risk management 
activities. Mintek has a fraud hotline which is hosted by an 
external service provider to ensure that all stakeholders can 
report anonymously any unethical behaviour. This includes 
reports of suspected fraud, corruption, dishonest practices or 
other similar matters. The service is run totally independently 
of Mintek, and all anonymous disclosures are accepted and 
anonymity is honoured. 

Management is responsible for the development of policies 
and practices for detecting, reporting and preventing fraud 
and corruption, serious breaches of business conduct, and 
whistle-blowing procedures.

Regular reports are submitted to the ARC by management, 
along with any further documentation and information 
requested on Mintek and the Fraud Prevention Committee’s 
fraud and corruption prevention activities.

processes, Mintek will continue to focus on its ongoing SHEQ 
monitoring systems, inspections and being legally compliant 
with all facilities and systems. Addressing the skills flight and 
retention of skilled personnel, an enhanced human capital 
development programmes being rolled out.

Mintek’s Internal Audit (IA) is an in-house function in terms 
of 51(a)(ii) of the PFMA Act No. 1 of 1999 as amended. IA 
is governed in terms of the Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing (SPPIA) as prescribed by the 
Institute of Internal Auditors. 

The IA function is an independent, impartial and consulting 
activity designed to add value and improve Mintek’s 
operations. The Audit and Risk Committee approved an 
annual internal audit plan. Comprehensive reports on internal 
audit findings are presented to the executive committee and 
the ARC quarterly. The annual audit plan is risk-based and 
covers specific areas highlighted by Internal Audit and ARC. 
Follow-up audits are conducted in areas where major internal 
control weaknesses are found. 

Mintek maintains internal controls and systems, designed 
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the integrity and 
reliability of its financial statements, to safeguard, verify and 
maintain the accountability of assets, and to comply with 
applicable laws and regulations. Management is responsible 
for the organisation’s system of internal control, designed to 
identify, evaluate, manage and provide reasonable assurance 
against material misstatement and loss. The internal auditors 
perform independent reviews on the effectiveness of the 
internal controls as part of its annual internal audit plan. The 
ARC considered reports on controls from internal audit, the 
external auditor and risk management units.

9.5 Internal Audit 

9.6 Internal Control

9.7 Fraud Prevention 

Mintek takes fraud very seriously and is committed to 
a high standard of ethical conduct and adopts a zero-

tolerance approach to fraud.
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Executive Summary
Mintek embarked on a journey two years ago to reengineer our 
future and ensure financial sustainability. This journey brought 
about several strategic changes which included renewed focus 
on the research that the organization performs. Key strategic 
programmes were identified which supports the mandate of 
our research institution and that of the Department of Mineral 
Resources and Energy. A Science-Vote Open Call was also 
launched in 2019/2020 where employees were encouraged to 
apply for funding in interested research areas. This “open call” 
is a bottom-up process and replaced the previous Science 
Vote Cluster system. The new “open call” process is aimed 
at tapping into innovative ideas throughout the organisation 
and any new ideas that are broadly aligned with Mintek’s 
mandate, objectives and market segment. Mintek strives to 
invest in a robust and diverse portfolio of projects that creates 
new knowledge and enables breakthroughs across all areas 
of SET research. These initiatives have reinforced the focus 
on research.

The 2020/2021 financial year however was characterised by 
the impact that Covid-19 had on the world and on the working 
environment as a whole. This affected the revenue generation 
capabilities and the expenditure patterns. Mintek adapted 
rapidly and despite being in lockdown, productivity did not 
suffer and income generation continued despite very difficult 
conditions. Overall revenue reduced to R554.3 million which 
is less than 1% lower than revenue in the 2019/2020 financial 
year.

Additional costs were incurred to respond to the pandemic. 
These costs included raw material purchases to produce the 
new Mintek sanitizer range, medical expenses incurred to test 
employees for the virus, protective clothing and equipment 
and development costs incurred for the in-house medical 
rapid test device. The lockdown and limitations on gatherings 
and movement did bring about savings on travel, training and 
conference fees. Overall expenditure decreased by 10% which 
could also be attributed to the fact that there were no impaired 
fixed assets identified in the current year. The net result of R4.8 
million is a echo of a tough financial year.

The effect of the pandemic was however reflected in the cash 
flows. Positive cash flows from operations were generated 
amounting to R38.7 million. This is R22.0 million lower than the 
R60.6 million generated during FY 2019/2020. This reduction 
is a direct result of the lower commercial income that Mintek 
was able to generate.

Historically Mintek received funding through the Medium Term 
Expenditure Framework process for key strategic programs. 
As a result of the curbing of government spending and 
reprioritization of funds, funding proposals for future research 
have been unsuccessful. This has forced the organization to 
explore other avenues of funding which include Horizon 2020 
and European Union funding programmes. The purpose of the 
key strategic programme investments is to fund research in 
the early stages to then provide a better business case for 
future investment by outside stakeholders. 

Key programmes in the strategic plan include:

• Establishing a rare-earth industry in South Africa 
through the provision of a centralised, globally 
competitive REE processing facility (SACREF); 

• Developing technology for the production of high-
specification precursor battery materials;

• Developing a hydrogen and platinum based fuel-cell 
economy in South Africa;

• Development of high-value diagnostic products and 
a manufacturing infrastructure to supply the products 
on a commercial scale through the Kethlaphela 
Diagnostics Program;

• Revival of the ferroalloy industry in South Africa;

• Establishment of a Commercial Smelting Complex 
for the Processing of Vanadium Bearing Titaniferous 
Magnetite (VTM);

• Facilitation of growth, sustainability and effective 
transformation within the Iron ore industries in South 
Africa by unlocking value from sterile resources; and

• Development of clean coal technologies such as direct 
current (DC) coal gasification technology.

Investment through state grant in these programmes 
establishes fundamental research projects that will potentially 
develop new industries within the South African market 
and create sustainability for the organization when these 
technologies have been commercialsed.

The investment in property, plant and equipment amounted to 
R46.3 million (2019/2020: R53.6 million) and was focused on 
updating the infrastructure and constructing the plant for the 
VTM research. In the current financial year land and buildings 
were revalued amounting to an additional R27.6 million. This 
revaluation is performed every five years.

Chief Financial Officer Comments for the Annual Report

the Year Ended 31 March 2021
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1.  Profitability Analysis

1.1 Revenue
Overall revenue declined by less than 1% from R557.5 million during FY 2019/2020 to R554.3 million during FY 2020/2021. 
And although this reduction seems negligible, it is concerning that commercial revenue has declined significantly from R271.7 
million to R256.2 million which represents a 6% decline that can be attributed to the global economic environment which 
was further negatively impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. It should be noted that revenue generated from the asbestos 
rehabilitation projects have been reclassified to Rendering of Services in the current financial year and comparatives for the 
prior year was adjusted accordingly.

The funding received from DMRE amounted to R372.5 million of which R244.9 million related to science vote. This is 2.5% 
higher than the state grant allocation received in the previous year. The balance of R127.6 million was spent on the MTEF 
programmes which includes the Titaniferous Magnetite project and the Rehabilitation of Derelict and Ownerless Asbestos 
Mines (D&O). Contract revenue generated from the D&O projects were R96.7 million. This is R20,3 million higher than the 
previous year and a contribution of 17% to total revenue. Because the majority of the cost on these projects are paid out to 
service providers the project costs attributed 15% to total cost.

Chief Financial Officer Comments for the Annual Report

the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Financial Performance – FY 2020/2021

Overall Revenue
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1.2  Expenditure
Overall expenditure decreased by 13% from R628.6 million during FY 2019/2020 to R545.7 million during FY 2020/2021. The 
decrease is mainly attributed to recognition of once-off expenditure items relating to impairment and loss on disposal of assets 
incurred in the previous year. No further impairments of fixed assets were noted in the current year while asset disposals only 
amounted to R0.4 million (2019/2020: R22.7 million). 

Chief Financial Officer Comments for the Annual Report

the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Revenue from the private sector, both from local and foreign companies, have declined significantly over the last five years 
and this negative trend appears to be continuing. This makes Mintek more dependent on government funding which is not 
sustainable as there is a drive to reduce government spend across all government departments and their entities. 48% of 
foreign income generated emanated in the Measurement and Control Solution area who focuses on advance process control 
solutions which includes products such as the Cynoprobe. The local revenue was centered around analytical sample testing 
and small scale pilot testing such as benchscale comminution.

Revenue Distribution by Customer Group

Expenditure Analysis
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Overall all categories of expenses decreased except for rehabilitation services which relates to the D&O projects. The increased 
rehabilitation costs translates to increased revenue as discussed above. Employee costs remains the main cost driver for 
Mintek where 52% (48%: 2019/2020) of total cost relates to salaries. This cost reduced by R16.1 million to R284.0 million 
which is as a result of natural attrition where the total permanent employees reduced from 526 to 505. Further cost savings on 
employee costs were materialized through freezing of non-critical positions while the operational model was being finalized. It 
is envisaged that the new organizational structures will bring improved efficiencies.

The depreciation cost remains high where previously funded assets now have to be depreciation in terms of GRAP. This adds 
R18.9 million (2019/2020: R30.0 million) to depreciation and constitutes 3 % to overall cost. The lockdown regulations imposed 
in South Africa and also worldwide resulted in lower costs specifically in the areas of travel and training as travel was restricted 
and gatherings were prohibited to ensure social distancing. 

Chief Financial Officer Comments for the Annual Report

the Year Ended 31 March 2021

1.3  Net Surplus/ Deficit
Despite the trying economic conditions that Mintek found itself in during 2020/2021, a surplus of R4.8 million was realized. This 
is against a deficit of R63.7 million during the FY2019/2020 where the main contributor to the net deficit was an increase in 
expenditure due to assets related exceptional items that were recognized during that year.

2.  Mintek’s Financial Position
The Mintek Statement of Financial Position remains strong with an increased asset base as a result of revalued land and 
buildings and continued investment in the Mintek infrastructure and research equipment.

Net Results

Financial Position Review
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Chief Financial Officer Comments for the Annual Report

the Year Ended 31 March 2021

3.  Cash Flow Analysis

The COVID-19 pandemic did affect the overall productivity and resultant income generation, specifically on commercial income. 
A net outflow of cash reserves amounting to R7.7 million compared to the cash generation of R7.0 million in the 2019/2020 
financial year.

4.  Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
Mintek revalues Land and Buildings every five years. In 2020/2021 this resulted in an R27.6m increase. Net book value of as-
sets at reporting date increased from R405.9 million during the FY 2019/2020 to R452.5 million during the year under review 
mainly as a result of the revaluation.

5.  Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts
Overall revenue and expenditure was in line with the budget with a 2% variance. This is despite any impact COVID-19 had on 
the organisation and its income and expenditure.

2.1 Working Capital Management
Mintek’s short term obligations were adequately covered by current assets at reporting date although the current ratio declined 
slightly to 1.6:1 in 2020/2021 (1.7:1 FY 2019/2020). The reason for the decline is increased trade creditors balance at year-end 
31 March 2021. The ratio however indicates that Mintek’s short term obligations are adequately covered by current assets as 
at 31 March 2021.

There has been an increase in the current assets of R8.5 million mainly as a result of higher trade debtors and project work-
in-progress. This increase is indicative of the project pipeline and future revenue that will flow to the organization. Overall 
inventories also increased from R9.6 million to R14.7 million as a result of new work-in-progress stock mainly related to the 
sanitizer product line. Mintek’s cash balances have remained above R400 million over the last three financial years but Cash 
and cash equivalents decreased to R446.8 million during FY 2020/2021 from R453.9 million as a result of the lower commercial 
income that Mintek did not generate.

Payables from exchange transactions increased significantly from R81.5 million to R113.6 million during year under review 
which is mainly attributable to higher trade creditors at year-end mostly related to the D&O project service providers. This is an 
indication of increased production activity. All creditors are paid within the agreed payment terms. Included in current liabilities 
is project related cash received in advance from government of R207.5 million (R219.5 million FY 2019/2020) where conditions 
are yet to be fulfilled. These grants are recognized as deferred income and they arise as a result of contracts undertaken for 
several government departments and institutions in respect of amounts received in cash not yet accounted for as revenue.

Cash Flow Analysis
3 year comparison
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DETAILS FY2021/2022 FY2022/2023 FY2023/2024

R’000 R’000 R’000

Revenue 568,653 590,165 587,110

Expenditure 568,026 580,728 581,987

Net Result 627 9,437 5,123

Cash generated from operations 45,944 55,659 52,270

Capital Expenditure 52,228 52,877 52,877

Chief Financial Officer Comments for the Annual Report

the Year Ended 31 March 2021

7.  THE YEAR IN NUMBERS

DESCRIPTION FY2020/2021 FY2019/2020 FY2018/2019

Turnover 554,341,776 557,542,053 562,046,835

Operating Expenditure 545,745,350 628,619,461 556,601,134

Net surplus (Deficit) 4,846,258 -63,722,268 5,445,701

Current Assets 508,668,382 500,197,601 495,874,765

Non-Current Assets 455,213,357 409,469,300 432,776,266

Total Assets 963,881,739 909,666,901 928,651,031

Current Liabilities 326,837,894 304,379,407 256,155,475

Non-Current Liabilities 7,277,921 7,938,312 10,412,036

Total Liabilities 334,115,815 312,317,719 266,567,511

Cash generated from 
operations

38,665,687 60,634,278 57,439,015

Cash flows from 
investing activities

46,346,720 53,597,767 39,303,106

Cash and cash 
equivalents at the end of 
the year

446,179,194 453,860,226 446,823,715

Liquidity ratio-Current 
Ratio

                             1.6                            1.7                          1.9 

Solvency ratio-Debt to 
assets ratio

34% 33% 29%

Capital Expenditure 46,346,720 53,597,767 39,303,106

6. Financial Outlook - MTEF Plan

The budgets for the medium term is very conservative as it takes into account the current economic environment and the effort 
required to roll out the new Mintek strategy. It is anticipated that the momentum gained in the latter half of the 2020/2021 financial 
year will continue and that further progress will be made in implementation of the Mintek Operational model that will see improved 
efficiencies and higher returns.
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Audit and Risk Committee Report

Report of the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
As required by the PFMA, the report of the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) is prepared in terms of Treasury Regulation 27 and 
in line with the recommendations of the King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa and its Code of Governance 
principles. The ARC is a Committee established by the Board to fulfil statutory duties in terms of section 51 (1) (a) (ii), section 76 
and section 77 of the PFMA, read together with Treasury Regulation 27 and section 94 (7) of the Companies Act, as well as other 
duties assigned to it by the Board.

The ARC pays attention to key accounting issues, audit matters and ensures that proactive risk management is in place that 
appropriately applies for the environment that MINTEK operates in, while playing an essential role in ensuring the integrity and 
transparency of corporate reporting.

Charter
The ARC adopted a Charter that was approved by the Board and the ARC confirms that it has complied with its statutory obligations 
and the Charter during the financial year under review. The Charter is continuously reviewed in line with changes in legislation, 
business circumstances and corporate governance principles. The Charter has been reviewed during the period under review in 
accordance with King IV principles and current best practices. The ARC assists the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities, 
in particular, with regard to the evaluation of the adequacy and efficiency of accounting policies, internal controls and financial and 
corporate reporting processes, risk management and compliance. In addition, the ARC assesses the effectiveness of the internal 
auditors and the independence and effectiveness of the external auditors.  

Composition and Number of Meetings 
The Minister appointed members of the Board for a period of three years which commenced on 1 June 2021. The Board 
subsequently appointed the following as Members of the ARC:

a. Ms Margaret Mosibudi Phiri Chairperson

b. Ms Ntombifuthi Phydelis Zikalala Mvelase Member

c. Mr Lefadi Lucas Makibinyane Member

d. Ms Ntokozo Faith Ngcwabe Member

e. Ms Mavis Thomani Independent Member

f. Mr Pascalis Mokupo Independent Member
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Audit and Risk Committee Report

Audit and Risk Committee Members and Attendance 
The ARC held four meetings during the year under review and attendance by members was as depicted in the table below:

Committee Members

Total Number of 
Meetings 
Attended by Each 
Member

Ms Margaret Mosibudi Phiri 4/4

Ms Ntombifuthi Phydelis Zikalala Mvelase 4/4

Mr Lefadi Lucas Makibinyane 4/4

Ms Ntokozo Faith Ngcwabe 2/4

Ms Mavis Thomani 4/4

Mr Pascalis Mokupo 4/4

Audit and Risk Committee Report

Committee Mandate
The ARC supports the Board in discharging its responsibilities relating to:

a. Effectiveness and efficiency of operations;
b. Compliance with applicable laws, regulations and supervisory requirements;
c. Overseeing and provision of advice on the organisation’s risk management;
d. Evaluation of the effectiveness of mitigating strategies implemented to address the material risks of the organisation;
e. Supporting Mintek’s business sustainability under normal as well as adverse operating conditions; 
f. The preparation of accurate financial reporting and statements in compliance with all applicable legal requirements 
 and accounting standards; and
g. The operation of adequate systems and control processes.

External Audit
During the 2020/21 financial year, the ARC:

a. Considered the 2019/20 Draft Group AFS with management and assurance providers, and recommended
 the Draft Group AFS to the Board;

b. Concurred that the adoption of the going concern premise in preparation of the financial statements was 
 appropriate; 

c. Recommended the 2019/20 draft Annual Report to the Board;

d. Considered with management the quality and effectiveness of the external audit process, areas of concern
 and the improvement plans being developed to mitigate identified risks; 

e. Reviewed significant accounting practices, judgements and estimates adopted by the Company in the
 application of the International Financial Reporting Standards and found those to be appropriate; and

f. Noted progress reports on the 2019/20 Management Letter Points.
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Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Function (IAF) performs an independent assurance function.  The Head: Internal Audit reports functionally to the 
ARC and administratively to the CEO.

The ARC evaluates the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls, assesses the effectiveness of the IAF and approves the 
Annual Audit Plan.

During the reporting year, the ARC:

a. Approved the 2020/21 Internal Audit Plan and rolling three-year plan;
b. Reviewed and approved the Internal Audit Charter;

c. Considered Internal Audit Quarterly Reports relating to the effectiveness of Mintek’s internal control environment, systems
 and processes together with the adequacy and appropriateness of related Management’s Corrective Action Plans;

d. Considered the effectiveness of the internal audit function;

e. Reviewed the internal audit resources to ensure internal audit is able to discharge its functions; 

f. Considered Hotline Reports and progress in addressing reported incidents; and

Having considered, analyzed, reviewed and debated information provided by management, Internal Audit and the external 
auditors, the ARC concluded that the internal audit function is not sufficiently capacitated. 

Financial Reporting
The ARC received regular reports from management regarding the performance of Mintek, the tracking and monitoring of key 
performance indicators, details of budgets, forecast, capital expenditure, and reliability of management information used during 
the financial reporting process. The ARC monitored consistency in the application of the accounting and financial policies of 
Mintek, and compliance with accounting standards.

Risk Management
The Board owns the Risk Management Policy of the Company, and has delegated the responsibility to the ARC to oversee both 
risks and opportunities and to ensure that they are appropriately identified, monitored, managed and appropriately provisioned 
within the Mintek’s defined risk appetite. The ARC Charter defines the minimum requirements for the Committee to give effect to 
its risk oversight responsibilities.  The ARC concludes that the system of risk management within Mintek requires improvement.  
The ARC will continue to monitor risk management processes during 2021/2022 financial year.

Internal Financial Control
During the 2020/21 financial year, the ARC:

a. Reviewed the effectiveness of Mintek’s system of internal financial control, including receiving assurance from
 management, internal audit and external audit;
b. Reviewed significant issues raised by the internal audit and audit processes; and
c. Approved internal control and compliance activities.

Based on the processes and assurances obtained, the ARC believes that the significant internal financial controls are effective.

Other Matters
During the 2020/21 financial year, the ARC:

a. Recommended to the Board the reviewed Delegation of Authority; and

b. Reviewed proposed changes to the ARC Charter and Annual Work Plan which sets out its deliverables for the year for
 recommendation to the Board.

Audit and Risk Committee Report
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Regulatory Compliance
The ARC complied with all applicable legal and regulatory responsibilities. It is crucial to deliver a sustainable and effective 
compliant regulatory operating model which is underpinned by a direct link to the strategic benefits of establishing a winning 
regulatory environment. 

Finance Function
The ARC believes that the accounting practices adopted are effective, based upon the processes and assurance obtained.

Financial Statements
The ARC considered and recommended the Group and Company Annual Financial Statements to the Board for approval, 
based on processes and assurances obtained.

Auditor General’s Report
The ARC concurs and accepts the conclusions of the AGSA on the Annual Financial Statements and believes that the audited 
Annual Financial Statements must be accepted and read together with the report of the AGSA.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

Ms M Phiri (Chairperson)
Audit and Risk Committee 

Audit and Risk Committee ReportAudit and Risk Committee Report
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The directors are required by the Public Finance Management Act (Act 1 of 1999), as amended, to maintain adequate accounting 
records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual financial statements and related financial information 
included in this report. It is the responsibility of the members to ensure that the annual financial statements fairly present the state 
of affairs of the entity as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended, in 
conformity with GRAP. The Auditor-General was engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements 
and was given unrestricted access to all financial records, related data and relevant parties.

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Standards of GRAP including any interpretations, guidelines 
and directives issued by the ASB and in the manner required by the PFMA and Companies Act.

The annual financial statements are based on appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgements and estimates.

The directors acknowledges that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control established by Mintek 
and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment, which includes the safeguarding of assets 
and compliance with relevant legislation. To enable the directors to meet these responsibilities, the directors sets standards for 
internal control aimed at reducing risk of error deficit in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of 
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting and other procedures, and adequate segregation of duties 
to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout Mintek and all employees and management are 
required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s business is conducted in a manner that in all reasonable 
circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the economic entity is on identifying, assessing, managing and 
monitoring all known forms of risk across Mintek. While operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the economic entity endeavours 
to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within 
predetermined procedures and constraints.

The board accepts its responsibility to ensure that Mintek is managed in a responsible manner, considering the interest of all 
stakeholders, including the DMRE, employees, local communities and creditors. Responsible management entails, inter alia, 
compliance with applicable statutory and regulatory requirements, including risk management.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the system of internal 
control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the preparation of the financial statements 
and that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. However, any system of 
internal financial control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or deficit.

The board has reviewed Mintek’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2022 and, in the light of this review and the current 
financial position, it is satisfied that Mintek has, or has access to, adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

Although the directors are primarily responsible for the financial affairs of the entity, they are supported by the entity’s external 
auditors. The Auditor-General is responsible for independently reviewing and reporting on Mintek’s annual financial statements 
and her report is presented with these financial statements.

The financial statements set out on page 10 to 66, which were prepared on the going concern basis, were approved by the 
directors on 30 July 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

3.1  Revenue

Board’s Responsibilities and Approval

Deputy Chairperson of the Board,

Ms Futhi Zikalala Mvelase

30 July 2021

Dr M Motuku

Chief Executive Officer

30 July 2021
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Board’s Responsibilities and Approval

1. Nature of the Business
Mintek is South Africa’s national mineral research organisation and is one of the world’s leading technology organisations 
specialising in mineral processing, extractive metallurgy and related areas. Mintek works closely with industry and other R&D 
institutions and provides service test work, process development and optimisation, consulting and innovative products to clients 
worldwide. Mintek is a state owned science council which reports to the Minister of Mineral Resources and Energy. 

2. Material Changes in the Group
There were no material changes in the group during the financial year 2020/2021.

3. Review of Activities and Results  

3.1  Revenue
Revenue remained stagnant compared to the previous financial year. Total income generated amounted to R554.3 million of 
which R244.9 million related to state grant received. Products and services and Contract Research revenue decreased by 22% 
continuing the trend of lower commercial income in a depressed global economy which was further affected by the COVID-19 
pandemic. Revenue generated from the asbestos rehabilitation projects contributed R96.3 million (2019/2020: R78.4 million) 
to total income.

Director’s Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

The directors have the pleasure of presenting their report, which forms part of annual financial statements for the year ended 
31 March 2021.

2021  Revenue Analysis
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Director’s Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

3.2  Expenditure
Total operating expenditure reduced by 15% which is mainly due to impairment and write-off of property, plant and equipment 
in the 2019/2020 financial year which was insignificant in the current year. Rehabilitation service expenditure increase linear 
to the revenue generated and amounted to R84.5 million compared to the R62.6 million spent in the previous year. Staff cost 
remain Mintek’s largest expenditure component with employee cost making up 52% of total expenditure. Overall employee 
cost have reduced as a result of natural attrition and the temporary limitation on filling of vacancies while the new strategy is 
being finalised.

3.3  Net Result
As a result of the lower operating expenditure and the increase in asbestos rehabilitation revenue, Mintek ended the financial 
year with a net surplus of R4.8 million which is significantly better than the R63.7 million deficit of 2019/2020.  

3.4  Financial Position
During the year, the Group invested R46.3 million, (2019/2020: R53.6 million) in property, plant, equipment and intangible 
assets. Of this capital expenditure R25.5 million, (2019/2020: R14.9 mill) was for equipment. The capital expenditure was 
funded by internal cash generations and government grant.

The re-assessment of useful lives of assets, with zero book value decreased to R11.7 million compared to R17.9 million for the 
previous year resulting in a lower depreciation for the year.

Expenditure Analysis

Net Result



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |    Financial Report 115

Financial 
R

ep
ort

The group maintains a strong balance sheet position where total assets equate to almost three times total liabilities. The cash 
position remains positive although it has decreased by 2% compared to the prior year (R446.2 million vs R453.9 million). The 
liquidity ratio remained at 1:1.6. Debtor’s days deteriorated from 29 days to 45 days as a result of lower commercial income and 
increased financial pressure on customers. 

4.  Changes in Accounting Policy
During the 2020/2021 financial year, there were no changes in accounting policies for the Mintek group.

5.  Going Concern
The COVID-19 pandemic continues to have a devastating effect on the macro economy therefore on the organisation. Mintek has 
not been immune to the impact of the pandemic but management is of the opinion that regardless of the possible effect of the 
pandemic, the entity will continue to operate for the foreseeable future. Based on this, Mintek annual financial statements have 
been prepared on the going concern basis.

The Board has performed a formal review of the Group’s ability to continue trading as a going concern in the foreseeable future and 
based on this review, consider that the presentation of the financial statements on this basis is appropriate. There are no pending 
or threatened legal or arbitration proceedings, which have had or may have a material effect on the financial position of the Group.

6.  Events After the Reporting Date
There have been no facts or circumstances of a material nature that have arisen between the financial year-end and the date of 
this report.

7.  Other Matters
Further information on the activities, performance and financial position of the Group is presented in the consolidated annual 
financial statements and notes thereto. There were no current material significant negotiations for major transactions at the 
reporting date.

8.  Country of Incorporation
Mintek is incorporated in South Africa

9.  Registered Office and Postal Address
200 Malibongwe Drive, Randburg 2194
Private Bag X3015
Randburg 2125
South Africa

10.  Auditors
AUDITOR GENERAL OF SOUTH AFRICA (AGSA)

Director’s Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Financial Position Review
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Mintek Group

Opinion
1. I have audited the consolidated and separate 

financial statements of the Mintek Group and its 
subsidiaries (the group) set out on pages 121 to 
192, which comprise the consolidated and separate 
statement of financial position as at 31 March 
2021, the consolidated and separate statement 
of financial performance, statement of changes in 
net assets, cash flow statement and statement of 
comparison of budget and actual amounts with 
actual information for the year then ended, as well 
as notes to the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies.

2. In my opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Mintek Group as at 31 
March 2021, and its financial performance and cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with the 
South African Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practice (SA Standards of GRAP) and 
the requirements of the Public Finance Management 
Act of South Africa Act 1 of 1999 (PFMA).

Basis for opinion
3. I conducted my audit in accordance with the Inter-

national Standards on Auditing (ISAs). My responsi-
bilities under those standards are further described 
in the auditor-general’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated and separate financial state-
ments section of my report.

4. I am independent of the group in accordance 
with the International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants’ International code of ethics for 
professional accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (IESBA code) as well 
as other ethical requirements that are relevant to 
my audit in South Africa. I have fulfilled my other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA code.

5. I believe that the audit evidence l have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion.

Emphasis of matter
6. I draw attention to the matter below. My opinion is 

not modified in respect of this matter.

Restatement of corresponding figures

7. As disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements, 
the corresponding figures for 31 March 2020 were 
restated as a result of an error in the financial 
statements of the public entity at, and for the year 
ended, 31 March 2021.

Responsibilities of the accounting 
authority for the consolidated and 
separate financial statements 
8. The board of directors, which constitutes the 

accounting authority is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with the SA Standards of GRAP and 
the requirements of the PFMA and for such internal 
control as the accounting authority determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
and separate financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

9. In preparing the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, the accounting authority 
is responsible for assessing the group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the appropriate governance structure either intends 
to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Mintek Group

Report on the audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Mintek Group

Report on the audit of the annual performance report

Introduction and scope
12. In accordance with the Public Audit Act 25 of 

2004 (PAA) and the general notice issued in 
terms thereof, I have a responsibility to report 
on the usefulness and reliability of the reported 
performance information against predetermined 
objectives for selected strategic objective 
presented in the annual performance report. 
I performed procedures to identify material 
findings but not to gather evidence to express 
assurance.

13. My procedures address the usefulness and reliability 
of the reported performance information, which 
must be based on the public entity’s approved 
performance planning documents. I have not 
evaluated the completeness and appropriateness of 
the performance indicators inciuded in the planning 
documents. My procedures do not examine whether 
the actions taken by the public entity enabled 
service delivery. My procedures do not extend to 
any disclosures or assertions relating to the extent 
of achievements in the current year or planned 
performance strategies and information in respect 
of future periods that may be included as part of the 
reported performance information. Accordingly, my 
findings do not extend to these matters.

14. I evaluated the usefulness and reliability of 
the reported performance information in 
accordance with the criteria developed from

14. the performance management and reporting 
framework, as defined in the general notice, 
for the following selected strategic objective 
presented in the public entity’s annual 
performance report for the year ended 31 
March 2021:

Objective Pages in the annual
performance report

Strategic Objective 
1 - Conduct relevant, 
applied research 
and technological 
innovation 

182-185

15. I did not identify any material findings on the 
usefulness and reliability of the reported performance 
information for the following strategic objective:

• Strategic objective 1 - Conduct relevant, 
applied research and technological 
innovation

Other matter
16. I draw attention to the matter below.

Achievement of planned targets
17. Refer to the annual performance report on pages 

182 to 185 for information on the achievement of 
planned targets for the year.

11. A further description of my responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements is included in the annexure to this 
auditor’s report.

Auditor-general’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements 
10. My objectives are to obtain reasonable 

assurance about whether the consolidated 
and separate financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes my opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with the ISAs will always detect 
a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these consolidated and separate financial 
statements.
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Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Mintek Group

Report on the audit of compliance with legislation

Introduction and scope
18. In accordance with the PAA and the general notice 

issued in terms thereof, I have a responsibility 
to report material findings on the public entity’s 
compliance with specific matters in key legislation. I 
performed procedures to identify findings but not to 
gather evidence to express assurance.

19. The material findings on compliance with specific 
matters in key legislation are as follows: 

Annual financial statements
20. The financial statements submitted for auditing 

were not prepared in accordance with the 
prescribed financial reporting framework, as 
required by section 55(1) (b) of the PFMA. 
Material misstatements of expenditure 
reclassification, receivables, income received in 
advance, payables on retention fees, irregular 
expenditure, correction of error note, related party 
and events after the reporting date identified by 
the auditors in the submitted financial statements 
were corrected, resulting in the financial statements 
receiving an unqualified audit opinion.

Expenditure management
21. Effective and appropriate steps were not taken 

to prevent irregular expenditure amounting 
to R2 379 408 as disclosed in note 27 to the 
annual financial statements, as required by 
section 51 (1 )(b)(ii) of the PFMA. The majority of 
the irregular expenditure was caused by some 
deviations.

Consequence management
22. I was unable to obtain sufficient appropriate 

audit evidence that disciplinary steps were 
taken against officials who had incurred irregular 
expenditure as required by section 51 (1 )(e)(iii) of 
the PFMA. This was because investigations into 
irregular expenditure were not performed.

Other information

23. The accounting authority is responsible for the 
other information. The other information does 
not include the consolidated and separate 
financial statements, the auditor’s report and the 
selected strategic objective presented in the 
annual performance report that have been 
specifically reported in this auditor’s report.

24. My opinion on the financial statements and 
findings on the reported performance information 
and compliance with legislation do not cover 
the other information and I do not express an 
audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
on it.

25. In connection with my audit, my responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated and 
separate financial statements and the selected 
strategic objective presented in the annual 
performance report, or my knowledge obtained 
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

26. I did not receive the other information prior to 
the date on this auditor’s report. When I do 
receive and read this information, if I conclude that 
there is a material misstatement therein, am required 
to communicate the matter to those charge with 
governance and request that the other information 
be corrected. lf the other information is not 
corrected, I may have to retract this auditor’s report 
and re-issue an amended report as appropriate. 
However, if it is corrected this will not be necessary.



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |    Financial Report 119

Financial 
R

ep
ort

Report of the Auditor-General to Parliament on the Mintek Group

Internal control deficiencies

27. I considered internal control relevant to my 
audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, reported performance information 
and compliance with applicable legislation; 
however, my objective was not to express any form 
of assurance on it. The matters reported below are 
limited to the significant internal control deficiencies 
that resulted in the findings on compliance with 
legislation.

28. Senior management did not ensure that adequate 
reviews are performed on compliance with laws and 
regulations and the submitted financial statements 
to ensure that they are accurate and complete and 
are compliant with the SA Standards of GRAP, 
which resulted in material amendments to the 
annual financial statements.

Johannesburg
31 July  2021
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Annexure - Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit

1. As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, 
I exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout my audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements and 
the procedures performed on reported performance 
information for selected strategic objective and on the 
public entity’s compliance with respect to the selected 
subject matters.

Financial statements
2. In addition to my responsibility for the audit of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements as 
described in this auditor’s report, I also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error; design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks; and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or 
the override of internal control

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the public entity’s internal control

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the board of directors, 
which constitutes the accounting authority

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting 
authority’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
in the preparation of the financial statements. I also 
conclude, based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists relating to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
ability of the Mintek Group and its subsidiaries to 
continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in 
my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements about the material uncertainty or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion 
on the financial statements. My conclusions are based 
on the information available to me at the date of this 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause a public entity to cease operating as a 
going concern

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and determine whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. I am responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
group audit. I remain solely responsible for my audit 
opinion.

Communication with those charged with 
governance

3. I communicate with the accounting authority regarding, 
among other matters, the pianned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify 
during my audit.

4. I also provide the accounting authority with a statement 
that I have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on my independence 
and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.
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Annexure - Auditor-general’s responsibility for the audit Statement of Financial Position at 31 March 2021

GROUP COMPANY

FIGURES IN RAND NOTE 2021 2020 2021 2020

R R R R

ASSETS

Current Assets 508,668,382 500,197,601 508,668,382 500,197,601

Inventories 1. 14,724,277 9,590,698 14,724,277 9,590,698
Receivables from 
Exchange Transactions

2. 47,764,912 36,746,677 47,764,912 36,746,677

Cash and Cash 
Equivalents

3. 446,179,193 453,860,226 446,179,193 453,860,226

Non-Current Assets

Non-Current Assets 455,213,357 409,469,300 455,213,457 409,469,400

Property, Plant and 
Equipment

4. 451,420,902 404,833,336 451,420,902 404,833,336

Intangible Assets 5. 3,792,455 4,635,963 3,792,455 4,635,963
Non-current Investments 6. - - 100 100

Total Assets 963,881,739 909,666,901 963,881,839 909,667,001

LIABILITIES LIABILITIES

Current Liabilities 326,837,894 304,379,407 326,837,894 304,379,407

Provisions 7. 1,882,352 1,315,604 1,882,352 1,315,604

Payables from Exchange 
Transactions

8. 113,564,464 81,488,196 113,564,464 81,488,196

Cash received in advance 
from Government

9. 207,536,894 219,499,523 207,536,894 219,499,523

VAT Payable 2,090,092 937,291 2,090,092 937,921

Current Portion of 
Employee Benefit Liabilities

11. 10. 1,764,092 1,138,793 1,764,092 1,138,793

Non-Current Liabilities 7,277,921 7,938,312 46,792,964 47,453,355

Borrowings 18. - - 39,515,043 39,515,043

Employee Benefit Liabilities 10. 7,277,921 7,938,312 7,277,921 7,938,312
  

Total Liabilities 344,115,815 312,317,719 373,630,858 351,832,762

NET ASSETS 629,765,924 597,349,182 590,250,981 557,834,239

Reserves 11. 169,754,268 143,714,383 169,754,268 143,714,383

Accumulated Surplus 460,011,656 453,634,799 420,496,713 414,119,856

Total Net Assets 
and Liabilities

963,881,739 909,666,901 963,881,839 909,667,001
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Statement of Financial Performance at 31 March 2021

GROUP COMPANY

DESCRIPTION NOTE 2021 2020 2021 2020

R R R R

REVENUE

Revenue from Non-
exchange Transactions

Government Grants and 
Subsidies Received

12. 276,234,080 252,730,385 276,234,080 252,730,385

Revenue from Exchange Transactions

Rendering of Services 13. 256,224,462 271,100,847 256,224,462 271,100,847

Rental of Facilities and Equipment 3,349,952 3,638,750 3,349,952 3,638,750

Interest Earned 14. 15,248,745 27,311,284 15,248,745 27,311,284

Discount Received 174,803 50,965 174,803 50,965

Other Revenue 15. 3,109,736 2,709,823 3,109,736 2,709,823

Total Revenue 554,341,778 557,542,054 554,341,778 557,542,054

EXPENDITURE

Employee Related Costs 16. 283,972,863 300,083,984 283,972,863 300,083,984
Depreciation and Amortisation 17. 27,758,494 29,884,926 27,758,494 29,884,926

Impairment Losses 18. 3,110,090 23,930,032 3,110,090 23,930,032

Bursary Costs 6,379,649 12,715,007 6,379,649 12,715,007

Finance Costs 19. 1,105,781 1,305,723 1,105,781 1,305,723

Professional Services 20. 11,355,736 17,860,310 11,355,736 17,860,310

Rehabilitation Services 84,509,393 62,582,014 84,509,393 62,582,014

General Expenses 21. 127,138,692 157,949,850 127,138,692 157,949,850

Loss on Disposal of Property, 
Plant and Equipment

414,651 22,307,615 414,651 22,307,615

Total Expenditure 545,745,349 628,619,461 545,745,349 628,619,461

OPERATING SURPLUS/ 
(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 8,596,429 (71,077,407) 8,596,429 (71,077,407)

(Losses) / Gains on Other Operations:

(Losses) / Gains on Actuarial Valuations (300,057) 3,142,989 (300,057) 3,142,989
(Losses) / Gains on Foreign Exchange (3,450,112) 4,212,150 (3,450,112) 4,212,150

TOTAL OTHER REVENUE / 
EXPENDITURE INCURRED (3,750,169) 7,355,139 (3,750,169) 7,355,139

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR 4,846,260 (63,722,268) 4,846,260 (63,722,268)
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Statement of Financial Performance at 31 March 2021

DESCRIPTION REVALUATION 
RESERVE

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS/ (DEFICIT)

TOTAL

R R R

Group

2020

Balance at 31 March 2019 145,244,980 516,838,539 662,083,519

Correction of Error (note 23) -  (1,012,069)  (1,012,069)

Restated balance at 31 March 2019 145,244,980  515,826,470 661,071,450

Deficit for the year - (63,722,268) (63,722,268)

Offsetting of Depreciation (1,530,597) 1,530,597 -

Balance at 31 March 2020 143,714,383 453,634,799 597,349,182

Surplus for the year - 4,846,260 4,846,260

Changes in revaluation of Property, 
Plant & Equipment

27,570,482 - 27,570,482

Offsetting of Depreciation (1,530,597) 1,530,597 -

Balance at 31 March 2021 169,754,268 460,011,656 629,765,924

Mintek 
2020

Restated Balance at 31 March 2019 145,244,980 477,323,596 622,568,576

Correction of Error (note 23) -  (1,012,069)  (1,012,069)

Restated balance at 31 March 2019 145,244,980 476,311,527 621,556,507

Deficit for the year - (63,722,268) (63,722,268)

Offsetting of Depreciation (1,530,597) 1,530,597 -

Balance at 31 March 2020 143,714,383 414,119,856 557,834,239

Surplus for the year 4,846,260 4,846,260

Changes in revaluation of Property, 
Plant & Equipment

27,570,482 - 27,570,482

Offsetting of Depreciation (1,530,597) 1,530,597 -

Balance at 31 March 2021 169,754,268 420,496,713 590,250,981

Details on the movement of the Funds and Reserves are set out in Note 11.

Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the Year Ended 

31 March 2021
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GROUP COMPANY

DESCRIPTION NOTE 2021 2020 2021 2020

R R R R

CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Receipts

Government Grant and Subsidies 263,871,979 302,759,280 263,871,979 302,759,280

Receipts from Rendering of Services 247,732,831 278,923,380 247,732,831 278,923,380

Interest Received 15,248,745 27,311,284 15,248,745 27,311,284

Other Receipts 5,344,889 9,844,261 5,344,889 9,844,261

Payments

Employee Related Costs (284,298,436) (303,461,800) (284,298,436) (303,461,800)

Interest Paid (5,781) (5,723) (5,781) (5,723)

Suppliers Paid (79,206,483) (97,079,488) (79,206,483) (97,079,488)

Other Payments (130,022,056) (157,656,916) (130,022,056) (157,656,916)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

25. 38,665,688 60,634,278 38,665,688 60,634,278

CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of Property, 
Plant and Equipment

4. (46,346,720) (53,577,397) (46,346,720) (53,577,397)

Purchase of Intangible Assets 5. - (20,370) - (20,370)

NET CASH FLOWS FROM 
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

(46,346,720) (53,597,767) (46,346,720) (53,597,767)

NET (DECREASE) / INCREASE IN 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(7,681,032) 7,036,511 (7,681,032) 7,036,511

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
at Beginning of Period 3. 453,860,226 446,823,715 453,860,226 446,823,715

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
at End of Period:

- Realised Cash                          
  and Cash Equivalents 446,726,940 451,944,731 446,726,940 451,944,731

- Unrealised Foreign 
  Exchange Gains / (Losses) (547,746) 1,915,495 (547,746) 1,915,495

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
at End of Period 3. 446,179,194 453,860,226 446,179,194 453,860,226

Cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 31 March 2021
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Statement of Comparison of Budget and Actual Amounts for 

the Year Ended 31 March 2021

DESCRIPTION
ORIGINAL 

TOTAL 
BUDGET

ACTUAL VARIANCE

ACTUAL 
OUTCOME AS 
% OF FINAL 

BUDGET

R R R %

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Revenue from Non-
exchange Transactions

Government Grants and 
Subsidies Received

258,044,782 276,234,080 18,189,298 107.05

Revenue from Exchange 
Transactions

Rendering of Services 274,511,218 256,224,462 (18,286,756) 93.34

Rental of Facilities and Equipment 4,089,710 3,349,952 (739,758) 81.91

Interest Earned 31,625,000 15,248,745 (16,376,255) 48.22

Discount Received 82,290 174,803 92,513 212.42

Other Revenue - 3,109,736 3,109,736 0.00

Total Revenue 568,353,000 554,341,778 (14,011,222) 97.53

Expenditure

Employee Related Costs 294,320,000 283,972,863 (10,347,137) 96.48

Depreciation and Amortisation 44,867,916 27,758,494 (17,109,422) 61.87

Impairment Losses - 3,110,090 3,110,090 0.00

Finance Costs 2,000,000 1,105,781 (894,219) 55.29

Bursary Costs 13,828,419 6,379,649 (7,448,770) 46.13

Asbestos Rehabilitation 67,220,594 84,509,393 17,288,799 125.72

Professional Services 16,012,284 11,355,736 (4,656,548) 70.92

General Expenses 124,201,787 127,138,692 2,936,905 102.36

Loss on Disposal of Property, 
Plant and Equipment

- 414,651 414,651 0.00

Total Expenditure 562,451,000 545,745,349 (16,705,651) 97.03

Surplus/(Deficit) before 
other operations

5,902,000 8,596,429 2,694,429 145.65

Losses / (Gains) on Actuarial Valuations - (300,057) (300,057) 0.00
Losses / (Gains) on Foreign Exchange - (3,450,112) (3,450,112) 0.00

Surplus/(Deficit) for the Year 5,902,000 4,846,260 (1,055,740) 82.11

125
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Reasons for Variances greater than 10% between Approved Budget and Actual Amount on the various items 
disclosed in the Statement of Financial Performance are explained below:

Rental of Facilities and 
Equipment :

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, several tenants did not take occupation as 
intended.

Interest Earned: The repo rate was reduced by the Monetary Policy Committee during the financial 
year as a measure to provide relief to South Africans during the pandemic. This 
had a direct result on the Mintek investment generation capacity as cash reserves 
are invested in fixed deposit accounts for terms no longer than 6 months.

Discount Received: Discount received mostly relates to settlement discounts from suppliers where 
Mintek pay the outstanding accounts within the required timeframe. Mintek did 
however negotiate a 30% discount with one training service provider which 
amounted to R86,696 which was in addition to the regular discounts receivable.

Other Revenue: Other revenue is not budgeted for in full as it relates to sundry income that 
is received through sources as SDL Levy refund, breach of contract income, 
insurance recoveries.

Depreciation and Amortisation: Re-assesment of useful lives of R11,7m was not budgeted for. The remainder of 
the saving relates to assets written off and other assets impaired in the previous 
financial year for which no depreciation was incurred in 2021.

Impairment Losses: During the year under review Mintek considered outstanding receivables where 
there are indications that the money is not recoverable. Provisions for impairments 
were recognised on those receivables.

Finance Costs: Total finance costs were lower than expected due to decreased deemed interest 
cost on the long term post retirement medical liability.

Bursary Costs:
Lower than anticipated bursary costs were incurred due to lower number 
of students and the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the enrolment of 
students.

Asbestos Rehabilitation:
Despite the impact that the COVID-19 lockdown had on the rehabilition, more 
sites and holing closures were completed than anticipated. This had a direct 
effect on the revenue generated.

Professional Services: Professional consultancy services were not incurred as originally intended as a 
result of the COVID-19 Pandemic and projects not being executed.

Losses on Actuarial Gains: This relates to the actuarial loss for the PRMA and is not budgeted for as it 
cannot be estimated upfront.

Loss on Disposal of Property, 
Plant and Equipment:

Several assets were retired from service in the period under review.

Losses on Foreign Exchange: This relates to the foreign exchange differences incurred on foreign exchange 
denominated transactions recorded during the year.

Financial Performance:  

Explanation of Variances between Approved Budget and Actual
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and associated assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors that are considered to 
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of 
which form the basis of making the judgements about 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not 
readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may 
differ from these estimates.

These estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the critical judgements and estimations 
that management have made in the process of applying 
the Entity’s Accounting Policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised in Annual 
Financial Statements:

1.3.1 Revenue Recognition
In making their judgement, management considered 
the detailed criteria for the recognition of revenue 
as set out in GRAP 9 (Revenue from Exchange 
Transactions) and GRAP 23 (Revenue from Non-
exchange Transactions). As far as Revenue from 
Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions is 
concerned (see Basis of Preparation above), and, 
in particular, whether Mintek, when goods are sold, 
had transferred to the buyer the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the goods and when 
services is rendered, whether the service has been 
rendered. Also of importance is the estimation 
process involved in initially measuring revenue at the 
fair value thereof. Mintek Management is satisfied 
that recognition of the revenue in the current year is 
appropriate.

1.3.2 Impairment of Financial Assets
Accounting Policy 3.4 on Impairment of Financial 
Assets describes the process followed to determine 
the value at which Financial Assets should be 
impaired. In making the estimation of the impairment, 
the management of Mintek considered the detailed 
criteria of impairment of Financial Assets as set 
out in GRAP 104 (Financial Instruments) and used 
its judgement to select a variety of methods and 
make assumptions that are mainly based on market 
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. 
The management of the Entity is satisfied that 
impairment of Financial Assets recorded during the 
year is appropriate.

1.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION
The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared 
in accordance with Standards of Generally Recognised 
Accounting Practices (GRAP), as approved by the Minister of 
Finance, including any interpretations, guidelines and directives 
issued by the Accounting Standards Board applicable to 
Public Entities in terms of Directive 5.

The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the historical cost convention as the basis of 
measurement, unless specified otherwise.

The Statement of Financial Performance has been prepared 
to classify expenses by nature, whilst revenue is classified in 
a manner appropriate to Mintek’s operations. The Cash Flow 
Statement has been prepared using the Direct Method.

In the absence of an approved and effective standard of 
GRAP, accounting policies for material transactions, events or 
conditions were developed in accordance with paragraphs 8, 
10 and 11 of GRAP 3 as read with Directive 5.

The financials are representative to the Group and company 
and the results are reflective of this. The information contained 
within the notes are representative of Group and company 
except where indicated as such.

 
1.1  Presentation Currency

The Annual Financial Statements are presented in South 
African Rand, rounded off to the nearest Rand which is 
the Entity’s functional currency.

1.2 Changes in Accounting Policy and
 Comparability

Accounting Policies have been consistently applied, 
except where otherwise indicated below.

For the years ended 31 March 2020 and 31 March 
2021 the Entity has adopted the accounting framework 
as set out in paragraph 1 above. The details of any 
resulting changes in Accounting Policy and comparative 
restatements are set out below and in the relevant Notes 
to the Annual Financial Statements.
 

1.3 Critical Judgements, Estimations and
 Assumptions

In the application of the Entity’s Accounting Policies, 
which are described below, management is required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates 

Accounting Policies to the Annual Financial Statements for 

the Year Ended 31 March 2021

Financial Performance:  

Explanation of Variances between Approved Budget and Actual
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assets will be sold or used to the end of their useful 
lives, and in what condition they will be at that time.

1.3.5   Impairment: Write-down of Property, 
  Plant & Equipment, Intangible Assets
  and Inventories

Accounting Policy 5 on Impairment of Assets, 
Accounting Policy 6.2 on Intangible Assets – 
Subsequent Measurement, Amortisation and 
Impairment and Accounting Policy 2.2 on Inventory 
– Subsequent Measurement describe the conditions 
under which non-financial assets are tested for 
potential impairment losses by the management of 
the Entity. Significant estimates and judgements are 
made relating to impairment testing of Property, Plant 
and Equipment, impairment testing of Intangible 
Assets and write-down of Inventories to the lowest 
of Cost and Current Replacement Cost.

In making the above-mentioned estimates 
and judgement, management considered the 
subsequent measurement criteria and indicators of 
potential impairment losses as set out in GRAP 21 
(Impairment of Non-cash Generating Assets) and 
GRAP 26 (Impairment of Cash Generating Assets). In 
particular, the calculation of the recoverable service 
amount for PPE and Intangible Assets and the 
Current Replacement Cost for Inventories involves 
significant judgment by management.

1.3.6  Defined Benefit Plan Liabilities
As described in Accounting Policy 12.2, Employee 
Benefits – Post-employment Benefits, the Entity 
obtains actuarial valuations of its Defined Benefit 
Plan Liabilities. The defined benefit obligations of 
the Entity that were identified are Post-retirement 
Health Benefit Obligations. The estimated liabilities 
are recorded in accordance with the requirements 
of GRAP 25. Details of the liabilities and the key 
assumptions made by the actuaries in estimating 
the liabilities are provided in the relevant Notes to the 
Annual Financial Statements.

1.3.7 Provisions and Contingent 
   Liabilities

Management judgement is required when 
recognising and measuring Provisions and when 
measuring Contingent Liabilities. Provisions are 
discounted where the effect of discounting is material 
using actuarial valuations.

Impairment of Trade Receivables:
The Entity assesses its financial assets for impairment 
at the end of each financial year. In determining 
whether an impairment loss should be recorded in 
surplus or deficit, the Entity makes judgements as 
to whether there is observable data indicating a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 
flows from a financial asset.

The Entity has implemented a policy to classify 
all debts as irrecoverable where they have been 
outstanding for more than two years (24 months) 
or where indicators for irrecoverability exist. These 
amounts are then transferred to a provision for doubtful 
debts which is adjusted annually. All non recoveries 
of these amounts impaired are then recognised as 
bad debts written off in the following year through 
the statement of financial performance. This practice 
is based on the past patterns of history of payments 
by students/default employees after considering the 
period the debt has been outstanding for. Attempts 
at recovery include sending letters of demand and 
handing debts over to collection agencies as guided 
in the financial policy of Mintek.

1.3.3.  Fair Value Estimations
As described in Accounting Policy 5.2, the Entity 
subsequently measures its Buildings and Land in 
terms of the Revaluation Model.

The valuation of assets are based on management’s 
estimation. Management considered the impact 
of valuation techniques and market information in 
order to determine the current valuations, and more 
specific as follows:

• Buildings and Land are stated at revalued 
amounts based on valuation techniques and 
market information. The actual value of these 
items could differ from those estimated.

1.3.4   Useful lives of Property, Plant and
 Equipment and Intangible Assets

As described in Accounting Policies 5.3 and 6.2, 
Mintek depreciates its Property, Plant & Equipment 
and amortises its Intangible Assets over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets, taking into 
account the residual values of the assets at the end 
of their useful lives, which is determined when the 
assets are available for use.

The estimation of residual values of assets is based 
on management’s judgement as to whether the 
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1.3.8 Budget Information
Deviations between budget and actual amounts 
are regarded as material differences when a 10% 
deviation exists. All material differences are explained 
in the relevant Notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements.

1.4  Materiality
Material omissions or misstatements of items are material 
if they could, individually or collectively, influence the 
decisions or assessments of users made on the basis 
of the financial statements. Materiality depends on the 
nature or size of the omission or misstatement judged in 
the surrounding circumstances. The nature or size of the 
information item, or a combination of both, could be the 
determining factor.

Assessing whether an omission or misstatement could 
influence decisions of users, and so be material, requires 
consideration of the characteristics of those users. The 
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of 
Financial Statements states that users are assumed 
to have a reasonable knowledge of government, its 
activities, accounting and a willingness to study the 
information with reasonable diligence. Therefore, the 
assessment takes into account how users with such 
attributes could reasonably be expected to be influenced 
in making and evaluating decisions.

1.5  Consolidation
Consolidated Annual Financial Statements are the 
annual financial statements of Mintek presented as 
those of a single entity.

The Consolidated Annual Financial Statements 
incorporate the annual financial statements of the Mintek 
Group and all controlled entities, including special 
purpose entities, which are controlled by Mintek.

Consolidated Annual Financial Statements are prepared 
using uniform accounting policies for like transactions 
and other events in similar circumstances.

Control exists when Mintek has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies of another entity so as to 
obtain benefits from its activities.

The revenue and expenses of Mindev are included in 
the Consolidated Annual Financial Statements from 
the transfer date or acquisition date as defined in the 
Standards of GRAP on Transfer of Functions between 
Entities under Common Control. The revenue and 
expenses of Mindev are based on the values of the 

assets and liabilities recognised in Mintek’s annual 
financial statements at the acquisition date.

The Annual Financial Statements of Mintek and its 
subsidiary used in the preparation of the Consolidated 
Annual Financial Statements are prepared as of the 
same date.

All intra-entity transactions, balances, revenues and 
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interest in the net assets of the economic 
entity are identified and recognised separately from the 
controlling entity’s interest therein, and are recognised 
within net assets.

Changes in Mintek’s ownership interest in Mindev that 
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
transactions that affect net assets.

1.6  Going Concern Assumption
Management and the Board have made the assessment 
that Mintek is a going concern and the financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis based on the expectation that the entity will 
continue to operate as a going concern for at least 12 
months.

The recent COVID-19 pandemic and its effect on the 
Entity’s current and expected performance has been 
considered by management in the Going Concern 
Assumption.

1.7  Standards, Amendments to Standards
       and Interpretations issued but not yet
       Effective

There are no new Standards, Interpretations, Directives, 
or Guidelines, approved not yet effective at 31 March 
2021 which are applicable to the Entity.

2.   INVENTORIES

2.1 Initial Recognition and Initial
 Measurement

Inventories comprise current assets held-for-sale, 
current assets for consumption or distribution during 
the ordinary course of business. Inventories are initially 
recognised at cost. Cost generally refers to the purchase 
price, cost of conversion, transport costs and any other 
costs in bringing the Inventories to their current location 
and condition. Where Inventory is manufactured, 
constructed or produced, the cost includes the cost 
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of labour, materials and overheads used during the 
manufacturing process.

Where Inventory is acquired by Mintek for no or nominal 
consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost 
is deemed to be equal to the fair value of the item on the 
date acquired.

2.2 Subsequent Measurement
Subsequently inventories are measured at the lower of 
cost and net realisable value.

2.2.1    Consumable Stores and Finished Goods
Inventories sold are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value (net amount that the Entity 
expects to realise from the sale on Inventory in the 
ordinary course of business). The cost is determined 
using the Weighted Average Method.

Consumable stores distributed at no charge or for 
a nominal charge and finished goods are valued at 
the lower of cost and current replacement cost (the 
cost the Entity would incur to acquire the asset on 
the reporting date). The cost is determined using the 
Weighted Average Method.

2.2.2    Other Arrangements
Redundant and slow-moving Inventories identified 
are written down from cost to current replacement 
cost, if applicable.

Differences arising on the measurement of such 
Inventory at the lower of cost and current replacement 
cost or net realisable value, are recognised in Surplus 
or Deficit in the year in which they arise. The amount 
of any reversal of any write-down of Inventories 
arising from an increase in current replacement cost 
or net realisable value is recognised as a reduction in 
the amount of Inventories recognised as an expense 
in the period in which the reversal occurs.

The carrying amount of Inventories is recognised as 
an expense in the period that the Inventory was sold, 
distributed, written off or consumed, unless that 
cost qualifies for capitalisation to the cost of another 
asset.

3.  FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Mintek has various types of Financial Instruments and these can 
be broadly categorised as Financial Assets, Financial Liabilities 
or Residual Interests in accordance with the substance of the 
contractual agreement.

Initial Recognition

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are recognised when it 
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The Entity does not offset a Financial Asset and a Financial 
Liability unless a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts currently exist and the Entity intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

Fair Value Methods and Assumptions

The fair values of Financial Instruments are determined as 
follows:

• The fair values of quoted investments are based on 
current bid prices.

• If the market for a Financial Asset is not active (and for 
unlisted securities), the Entity establishes fair value by 
using valuation techniques. These include the use of 
recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other 
instruments that are substantially the same, discounted 
cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making 
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as 
possible on Entity-specific inputs.

3.1 Financial Assets – Classification
The Entity has the following types of Financial Assets:

TYPE OF FINANCIAL ASSET
CLASSIFICATION IN 
TERMS OF 
GRAP 104

Non-current Investments - 
Unlisted Shares

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

Receivables from Exchange 
Transactions

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

Bank, Cash and Cash 
Equivalents - Fixed Deposits

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

Bank, Cash and Cash 
Equivalents - Bank

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

Bank, Cash and Cash 
Equivalents - Cash

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

Trade and Other Receivables exclude Value Added 
Taxation. Prepayments and Operating Lease Receivables 
are classified as Financial Assets at Amortised Cost.

Cash includes cash-on-hand (including petty cash) 
and cash with banks (including call deposits). For the 
purposes of the Cash Flow Statement, Cash and Cash 
Equivalents comprise cash-on-hand and deposits held 
on call with banks, net of bank overdrafts.
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3.2 Financial Liabilities – Classification

The Entity has the following types of Financial Liabilities:

TYPE OF FINANCIAL 
LIABILITIES

CLASSIFICATION IN 
TERMS OF 
GRAP 104

Long-term Liabilities 
(Borrowings) 

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

Payables from Exchange 
Transactions 

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

Unspent Conditional Grants Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

Current Portion of Long-term 
Liabilities

Financial Assets at 
Amortised Cost

3.3 Initial and Subsequent Measurement

3.3.1 Financial Assets:

Financial Assets measured at Amortised Cost

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost are initially 
measured at fair value plus transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue 
of the Financial Asset. Subsequently, these assets 
are measured at amortised cost using the Effective 
Interest Method less any impairment, with interest 
recognised on an Effective Yield Basis.

3.3.2 Financial Liabilities:

Financial Liabilities held at Amortised Cost

Any other Financial Liabilities are classified as 
Other Financial Liabilities (All Payables, Loans and 
Borrowings are classified as Other Liabilities) and 
are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs. Trade and Other Payables, Interest-bearing 
Debt including Finance Lease Liabilities, Non-
interest-bearing Debt and Bank Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
Effective Interest Rate Method. Interest expense is 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance 
by applying the effective interest rate.

Prepayments are carried at cost less any accumulated 
impairment losses.

3.4  Impairment of Financial Assets

Financial Assets, other than those at fair value, are 
assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of 
each reporting period. Financial Assets are impaired 
where there is objective evidence of impairment of 
Financial Assets (such as the probability of insolvency 
or significant financial difficulties of the debtor). If there is 
such evidence the recoverable amount is estimated and 
an impairment loss is recognised through the use of an 
allowance account.

3.4.1  Financial Assets at Amortised Cost

A provision for impairment of Accounts Receivables 
is established when there is objective evidence that 
the Entity will not be able to collect all amounts 
due according to the original terms of receivables. 
The provision is made whereby the recoverability 
of accounts receivable is assessed individually and 
then collectively after grouping the assets in financial 
assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The 
amount of the provision is the difference between the 
Financial Asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate. Future cash flows 
in a group of Financial Assets that are collectively 
evaluated for impairment are estimated on the basis 
of historical loss experience for assets with credit 
risk characteristics similar to those in the group. 
Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are 
not discounted where the effect of discounting is 
immaterial.

The carrying amount of the Financial Asset is reduced 
by the impairment loss directly for all Financial Assets 
carried at Amortised Cost with the exception of Trade 
Debtors, where the carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account. When a 
Trade Debtor is considered uncollectible, it is written 
off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are 
credited against revenue. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognised in 
Surplus or Deficit.

3.4.2 Financial Assets at Cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss 
has been incurred on an investment in a Residual 
Interest that is not measured at fair value because its 
fair value cannot be measured reliably, the amount 
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference 
between the carrying amount of the Financial Asset 
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and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the current market rate of return for a 
similar financial asset. Such impairment losses shall 
not be reversed.

3.5  Derecognition

3.5.1 Derecognition of Financial Assets

The Entity derecognises Financial Assets only when 
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expires or it transfers the Financial Asset and 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to another entity, except when Mintek 
approves the write-off of Financial Assets due to 
non-recoverability.

If Mintek neither transfers nor retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, Mintek recognises 
its retained interest in the asset and an associated 
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Entity 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred Financial Asset, Mintek 
continues to recognise the Financial Asset and 
also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the 
proceeds received.

3.5.2 Derecognition of Financial Liabilities

Mintek derecognises Financial Liabilities when, and 
only when, it’s obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or they expire.

Mintek recognises the difference between the 
carrying amount of the Financial Liability (or part of 
a Financial Liability) extinguished or transferred to 
another party and the consideration paid, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed, in Surplus or Deficit.

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash-on-hand and 
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a know amount 
of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value. These are initially recognised at cost and subsequently 
recorded at fair value.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are tangible non-current assets 
(including infrastructure assets) that are held for use in the 
production and supply of goods and services, rental to others, 
or for administrative purposes, and are expected to be used 
during more than one period.

5.1 Initial Recognition and Initial            
      Measurement

Property, Plant and Equipment are initially recognised at 
cost.

Where an asset is acquired by the Entity for no or nominal 
consideration (i.e. a non-exchange transaction), the cost 
is deemed to be equal to the fair value of that asset on 
the date acquired.

Repairs and Maintenance are expenses incurred through 
servicing equipment or repairing of existing assets. 
These expenses are not recognised in the carrying value 
of the asset, but directly recognised in Surplus or Deficit 
and measured at cost.

5.2 Subsequent Measurement
Property, Plant and Equipment, excluding Buildings 
and Land

Subsequently all Property Plant and Equipment is 
measured at cost, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Buildings and Land

Subsequent to initial recognition Buildings and Land 
are carried at a revalued amount based on valuations, 
less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. 
Revaluations are performed by experienced valuers with 
sufficient regularity (every 5 years) such that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from that which would 
be determined using fair value at the reporting date. 
Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the 
asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued 
amount of the asset.

5.3 Depreciation
Depreciation on assets other than land is calculated on 
cost, using the Straight-line Method, to allocate their 
cost or revalued amounts to their residual values over 
the estimated useful lives of the assets. Each part of an 
item of Property, Plant and Equipment with a cost that 
is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is 
depreciated separately.

Accounting Policies to the Annual Financial Statements for 

the Year Ended 31 March 2021



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |    Financial Report 133

Financial 
R

ep
ort

5.4 Land
Land is stated at historical cost and is not depreciated 
as it is deemed to have an indefinite useful life.

5.5 Incomplete Construction Work
Incomplete Construction Work is stated at historical 
cost. Depreciation only commences when the asset is 
available for use.

5.6 Derecognition
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of Property, Plant and Equipment is included in surplus 
or deficit when the item is derecognised. Gains are not 
classified as revenue.

6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

6.1 Initial Recognition and Initial      
      Measurement

Identifiable non-monetary assets without physical 
substance are classified and recognised as Intangible 
Assets.

For internally generated Intangible Assets, such as 
brands, publishing titles, customer lists and other items 
similar in substance are not recognised as intangible 
assets. In the Mintek environment only acquired software 
is classified as intangible assets. Internally created 
goodwill is also not classified as an intangible asset.

Intangible Assets are initially recognised at cost.

Where an Intangible Asset is acquired by the Entity 
for no or nominal consideration (i.e. a non-exchange 
transaction), the cost is deemed to be equal to the fair 
value of that asset on the date acquired.

The cost of an Intangible Asset acquired in exchange 
for non-monetary assets or monetary assets, or a 

combination of monetary and non-monetary assets, 
is measured at the fair value of the asset given up, 
unless the fair value of the asset received is more clearly 
evident. If the acquired item could not be measured at 
its fair value, its cost is measured at the carrying amount 
of the asset given up.

Repairs and Maintenance are expenses incurred through 
servicing equipment or repairing of existing assets. 
These expenses are not recognised in the carrying value 
of the asset, but directly recognised in Surplus or Deficit 
and measured at cost.

6.2 Subsequent Measurement,                    
 Amortisation and Impairment

After initial recognition, Intangible Assets are carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation is charged on a Straight-line Method over 
the Intangible Assets’ useful lives. The residual value of 
Intangible Assets with finite useful lives is zero, unless 
an active market exists. Where Intangible Assets are 
deemed to have indefinite useful lives, such Intangible 
Assets are not amortised. However, such Intangible 
Assets are subject to an annual impairment test.

The amortisation rates are based on the following 
estimated useful lives:

ASSET CLASS YEARS

Computer Software 3-5

6.3 Derecognition
The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an 
item of Intangible Asset is included in Surplus or Deficit 
when the item is derecognised. Gains are not classified 
as Revenue.

The depreciation rates are based on the following estimated useful lives:

ASSET CLASS YEARS ASSET CLASS YEARS

LAND OTHER

Improved Property Indefinite Equipment 5 - 10
Furniture and Fixtures 5 - 10

BUILDINGS IT Equipment 3 - 5
Improvements 50 Motor Vehicles 5

Plant and Machinery 5 - 10
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7.   IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Mintek classifies all assets held with the primary objective of 
generating a commercial return as Cash Generating Assets. 
All other assets are classified as Non-cash Generating Assets.

7.1  Impairment of Cash Generating
       Assets

The Entity assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, 
the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount 
of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs 
is determined.

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating 
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in use.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an 
impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in Surplus or Deficit.

An impairment loss is recognised for cash generating 
units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than 
the carrying amount of the unit. The impairment loss is 
allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of 
the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of 
each asset in the unit.

The Entity assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in 
prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable 
to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation is 
recognised immediately in Surplus or Deficit.

7.2  Impairment of Non-cash Generating
       Assets

The Entity assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, 
the recoverable service amount is estimated for the 
individual asset. If it is not possible to estimate the 
recoverable service amount of the individual asset, the 
recoverable service amount of the non-cash generating 
unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

The recoverable service amount of a non-cash 
generating asset is the higher of its fair value less costs 
to sell and its value in use.

If the recoverable service amount of an asset is less 
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the 
asset is reduced to its recoverable service amount. That 
reduction is an impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in Surplus or Deficit.

An impairment loss is recognised for non-cash generating 
units if the recoverable service amount of the unit is less 
than the carrying amount of the unit. The impairment 
loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the 
assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the unit.

The Entity assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in 
prior periods for assets may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable 
service amounts of those assets are estimated.

The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable 
to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had 
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior 
periods.

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at 
cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation is 
recognised immediately in Surplus or Deficit.
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8. INVESTMENT IN CONTROLLED ENTITIES
Investments in controlled entities are consolidated in Mintek 
annual financial statements. Refer to the accounting policy on 
Consolidations (Note 1.5).

In Mintek’s separate Annual Financial Statements, investments 
in controlled entities are carried at cost. The entity applies the 
same accounting for each category of investment.

Investments in controlled entities that are accounted for 
in accordance with the accounting policy on Financial 
Instruments in the consolidated annual financial statements, 
are accounted for in the same way in Mintek’s separate annual 
financial statements.

9. PROVISIONS
The best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation is the amount that the Entity would 
rationally pay to settle the obligation at the reporting date or 
to transfer it to a third party at that time and are determined 
by judgment of Mintek management, supplemented by 
experience of similar transactions and, in some cases, reports 
from independent experts. The evidence considered includes 
any additional evidence provided by events after the reporting 
date. Uncertainties surrounding the amount to be recognised 
as a provision are dealt with by various means according to 
the circumstances. Where the provision being measured 
involves a large population of items, the obligation is estimated 
by weighting all possible outcomes by their associated 
probabilities.

Future events that may affect the amount required to settle an 
obligation are reflected in the amount of a provision where there 
is sufficient objective evidence that they will occur. Gains from 
the expected disposal of assets are not taken into account 
in measuring a provision. Provisions are not recognised for 
future operating losses. The present obligation under an 
onerous contract is recognised and measured as a provision. 
An onerous contract is a contract in which the unavoidable 
costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed 
the economic benefits expected to be received under it. The 
unavoidable costs under a contract reflect the least net cost 
of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost 
of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from 
failure to fulfil it – this unavoidable cost resulting from the 
contract is the amount of the provision to be recognised.

Provisions are reviewed at reporting date and the amount of 
a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected 
to be required to settle the obligation. When the effect 
of discounting is material, provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows that reflect current 
market assessments of the time value of money. The impact of 
the periodic unwinding of the discount is recognised in Surplus 
or Deficit as a finance cost as it occurs.

10. LEASES

10.1 The Entity as Lessee
10.1.1 Operating Leases

The Entity recognises operating lease rentals as 
an expense in the Surplus or Deficit on a Straight-
line Basis over the term of the relevant lease. The 
difference between the amounts recognised as 
an expense and the contractual payments are 
recognised as an operating lease asset or liability.

10.2   The Entity as Lessor
Rental revenue from Operating Leases is recognised 
on a Straight-line Basis over the term of the relevant 
lease.

11. BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing Costs are recognised as an expense in the period 
in which they are incurred.

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES

12.1  Short-term Employee Benefits
Remuneration to employees is recognised in the 
Statement of Financial Performance as the services 
are rendered, except for non-accumulating benefits 
which are only recognised when the specific event 
occurs.

The Entity has opted to treat its provision for leave pay 
as an accrual.

The costs of all short-term employee benefits such as 
leave pay, are recognised during the period in which 
the employee renders the related service. The liability 
for leave pay is based on the total accrued leave 
days at year-end and is shown as a creditor in the 
Statement of Financial Position. The Entity recognises 
the expected cost of performance bonuses only when 
the Entity has a present legal or constructive obligation 
to make such payment and a reliable estimate can be 
made.

12.2  Post-employment Benefits
The Entity provides retirement benefits for its 
employees, and has a defined benefit post-
employment plan.
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13.2  Accumulated Funds
Accumulated Funds comprise of rolled over funds 
from the current and prior years based on the 
recorded surplus or deficit for the period. The funds 
are not cash backed.

14. SHARE CAPITAL
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual 
interest in the assets of an economic entity after deducting all 
of its liabilities.

15. REVENUE RECOGNITION

15.1  General
Revenue is derived from a variety of sources which 
include state grant, grants from other tiers of 
government and revenue from trading activities and 
other services provided.

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable for the sale of goods and 
services in the ordinary course of the Entity’s activities. 
Revenue is shown net of value-added tax, returns, 
rebates and discounts.

15.2 Revenue from Non-exchange
          Transactions
15.2.1 Government Grants and Subsidies

Conditional grants, donations and funding are 
recognised as revenue to the extent that Mintek 
has complied with any of the criteria, conditions or 
obligations embodied in the agreement.

Government grants that are receivable as 
compensation for expenses or losses already 
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate 
financial support to the Entity with no future related 
costs, are recognised in Surplus or Deficit in the 
period in which they become receivable.

Interest earned on investments is treated in 
accordance with grant conditions. If it is payable to 
the funder it is recorded as part of the creditor and 
if it is the Entity’s interest, it is recognised as interest 
earned in Surplus or Deficit.

Revenue is recognised when all conditions 
associated with the contribution have been met or 
where the contribution is to finance property, plant 
and equipment, when such items of property, plant 
and equipment are brought into use.

12.2.1 Defined Contribution Plans
The Entity’s contributions to the defined contribution 
funds are established in terms of the rules governing 
those plans. Contributions are recognised in Surplus 
or Deficit in the period in which the service is rendered 
by the relevant employees. The Entity has no further 
payment obligations once the contributions have 
been paid. The contributions are recognised as 
employee benefit expense when they are due. 
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the 
future payments is available.

12.2.2 Defined Benefit Plans
Post-retirement Health Care Benefits

The Entity has an obligation to provide Post-
retirement Health Care Benefits to certain of its 
retirees. According to the stipulations of the benefit, 
qualifying employees are entitled to a medical aid 
benefit upon retirement.

The defined benefit liability is the aggregate of the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation and 
unrecognised actuarial gains and losses, reduced 
by unrecognised past service costs. The plan is 
unfunded. The present value of the defined benefit 
obligation is calculated using the Projected Unit 
Credit Method, incorporating actuarial assumptions 
and a discount rate based on the government bond 
rate. Valuations of these obligations are carried out 
annually by independent qualified actuaries.

Actuarial gains or losses are recognised immediately 
in Surplus or Deficit. Past-service costs are 
recognised immediately in Surplus or Deficit.

13. NET ASSETS
Included in the Net Assets of the Entity are the following items 
that are maintained in terms of specific requirements:

13.1 Reserves

13.1.1   Revaluation Reserve
The surplus arising from the revaluation of land and 
buildings is credited to a non-distributable reserve. 
The revaluation surplus is realised as revalued 
buildings are depreciated, through a transfer from 
the Revaluation Reserve to the Accumulated 
Surplus/(Deficit). On disposal, the net revaluation 
surplus is transferred to the Accumulated Surplus/
(Deficit) while gains or losses on disposal, based on 
revalued amounts, are credited or charged to the 
Statement of Financial Performance.

Accounting Policies to the Annual Financial Statements for 
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15.2.2 Revenue from Recovery of Irregular,
             Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure

The recovery of irregular, fruitless and wasteful 
expenditure is based on legislated procedures, 
including those set out in the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act No 1 of 1999) and is 
recognised as revenue when the recovery thereof 
from the responsible officials became virtually certain 
in a financial period subsequent to the period when 
the actual unauthorised, irregular, fruitless and 
wasteful expenditure was incurred.

15.3 Revenue from Exchange Transactions
15.3.1 Sale of Goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when 
all the following conditions have been met:

(a) The Entity has transferred to the buyer the
 significant risks and rewards of ownership
 of the goods;
(b) The Entity retains neither continuing
 managerial involvement to the degree
 usually associated with ownership nor
 effective control over the goods sold;
(c) The amount of revenue can be measured
 reliably;
(d) It is probable that the economic benefits or
 service potential associated with the 
 transaction will flow to the Entity; and
(e) The costs incurred or to be incurred in
 respect of the transaction can be measured
 reliably.

15.3.2 Services Rendered
When the outcome of a transaction involving the 
rendering of services can be estimated reliably, 
revenue associated with the transaction is 
recognised by reference to the stage of completion 
of the transaction at the reporting date. The outcome 
of a transaction can be estimated reliably when the 
following conditions are satisfied:

(a) The amount of revenue can be measured
 reliably;
(b) It is probable that the economic benefits or
 service potential associated with the
 transaction will flow to Mintek;
(c) The stage of completion of the transaction
 at reporting date can be measured 
 reliably;  and
(d) The costs incurred for the transaction
 and the costs to complete the transaction

 can be measured reliably.

When services are performed by an indeterminate 
number of acts over a specified time frame, revenue is 
recognised on a straight-line basis over the specified 
time frame unless there is evidence that some other 
method better represents the stage of completion. 
When a specific act is much more significant than any 
other acts, the recognition of revenue is postponed 
until the significant act is executed.

When the outcome of the transaction involving the 
rendering of services cannot be estimated reliably, 
revenue is recognised only to the extent of the 
expenses recognised that are recoverable.

15.3.3 Interest, Rental Income and Other Income
      Items

Revenue arising from the use by others of entity 
assets yielding interest, royalties, rental income and 
other income is recognised when:

• It is probable that the economic benefits or 
service potential associated with the transaction 
will flow to Mintek; and

• The amount of the revenue can be measured 
reliably.

Interest earned on investments is recognised in 
Surplus or Deficit on the Time-proportionate Basis 
that takes into account the effective yield on the 
investment.

Rental income is recognised on a Straight-line Basis 
over the term of the lease agreement.

16. MATERIAL LOSSES
The PFMA requires the disclosure of material losses incurred 
during the year under review. The disclosure is provided in 
order to comply to the legislative requirements governing 
Mintek.

17. TREATMENT OF ADMINISTRATION AND
      OTHER OVERHEAD EXPENSES
The costs of internal support services are transferred to the 
various services and departments to whom resources are 
made available.

18. FOREIGN CURRENCIES
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the 
functional currency of Mintek at exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions.

Accounting Policies to the Annual Financial Statements for 
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Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency 
at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or 
loss on monetary items is the difference between amortised 
cost and fair value in the functional currency at the beginning 
of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments 
during the period, and the amortised cost in foreign currency 
translated at the exchange rate at the end of the reporting 
period.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies that are measured at fair value are retranslated to 
the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that 
the fair value was determined. Foreign currency differences 
arising on retranslation are recognised in the Statement of 
Financial Performance.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction.

Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency 
are recorded in Rand’s by applying, to the foreign currency 
amount, the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign 
currency at the date of the cash flow.  

19. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES,
      ESTIMATES AND ERRORS
Changes in accounting policies that are effected by 
management have been applied retrospectively in accordance 
with GRAP 3 requirements, except to the extent that it is 
impracticable to determine the period-specific effects or the 
cumulative effect of the change in policy.

In such cases the Entity shall restate the opening balances of 
assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest period for which 
retrospective restatement is practicable.

Changes in accounting estimates are applied prospectively in 
accordance with GRAP 3 requirements. Details of changes 
in estimates are disclosed in notes to the Annual Financial 
Statements where applicable.

Correction of errors is applied retrospectively in the period 
in which the error has occurred in accordance with GRAP 3 
requirements, except to the extent that it is impracticable to 
determine the period-specific effects or the cumulative effect 
of the error. In such cases Mintek shall restate the opening 
balances of assets, liabilities and net assets for the earliest 
period for which retrospective restatement is practical.

Details of Correction of Errors are disclosed in the Notes to the 
Annual Financial Statements where applicable.

20. UNAUTHORISED EXPENDITURE
Unauthorised Expenditure is expenditure that has not been 
budgeted for, expenditure that is not in terms of the conditions 
of an allocation received from another sphere of government, 
municipality or organ of state, and expenditure in the form of 
a grant that is not permitted in terms of the Public Finance 
Management Act (Act No 1 of 1999).

All expenditure relating to Unauthorised Expenditure is 
accounted for as an expense in Surplus or Deficit in the 
year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is 
classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and 
where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue 
in Surplus or Deficit.

21. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE
Irregular Expenditure is expenditure that is contrary to the Public 
Finance Management Act (Act No 1 of 1999), the Continuing 
Education and Training Act (Act No 16 of 2006), the Public 
Office Bearers Act (Act No 20 of 1998), or is in contravention 
of the Entities’ Supply Chain Management Policies. Irregular 
Expenditure excludes Unauthorised Expenditure.

Irregular Expenditure is accounted for as an expense in Surplus 
or Deficit in the period it occurred and where recovered, it is 
subsequently accounted for as revenue in Surplus or Deficit.

22. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL   
      EXPENDITURE
Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure is expenditure that was 
made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable 
care been exercised.

All expenditure relating to Fruitless and wasteful expenditure 
is accounted for as expenditure in Surplus or Deficit in the 
year that the expenditure was incurred. The expenditure is 
classified in accordance with the nature of the expense, and 
where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as revenue 
in Surplus or Deficit.

23. COMMITMENTS
Commitments are future expenditure to which the Entity 
committed and that will result in the outflow of resources. 
Commitments are not recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position as a liability or as expenditure in Surplus or Deficit, 
but are included in the disclosure Notes. A distinction is made 
between capital and current commitments.

24. RELATED PARTIES
Individuals as well as their close family members, and/or 
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entities are related parties if one party has the ability, directly or 
indirectly, to control or jointly control the other party or exercise 
significant influence over the other party in making financial 
and/or operating decisions. Management is regarded as a 
related party and comprises the Board Members, Chairman, 
Executive Members, Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial 
Officer and all other managers reporting directly to the Chief 
Executive Officer or as designated by the Chief Executive 
Officer.

Only transactions with related parties not at arm’s length or not 
in the ordinary course of business are disclosed.

25. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT
      LIABILITIES
Contingent Assets and Contingent Liabilities are not 
recognised. Contingencies are disclosed in Notes to the 
Annual Financial Statements.

26. TAXATION
Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent 
unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid 
in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount 
due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset. 
Current tax liabilities/(assets) for the current and prior periods 
are measured at the amount expected to be paid to/(recovered 
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the 
reporting period.

26.1  Income Tax
The Entity is exempted from paying Income Tax in terms of 
section 10(1) cA(i) of the Income Tax Act, No 58 of 1962. 
Mindev is registered for Income Tax. Mindev’s liability for current 
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

26.2  Value Added Tax
The Entity accounts for Value Added Tax on the Invoice Basis 
in accordance with section 15(2)(a) of the Value-Added Tax Act 
(Act No 89 of 1991).

27. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
Events after the reporting date that are classified as adjusting 
events have been accounted for in the Annual Financial 
Statements.

The events after the reporting date that are classified as Non-
adjusting Events after the Reporting Date have been disclosed 
in Notes to the Annual Financial Statements.

28. COMPARATIVE INFORMATION
When the presentation or classification of items in the Annual 
Financial Statements is amended, prior period comparative 
amounts are reclassified. The nature and reason for the 
reclassification is disclosed.

29. SEGMENT REPORTING
The mandate of the Entity is to serve the national interest 
through research, development and technology transfer, to 
promote mineral technology and to foster the establishment 
and expansion of industries in the field of minerals and 
products derived therefrom.

In order to properly execute its mandate and achieve its 
strategic goals, internal management reporting is produced 
and reviewed per cluster in order to make decisions on the 
allocation of resources and to assess performance, and these 
have therefore been identified as its reportable segments for 
reporting in terms of GRAP 18.

The following components have been identified as individually 
significant segments for purposes of reporting in terms of 
GRAP 18 (Segment Reporting):

• The provision of research services in extractive metallurgy 
disciplines

• The provision of research in mineral processing and 
characterisation

• The provision of research services in mining, materials 
and process automation

These clusters are categorised based on the fact that they 
have similar economic characteristics and share a majority 
of the aggregation criteria such as, nature of the goods and/
or services delivered, the type or class of customer to which 
goods and/or services are delivered and the method used to 
distribute the goods or provide the services.

Management have assessed the characteristics of its sections 
and is of the opinion that these sections have similar economic 
characteristics and have therefore been aggregated in the 
segmental disclosures, with any other non-project items 
reported as Other/Head Office.

The Entity only operates in a single geographical location and 
accordingly does not report separately on each location within 
its jurisdiction.

The accounting policies for segmental reporting in the 
management accounts are aligned to the requirements of 
GRAP as described in these accounting policies.

No changes from were made from prior periods measurement 
methods used to determine reported segment surplus or 
deficit. The Segmental Reporting is disclosed in Note 34 to the 
Annual Financial Statements.
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1. INVENTORIES 2021 2020

R R

Consumable Stores 8,890,380 8,300,253

Finished Goods 807,595 1,290,445

Work-in-Progress 5,026,302 -

Total Inventories 14,724,277 9,590,698 

Inventories in the Consumable Stores are held for own use while Finished Goods are sold to potential customers. Inventory is 
measured at the lower of Cost and Net Realisable Value. No write downs of Inventory to Net Realisable Value were required.

Consumable Stores Include:

Stationery and Paper 234,163 202,392

MAC Raw Materials and Consumables 4,350,463 4,419,811

General Consumables 3,537,183 3,043,294

Workshop Consumables 768,571 634,756

8,890,380   8,300,253   

The cost of Inventories recognised as an expense during the period was R15,926,204 (2020: R10,622,548).
No inventories are expected to be utilised only after more than twelve months. 
Inventories of R0 (2020: R0) have been pledged as collateral for Liabilities as per Note 8.

2. RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE 
    TRANSACTIONS

GROSS
BALANCES

PROVISION FOR 
IMPAIRMENT

NET BALANCES

As at 31 March 2021 R R R

Trade Debtors 16,349,130 665,431 15,683,699

Prepaid Expenses 7,523,988 - 7,523,988

Deposits 275,093 - 275,093

Earmarked Debtors 4,625,817 154,794 4,471,023

Project Work-in-Progress 17,758,288 - 17,758,288

Staff Debtors 2,530,663 477,842 2,052,821

Total Receivables from Exchange Transactions 49,062,979 1,298,067 47,764,912 

As at 31 March 2020

Trade Debtors 15,324,443 - 15,324,443

Prepaid Expenses 4,976,515 - 4,976,515

Deposits 275,093 - 275,093

Earmarked Debtors 4,803,130 - 4,803,130

Project Work-in-Progress 10,126,439 - 10,126,439

Staff Debtors 1,470,967 229,908 1,241,059

Total Receivables from Exchange Transactions 36,976,585 229,908 36,746,677 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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Trade Debtors include outstanding debtors for local and international customers where services were rendered or products sold. 
It also includes debtors where breach of contract occurred.

Prepaid Expenses include transactions where Mintek made payment in advance for goods/services that would only be delivered/
rendered after year-end.

Deposits include funds held at the local municipality for municipal charges deposit.

Earmarked Debtors refer to monies outstanding from government debtors.

Project Work-in-Progress relates to the recognition of an asset where project work has been performed but no billing has taken 
place yet.

Staff Debtors include staff advances for travel and amounts owing by employees who are studying full time.

Trade Debtors are billed as per project proposal/purchase order and collected in terms of the standard collection procedures.

The credit risk of all new debtors are assessed considering the nature of the company and the credit required. Some credit 
applications are referred to an external company for review and their assessment is considered when the decision to grant credit 
is made. Credit limits are reviewed periodically.

2021 2020

R R

The Carrying Amount of Trade Receivables are 
denominated in the following Currencies:

SA Rand 13,025,030 12,260,484

US Dollar 2,074,725 2,867,563

EUR 28,948 93,707

AUD 1,220,427 102,689

Total Receivables 16,349,130 15,324,443

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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2.1  AGEING OF RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2021

CURRENT PAST DUE
TOTAL

0 - 30 DAYS 31 - 60 DAYS 61 - 90 DAYS + 90 DAYS

Trade Debtors: -

Gross Balances 12,571,409 1,362,242 211,229 2,204,250 16,349,130

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - (665,431) (665,431)

Net Balances 12,571,409 1,362,242 211,229 1,538,819 15,683,699

Prepaid Expenses:

Gross Balances 4,178,583 731,526 186,075 2,427,804 7,523,988

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 4,178,583 731,526 186,075 2,427,804 7,523,988

Deposits:

Gross Balances 275,093 - - - 275,093

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 275,093 - - - 275,093

Earmarked Debtors:

Gross Balances 926,129 547,920 178,750 2,973,018 4,625,817

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - (154,794) (154,794)

Net Balances 926,129 547,920 178,750 2,818,224 4,471,023

Project Work-in-Progress:

Gross Balances 11,145,154 - 394,877 6,218,257 17,758,288

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 11,145,154 - 394,877 6,218,257 17,758,288

Staff Debtors:

Gross Balances 750,152 - - 1,780,511 2,530,663

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - (477,842) (477,842)

Net Balances 750,152 - - 1,302,669 2,502,820

As at 31 March 2021 Receivables of R17,918,390 were past due but not 
impaired. The age analysis of these Receivables are as follows: 

All Receivables:

Gross Balances 29,846,520 2,641,688 970,931 15,603,840 49,062,979

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - (1,298,067) (1,298,067)

Net Balances 29,846,520 2,641,688 970,931 14,305,773 47,764,912

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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2.1  AGEING OF RECEIVABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

As at 31 March 2020

CURRENT PAST DUE
TOTAL

0 - 30 DAYS 31 - 60 DAYS 61 - 90 DAYS + 90 DAYS

As at 31 March 2020

Trade Debtors:

Gross Balances 10,704,089 1,385,293 230,596 3,004,464 15,324,443

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 10,704,089 1,385,293 230,596 3,004,464 15,324,443

Prepaid Expenses:

Gross Balances 4,976,515 - - - 4,976,515

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 4,976,515 - - - 4,976,515

Deposits:

Gross Balances 275,093 - - - 275,093

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 275,093 - - - 275,093

Earmarked Debtors:

Gross Balances 939,100 (40,980) 110,750 3,794,260 4,803,130

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 939,100 (40,980) 110,750 3,794,260 4,803,130

Project Work-in-Progress:

Gross Balances 10,126,439 - - - 10,126,439

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - - -

Net Balances 10,126,439 - - - 10,126,439

Staff Debtors:

Gross Balances 124,969 225,112 45,816 1,075,070 1,470,967

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - (229,908) (229,908)

Net Balances 124,969 225,112 45,816 845,162 1,241,059

All Receivables:

Gross Balances 27,146,204 1,569,424 387,162 7,873,794 36,976,585

Less: Provision for Impairment - - - (229,908) (229,908)

Net Balances 27,146,204 1,569,424 387,162 7,643,886 36,746,677

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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2.2  RECONCILIATION OF THE PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT

2021 2020

R R

Balance at beginning of year 229,908 -
Impairment Losses recognised 3,110,090 229,908

Impairment Losses reversed - -

Amounts written off as uncollectable (2,041,931) -

Balance at end of year 1,298,067 229,908

In determining the recoverability of Receivables, the Entity has placed strong emphasis on verifying the indigent status of debtors. 
Provision for impairment of Receivables has been made for all debtor balances outstanding for more than 120 days where it is 
unlikely that the outstanding amounts will be recovered.

The impairment recognised represents the difference between the carrying amount of these Receivables and the present value of 
the expected liquidation proceeds. The Entity does not hold any collateral over these balances.

Trade and Other Receivables which are less than 4 months past due are not considered to be impaired unless there are specific 
indicators such as business rescue.

2.3  DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

No Financial Assets have been transferred to other parties during the year.
2021
2020
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3.  CASH AND EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020

R R

Current Investments 404,320,147 406,042,525

Bank Accounts 41,803,508 47,756,096

Cash and Cash Equivalents 55,538 61,605

Total Bank, Cash and Cash Equivalents 446,179,193 453,860,226

For the purposes of the Statement of Financial Position and the Cash Flow Statement, Cash and Cash Equivalents include Cash-
on-Hand, Cash in Banks and Investments in Money Market Instruments.

Fixed Deposits are investments with a maturity period of less than 12 months, deposited for fixed terms, and earn interest rates 
varying from 3.1% to 7% (2020: 6,90% to 9,38%) per annum.

Deposits of R207,536,894 (2020: R219,499,523) are ring-fenced and attributable to Unspent Conditional Grants.

An amount of R0 (2020: R2,155,000) is held as a cession by Absa Bank Limited for banking facilities. An amount of R3,217,532 
(2020: R0) is held as a cession by Rand Merchant Bank for guarantee facilities. No other Cash and Cash Equivalents are pledged 
as security for financial liabilities of the Entity.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 31 MARCH 2021

 RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING VALUE

Description Land Buildings Computer
Equipment

Furniture
and

Fittings

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment

Motor Vehicles Catering, Building 
and Office 
Equipment

Total

R R R R R R R R

Carrying values at 01 April 2020 112,334,241 97,705,102 17,448,418 3,355,563 135,031,473 1,956,925 37,001,613 404,833,336

Cost 112,334,241 136,907,502 33,190,182 8,646,199 319,666,368 4,840,492 45,118,984 660,703,968

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 120,121,862 33,190,182 8,646,199 311,357,381 4,840,492 16,820,396 607,310,752

- Under Construction - 16,785,641 - - 8,308,988 - 28,298,588 53,393,216

Accumulated Impairment Losses - - (5,563) (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Accumulated Depreciation - (39,202,400) (15,736,201) (5,290,636) (161,093,624) (2,883,567) (8,102,203) (232,308,631)

Acquisitions 12,322,610 17,173,490 2,258,907 593,926 4,572,107 740,408 10,317,329 47,978,777

- At Cost - 1,925,618 2,258,907 593,926 4,572,107 740,408 10,317,329 20,408,295

- Increase in Valuation 12,322,610 15,247,872 - - - - - 27,570,482

Capital under Construction - Additions - 846,363 - - 20,959,887 - 4,132,175 25,938,425

Depreciation: - (4,708,108) (3,697,992) (234,583) (16,640,934) (422,387) (1,259,156) (26,963,160)

- Standard Depreciation - (4,708,108) (6,114,615) (946,538) (24,075,201) (512,127) (1,883,166) (38,239,755)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate - - 2,416,624 711,955 7,434,267 89,740 624,009 11,276,594

Carrying value of Disposals: - - (343,692) (7,611) (15,173) - - (366,477)

- Cost - - (1,027,686) (39,495) (108,363) - (2,162) (1,177,707)

- Accumulated Depreciation - - 683,994 31,884 93,190 - 2,162 811,230

Capital under Construction - Completed - (89,808) - - (2,597,332) - (2,710,751) (5,397,891)

Transfers - 89,808 - - 2,597,332 - 2,710,751 5,397,891

Carrying values at 31 March 2021 124,656,851 111,016,847 15,665,641 3,707,295 143,907,361 2,274,945 50,191,961 451,420,902

Cost 124,656,851 154,927,355 34,421,403 9,200,630 345,089,999 5,580,899 59,566,326 733,443,463

- Completed Assets 124,656,851 137,385,160 34,421,403 9,200,630 318,418,456 5,580,899 29,846,313 659,509,713

- Under Construction - 17,542,195 - - 26,671,543 - 29,720,012 73,933,751

Accumulated Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Accumulated Depreciation - (43,910,508) (18,750,198) (5,493,335) (177,641,368) (3,305,954) (9,359,197) (258,460,561)

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

 31 MARCH 2021

 RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING VALUE

Description Land Buildings Computer
Equipment

Furniture
and

Fittings

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment

Motor Vehicles Catering, Building 
and Office 
Equipment

Total

R R R R R R R R

Carrying values at 01 April 2020 112,334,241 97,705,102 17,448,418 3,355,563 135,031,473 1,956,925 37,001,613 404,833,336

Cost 112,334,241 136,907,502 33,190,182 8,646,199 319,666,368 4,840,492 45,118,984 660,703,968

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 120,121,862 33,190,182 8,646,199 311,357,381 4,840,492 16,820,396 607,310,752

- Under Construction - 16,785,641 - - 8,308,988 - 28,298,588 53,393,216

Accumulated Impairment Losses - - (5,563) (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Accumulated Depreciation - (39,202,400) (15,736,201) (5,290,636) (161,093,624) (2,883,567) (8,102,203) (232,308,631)

Acquisitions 12,322,610 17,173,490 2,258,907 593,926 4,572,107 740,408 10,317,329 47,978,777

- At Cost - 1,925,618 2,258,907 593,926 4,572,107 740,408 10,317,329 20,408,295

- Increase in Valuation 12,322,610 15,247,872 - - - - - 27,570,482

Capital under Construction - Additions - 846,363 - - 20,959,887 - 4,132,175 25,938,425

Depreciation: - (4,708,108) (3,697,992) (234,583) (16,640,934) (422,387) (1,259,156) (26,963,160)

- Standard Depreciation - (4,708,108) (6,114,615) (946,538) (24,075,201) (512,127) (1,883,166) (38,239,755)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate - - 2,416,624 711,955 7,434,267 89,740 624,009 11,276,594

Carrying value of Disposals: - - (343,692) (7,611) (15,173) - - (366,477)

- Cost - - (1,027,686) (39,495) (108,363) - (2,162) (1,177,707)

- Accumulated Depreciation - - 683,994 31,884 93,190 - 2,162 811,230

Capital under Construction - Completed - (89,808) - - (2,597,332) - (2,710,751) (5,397,891)

Transfers - 89,808 - - 2,597,332 - 2,710,751 5,397,891

Carrying values at 31 March 2021 124,656,851 111,016,847 15,665,641 3,707,295 143,907,361 2,274,945 50,191,961 451,420,902

Cost 124,656,851 154,927,355 34,421,403 9,200,630 345,089,999 5,580,899 59,566,326 733,443,463

- Completed Assets 124,656,851 137,385,160 34,421,403 9,200,630 318,418,456 5,580,899 29,846,313 659,509,713

- Under Construction - 17,542,195 - - 26,671,543 - 29,720,012 73,933,751

Accumulated Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Accumulated Depreciation - (43,910,508) (18,750,198) (5,493,335) (177,641,368) (3,305,954) (9,359,197) (258,460,561)

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

 31 MARCH 2020

 RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING VALUE

Description Land Buildings Computer
Equipment

Furniture
and

Fittings

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment

Motor Vehicles Catering, Building 
and Office 
Equipment

Total

R R R R R R R R

Carrying values at 01 April 2019 112,334,241 93,289,266 11,078,409 3,033,144 191,497,796 1,311,243 14,275,905 426,820,003

Cost 112,334,241 128,743,371 29,269,121 9,717,512 440,669,203 4,226,842 22,266,587 747,226,876

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 121,355,823 29,269,121 9,717,512 431,386,710 4,226,842 12,533,071 720,823,319

- Under Construction - 7,387,548 - - 9,282,493 - 9,733,516 26,403,557

Accumulated Depreciation - (35,454,105) (18,190,712) (6,684,368) (249,171,406) (2,915,598) (7,990,682) (320,406,872)

Acquisitions - 107,350 5,430,669 183,530 9,697,196 613,650 1,512,951 17,545,346

- At Cost - 107,350 5,430,669 183,530 9,697,196 613,650 1,512,951 17,545,346

- Increase / (Decrease) in Valuation - - - - - - - -

Capital under Construction - Additions: - 9,398,093 - - 5,298,362 - 21,335,596 36,032,051

Depreciation: - (4,032,920) 1,015,830 258,237 (26,652,194) 32,032 (315,433) (29,694,448)

- Standard Depreciation - (4,120,145) (3,921,421) (968,880) (35,969,543) (353,955) (1,232,690) (46,566,633)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate - 87,225 4,937,251 1,227,117 9,317,349 385,986 917,257 16,872,185

Carrying value of Disposals: - (1,056,686) (70,927) (119,347) (21,060,580) - (74) (22,307,615)

- Cost - (1,341,312) (1,509,608) (1,254,842) (135,790,557) - (203,986) (140,100,305)

- Accumulated Depreciation - 284,625 1,438,680 1,135,495 114,729,977 - 203,912 117,792,690

Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Capital under Construction - Completed - - - - (6,271,867) - (2,770,524) (9,042,392)

Transfers - - - - 6,064,031 - 2,978,360 9,042,392

Carrying values at 31 March 2020 112,334,241 97,705,102 17,448,418 3,355,563 135,031,473 1,956,925 37,001,613 404,833,336

Cost 112,334,241 136,907,502 33,190,182 8,646,199 319,666,368 4,840,492 45,118,984 660,703,968

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 120,121,862 33,190,182 8,646,199 311,357,381 4,840,492 16,820,396 607,310,752

- Under Construction - 16,785,641 - - 8,308,988 - 28,298,588 53,393,216

Accumulated Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Accumulated Depreciation - (39,202,400) (15,736,201) (5,290,636) (161,093,624) (2,883,567) (8,102,203) (232,308,631)

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 4. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

 31 MARCH 2020

 RECONCILIATION OF CARRYING VALUE

Description Land Buildings Computer
Equipment

Furniture
and

Fittings

Plant,
Machinery and

Equipment

Motor Vehicles Catering, Building 
and Office 
Equipment

Total

R R R R R R R R

Carrying values at 01 April 2019 112,334,241 93,289,266 11,078,409 3,033,144 191,497,796 1,311,243 14,275,905 426,820,003

Cost 112,334,241 128,743,371 29,269,121 9,717,512 440,669,203 4,226,842 22,266,587 747,226,876

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 121,355,823 29,269,121 9,717,512 431,386,710 4,226,842 12,533,071 720,823,319

- Under Construction - 7,387,548 - - 9,282,493 - 9,733,516 26,403,557

Accumulated Depreciation - (35,454,105) (18,190,712) (6,684,368) (249,171,406) (2,915,598) (7,990,682) (320,406,872)

Acquisitions - 107,350 5,430,669 183,530 9,697,196 613,650 1,512,951 17,545,346

- At Cost - 107,350 5,430,669 183,530 9,697,196 613,650 1,512,951 17,545,346

- Increase / (Decrease) in Valuation - - - - - - - -

Capital under Construction - Additions: - 9,398,093 - - 5,298,362 - 21,335,596 36,032,051

Depreciation: - (4,032,920) 1,015,830 258,237 (26,652,194) 32,032 (315,433) (29,694,448)

- Standard Depreciation - (4,120,145) (3,921,421) (968,880) (35,969,543) (353,955) (1,232,690) (46,566,633)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate - 87,225 4,937,251 1,227,117 9,317,349 385,986 917,257 16,872,185

Carrying value of Disposals: - (1,056,686) (70,927) (119,347) (21,060,580) - (74) (22,307,615)

- Cost - (1,341,312) (1,509,608) (1,254,842) (135,790,557) - (203,986) (140,100,305)

- Accumulated Depreciation - 284,625 1,438,680 1,135,495 114,729,977 - 203,912 117,792,690

Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Capital under Construction - Completed - - - - (6,271,867) - (2,770,524) (9,042,392)

Transfers - - - - 6,064,031 - 2,978,360 9,042,392

Carrying values at 31 March 2020 112,334,241 97,705,102 17,448,418 3,355,563 135,031,473 1,956,925 37,001,613 404,833,336

Cost 112,334,241 136,907,502 33,190,182 8,646,199 319,666,368 4,840,492 45,118,984 660,703,968

- Completed Assets 112,334,241 120,121,862 33,190,182 8,646,199 311,357,381 4,840,492 16,820,396 607,310,752

- Under Construction - 16,785,641 - - 8,308,988 - 28,298,588 53,393,216

Accumulated Impairment Losses - - (5,563) - (23,541,271) - (15,167) (23,562,001)

Accumulated Depreciation - (39,202,400) (15,736,201) (5,290,636) (161,093,624) (2,883,567) (8,102,203) (232,308,631)

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

4.1 Market Value of Properties

The Market Values as at 31 March 2021 (previous valuation 2016) of all the properties 
that  the Entity recognises on its Statement of Financial Position are listed below:

2021 2020

R R

City / Property Address Title Deed

JOHANNESBURG
Farm Klipfontein, 
203-IQ, Portion 175

200 Malibongwe Drive T14633/1970 162,437,205 148,430,000

JOHANNESBURG
Farm Klipfontein,
203-IQ, Portion 226

200 Malibongwe Drive T22082/1998 32,078,815 27,546,000

JOHANNESBURG
Malanshof Heights, 
203-IQ, Erf 560

16 Hans Schoeman Street
Sectional title units 15, 28, 29 and 30 

 T20072/1981 1,875,420 1,578,760

196,391,440 177,554,760

 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

4.2 Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment 

Impairment losses have been recognised on Property, Plant and Equipment of the 
Entity at the reporting date. Impairment losses originated from assets previoulsy 
used in research or commercial activities but it is forecasted that no future economic 
benefit will flow from these assets in the foreseeable future.

Catering, Building & Office Equipment - 15,167

Computer Equipment - 5,563

Plant, Machinery & Equipment - 23,541,271

Total Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment - 23,562,001

A review of possible impairment was conducted in the 2021 financial year but 
no further impaired property, plant or equipment was identified. In the  prior 
year AFS, the amount for impaired assets were not disclosed. The comparative 
amount for 2019/2020 impairment was included in these financial statements to 
enhance the information provided to the stakeholders.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

4.3 Change in Estimate - Useful Life of Property, Plant and Equipment        
reviewed

 

The change in the estimated useful life of various assets of the Entity, as indicated in 
Note 24, has resulted in the following decreases in depreciation for the financial year:

Buildings - 87,225

Catering, Building & Office Equipment 624,009 917,257

Computer Equipment 2,416,624 4,937,251

Furniture & Fittings 711,955 1,227,117

Motor Vehicles 89,740 385,986

Plant, Machinery & Equipment 7,434,267 9,317,349

Total Change in Estimate for Useful Life of Property, Plant and 
Equipment

11,276,594 16,872,185

The change in estimates will result in an increase of R11,276,594 in the depreciation 
expense for the Entity over the next three financial years. The revaluation of buildings 
will also result in an increase of R1,835,864 in the depreciation expense for the Entity 
over the next three financial years.

4.4 Land and Buildings carried at Revalued Amount

The value of the land and building complexes were estimated by Sheldon Gordon 
trading as Resurgent Projects, an independent retail estate broker, during the 
financial year ending 31 March 2021. The valuation is done every 5 years and the 
latest valuation report was issued on 21 April 2021. The key assumptions used 
were that the value of the property be based as sale of vacant land and buildings for 
rental investment using various rental income figures for different areas of the Mintek 
property. These calculated rentals were then capitalised at 11.0%.

The following assumptions were used:

Discount Rate 11.00% 13.50%

Had the Entity’s Land and Buildings (other than Land and Buildings included in a 
disposal group) been measured on a historical cost basis, their carrying amount 
would have been as follows:

Cost 48,508,409 46,141,850

Accumulated Depreciation (19,027,210) (17,880,452)

Net Carrying Value 29,481,199 28,261,398

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

4.5 Revaluation Surplus

The Revaluation Reserve arises on the revaluation of Land and Buildings. Where 
revalued Land or Buildings are sold, the portion of the Revaluation Reserve that 
relates to that asset, and is effectively realised, is transferred directly to Accumulated 
Surplus.

The Revaluation Surplus is reconciled as follows:

Balance at beginning of year 143,714,383 145,244,980

Increase in Valuation 27,570,482 -

Depreciation offset to Income Statement (1,530,597) (1,530,597)

Balance at end of year 169,754,268 143,714,383

4.6 Work-in-Progress

The Entity has incurred expenditure on capital projects which were not completed at 
year-end. The details of the carrying amounts of expenditure included in each class 
of assets are listed below:

Buildings 17,542,195 16,785,641

Catering, Building & Office Equipment 29,720,012 28,298,588

Plant, Machinery and Equipment 26,671,543 8,308,988

Total Carrying Amounts of Work-in-Progress 73,933,750 53,393,217

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 4.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

4.7 Delayed Projects

The Entity has projects that are currently experiencing delays or were 
halted. For each project, the reason for the delay or halting of the project 
are noted. The carrying amount of those assets included in the balance of 
Property, Plant and Equipment are listed below:

Project Details Delayed or Halted

Buildings:
ASD Upgrade Phase 2

Delayed
17,485,549 15,733,866

Reason: Initially plans were redesigned which resulted in delays in finalising the 
tender process. The delay was further impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The original completion date of October 2018 has been delayed. Occupation 
was taken of Level 6 during April 2021. The outstanding remaining floors (3-5) 
will be completed by September 2021.

Other Equipment:
Upgrade of Chiller Plant

Delayed

Reason: The plans were redesigned which resulted in delays in finalising the 
tender process. The delay was further impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The original completion date was October 2018. Phase 2 was completed in 
March 2021. - 25,933,550

Total Carrying Amounts of Delayed or Halted Projects 17,485,549 41,667,416

4.8 Expenditure incurred to Repair and Maintain Property, Plant and 
Equipment

The following specific costs included in the amount of Repairs and Maintenance 
were incurred by Entity during the reporting period:

Consumables 4,785,696 2,654,253

Equipment Service Cost 3,353,652 4,994,624

Repairs & Maintenance: Contractors 2,180,173 11,236,790

Repairs & Maintenance: Labour 1,499,614 1,073,844

Other Repairs and Maintenance 258,606 274,955

Total Expenditure incurred to Repair and Maintain 12,077,741 20,234,466

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 5.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2021 2020

R R

At Cost less Accumulated Amortisation and Accumulated Impairment Losses 3,792,455 4,635,963

The movement in Intangible Assets is reconciled as follows:

Computer Software:

Carrying values at 01 April 2020 4,635,963 4,944,194

Cost 9,631,291 10,465,894

Accumulated Amortisation (4,857,205) (5,521,700)

Accumulated Impairment Losses (138,123) -

Acquisitions - 20,370

Purchased --- 20,370

Amortisation: (795,334) (190,478)

- Standard Amortisation (1,222,245) (1,246,133)

- Re-Assessment: Change in Estimate 426,911 1,055,655

Impairment Losses Recognised -  (138,123)

Disposals (48,175) -

At Cost (288,257) (854,972)

At Accumulated Amortisation 240,082 854,972

Carrying values at 31 March 2021 3,792,454 4,635,963

Cost 9,343,034 9,631,292

Accumulated Amortisation (5,412,457) (4,857,206)

Accumulated Impairment Losses (138,123) (138,123)

The amortisation expense has been included in the line item “Depreciation and 
Amortisation” in the Statement of Financial Performance (see Note 17).

All of the Entity’s Intangible Assets are held under freehold interests and no 
Intangible Assets had been pledged as security for any liabilities of the Entity.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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 5.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

5.1 Impairment of Intangible Assets

An impairment loss of R0 (2020: R138,123) have been recognised on 
Intangible Assets of the Entity at the reporting date.

No impaired intangible assets were identified in the 2021 financial year.
The amount disclosed for impairment losses on Intangible Assets does not 
include individually material amounts of impairment losses. However, cumulative 
impairment losses for the following significant account balances are included 
therein:

Computer Software - 138,123

Total Impairment of Intangible Assets - 138,123

5.2 Change in Estimate - Useful Life of Intangible Assets reviewed

The Entity reassesses the useful life of all assets at period end. For items that 
are still in use and have future economic value, the useful lives are extended 
based on the assumptions that assets will be replaced in the next two years 
due to a capitalisation plan. The original acquisition value for these assets were 
R1,565,833 (2020: R4,733,144).

The change in the estimated useful life of various assets of the Entity, as 
indicated in Note 24, has resulted in the following decreases in depreciation for 
the financial year:

Computer Software: 426,911 1,055,655

Total Change in Estimate for Useful Life of Intangible Assets 426,911 1,055,655

The change in estimates will result in an increase of R426,911 in the 
amortisation expense for the Entity over the next three financial years.

 6.  NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS

Unlisted

Investment in Controlled Entities - at cost 100 100

Purchased 100 100

Total Non-current Investments 100 100

Board’s valuation of Unlisted Investments

Investment in Controlled Entities 100 100

100 100

Unlisted Investments comprise the following:

(i) Investments in Controlled Entities as described on the next page.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 

31 March 2021



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |    Financial Report Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |    Financial Report156

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
R

ep
or

t

 6.  NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

6.1 Investment in Controlled Entities

The Entity exercises control in the following company, which has been 
dormant for several years, where the value of the investment is considered 
to be R100 as the company does not have share capital which can be 
valued in an open market:

Mindev (Pty) Ltd:

Issued Share Capital (R) 100 100

Percentage controlled by Board (%) 100.00% 100.00%

Non-Current Liabilities 39,515,043 39,515,043

The Entity's maximum liability towards the Controlled Entity is R100.

Ketlaphela Medical Diagnostics (Pty) Ltd was registered during the 2021 
financial year. Mindev (Pty) Ltd holds 100% shares in this company.

 7.  PROVISIONS

Warrantees 1,882,352 1,315,604

Total Provisions 1,882,352 1,315,604

Warrantees arise from the Controlled Entity, Mintek, recognising its 
probable liability for meeting its obligation in terms of products and services 
as stipulated in its contracts with its customers. The provision is an estimate 
of the amount due at the reporting date.

The movement in provisions are reconciled as follows:

Current Provisions:

Warrantees:

Balance at beginning of year 1,315,604 1,022,670

Warranty additions 1,882,352 1,315,604

Amounts reversed during the year (1,315,604) (1,022,670)

Balance at end of year 1,882,352 1,315,604

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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8.  PAYABLES FROM EXCHANGE TRANSACTIONS

2021 2020

R R

Trade Creditors 59,854,505 22,655,868

Income Received In Advance 12,440,273 12,192,930

Accruals 19,416,775 25,896,064

Deposits 26,798 26,798

Salary Related Payables 9,475,164 9,666,530

Staff Bonus Accrual 385,812 478,656

Staff Leave Accrual 11,965,137 10,571,350

Total Payables 113,564,464 81,488,196

Trade Creditors:

Trade Creditors are in respect of amounts due to suppliers for services rendered 
and goods supplied. The average credit period on purchases from Trade Creditors 
is 47 (2020: 45) days. Creditors are paid within 30 days from receipt of invoice as 
required by Treasury Regulations.

Income Received in Advance:

Income Received in Advance relates to billing in advance on projects where 
work is yet to be completed.

Accruals:

Accruals are recognised for known amounts owing to suppliers where invoices 
have not yet been received.

Deposits:

Deposits are in respect of amounts held for tenants that have lease agreements 
with Mintek.

Salary Related Payables:

Salary Related Payables relates to amounts owing to third parties such as 
medical aids, provident fund and SARS for PAYE, UIF and SDL at year-end.

Staff Bonus Accrual:

Employees may elect to structure a bonus as part of their total package. This 
accrual relates to bonuses that have accrued at year-end.

Staff Leave Accrual:

The Leave Accrual relates to the value of vacation leave for staff at year-end.

No interest is charged for the first 30 days from the date of receipt of the 
invoice. Thereafter interest is charged in accordance with the credit policies 
of the various individual creditors that the Entity deals with.

The Entity’s liquidity risk management processes are disclosed in Note 29.6 
to the Annual Financial Statements.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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9.  CASH RECEIVED IN ADVANCE FROM GOVERNMENT

2021 2020

R R

DMRE - MTEF Conditional Grant 28,095,833 39,686,451

DMRE - Asbestos Rehabilitation Project 129,633,966 118,947,502

Other government departments and entities 49,807,095 60,865,570

Total Cash Received in advance from Government 207,536,894 219,499,523

The grants are project related where conditions are yet to be fulfulled. The cash received 
in advance are invested in ring-fenced investment accounts until utilised.

The  cash received in advance are cash backed by term deposits. The Entity complied 
with the conditions attached to all funds received to the extent of revenue recognised. No 
funds were withheld.

10.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES

Post-retirement Health Care Benefits Liability

Non-current Liabilities 7,277,921 7,938,312
Current Liabilities 1,764,092 1,138,793
Carrying Value

Present Value of the defined benefit obligation - wholly unfunded 9,042,013 9,077,105

Medical cover is provided to employees through a number of different schemes. 
Post-retirement medical cover in respect of qualifying employees is recognised as 
an expense over the expected remaining service lives of the relevant employees.

Mintek has an obligation to provide medical benefits to certain pensioners and 
dependents. These liabilities have been provided for in full, calculated on an actuarial 
basis.

These liabilities are unfunded. The short term portion of this liability relates to an 
estimated value for employees who will be retiring in the next 12 months. Periodic 
valuation of this obligation is carried out by an independent actuary every year, latest 
on being 31 March 2021.

The most recent actuarial valuations of plan assets and the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation were carried out at 31 March 2021 by Mr S Basadien, 
Member of the Actuarial Society of South Africa. The present value of the defined 
benefit obligation, and the related current service cost and past service cost, were 
measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method.

The members of the Post-employment Health Care Benefit Plan are made up as 
follows:

In-service Members (Employees) 32 36
Continuation Members (Retirees, widowers and orphans) 8 9
Total Members 40 45

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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10.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

The liability in respect of past service has been estimated as follows:

In-service Members 5,300,000 5,500,000
Continuation Members 3,742,013 3,577,105

Total Liability 9,042,013 9,077,105

The Interest Cost for the year ending 31 March 2021 is estimated to be R1,100,000, 
whereas the cost for the ensuing year is estimated to be R1,100,000 (31 March 
2020: R1,300,000 and R1,100,000 respectively).

The principal assumptions used for the purposes of the actuarial valuations 
were as follows:

Discount Rate - In-service Members 11.80% 13.50%
Discount Rate - Continuation Members 9.70% 11.40%
Health Care Cost Inflation Rate - In-service Members 7.70% 8.50%
Health Care Cost Inflation Rate - Continuation Members 7.40% 8.60%
Expected Retirement Age 60 60

General:

Fixed investment held with various financial institutions is partly earmarked as financing 
for post-retirement medical aid liability. Mintek has not assigned a specific fund to hedge 
the post-retirement medical aid liability.

Movements in the present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation were as 
follows:

Balance at the beginning of the year 9,077,105 13,200,000
Interest cost 1,100,000 1,300,000
Past-service costs (210,494) (213,226)
Settlements paid (1,224,655) (2,066,680)
Actuarial losses / (gains) 300,057 (3,142,989)

Total Recognised Benefit Liability 9,042,013 9,077,105

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are as follows:

Present value of fund obligations 9,042,013 9,077,105

Unfunded Accrued Liability 9,042,013 9,077,105

Total Benefit Liability 9,042,013 9,077,105

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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10.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT LIABILITIES  (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Performance are as 
follows:

Interest cost 1,100,000 1,300,000
Actuarial losses / (gains) 300,057 (3,142,989)
Vested past service costs (210,494) (213,226)

Total Post-retirement Benefit included in Employee Related Costs (Note 16) 1,189,563 (2,056,215)

The effect of a 1% movement in the assumed rate of health care cost inflation is as 
follows:

Increase:

Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and the interest cost 100,000 100,000
Effect on the defined benefit obligation 900,000 900,000

Decrease:

Effect on the aggregate of the current service cost and the interest cost (100,000) (100,000)
Effect on the defined benefit obligation (800,000) (800,000)

There are no additional contributions made to this benefit plan as it merely relates 
to a vested benefit that accrues to qualifying employees that were in employ on 31 
December 1999.

11.  RESERVES

Revaluation Reserve 169,754,268 143,714,383

Total Reserves 169,754,268 143,714,383

Revaluation Reserve

The Revaluation Reserve arises on the revaluation of Land and Buildings. Where 
revalued Land or Buildings are sold, the portion of the Revaluation Reserve that relates 
to that asset, and is effectively realised, is transferred directly to Accumulated Surplus.

Reconciliation of the Revaluation Reserve:

Balance at beginning of year 143,714,383 145,244,980
Increases in Revaluation 27,570,482 -
Depreciation transferred to surplus (1,530,597) (1,530,597)

Balance at end of year 169,754,268 143,714,383

Refer to Statement of Changes in Net Assets for more detail and the movement on 
Reserves.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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12.  GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND SUBSIDIES

2021 2020

R R

MTEF 31,319,298 13,866,037

SciVote 244,914,782 238,864,348

Total Government Grants and Subsidies  276,234,080 252,730,385

The prior year amount for Government Grants and Subsidies has been adjusted.  Refer to 
Note 23.1 on “Correction of Error” for details of the restatement.

13.  RENDERING OF SERVICES

Contract Research 56,918,735 78,233,394

Products and Services 103,044,382 116,486,171

Contract Revenue - Asbestos Rehabilitation 96,261,345 76,381,282

Total Rendering of Services 256,224,462 271,100,847

The amounts disclosed above for revenue for contract research and products and 
services relates to services rendered to customers and billed as planned. The revenue 
generated through the Asbestos Rehabilitation programme have been reclassified to 
Revenue from Exchange transactions from Revenue from non-exchange revenue. Prior 
year balances have also been restated.

14.  INTEREST EARNED

External Investments:

Bank Account 1,903 536,485

Other Deposits 15,246,842 26,774,799

Total Interest Earned 15,248,745  27,311,284  

15.  OTHER REVENUE

Library Income 7,348 18,365

Sale of Scrap Material 163,652 148,445

Sundry Income 2,874,236 2,450,012

Tender Fee Income 64,500 93,001

Total Other Revenue 3,109,736 2,709,823

The amounts disclosed above for Other Revenue are in respect of services rendered 
which are billed to or paid for by the users and does is anxillary to the core business of 
Mintek.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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16. EMPLOYEE RELATED COSTS

2021 2020

R R

Basic Salaries 275,223,034 289,667,622

Overtime 1,426,963 2,395,382

Social Contributions (Medical Aid, Pension, UIF, etc) 1,513,236 1,549,737

Leave Accrual 5,440,614 6,103,444

Other Employee related costs 369,016 367,800

Total Employee Related Costs 283,972,863 300,083,984

17.  DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION

Depreciation: Property, Plant and Equipment 26,963,160 29,694,448

Amortisation: Intangible Assets 795,334 190,478

Total Depreciation and Amortisation 27,758,494 29,884,926

18.  IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

18.1 Impairment Losses on Fixed Assets

The following impairment losses were recognised in the year under review:

Property, Plant and Equipment - 23,562,001

Intangible Assets - 138,123

Total impairment losses on Fixed Assets - 23,700,124

No impaired assets were identified during the 2021 financial year.

18.2 Impairment Losses on Financial Assets

Receivables from Exchange Transactions 3,110,090 229,908

Total Impairment Losses on Financial Assets 3,110,090 229,908

Total Impairment Losses 3,110,090 23,930,032

Property, Plant and Equipment include assets for Land, Buildings, Leased Assets 
and Other Movable Assets.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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19. FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020

R R

Supplier interest 5,781 5,723

Defined Benefit Liabilities 1,100,000 1,300,000

Total Finance Costs 1,105,781 1,305,723

20.  PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

Auditor’s Remuneration 2,114,464 3,672,431

Professional Consultancy Services 2,035,507 8,623,337

Legal Fees 7,205,765 5,564,542

Total Professional Services 11,355,736 17,860,310

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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21.  GENERAL EXPENSES

Included in General Expenses are the following: 287,005

Bank Charges 275,610 287,005

Cellphone, Telephone and Data Costs 1,431,240 962,512

Consumables 32,898,511 26,971,535

Contracted Services 598,995 935,964

Utility Costs 20,686,766 26,027,688

Equipment Service Costs 3,353,652 4,994,624

Fuel and Oil 670,251 611,797

Gardening Services 535,652 1,184,311

Health and Safety Costs 2,414,517 1,869,800

Insurance 2,314,030 2,081,613

IT Support Costs 6,541,064 5,422,715

Laboratory Analysis 1,694,020 1,414,758

Licence Fees - Software 9,866,493 7,361,974

Marketing Expenses 141,355 2,682,982

Membership and Subscription Fees 5,746,915 2,962,810

Postage and Courier Costs 614,427 360,433

Rental of Facilities and Equipment 1,499,759 661,871

Repairs and Maintenance - Labour 1,521,583 1,073,844

Repairs and Maintenance Contractors 2,180,173 11,236,790

Research support to Tertiary Institutions 9,604,333 24,380,332

Security Services 4,886,726 4,923,576

Settlement Costslement Costs 5,313,249 -

Skills Development Levies 1,719,025 2,720,758

Training and Staff development 2,727,053 4,927,436

Travel and Accommodation 1,310,136 8,829,710

Vehicle Expenses 679,524 1,524,383

Warrantee Provision 566,748 292,934

Other General Expenses 5,346,883 11,245,695

Total General Expenses 127,138,692 157,949,850

The amounts disclosed above for Other General Expenses are in respect of costs 
incurred in the general management of the Entity and not direct attributable to a 
specific service or class of expense. Support to tertiary institutions were reclassified 
from bursary costs. Similarly improved categorisation were performed on items such 
as IT support costs, laboratory analysis, repairs and maintenance, research support 
to university. Comparative amounts have been restated.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 

31 March 2021



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |    Financial Report 165

Financial 
R

ep
ort

22.  CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY

The Entity adopted the following Accounting Standards for the first time during the financial year 2020/21 in order to comply 
with the basis of preparation of the Annual Financial Statements as disclosed in Accounting Policy 1:

- GRAP 34 Separate Financial Statements

- GRAP 35 Consolidated Statements

- GRAP 36 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

- GRAP 37 Joint Arrangements

- GRAP 38 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

- GRAP 110 Living and Non-living Resources

- IGRAP 20 Accounting for Adjustments to Revenue

22.1 GRAP 34 - Separate Financial Statements

The Accounting Standard for Separate Financial Statements not recognised under previous basis of accounting, has 
been considered for inclusion in the Annual Financial Statements of the Entity as at 31 March 2021 in terms of GRAP 
34.

The Entity has developed Accounting Policies to fully comply with GRAP 34 (Separate Financial Statements). 
Management has evaluated the requirements of the Standard and it was found that no adjustments need to be made.

22.2 GRAP 35 - Consolidated Financial Statements

The Accounting Standard for Consolidated Financial Statements not recognised under previous basis of accounting, 
has been considered for inclusion in the Annual Financial Statements of the Entity as at 31 March 2021 in terms of 
GRAP 35.

The Entity has developed Accounting Policies to fully comply with GRAP 35 (Consolidated Financial Statements). 
Management has evaluated the requirements of the Standard and it was found that no adjustments need to be made.

22.3 GRAP 36 - Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures

The Accounting Standard for Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures not recognised under previous basis of 
accounting, has been considered for inclusion in the Annual Financial Statements of the Entity as at 31 March 2021 
in terms of GRAP 36.

Management has evaluated the requirements of the Standard and it was found that it is not applicable to the Entity 
at this stage. Therefore, no adjustments need to be made and no Accounting Policies need to be developed to fully 
comply with GRAP 36 (Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures).

22.4 GRAP 37 - Joint Arrangements

The Accounting Standard for Joint Arrangements not recognised under previous basis of accounting, has been 
considered for inclusion in the Annual Financial Statements of the Entity as at 31 March 2021 in terms of GRAP 37.

Management has evaluated the requirements of the Standard and it was found that it is not applicable to the Entity 
at this stage. Therefore, no adjustments need to be made and no Accounting Policies need to be developed to fully 
comply with GRAP 37 (Joint Arrangements).

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 

31 March 2021



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |    Financial Report Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |    Financial Report166

Fi
na

nc
ia

l 
R

ep
or

t

22.  CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY (Continued)

22.5 GRAP 38 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

The Accounting Standard for Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities not recognised under previous basis of accounting, 
has been considered for inclusion in the Annual Financial Statements of the Entity as at 31 March 2021 in terms of 
GRAP 38.

The Entity has developed Accounting Policies to fully comply with GRAP 38 (Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities). 
Management has evaluated the requirements of the Standard and it was found that no adjustments need to be made.

22.6 GRAP 110 - Living and Non-living Resources

The Accounting Standard for Living and Non-living Resources not recognised under previous basis of accounting, has 
been considered for inclusion in the Annual Financial Statements of the Entity as at 31 March 2021 in terms of GRAP 
110.

Management has evaluated the requirements of the Standard and it was found that it is not applicable to the Entity 
at this stage. Therefore, no adjustments need to be made and no Accounting Policies need to be developed to fully 
comply with GRAP 110 (Living and Non-living Resources).

22.7 IGRAP 20 - Accounting for Adjustments to Revenue

The Interpretation for Accounting for Adjustments to Revenue not recognised under previous basis of accounting, has 
been considered for inclusion in the Annual Financial Statements of the Entity as at 31 March 2021 in terms of IGRAP 
20.

Management has evaluated the requirements of the Standard and it was found that it is not applicable to the Entity 
at this stage. Therefore, no adjustments need to be made and no Accounting Policies need to be developed to fully 
comply with IGRAP 20 (Accounting for Adjustments to Revenue).

The above-mentioned changes in Accounting Policies had no effect on the Accumulated Surplus as at 31 March 2021 and 
the Accumulated Surplus of prior years was not affected either.
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23.  CORRECTION OF ERROR 

Corrections were made on disclosures of the previous financial year. These disclosures are limited to re-classification of line 
items within the different categories of the financial statements. Details of the corrections are described below:

23.1 Reclassification of Revenue

The prior year figures of Revenue Classes have been restated to correctly classify the nature of Revenue of Mintek.

The effect of the Correction of Error is as follows:

Prior Year AFS
2019/20

Revenue

Current Year 
AFS

2019/20

Restated
Amount

Government Grants and Subsidies Received 329,111,667 252,730,385 (76,381,282)

Rendering of Services 194,719,565 271,100,847 76,381,282

Rental of Facilities and Equipment 3,638,750 3,638,750 -

Interest Earned 27,311,284 27,311,284 -

Discount Received 50,965 50,965 -

Other Revenue 2,709,823 2,709,823 -

Gains on Other Operations 4,212,150 7,568,365 3,356,215

561,754,204 565,110,419 3,356,215

Prior year amounts of items in Revenue included in the Statement of Financial Performance have been restated as indicated 
below:

Rental
of Facilities

Other
Revenue

Gains on
Other 

Operations

Balance previously reported 3,638,750 2,709,823 4,212,150

Adjustment for Gains on Defined Benefit Liabilities - - 3,356,215

Restated Balance now reported 3,638,750 2,709,823 7,568,365

Gains on Other Operations:

The prior year amounts for Gains on Other Operations and Losses on Other Operations have been restated to correctly 
disclose the revenue for Actuarial Gains, previously included in Losses on Other Operations.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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23.  CORRECTION OF ERROR (Continued)

23.2 Reclassification of Expenditure

The prior year figures of Expenditure Classes have been restated to correctly classify the nature of Expenditure of Mintek.

The effect of the Correction of Error is as follows:

Prior Year AFS
2019/20

Expenditure

Current Year 
AFS 2019/20
Expenditure

Restated
Amount

Employee Related Costs 300,083,984 300,083,984 -

Depreciation and Amortisation 29,861,397 29,884,926 23,529

Impairment Losses 23,930,032 23,930,032 -

Bursary Costs 12,988,653 12,715,007 (273,645)

Finance Costs 1,305,723 1,305,723 -

Professional Services 17,860,310 17,860,310 -

Repairs and Maintenance 20,234,466 - (20,234,466)

Rehabilitation Services 62,582,014 62,582,014 -

General Expenses 127,926,676 157,949,850 30,023,174

Actuarial Gains (3,142,989) 213,226 3,356,215

Loss on Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 22,307,615 22,307,615 -

615,937,880 628,832,687 12,894,807

Prior year amounts of items in Expenditure included in the Statement of Financial Performance have been restated as 
indicated below:

Repairs and 
Maintenance

General 
Expenses

Actuarial 
Gains

Bursary 
Costs

Balance previously reported 20,234,466 127,926,676 (3,142,989) 12,988,653

Adjustment for Gains on Defined 
Benefit Liabilities - - 3,356,215 -

Reclassification of Repairs and 
Maintenance (20,234,466) 20,234,466 - -

Adjustment for additional expenses - 9,515,063 - -

Re-allocation of Research Support 
Costs - 273,645 - (273,645)

Restated Balance now reported - 157,949,850 213,226 12,715,007
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23.  CORRECTION OF ERROR (Continued)

23.3 Reclassification of Statement of Financial Position

The prior year figures of Classes in the Statement of Financial Position have been restated to correctly classify the nature of 
Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets of Mintek.

The effect of the Correction of Error is as follows:

Prior Year AFS
2019/20

Expenditure

Current Year 
AFS 2019/20
Expenditure

Restated
Amount

Current Assets

Inventories 9,590,698 9,590,698 -

Receivables from Exchange Transactions 36,746,677 36,746,677 -

Cash and Cash Equivalents 453,860,226 453,860,226 -

Non-Current Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment 405,868,935 404,833,336 (1,035,598)

Intangible Assets 4,635,963 4,635,963 -

Non-current Investments 100 100 -

Current Liabilities

Provisions (1,315,604) (1,315,604) -

Payables from Exchange Transactions (71,973,133) (81,488,196) (9,515,063)

Unspent Conditional Grants and Receipts (219,499,523) (219,499,523) -

VAT Payable (937,291) (937,291) -

Current Portion of Long-term Liabilities (1,138,793) (1,138,793) -

Non-Current Liabilities

Long Term Liabilities (39,515,043) (39,515,043) -

Employee Benefit Liabilities (7,938,312) (7,938,312) -

Net Assets

Reserves Reserves (143,714,383) (143,714,383) -

Accumulated Surplus (424,670,517) (414,119,856) 10,550,661

- - -

Opening balances and prior year amounts of items in the Statement of Financial Position have been restated as 
indicated on the following page:
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23.  CORRECTION OF ERROR (Continued)

Property, Plant 
& Equipment

Intangible 
Assets

Non-current 
Investments

Balances previously published per AFS as at 31 March 
2019

427,832,073 4,944,194 100

Adjustment for Depreciation not Posted (242,688) - -

Adjustment for Write-off of assets (769,381) - -

Balances now published per AFS as at 31 March 2019 426,820,003 4,944,194 100

Transactions incurred for the Year 2019/20 (21,963,138) (308,230) -

Adjustment for Depreciation not Posted (23,529) -

Balances now published per AFS as at 31 March 2020 404,833,336 4,635,963 100

Provisions
 

Payables: 
Exchange

Payables: 
Exchange

Balances now published per AFS as at 31 March 2019 (1,022,670) (80,155,272) -

Transactions incurred for the Year (292,934) 8,182,139 -

Adjustment for Additional Accruals - (9,515,063) -

Balances now published per AFS as at 31 March 2020 (1,315,604) (81,488,196) -

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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23.  CORRECTION OF ERROR (Continued)

23.4  Restatement of Cash Flow Statement

The prior year figures of Classes in the Cash Flow Statement have been restated to correctly classify the Cash Flows 
from Operating Activities, Cash Flows from Investing Activities, Cash Flows from Financing Activities and Net Increase / 
(Decrease) In Cash and Cash Equivalents of the Entity.

The effect of the Correction of Error is as follows:

Prior Year 
2020 Balance

Restated
2020 Balance

Amount 
Restated By

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Receipts

Government Grant and Subsidies 379,140,561 302,759,280 (76,381,282)

Receipts from Rendering of Services 198,306,864 278,923,380 80,616,516

Interest Received 27,311,284 27,311,284 -

Other Receipts 9,844,260 9,844,260 -

Payments

Employee Related Costs (303,461,800) (303,461,800) -

Interest Paid (5,723) (5,723) -

Suppliers Paid (122,867,427) (97,079,488) 25,787,939

Other Payments (127,633,742) (157,656,916) (30,023,174)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment (53,577,397) (53,577,397) -

Purchase of Intangible Assets (20,370) (20,370) -

Net Increase / (Decrease) In Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 446,823,715 446,823,715 -

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period (453,860,226) (453,860,226) -

- - -

Rendering
of Services

Government 
Grants and 

Subsidies

Other
Receipts

Balance previously reported 198,306,864 379,140,561 9,844,260

Reclassification of MTEF D&O Revenue 76,381,282 (76,381,282) -

Reclassification of Cash Outflow on VAT Payable 4,235,235 - -

Unrealised Foreign Exchange - cash equivalents - -  1,915,495

Unrealised Foreign Exchange - non-cash reversed - - (1,915,495)

Restated Balance now reported 278,923,380 302,759,280 9,844,260

Rendering of Services:

The prior year amounts for Rendering of Services have been reclassified to correctly disclose the revenue, adjusted for VAT 
Payable re-allocated to Suppliers Paid. The effect of this reclassification on net Cash Flow is zero.
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24. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

2021 2020

R R

24.1 Depreciation/Amortisation Expenditure:

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation methods were 
reviewed at 31 March 2021. For items that are still in use and have future 
economic value, useful life was extended. The useful lives were extended 
based on the assumptions that assets will be replaced in the next two years 
due to the capitalisation plan. The original acquisition value for these assets 
were R46,927,240 and the resultant depreciation write-back was R11,703,505 
of which R11,276,594 relates to property, plant and equipment and R426,911 
relates to intangible assets. The adjustments are as follows:

Decrease in Depreciation and Amortisation due to adjustments to Useful Lives 
of PPE and Intangible Assets (11,703,505) (17,927,840)

Decrease in Depreciation of PPE and Intangble Assets (11,703,505) (17,927,840)

Depreciation as previously stated - before change in useful lives 39,461,999 47,812,766

Adjustment due to Change in Accounting Estimate (11,703,505) (17,927,840)

Depreciation as per Note 17. 27,758,494 29,884,926

The effect per asset class is reflected in notes 4 and 5 in the financial 
statements. The amount of the effect in future periods is not disclosed as it 
is impracticable to estimate. In the published financials of the prior year,  the 
total decrease in depreciation in the Change in accounting estimates note was 
incorrectly stated as R17,318,984 in stead of R17,927,840 .

23.  CORRECTION OF ERROR (Continued)

Suppliers 
Paid

Other
 Payments

Cash Flows from Operating Activities - Payments:

Balance previously reported (122,867,427) (127,633,742)

Reclassification of Cash Outflow on VAT Payable (4,235,235) -

Adjustment for Additional expenses  9,515,062 (9,515,062)

Re-allocation of Research Support Costs 273,646 (273,646)

Reclassification of Repairs and Maintenance 20,234,466 (20,234,466)

Restated Balance now reported (97,079,488) (157,656,916)

Suppliers Paid:

The prior year amounts for Suppliers Paid have been reclassified to correctly disclose the expenditure, adjusted for VAT 
Payable re-allocated from Rendering of Services. The effect of this reclassification on net Cash Flow is zero.
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25. CASH GENERATED BY OPERATIONS

2021 2020

R R

Surplus/(deficit) for the Year 4,846,258 (63,722,268)

Adjustment for Non-cash Transactions included in Surplus / (Deficit):

Employee Related Costs 5,230,120 5,890,218

Depreciation and Amortisation 27,758,494 29,884,926

Impairment Losses on Capital Assets - 23,700,124

Impairment Losses on Financial Assets 3,110,090 229,908

Finance Costs 1,100,000 1,300,000

General Expenses 566,748 292,934

Gains on Other Operations - (5,271,710)

Losses on Other Operations 847,803 213,226

Contributions included in Payables from Exchange Transactions (5,440,614) (6,103,444)

Adjustment for Cash Transactions not included in Surplus / (Deficit):

Exchange Receivables: Bad Debts Written-off (2,041,930) -

Disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment 366,477 22,307,615

Disposal of Intangible Assets 48,174 -

Expenditure incurred from Employee Benefit Liabilities (1,224,655) (2,066,680)

Adjustment for transactions included in Surplus/(Defecit) directly recognised 
in Cash Flow: 

Unrealised foreign Exchange (Losses)/Gains (547,746) 1,915,495

Operating surplus before working capital changes 34,619,220 8,570,343

Decrease/(Increase) in Inventories (5,133,579) 1,986,419

Decrease/(Increase) in Receivables from Exchange Transactions (12,086,394) 497,347

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables from Exchange Transactions 32,076,268 1,332,924

Increase/(Decrease) in Conditional Grants and Receipts (11,962,629) 52,482,479

Increase/(Decrease) in VAT Payable 1,152,801 (4,235,235)

Cash generated by Operations 38,665,687 60,634,278

26.  NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING TRANSACTIONS

The Entity did not enter into any Non-cash Investing and Financing Transactions 
during the 2020/2021 Financial year.
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27.  IRREGULAR, FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE DISALLOWED

2021 2020

R R

27.1 Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure:

Mintek incurred interest expenditure as a result of late payment to suppliers. This is not considered to be material. For
comparitive purposes the prior year interest paid to suppliers is also disclosed.

Reconciliation of Fruitless and Wasteful expenditure:

Opening balance 5,723 -

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure current year 5,781 5,723

Fruitless and Wasteful Expenditure awaiting condonement 11,503 5,723

Incident Disciplinary Steps / Criminal Proceedings

Interest on late payment - Various Creditors - R5,781 
(2020: R5,723)

To be submitted to Board (2020: Under investigation)

A settlement agreement was concluded through arbritation during the 2020/2021 financial year amounting to R5,313,250 
relating to the gas consumption agreement. This settlement has not been paid as at 31 March 2021.

27.2 Irregular Expenditure

Reconciliation of Irregular Expenditure:

Opening balance 10,209,225 -

Irregular Expenditure current year 18,763,714 10,209,225

Amount recovered - -

Irregular Expenditure awaiting condonement 28,972,939 10,209,225

Incident Disciplinary Steps / Criminal Proceedings

Irregular awards made to Lafata Chemicals - R16,384,306 
(2020: R9,826,501)

The instances of irregular expenditure were investigated 
and matter was free of fraudulent, corrupt or other 
criminal conduct. No losses were suffered by the entity 
and the irregular expenditure will be referred to the 
relevant treasury for condonement.

Irregular award made to Power Development Services - 
R0 (2020: R382,724)

The instances of irregular expenditure were investigated 
and matter was free of fraudulent, corrupt or other 
criminal conduct. No losses were suffered by the entity 
and the irregular expenditure will be referred to the 
relevant treasury for condonement.
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28. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE

2021 2020

R R

28.1 Capital Commitments

Commitments in respect of Capital Expenditure:

Buildings 2,949,505 6,409,239

Computer Equipment 1,104,427 -

Furniture and Fittings 578,685 -

Plant, Machinery and Equipment 3,780,377 1,055,150

Other Assets 797,899 -

Total Capital Commitments Approved and Contracted for 9,210,893 7,464,389

This expenditure will be financed from current reserves.

Own Resources 9,210,893 7,464,389

9,210,893 7,464,389

Incident Disciplinary Steps / Criminal Proceedings

Irregular award made to Inpaktgroup - R1,382,500 
(2020: R0)

The instances of irregular expenditure will be investigated 
and referred to the relevant treasury for condonement.

Irregular award made to Jeenel Technology - R124,960 
(2020: R0)

The instances of irregular expenditure will be investigated 
and referred to the relevant treasury for condonement.

Irregular award made to The Energy Company - R516,000 
(2020: R0)

The instances of irregular expenditure will be investigated 
and referred to the relevant treasury for condonement.

Irregular award made to Lechintech - R186,018 
(2020: R0)

The instances of irregular expenditure will be investigated 
and referred to the relevant treasury for condonement.

Irregular award made to Novatek Drills - R84,700 
(2020: R0)

The instances of irregular expenditure will be investigated 
and referred to the relevant treasury for condonement.

Irregular award made to Elen Electrical Enclosures - 
R85,230 (2020: R0)

The instances of irregular expenditure will be investigated 
and referred to the relevant treasury for condonement.

The irregular expenditure was previously disclosed including VAT. The amounts have been restated to exclude VAT.
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28. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

28.2 Commitments in respect of Operational Expenditure

Operational Expenditure 99,381,628 132,600,959

Total Operational Commitments Approved and Contracted for:- 99,381,628 132,600,959

This expenditure will be financed from current reserves

Own Resources 99,381,628 132,600,959

99,381,628 132,600,959

28.3 Operating Lease Commitments

At the reporting date the Entity has outstanding commitments under Operating 
Leases which fall due as follows:

28.3.1 Arrangements as Lessee:

Operating Leases relate to Property, Plant and Equipment with lease terms 
not longer than 5 years, with an option to extend for a further period. All 
operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that 
the Entity exercises its option to renew. The Entity does not have an option 
to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

28.3.2 Amounts payable under Operating Leases:

At the Reporting Date the Entity had outstanding commitments under Non-
cancellable Operating Leases for Property, Plant and Equipment, which fall 
due as follows:

Other Equipment: 2,438,206 79,015

Up to 1 year 943,822 79,015

2 to 5 years 1,494,384 -

More than 5 years - -

Total Operating Lease Arrangements 2,438,206 79,015

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 

31 March 2021



 Annual Integrated Report   |   2020 / 2021    |    Financial Report 177

Financial 
R

ep
ort

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

2021 2020

R R

29.1 Classification

FINANCIAL ASSETS:

In accordance with GRAP 104.13 the Financial Assets of the Entity are 
classified as follows:

Financial Assets at Amortised Cost:

Non-current Investments Unlisted Investments 100 100

Receivables from Exchange Transaction Trade Debtors 15,683,699 15,324,443

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Deposits 275,093 275,093

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Earmarked Funding 4,471,023 4,803,130

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Project Work-in-Progress 17,758,288 10,126,439

Receivables from Exchange Transactions Staff Debtors 2,052,820 1,241,059

Cash and Cash Equivalents Fixed Deposits 404,320,147 406,042,525

Cash and Cash Equivalents Bank Balances 41,803,508 47,756,096

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash Floats and Advances 55,538 61,605

Total Financial Assets 486,420,216 485,630,490

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES:

In accordance with GRAP 104.13 the Financial Liabilities of the Entity are classified as follows:

Financial Liabilities at Amortised Cost:

Long-term Liabilities Other Loans 39,515,043 39,515,043

Payables from Exchange Transactions Trade Creditors 59,854,505 22,655,868

Payables from Exchange Transactions Accruals 19,416,775 25,896,064

Payables from Exchange Transactions Deposits 26,798 26,798

Payables from Exchange Transactions Salary Control 9,475,164 9,666,530

Payables from Exchange Transactions Staff Bonus Accrual 385,812 478,656

Payables from Exchange Transactions Staff Leave Accrual 11,965,137 10,571,350

Cash Received in Advance from 
Government

Deferred: Government 
Grants

207,536,894 219,499,523

Total Financial Liabilities 348,176,128 328,309,832

No Financial Instruments of the Entity have been reclassified during the year. Prepaid expenditure to the value of R4,976,515 
was omitted from the comparative prior year financial asset list as it does not constitute a financial asset . It was erroneously 
included in the 2019/2020 AFS. Similarly Cash received from Government of R219,499,523 were included in the comparative 
financial liability list where in the prior year it was not disclosed correctly while Income Received in Advance of R12,192,930 
and Retirement Benefits of R1,138,793 were omitted from the list . It was erroneously included in the 2019/2020 AFS.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

29.2 Capital Risk Management

The Entity manages its capital to ensure that the Entity will be able to continue 
as a going concern while delivering sustainable goods and services to 
customers through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. Mintek’s 
overall strategy remains unchanged from 2020.

The capital structure of the Entity consists of debt comprising Accumulated 
Surplus as disclosed in the Statement of Changes in Net Assets.

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio at the year-end was as follows:

Debt 39,515,043 39,515,043

Net Debt 39,515,043 39,515,043

Equity 629,765,925 597,349,182

Net debt to equity ratio 6.27% 6.62%

Debt is defined as Long-term Liabilities, together with its Short-term Portion.

Equity includes all Funds and Reserves of the Entity, disclosed as Net Assets 
in the Statement of Financial Performance and Net Debt as described above.

29.3 Financial Risk Management Objectives

The Entity’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Entity’s financial performance. Risk management is carried out by management under 
policies approved by the Board. The Board of Directors sanctions a risk management policy which considers financial risk 
management in the organisation.

The Entity has limited foreign exchange risk.

Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these Annual Financial Statements.

29.4 Significant Risks

It is the policy of the Entity to disclose information that enables the user of its Annual Financial Statements to evaluate the 
nature and extent of risks arising from Financial Instruments to which the Entity is exposed to on the reporting date.

The Entity has exposure to the following risks from its operations in Financial 
Instruments:

-  Market Risk.

-  Liquidity Risk; and

-  Credit Risk;
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Market Risk

Market Risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices will 
affect the Entity’s income or the value of its holdings in Financial Instruments. The objective of market risk management is to 
manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimising the return.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity Risk is the risk that the Entity will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its Financial 
Liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Credit Risk

Credit Risk is the risk of financial loss to the Entity if a customer or counterparty to a Financial Instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations and arises principally from the Entity’s receivables from customers and investment securities.

A maturity analysis for Financial Liabilities (where applicable) that shows the remaining undiscounted contractual maturities 
is disclosed in Note 29.8 to the Annual Financial Statements.

29.5  Market Risk Management

The Entity’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates (see Note 29..7 below). No formal 
policy exists to hedge volatilities in the interest rate market.

There has been no change to the Entity’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the 
risk.

29.5.1 Foreign Currency Risk Management

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. The Entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies hence 
exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arises. Exchange rate exposures are managed by operating a US Dollar based 
bank account within approved policy parameters and the group does not use derivatives to hedge its exposure.

29.5.2 Interest Rate Risk Management

Interest Rate Risk is defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows associated with a financial instrument will 
fluctuate in amount as a result of market interest changes.

Potential concentrations of interest rate risk consist mainly of variable rate deposit investments, other debtors, bank and 
cash balances.

The Entity limits its counterparty exposures from its money market investment operations by only dealing with well-
established financial institutions of high credit standing.

Trade debtors comprise of a large number of customers, dispersed across different industries, geographical areas and 
countries. Trade debtors are presented net of a provision for impairment.

In the case of debtors whose accounts become in arrears, accounts are “handed over for collection” as applicable in terms 
of Board’s Financial Policy.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Mintek is not exposed to credit interest rate risk as it has no borrowings.

The valuation of interest rate exposure and investment strategies is done on a regular basis. The risk arises from substantial 
interest-bearing assets at variable interest rates. To minimise exposure to this risk, the Entity uses a mixture of variable and 
fixed interest rates. Refer to Note 3. of the Annual Financial Statements.

The Entity’s exposures to interest rates on Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are detailed in the Credit Risk 
Management section of this note.

Interest Rate Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates at the Statement of Financial Position 
date. The analysis is prepared by averaging the amount of the investment at the beginning of the financial year and the 
amount of the investment at the end of the financial year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease was used, which represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates. The short-term financial instruments at 
year-end with variable interest rates are set out in Note 29.8 below:

Cash and Cash Equivalents:

If interest rates had been 25 basis points higher / lower and all other variables were held constant, the Entity’s:

Surplus for the year ended 31 March 2021 would have increased / decreased by R111,950 (31 March 2020: R141,683). 
This is mainly attributable to the Entity’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate investments.

29.6  Liquidity Risk Management

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities and the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market. Mintek’s risk to liquidity is a 
result of the funds necessary to cover future commitments. The Entity manages liquidity risk through an on-going review of 
future commitments and available funds. Cash flow forecasts are prepared to ensure adequate utilisation and optimisation 
of funds.

29.7  Credit Risk Management

Credit Risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Entity. 
The Entity has a sound debt management policy and obtains sufficient collateral, where appropriate, as a means of mitigating 
the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Entity uses its own trading records to assess its major customers. The Entity’s 
exposure of its counterparties are monitored regularly.

Potential concentrations of credit rate risk consist mainly of trade debtors, variable rate deposit investments, bank and cash 
balances.

Investments/Bank, Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Entity limits its counterparty exposures from its money market investment operations (financial assets that are neither 
past due nor impaired) by only dealing with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one 
counter-party. No investments with a tenure exceeding twelve months are made.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade Receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluates credit risk relating to customers on an 
ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, 
risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other 
factors. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the Board. The 
utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Trade and Other Receivables (Continued)

There were no material changes in the exposure to credit risk and its objectives, policies and processes for managing 
and measuring the risk during the year under review. The Entity’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying value of each financial asset in the Statement of Financial Position, without taking into account the value of any 
collateral obtained. The Entity has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of 
students, and is not concentrated in any particular sector or geographical area.

The Entity establishes an allowance for impairment that represents its estimate of anticipated losses in respect of trade 
receivables.

The Entity does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics. The Entity defines counterparties as having similar characteristics if they are related entities. 
The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings.

The table below shows the balance of the 5 major counterparties at the balance sheet date. Management is of the opinion 
that, although these parties are the 5 counterparties with highest outstanding balances, no significant credit risk exposure 
exists based on the payment history of the parties.

31 March 2021 31 March 2020

Counterparty and Location Credit 
Limit

R

Carrying 
Amount

R

Credit 
Limit

R

Carrying 
Amount

R

Process IQ Australia 4,000,000 3,193,803 4,000,000 554,900

Anglo Corporate Service South Africa 14,000,000 2,003,394 - -

Hotazel Manganese South Africa 1,500,000 1,529,661 - -

Maringa Ferro-Liga Brazil 1,900,000 1,301,143 - -

Afrisky Medical (Pty) Ltd South Africa - - 2,500,000 1,931,244

Tata Steel Limited India - 1,530,400 - 1,530,400

Dwarsrivier Chrome Mine South Africa 2,300,000 69,328 2,300,000 977,955

Hindustan Znic Limited India - - 600,000 611,355

29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

2021 2020

R R

The maximum credit and interest risk exposure in respect of the relevant financial 
instruments is as follows:

Long-term Investments 100 100

Receivables from Exchange Transactions 49,062,979 36,976,585

Bank, Cash and Cash Equivalents 446,179,194 453,860,226

Maximum Credit Risk Exposure 495,242,273 490,836,911
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

2021 2020

The major concentrations of credit risk that arise from the Entity’s receivables in relation to customer classification are as follows:

% %

Exchange Debtors:

- Trade Debtors 33.32% 41.44%

- Earmarked Funding 9.43% 12.99%

- Project Work-in-Progress 36.19% 27.39%

- Staff Debtors 5.16% 3.98%

- Other Debtors 15.90% 14.20%

Total Credit Risk 100.00% 100.00%

Bank and Cash Balances R R

ABSA Bank Ltd 103,627,217 103,033,279

First National Bank 78,931,909 76,069,772

Nedbank 84,179,282 86,154,201

Investec 95,548,668 102,432,845

Stanlib 83,830,631 86,108,524

Other 61,487 61,605

Total Bank and Cash Balances 446,179,194 453,860,226

Credit quality of Financial Assets:

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit 
ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.

Receivables from Exchange Transactions

Counterparties without external credit rating:-

High 27,608,033 23,752,929

Medium 2,238,489 3,393,276

29,846,522 27,146,204

Total Receivables from Exchange Transactions 29,846,522 27,146,204

Credit Quality Groupings:

High - High certainty of timely payment. Liquidity factors are strong and the risk of non-payment is small.
Medium - Reasonable certainty of timely payment. Liquidity factors are sound, although ongoing funding needs may enlarge 
financing requirement. The risk of non-payment is small.
Low - Satisfactory liquidity factors and other factors which qualify the Entity as investment grade. However, the risk factors 
of non-payment are larger.

None of the financial assets that are fully performing, have been renegotiated in the last year.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

29.9  Liquidity Risk Management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk 
management framework for the management of the Entity’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. The Entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities, by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Liquidity Risk Tables

The Entity ensures that it has sufficient cash on demand or access to facilities to meet expected operational expenses 
through the use of cash flow forecasts.

The following tables detail the Entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables 
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the 
Entity can be required to pay.

Description Total 6 Months
or less

31 March 2021

Non-interest Bearing 308,661,084 308,661,084

Fixed Interest Rate Instruments 39,515,043 39,515,043

348,176,128 348,176,128

31 March 2020

Non-interest Bearing 288,794,789 288,794,789

Fixed Interest Rate Instruments 39,515,043 39,515,043

328,309,832 328,309,832

The following table details the Entity’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The tables below have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on 
those assets except where the Entity anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.
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29. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Description Average
effective
Interest 

Rate

Total 6 Months
or less

31 March 2021

Non-interest Bearing 0.00% 40,296,462 40,296,462

Variable Interest Rate Instruments 34.05% 41,803,608 41,803,608

Fixed Interest Rate Instruments 0.00% 404,320,147 404,320,147

486,420,217 486,420,217

31 March 2020

Non-interest Bearing 0.00% 31,831,767 31,831,767

Variable Interest Rate Instruments 48.19% 47,756,196 47,756,196

Fixed Interest Rate Instruments 0.00% 406,042,525 406,042,525

485,630,489 485,630,489

The Entity does not have any financing facilities. The Entity expects to meet its obligations from operating cash flows and 
proceeds of maturing financial assets and to maintain current debt to equity ratio.

29.10  Other Price Risks

The Entity is not exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments as 
the Entity does not trade these investments.
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

Related party transactions exist within the Group. These transactions were all concluded at arm’s length and therefore disclosed 
here only for information purposes. Details of material transactions with related parties not disclosed elsewhere in the financial 
statements are as follows:

30.1 Interest of Related Parties

Entities with whom the Entity has a relationship:

Controlling Entity: Department of Mineral Resources and Energy (DMRE)

Subsidiary: Mindev (Pty) Ltd

National Government All National Government Entities

Board Members / Management with whom the Entity has a relationship:

The following Board Members and/or management of the Entity was active during the period under review:

Name of Related Person Designation Board Term

Mkosana Dr VM Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Ngcwabe NF Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Ngobeni MW Dr Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Zungu Prof L Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Heydenrich R Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Maruping P Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Motaung H Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Moatshe RA Board Member Initial Term 1 June 2016 - 31 August 2019, Extension
from 1 June 2020 to 31 May 2023

Zikalala-Mvelase NP Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Phiri MM Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Makibinyane LL Board Member 1 June 2020 - 31 May 2023

Motuku Dr M Chief Executive Officer

Simelane SA Chief Financial Officer

McKenzie AD General Manager: Technology

*Nyanda FG General Manager: Corporate Services

*Resigned 30 September 2020
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

30.2  Income Received from Related Parties / Services rendered to Related Parties

30.2.1 Income Received from Related Parties:

During the year funds were received and revenue recognised from the following Related Parties that are related to the Entity 
as indicated below. The balances at year-end contained in deferred income and debtors is disclosed.

Funds
Received

Revenue Deferred
Income

Outstanding
Balance

R R R R

For the Year ended 31 March 2021

Department of Mineral Resources and Energy - State 
Grant

244,914,782 244,914,782 - -

Department of Mineral Resources and Energy - MTEF 126,736,521 127,580,643 157,729,798 -

Department of Mineral Resources and Energy 272,700 237,130 - -

Department of Science and Innovation 46,905,107 47,033,123 44,716,825 154,794

National Research Fund 797,101 2,070,993 266,052 3,033,124

Mining Qualification Authority 8,651,847 7,506,826 4,752,561 1,432,069

Council for GeoScience 14,281 - - -

CSIR 414,843 309,170 - 5,830

The South African Medical Research Council 3,013,374 2,620,325 - -

Water Research Council 300,000 260,870 - -

Technology Innovation Agency - - 71,657 -

Total 432,020,556 432,533,862 207,536,893 4,625,817

For the Year ended 31 March 2020

Department of Mineral Resources and Energy - State 
Grant

238,864,348 238,864,348 - -

Department of Mineral Resources and Energy - MTEF 140,285,217 90,247,319 158,633,953 69,039

Department of Science and Innovation 71,458,389 71,339,670 55,473,062 154,794

National Research Fund 639,130 1,872,579 2,565,810 4,213,796

Mining Qualification Authority 7,456,454 5,392,147 2,755,040 286,091

Council for GeoScience 3,056,443 1,018,487 - 14,281

National Lotteries Board - 164,872 - -

CSIR 819,881 745,705 - 65,128

Technology Innovation Agency 55,000 47,826 71,657 -

Total 462,634,863 409,692,953 219,499,523 4,803,129

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

30.2.2 Services rendered to Related Parties:

Apart from the revenue as disclosed above no further services were rendered to related parties. All transactions were 
concluded on an arm’s length basis.

30.3  Loans granted to/(from) Related Parties

The Entity does not grant loans to its Board Members. Advances, together with the conditions thereof, granted to Management, 
Staff and Public are disclosed in Note 2. to the Annual Financial Statements.

As disclosed in Note 18, an amount of R39,515,043 (2020: R39,515,043) is due to Mindev (Pty) Ltd. This loan relates to income 
received on the sale of technologies in Mindev. The funds were deposited into Mintek’s bank account as Mindev does not have 
a bank account. These monies are held on Mindev’s behalf. There are therefore no fixed terms of repayment and it is interest 
free.

30.4 Board Members and Executive Management Remuneration

Board Member Payments:

2021 Director's Fees Expenses Total

Mkosana Dr VM 121,443 - 121,443

Ngobeni MW Dr 64,782 - 64,782

Zungu Prof L 41,454 - 41,454

Heydenrich R 69,108 - 69,108

Maruping P 67,174 - 67,174

Motaung H 60,322 - 60,322

Zikalala-Mvelase NP 99,137 - 99,137

Phiri MM 75,290 - 75,290

Makibinyane LL 83,565 - 83,565

Thomani AM* 25,683 - 25,683

Mokupo P* 25,683 - 25,683

733,641 - 733,641

2020 Director's Fees Expenses Total

ND Masemola (Contract ended 31 August 2019) 47,070 - 47,070

MJ Rachidi (Contract ended 31 August 2019) 51,913 - 51,913

D Dlamini (Contract ended 31 August 2019) 34,335 - 34,335

CK McClain (Contract ended 31 August 2019) 20,196 - 20,196

P Mkhombo (Contract ended 31 August 2019) 38,448 - 38,448

S Ngwenya (Contract ended 31 August 2019) 22,734 - 22,734

Dr S Simayi (Contract ended 31 August 2019) 20,115 - 20,115

Dr S Mohlala (Contract ended 31 August 2019) 26,130 - 26,130

B Hlongwane* (Contract ended 31 August 2019) 10,476 - 10,476

271,417 - 271,417

*Relates to independent committee member

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Executive Management Remuneration

2021 Annual
Remuneration

Performance 
Bonus 

and other 
Expenses

Total

R R R

 Dr M Motuku Chief Executive Officer 3,818,786 - 3,818,786

 AD McKenzie General Manager: Technology 2,313,174 87,053 2,400,227

*FG Nyanda General Manager: Corporate Services 1,088,393 170,208 1,258,600

 SA Simelane General Manager: Finance 2,541,038 - 2,541,038

9,761,389 257,261 10,018,650

*Resigned 30 September 2020

2020 Annual
Remuneration

Performance 
Bonus 

and other 
Expenses

Total

R R R

 Dr M Motuku        Chief Executive Officer 3,537,624 136,062 3,673,686

 AD McKenzie General Manager: Technology 2,207,440 66,200 2,273,640

*Dr MA Makhafola General Manager: Research and
Development 758,675 104,464 863,139

 FG Nyanda General Manager: Corporate Services 2,122,986 41,861 2,164,847

 SA Simelane General Manager: Finance 2,424,888 - 2,424,888

11,051,613 348,587 11,400,200

*Resigned 25 October 2019

30.5 Controlled Entities

The Group comprises of Mintek and its wholly owned subsidiary Mindev (Proprietary) Limited which is engaged in the 
commercialisation of Mintek patents and technology through the identification of suitable partners. The Group, in the ordinary 
course of business, enters into various sale and purchase transactions with related parties. None of the directors, officers 
or major shareholders of the Mintek Group or, to the knowledge of Mintek, their families, had any interest, direct or indirect, 
in any transactions which has affected or will materially affect Mintek or its investment or subsidiary. During the year under 
review a new company was registered under Mindev (Pty) Ltd.  Ketlaphela Medical Diagnostics (Pty) Ltd was registered during 
2020/2021 with the intention to commercialise the medical diagnostic products that Mintek is currently developing. Mindev 
holds 100% shares in Ketlaphela.

Details of the investment in Mindev (Pty) Ltd is disclosed in Note 6.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

2021 2020

R R

31.1 Guarantees: 3,217,532       2,155,000

(i) Absa Bank: -       2,155,000

Cessions in favour of Absa Bank to meet requirements for credit card and other 
banking facilities that have been registered.

(ii) Rand Merchant Bank: 3,217,532       

Cessions in favour of Rand Merchant Bank to meet requirements for performance 
guarantee facilities that have been registered.

31.2 Court Proceedings:  419,000  419,000

(i) Dispute on Employment Contracts: 419,000 419,000

The Entity has disputed employment contracts with former employees, the aggregate of which is not expected to exceed the 
amount indicated. This amount includes estimated legal costs and disbursements and does not factor the success rate of the 
individual cases. The outcome of the cases is still uncertain.

32. TAXATION

GROUP COMPANY

2021 2020 2021 2020

Reconciliation between applicable tax rate and average effective tax rate:

Applicable tax rate 28.00% 28.00% 0.00% 0.00%

No provision for Income Tax was made for Mintek during the current financial year as the company is exempted in terms of 
section 10(1)(CA)(i) of the Income Tax Act, No 58 of 1962; and Mindev is a dormant company. Tax provisions and liabilities are 
with respect to Mindev and are payable through that entity.

33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

33.1 Pandemic:

A national state of disaster was declared on 15 March 2020 under the Disaster Management Act (Act No 57 of 2002) as 
result of the COVID-19 pandemic. This was followed up on 23 March 2020 by an announcement by the President of a 
national lockdown for an initial 21 days expiring on 16 April 2020. From 1 May 2020, a gradual and phased easing of the 
lockdown restrictions began, lowering the national alert level to 4 and from 1 June the national restrictions were lowered to 
level 3. The restrictions were lowered to alert level 2 on 17 August 2020 and then lowered to alert level 1 on 21 September 
2020. In December 2020, the country experienced a second wave of COVID-19 infections. The lockdown was tightened 
from an adjusted level 1 to an adjusted level 3 starting on 29 December 2020. The lockdown was lowered from an adjusted 
level 3 to an adjusted level 1 starting on 1 March 2021. While the state of disaster was originally set to lapse on 15 June 2020, 
it subsequenty has been extended on a month-to-month basis, currently until 15 June 2021.

The impact of these events were far reaching. Assessment of the specific impact on the Entity operations will be ongoing and 
mitigating actions will be a fundamental component of Management and Board decision making in the foreseeable future. It 
is not envisaged that these events will impact the assumption of going concern.

Since 31 December 2019, the spread of COVID-19 has severely impacted many local economies around the globe. In many 
countries, businesses are being forced to cease or limit operations for long or indefinite periods of time. Measures taken to 
contain the spread of the virus, including travel bans, quarantines, social distancing, and closures of non-essential services 
have triggered significant disruptions to businesses worldwide, resulting in an economic slowdown.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE (Continued)

Governments and central banks have responded with monetary and fiscal interventions to stabilise economic conditions. 
The Entity foresees that future funding from Government may be reduced and there will be reduced training activity (due 
to social distancing) on the non Government funded programmes. Furthermore , due to the economic slowdown there is a 
risk of debtors defaulting on the amounts owed to the Entity. These factors will have a negative effect on the future financial 
performance of the Entity.

The Entity has determined that these events are non-adjusting subsequent events. Accordingly, the financial position and 
results of operations as of and for the year ended 31 March 2021 have not been adjusted to reflect the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The duration and impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as the effectiveness of government and 
central bank responses, remains unclear at this time. Thus it is not possible to reliably estimate the duration and severity of 
these consequences, as well as their impact on the financial position and results of the Entity for future periods.

34. SEGMENT REPORTING

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies.

For management purposes Mintek is broadly organised into business units based on the nature of operations and the services 
they provide. Mintek has three primary reportable segments.

No individually material operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. Mintek 
does not monitor segments geographically.

Mintek Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about 
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on non-financial metrics and 
the segment’s operating surplus or deficit, measured consistently with the accounting policies applied in the Annual Financial 
Statements. However, the financing (including finance costs and finance income) and other revenue are managed on a group 
basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

Inter-business unit services are not valued and are deemed to have been supplied for no consideration, and are therefore not 
eliminated. However, the quality of services provided internally is monitored as part of the non-financial service performance 
information.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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34. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

The segmental information for Financial Performance of Mintek is disclosed in the table below. It is not practical to segmentise 
Financial Position and Cash Flow operations.

2021

Description Extractive 
Metallurgy

Mineral 
Processing & 

Characterisation

Mining, 
Materials 
& Process 

Automation

Corporate 
Services

MINTEK

R R R R R

REVENUE 86,162,021 68,922,311 195,981,503 203,275,943 554,341,778

Revenue from non-exchange 57,720,710 21,977,876 19,252,186 177,283,308 276,234,080

Revenue from Exchange 28,340,303 46,942,535 176,699,589 4,242,035 256,224,462

Other Revenue 101,008 1,900 29,728 21,750,600 21,883,236 

EXPENDITURE 86,963,851 81,299,317 184,487,193 196,745,157 549,495,518

Compensation of Employees 70,834,459 53,687,982 73,457,415 85,993,007 283,972,863

Other Operating Expenditure 11,667,312 19,657,823 107,221,745 99,217,281 237,764,161

Depreciation 4,462,080 7,953,512 3,808,033 11,564,599 27,758,494

Net Surplus/(deficit) (801,830) (12,377,006) 11,494,310 6,530,786 4,846,260

2020

Description Extractive 
Metallurgy

Mineral 
Processing & 

Characterisation

Mining, 
Materials 
& Process 

Automation

Corporate 
Services

MINTEK

R R R R R

REVENUE 66,693,081 59,146,671 194,267,706 237,434,595 557,542,053

Revenue from non-exchange 33,069,206 11,536,579 11,448,244 196,676,356 252,730,385

Revenue from Exchange 33,623,875 47,610,092 182,814,660 7,052,220 271,100,847

Other Revenue - - 4,802 33,706,019 33,710,821

EXPENDITURE 120,432,931 100,858,366 200,448,561 199,524,463 621,264,230

Compensation of Employees 73,452,488 55,461,383 76,782,205 94,387,908 300,083,984

Other Operating Expenditure 34,409,977 25,101,870 106,728,024 101,355,416 267,595,286

Depreciation 12,570,466 20,295,113 16,938,332 3,781,139 53,585,050

Net Surplus/(deficit) (53,739,850) (41,711,695) (6,180,855) 37,910,132 (63,722,267)
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35. GOING CONCERN ASSESSMENT

The COVID-19 pandemic continues to have a devastating impact on the macro economy and a significant component of the 
institutions which operate therein. The Entity has not been immune to the impact of the pandemic. The impact and duration of 
the COVID-19 pandemic in the Province and Mintek’s jurisdiction is uncertain at the date of this submission. Management of 
the Entity is however of the opinion that regardless of the possible effect of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Entity will continue to 
operate for the foreseeable future, which is usually regarded as at least the next 12 months from the reporting date, however 
not limited to this timeframe.

Management considered the following matters relating to the Going Concern:

(i) In terms of the Shareholder’s Compact, Mintek is estimating a surplus of R627,000 for the following financial year (2020/21: 
R5,902,000). This budget was approved by the Executive Authority in March 2021. The approved budget supports the 
Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) accounting framework for the compilation of the Annual Financial 
Statements. A depressed global economy affects revenue generation opportunities while costs are rising. Notwithstanding 
this, the budget still supports the ongoing execution of the Mintek mandate.

(ii) Strict cost management processes are embedded in the Entity’s operations to manage and monitor all income and 
expenditure supporting the Budget. The monitoring processes is complemented by monthly and quarterly reporting, 
highlighting the actual financial position, including the associated risks and remedial actions to be instituted.

Taking the aforementioned into account, management has prepared the Annual Financial Statements on the Going Concern 
Basis.

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 
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Mindev (Pty) Ltd (Registration number 2001/018449/07)

General Information

Country of incorporation and domicile South Africa

Directors MA Mngomezulu M Mphomela

SA Simelane GL Rapoo

RL Paul

Registered office 200 Malibongwe Drive
Randburg 
2194

Business address 200 Malibongwe Drive 
Randburg 
2194

Postal address Private Bag X3015
Randburg 
2125

Holding company Mintek (100% owned) incorporated in South Africa

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Financial Statements for the Year Ended

31 March 2021
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Mindev (Pty) Ltd Financial Statements for the Year Ended

31 March 2021

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Statement of Financial Position for the Year Ended 31 
March 2021

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2021 2020

Assets

Non-Current Assets

Non-Current Investments 2 100 -

Loans to shareholders 3 39,514,843 39,514,943

Total Assets 39,514,943 39,514,943

Equity and Liabilities

Equity

Share capital 4 100 100

Retained income 39,514,843 39,514,843

Total Equity 39,514,943 39,514,943

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Statement of Statement of Changes in Equity

Figures in Rand
Share 

capital
Retained 

income
Total 

equity

Balance at 01 April 2019 100 39,514,843 39,514,943

Balance at 01 April 2020 100 39,514,843 39,514,943

Balance at 31 March 2021 100 39,514,843 39,514,943

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Accounting policies

1.   Significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below.

1.1 Financial instruments

These financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.

1.2 Investment in Controlled Entities

Investments in controlled entities are consolidated in Mindev annual financial statements.

In Mindev’s separate annual financial statements, investments in controlled entities are carried at cost. The entity applies 
the same accounting for each category of investment.

Investments in controlled entities that are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy on Financial Instruments 
in the consolidated annual financial statements, are accounted for in the same way in Mindev’s separate annual financial 
statements.
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Mindev (Pty) Ltd Financial Statements for the Year Ended

31 March 2021

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Accounting policies

1.3 Taxation

Current tax assets and liabilities

Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in 
respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

Current tax liabilities (assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to (recovered 
from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period.

Tax expenses

Current and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included in profit or loss for the period, except to 
the extent that the tax arises from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income, or

• a business combination.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited to other comprehensive income if the tax relates to items that are 
credited or charged, in the same or a different period, to other comprehensive income.

Current tax and deferred taxes are charged or credited directly to equity if the tax relates to items that are credited or 
charged, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

1.4  Share capital and equity

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities.

Ordinary shares are recognised at par value and classified as 'share capital' in equity. Any amounts received from the issue 
of shares in excess of par value is classified as 'share premium' in equity. Dividends are recognised as a liability in the 
company in which they are declared.

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Notes to the Financial Statements

Figures in Rand

2021 2020

2. Non-Current Investments

Unlisted

Investment in Controlled Entities

Ketlaphela Medical Diagnostics (Pty) Ltd 100 -

The Entity exercises control over the above company which was incorporated during the financial year.

Issued Share Capital (R) 100 -

Percentage controlled by Board (%) 100% -

3. Loan to shareholder

Mintek

The loan is interest free and has no repayment terms. 39,514,843 39,514,943
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Mindev (Pty) Ltd Notes to the Financial Statements

Figures in Rand

2021 2020

2. Non-Current Investments

Unlisted

Investment in Controlled Entities

Ketlaphela Medical Diagnostics (Pty) Ltd 100 -

The Entity exercises control over the above company which was incorporated during the financial year.

Issued Share Capital (R) 100 -

Percentage controlled by Board (%) 100% -

3. Loan to shareholder

Mintek

The loan is interest free and has no repayment terms. 39,514,843 39,514,943

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Notes to the Financial Statements

Figures in Rand

2021 2020

Split between non-current and current portions

Non-current assets 39,514,843 39,514,943

Current assets - -

39,514,843 39,514,943

4. Share capital

Authorised

1,000 Ordinary shares of R1 each 1,000 1,000

Describe any changes in authorised share capital e.g. Conversion to net present 
value shares.

Issued

Ordinary 100 100

5. Related parties

The Group comprises of Mintek and its wholly owned subsidiary Mindev (Proprietary) Limited and Ketlaphela Medical Diagnostic (Proprietary) 
Limited its wholly owned subsidiary of Mindev. Mindev is engaged in the commercialisation of Mintek patents and technology through the 
identification of suitable partners. Katlephela has been incorporated to facilitate the marketing, sale and distribution of the medical related 
products that Mintek will be producing. The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enters into various sale and purchase transactions with 
related parties.

None of the directors, officers or the shareholder of the Mintek Group or, to the knowledge of Mintek, their families, had any interest, direct or 
indirect, in any transactions which has affected or will materially affect Mintek or its investment or subsidiary.

Relationships

Holding company Mintek

Related party balances

Loan accounts - Owing by related parties 39,514,943 39,514,943

Mintek

6. Directors’ emoluments

No emoluments were paid to the directors or any individuals holding a prescribed 
office during the year.

(Continued)

Mindev (Pty) Ltd Financial Statements for the Year Ended

31 March 2021
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Mintek enters into a Shareholder’s Compact agreement with the DMRE on an annual basis. The Shareholder’s Compact contains 
Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), a long-term strategic plan and a detailed operational plan. Quarterly reports to the DMRE are 
the main forms by which the performance against KPIs is monitored. Progress against the five strategic objectives for the 2020/21 
financial year is described below. 

            SO1: Conduct relevant, applied research and technological innovation

               Progress against the scientific and technological objective with respect to knowledge      
         generation improved in the reporting period. With respect to the annual performance, the 
organisation exceeded the target for journal papers (36/30), books (1/0), book chapters (12/4) and 
patents (5/4). However, the organisation fell short in delivery of targets with respect to conference 
papers (24/70), invention disclosures (13/18) and trademarks (5/8). 

Conference papers fell short (24/70) due to lockdown measures imposed to combat the COVID-19 
pandemic resulting in the cancellation of a number of expected events. These papers were diverted 
to journals or presented as oral presentations or webinars. Over and above the 24 conference 
papers published, we participated in a total of 80 virtual events as a substitute for not attending 
conferences due to COVID-19 restrictions. The target achieved (13) for invention disclosures was 
lower than projected (18) owing to delays on Science Vote projects due to the National lockdown 
and associated COVID-19 restrictions. It is anticipated that new discoveries intended for 2020 will 
be filed in 2021.

 In addition, some multi-year projects undertaken by divisions have previously had discoveries filed 
within them and no new IP is anticipated. Trademarks fell short (5/8) because some applications 
filed towards the end of the financial year had not yet been finalized by the end of March due to a 
lag in applications at the CIPC. The receipt of trademark application number from the attorneys is 
used by Mintek as evidence of successful filing.

Table 1: Mintek Performance - Conduct relevant, applied research and technological innovation

Key Performance Indicator Target 2020/21 Performance 2020/21 

No. of journal papers 30 36

No. of conference papers 70 24

No. of book chapters 4 12

No. of books 0 1

No. of invention disclosures 18 13

No. of patents 4 5

No. of trademarks 8 5

11.1 Mintek’s Strategic Objectives

1
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       SO3: Developing a capable workforce

               The total headcount at Mintek as at the financial year was 505 permanent staff. 
Seventeen (17) out of 507 employees are on fixed term contracts of between 1 to 5 years. 
The number of SET staff was 243 exceeding the annual target of 215. The percentage of 
black SET staff was 80% exceeded the target of 79%, while the percentage of female 
SET staff was 53% also exceeded the target of 50%. The achievement is due to targeted 
recruitment and a focus on transformation. 

Mintek employed 46 SET staff with doctoral degrees, exceeding the target of 33. Nineteen 
percent (19%) of the SET staff had doctoral degrees exceeding the target of 15%. The 
number of SET staff with masters degrees are on target (54) while the percentage of SET 
staff with masters degrees is below the target (22%/25%) due to an increase in the overall 
number of SET employees and more PhD’s. An impressive number of staff is acquiring 
advanced degrees with eighteen staff members registered with various South African 
universities and received research funding as part of the 2020 Science Vote Open Call 
process to undertake testwork in support of their Masters/Doctoral degrees in 2020/21 FY. 

       SO2: Foster industry establishment and expansion

                 Although we exceeded our annual target for income from the sale of products & services,     
        royalties and licences (103.04/74.7), we did not achieve our target for the number of prototypes, 
processes and/or models demonstrated/validated in a relevant environment (12/16) and number 
of IP Licences (0/2). This is due to the slow start to the year owing to COVID-19 were most of 
these outputs could not be ready to be published by the 31st March 2021 but will instead count 
in the 2021/22 FY. That also includes the HySA Demonstration units that were supposed to have 
been delivered to Mintek on the 1st March 2021. These will only be brought to Mintek in Q1 of FY 
2021/2022. The pilot plant for treatment of mine effluent was started up later than anticipated due 
to COVID-19 restrictions. The integrated plant has been commissioned and current efforts are 
focused on reaching design parameters. The measure will therefore only be met in the 2021/222 FY.

Table 2: Mintek Performance - Foster industry establishment and expansionn

Key Performance Indicator Target 2020/21 Performance 2020/21 

No. of prototypes, processes and/or 
models demonstrated/validated in a 
relevant environment

16 12

Income from the sale of products & 
services, royalties and licences, (Rm)

74.7 103.04

No. of IP Licences 2 0

2

3
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       SO3: Developing a capable workforce (continued)

              Mintek absorbed five final year graduates (funded by Mintek). These graduates, 
together with five MQA interns, were provided with bursaries to pursue post-graduate 
science or engineering degrees. Research topics are aligned with divisional research 
priorities. 

Mintek employed 98 SET staff at middle and senior levels (SP, MP, and SE) which is 
significantly lower that our target of 111. Sixty three percent (63%) of the SET staff at 
middle and senior levels were black, lower than the target of 68%. Staff exits adversely 
affected this KPI. There is a need to implement rigorous retention strategies and this will 
receive focus in the next financial year as the current recruitment practice is focused on 
senior staff who most of them will come with experience.

Table 3: Mintek Performance - Developing a capable workforce

Key Performance Indicator Target 2020/21
Performance 

2020/21 

Total number of SET employees 215 243

% of Black SET staff 79% 80%

% of Female SET staff 50% 53%

Total number of SET staff with doctoral degrees 33 46

% of SET staff with doctoral degrees 15% 19%

Total number of SET staff with masters degrees 54 54

% of SET staff with masters degrees 25% 22%

Total number of SET staff at middle and senior levels (SP, MP and SE) 111 98

% of Black SET staff at middle and senior levels (SP, MP and SE) 68% 63%

3
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Table 4: Mintek Performance - Develop and maintain a world-class RDI infrastructure

Key Performance Indicator Target 2020/21 Performance 2020/21 

Total investment in plant, property and equipment, (Rm) 50.30 46.35

Total investment in human capital, (Rm) 13.80 9.11

Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate <1 0

Disabling Injury Frequency Rate <1 0

Client Satisfaction Rate >90% 94%

Safety, Health, Environment and Quality Maintain Accreditation Accreditation maintained

   SO5: Ensure financial sustainability

              Although we fell short of our target for total income, the overall achievement in contract  
     Research and Development (R&D) income is positive amidst the tough financial and economic 
climate. The late start in the activity due to the national lockdown resulted in work shifting over into 
the FY 2021/22. Significant progress was made, specifically on the rehabilitation and holings projects 
which resulted in revenue of correction 96.7 million for the financial year. We have also achieved 
positive performance on Black Economic Empowerment (BEE) spend as % of procurement spend 
and expect to maintain this in the new financial year. 

Table 5: Mintek Performance - Ensure Financial Sustainability

Key Performance Indicator Target 2020/21 Performance 2020/21 

Total income, (Rm) 568.30  554.34

Net result, (Rm) 5.90 4.85

Contract R&D Income, (Rm) 52.90 56.92

BEE Spend as % of Procurement Spend 85% 94.01%

Audit opinion Unqualified Unqualified

5

      SO4: Develop and maintain a world-class RDI infrastructure

                Mintek invested R46.3 million in property, plant and equipment (PPE) which is below our   
          target of R50.30 million. Mintek is putting tight measures (e.g. improvement in planning projects, prior 
planning of procurement, tighter project management and more stringent monitoring and evaluation), in 
place to improve delivery of infrastructure and expenditure of budget allocated. 

Mintek invested R9.11 million towards human capital development which is slightly lower than our 
target of R13.80 million. This amount is expected to increase as part of the 2020 Science Vote Open 
Call awarded staff to acquire Masters/Doctoral degrees at various South African universities.

4
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Mintek Nanotechnology Innovation Centre (NIC) Cleanroom: 
dispensing and lamination processes during large scale 

manufacturing of lateral flow kits.
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12.1 Journal Articles

11. Kgatle M, Sikhwivhilu K, Ndlovu G and Moloto N. 
Degradation kinetics of methyl orange dye in water using 
trimetallic Fe/Cu/Ag Nanoparticles. Catalysts, 11, (428), 
2020.

12. Maluleke K, Goso X, Matinde E, Ndlovu S and 
McCullough S. Preliminary investigation into the 
extraction of light rare earth elements from different 
resources using the sulphation roasting process. The 
Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 120, 
(5), p. 319-325. May 2020.

13. Matabola P, Nkabinde SC and Moloto MJ. Optimized 
loading of TiO2 nanoparticles into electrospun 
polyacrylonitrile and cellulose acetate polymer fibers. 
Journal of nanomaterials, Vol. 2020, 10 pages, 2020.

14. Matabola P, Mofokeng M, Nthunya LN, Gutierrez 
L, Matabola P,  Mishra S and Nxumalo EN. 
Perflurooctyltriethoxy silane and carbon nanotubes-
modified PVDFsuperoleophilic nanofiber membrane 
for oil-in-water adsorption and recovery. Journal of 
Environmental Chemical Engineering, 8, (6), December 
2020. 

15. Mhlanga N and Ntho TA. A theoretical study of 
4-Mercaptobenzoic acid assembled on Ag for surface 
enhanced raman scattering applications. Materials Today 
Communications, 2020.

16. Mhlanga N, Skepu A, Domfe T, Ntho TA. Sandwich-
based surface-enhanced Raman scattering probes 
for detection and quantification of malaria. Raman 
Spectroscopy, 2020. 

17. Mukwevho M, Maharajh D and Chirwa E. Evaluating 
the effect of pH, temperature, and hydraulic retention time 
on biological sulphate reduction using response surface 
methodology. Water, 12 (10), 2020.

18. Mukwevho MJ, Maharajh D and Chirwa EMN. 
Evaluating the Effect of pH, Temperature, and Hydraulic 
Retention Time on Biological Sulphate Reduction Using 
Response Surface Methodology. Water, 2020.

19. Munkombwe M, Ayinde W B, Gitari WM, Amidou 
S, and Smith JA. Green synthesis of AgMgOnHaP 
nanoparticles supported on chitosan matrix: defluoridation 
and antibacterial effects in groundwater. Journal of 
Environmental Chemical Engineering. 8, (5), October 
2020

1. Baloyi SJ and JA Moma. Catalytic wet air oxidation 
of phenol by cordierite honeycomb washcoated with 
Al/Zr pillared bentonite in a plug flow reactor. Journal of 
Environmental Chemical Engineering, 8, 2020.

2. Baloyi J, Makatsa T, Ntho T and Masuku CM. 
Catalytic wet air oxidation of phenol: Review of the 
reaction mechanism, kinetics, and CFD modelling. Critical 
Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology, June 
2020.

3. Brill S, Lilimu N and Chetty D. Diamond fingerprinting 
for source discrimination using laser ablation inductively 
coupled plasma mass spectrometry (LA-ICP-MS) and 
fourier transform infrared spectrometry (FTIR). Heliyon, 6 
(12), December 2020.

4. Couperthwaite R, Molkeri A, Khatamsaz D, 
Srivastava A, Allaire D and Arroyave R. Materials 
Design Through Batch Bayesian Optimization with 
Multisource Information Fusion. JOM, Vol. 72, No. 12, 
2020.

5. Couperthwaite R, Danial K, Molkeri A, James 
J, Arróyave R, Allaire D, Srivastava A. Efficiently 
Exploiting Process-Structure-Property Relationships in 
Material Design by Multi-Information Source Fusion. Acta 
Materialia, 206, 2021.

6. Couperthwaite R, Allaire D and Arróyave R. 
Utilizing Gaussian Processes to Fit High Dimension 
Thermodynamic Data That Includes Estimated Variability. 
Computational Materials Science, 2020.

7. Ford E and Naude N. Investigating the effect on power 
draw and grinding performance when adding a shell 
liner to a vertical fluidised stirred media mill. Minerals 
Engineering, Minerals Engineering 160, 2021.

8. Geldenhuys I, Reynolds Q and Akdogan G. Evaluation 
of titania-rich slag produced from titaniferous magnetite 
under fluxless conditions. JOM, 72, p. 3462-3471, 2020.

9. Glastonbury RI, Beukes JP, Van Zyl PG, Tangstad M, 
Ringdalen E, Dall D, Steenkamp JD and Mushwana 
M. Characterisation of a real-world søderberg electrode. 
Metals, 11(1), 5, 2021.

10. Jijana A, Mphuthi N, Sikhwivhilu L, Shumbula P and 
Vilakazi S. The ultra sensitive electrochemical detection 
of As(III) in ground. Electrocatalysis, 12, p. 310–325, 
March 2021.
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20. Mwamba A, Ukabhai D and Cornish LA. Studies of 
Co-Fe-Pd Alloys in the As-Cast Condition, and After 
Annealing at 1000 and 650 °C. Journal of Phase Equilibria 
and Diffusion, 41, 567–585, Journal of Environmental 
Chemical Engineering, 2020.

21. Mxinwa S, Deenanath ED, Robertson SW, Ndlovu 
S and Basson P. The application of coal discards for 
acid mine drainage neutralization. The Southern African 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 2020. 

22. Ndlovu G, Mulaudzi I, Zhang Y, Wu Y, Legodi MA and 
Van Ree T. Copper doped Li3VO4 as anode material for 
lithium-ion batteries. Electroanalysis, 32 (12), p. 2635-
2641, October 2020.

23. Nyembe S, Onwubu SC, Mdluli PS, Singh S and 
Thaku R.  Evaluating the abrasivity of a nanosized 
eggshell. European Journal of Dentistry, 14 (4), 598-604 
October 2020.

24. Nyembe S, Ntho T, Ndlovu G, Shumbula P, Moloto 
N, Mwakikunga B, Sikhwivhilu L. Indium Phosphide 
Nanowires: Synthesis and Integration into a Gas Sensing 
Device, Sensors and Actuators: B. Chemical , 2021.

25. Nyembe S,  Ndlovu G, Shumbula P, Harris R, Moloto 
N, and Sikhwivhilu L. Laser Assisted Catalytic Growth 
of Silicon Nanowires using Gold and Nickel Catalysts. 
Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, Vol. 21, 
1-6, 2021.

26. Sikhwivhilu K, Ramokgopa SK, Moutloali RM and 
Moothi K. Process optimization through response 
surface methodology for treatment of acid mine drainage 
using carbon nanotubes-infused thin film Nanocomposite 
Membranes. Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts 
A/B/C, March 2021.

27. Sikhwivhilu K, Mwandila G, Mwanza M, Siame 
J, Mutanga S and Simposya A. Modelling energy 
requirements for a biogas-supported decentralized water 
treatment system for communities in Chambishi (Zambia) 
and Diepsloot township (South Africa), Renewable Energy 
Focus 37, 20-26, 2021.

28. Sikhwivhilu K, Ndlwana L, Moutloali RM and Ngila 
JC. The synthesis and characterisation of novel bi- 
and trimetallic nanoparticles and their nanocomposite 
membranes for envisaged water treatment. Membranes, 
10, 232, 2020.

29. Steenkamp J, Lindstad C and Lindstad L. Dataset 
produced by automated sand-rammer, clay-gun, and 
plate viscometer for three different tap-hole clays. Data in 
Brief, 35, April 2021.

30. Steenkamp J, Chetty D, Singh A, Hockaday L 
and Denton G. From ore body to high temperature 
processing of complex ores: Manganese— A South 
African perspective. JOM, 72, p. 3422-3435, 2020.

31. Thetwayo BM and Steenkamp J. A review of carbon-
based refractory materials and their applications. Journal 
of the Southern African Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 
120, (11), pp. 641–650. November 2020.

32. Tshilongo J, Tshabalala ZP, Mokoena TP, Jozela M, 
Hillie TK, Swart HC, and Motaung DE. TiO2 nanowires 
for humidity-stable gas sensors for toluene and xylene. 
Applied NanoMaterial (ACS), 4, (1) 702–716, 2021.

33. Reynolds Q and Olsen JE. Mathematical modeling of 
furnace drainage while tapping slag and metal through a 
single tap-hole. Metallurgical and Materials Transactions 
B, 51, 1750-1759, 2020.

34. Reynolds Q, Attah-Kyei D, Akdogan G, Dorfling C, 
Zietsman J, Lindberg D and Tesfaye F . Investigation of 
waste PCB leach residue as a reducing agent in smelting 
processes. Minerals Engineering, 156, September 2020.

35. Van Rooyen M, Ross V and Van der Lingen E. 
Technology commercialization front end framework: 
Metallurgical industry. The Journal of the Southern African 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, 120, pp. 269-276, April 
2020.

36. Xakalashe B, Keller V, Stopić S, Ma Y, Ndlovu S, 
Mwewa B,  Simate GS and Friedrich B. Effectiveness 
of fly ash and red mud as strategies for sustainable acid 
mine drainage management. Minerals, 10, (707), 2020.

12.2 Conference Papers

1. Bergmann C, Naude N and De Villiers J. A particle-
based approach for the modelling of spiral concentrators. 
IMPC 2020: XXX International Mineral Processing 
Congress 2020, Cape Town, South Africa. 18-22 October 
2020. 

2. Bezuidenhout D. Practical considerations in the 
design of an experimental set-up for laboratory-scale 
investigation of slag freeze-linings. Proceedings of the 59th 
Conference of Metallurgists, COM 2020: The Canadian 
Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum. ISBN: 978-
1-926872-47-6, 14-15 October 2020.
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3. Carelse C, Chetty D and Manuel M. A preliminary 
evaluation of liberated Platinum Group Minerals in Platreef 
ore with respect to their floatability. IMPC 2020: XXX 
International Mineral Processing Congress, South Africa, 
18-22 October 2020.

4. Chetty D. Process Mineralogy: Adding the value in 
the minerals value chain. IMPC 2020: XXX International 
Mineral Processing Congress, Cape Town, South Africa, 
18-22 October 2020. 

5. Geldenhuys IJ. Pilot plant smelting of Canadian and 
South African chromite in a DC furnace. Proceedings 
of the 59th Conference of Metallurgists, COM 2020: The 
Canadian Institute of Mining, Metallurgy and Petroleum, 
24-27 August 2020.

6. Govender R and Sing A. Prediction and performance 
of a WLIMS circuit through bench-scale Davis Tube 
testwork. IMPC 2020: XXX International Mineral 
Processing Congress, Cape Town, South Africa, 18-22 
October 2020. 

7. Kekana T, Reynolds Q and Akdogan G. The feasibility 
of producing syngas from waste coal fines and steam 
using a DC arc gasifier. IMPC 2020: XXX International 
Mineral Processing Congress, Cape Town, South Africa, 
18-22 October 2020.

8. Mantsho S, Le Roux JD, Oosthuizen DJ, and Craig 
IK. A survey on the status of industrial rotation control. 
21st IFAC World Congress (Virtual), Berlin, Germany, July 
12-17, 2020.

9. Marape G, Bryson M and Hlahane MD. Flotation 
processing of Elandsfontein sedimentary phosphate ore 
from South Africa. IMPC 2020: XXX International Mineral 
Processing Congress 2020, Cape Town, South Africa. 
18-22 October 2020.

10. Neale J. Bioleaching of Nickel and Cobalt - the 
Progress and the Potential. ALTA 2020 Online nickel-
cobalt-Copper Conference Keynote Address online, 10-
12 November 2020. 

11. Phillpotts D, Ramatsoma S and Whitehead B. 
Monitoring of air recovery for froth flotation optimisation 
on an industrial circuit. IMPC 2020: XXX International 
Mineral Processing Congress, Cape Town, South Africa, 
18-22 October 2020. 

12. Reynolds Q and Olsen JE. Modelling of Metal Loss in 
Ferromanganese Furnace Tapping Operations. Materials 
Processing Fundamentals Symposium, TMS 2021 Annual 
Meeting & Exhibition, virtual event, 16-17 March 2021.

13. Reynolds Q. Toward computational models of arc 
dynamics in silicon smelters. Proceedings of the 14th 
International Conference on CFD in Oil & Gas, Metallurgical 
and Process Industries, Trondheim (Norway), p.99-106, 
12-14 October 2020.

14. Robertson S, Nxumalo N, Ndhlalose M, Mxinwa S 
and Basson P. Advances in heap leaching of refractory 
and low-permeability ores. Hydroprocess 2020, Santiago 
Chile, 28-30 October, 2020.

15. Shipman WJ, Coetzee LC, Jordan DT, Mahlangu T 
and Kalenga G. Enhanced gold recovery and reduced 
cyanide wastage via Integrated cyanide analyser and 
model predictive controller, XXX International Mineral 
Processing Congress.18-19 October 2020.

16. Sithole A, Hockaday L and Bezuidenhout D. Solar 
energy for greener zinc processing in South Africa. 
Proceedings of IMPC 2020: XXX International Mineral 
Processing Congress 2020, Cape Town, South Africa, 
Oct. 2020, pp. 3779–3791.

17. Steenkamp J and Ringdalen E. The PreMa project 
within the context of manganese ferroalloy production in 
South Africa. SAIMM webinar, 23 April 2020.

18. Taguta J and Bryson M. Flowsheet development work 
for re-opening of Prieska Cu-Zn mine. IMPC 2020: XXX 
International Mineral Processing Congress 2020, Cape 
Town, South Africa. 18-22 October 2020.

19. Taguta J, Mulaudzi MG, McFadzean B and Ngoepe 
PE. Isothermal titration calorimetry and density functional 
theory comparison study of xanthate, dithiophosphate 
and dithiocarbamate adsorption on pyrite surfaces. IMPC 
2020: XXX International Mineral Processing Congress 
2020, Cape Town, South Africa. 18-22 October 2020.

20. Taguta J, Ngobeni P and Teme KC. The Role of 
Gangue Mineralogy on Flowsheet Development in Fluorite 
Processing. Minerals, 10 (3), 237, 2020.

21. Thiele H and Shame K. New Approach to Chromite 
Processing with emphasis on fine chrome beneficiation. 
IMPC 2020: XXX International Mineral Processing 
Congress, Cape Town, South Africa, 18-22 October 
2020.

22. Van Staden P. Remote Ops, Automation & Robotics: 
future processing challenges & opportunities. AMIRA/
ALTA 24 hour Global Muster, on-line webinar, 27 May 
2020.   

23. Xakalashe B, Vafeias M, Bagani M, Balomenos E, 
Panias D and Friedrich B. Alkaline alumina recovery 
from bauxiter residue slags. 3rd International Bauxite 
Residue Valorisation and Best Practices Conference, 
Virtual Event - Belgium, September 2020 - 01 October 
2020.
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12.3 Book Chapters

1. Chetty D, Bazhko O, Govender V & Ramatsoma S. 
(2020). The prediction of acid mine drainage potential 
using mineralogy. Fosso-Kankeu E, Wolkersdorfer C, & 
Burgess J. (Eds). Recovery of byproducts from acid mine 
drainage treatment, (49-72), Beverley, USA: Scrivener 
Publishing LLC. 

2. Cobongela S. (2020). Enzymes involved in plastic 
degradation. Inamuddin , Rizwana Mobin , Mohd Imran 
Ahamed and Rajender Boddula (Eds), Degradation of 
plastics. Millersville, USA: Materials Research Forum 
LLC, Print ISBN 978-1-64490-132-8, eBook ISBN 
9781644901335.

3. Kruger, L. Rare earth elements - A treasure locked in 
AMD? (2020). Burgess J, Fosso E. & Wolkersdorfer C. 
(Eds). Recovery of Byproducts from Acid Mine Drainage 
Treatment. pp 263-314, Beverley, USA: Scrivener 
Publishing LLC. 

4. Maumela M, Stumpf WE & Siyasiya CW. (2020). 
The effect of cast structures on texture and mechanical 
properties of AISI 433 Ferritic Stainless Steel. Advanced 
Aspects of Engineering Research. West Bengal, India: 
Book Publisher International. 

5. Mhlanga N & Ntho T. (2021). Computational theories 
used in the study of quantum dots. (2020). Inamuddin, 
Tauseef Ahmad Rangreez, Mohammad Faraz Ahmer and 
Rajender Boddula (Eds).  Quantum dots properties and 
Applications, Millersville, USA: Materials Research Forum 
LLC, Print ISBN 978-1-64490-124-3, eBook ISBN 978-
1-64490-125-0.

6. Mhlanga N & Tetyana P. (2021). Application of quantum 
dots in sensors. Inamuddin, Tauseef Ahmad Rangreez, 
Mohammad Faraz Ahmer and Rajender Boddula (Eds). 
Quantum dots Properties and applications. Millersville, 
USA: Materials Research Forum LLC, Print ISBN 978-1-
64490-124-3, eBook ISBN 978-1-64490-125-0.

7. Modiga A, Sosibo N & Singh N. (2020). Preparation 
and characterization of glass-ceramic composites 
from South African coal fly ash. Advanced Aspects 
of Engineering Research, West Bengal, India: Book 
Publisher International.  

8. Moloto N, Mpelane S, Sikhwivhilu L & Ray SS. (2020). 
Optical and morphological properties of ZnO and TiO2 
derived nanostructures synthesized via a microwave-
assisted hydrothermal method. Xiao F (Ed), Advances in 
Energy Research, 2nd Ed, Telangana, India: Vide Leaf, 
ISBN 978-93-90014-32-3.

9. Nemadodzi L, Mlasi B, Bambo M, Ndlovu G, 
Sikhwivhilu K, Mutanga S, Tshililo F,  Managa R, 
Dabata T, Hongoro C, Mjimba V & Siame J. (2020). 
A baseline assessment for a future health impact 
assessment. Diepsloot findings. Burgess J, Fosso E. & 
Wolkersdorfer C. (Eds). Recovery of byproducts from 
acid mine drainage treatment, pp 49-72, Beverley USA: 
Scrivener Publishing LLC. 

10. Ngqalakwezi A. (2020). Hydrogen: an environmental 
remediation. Global issues and innovative solutions in 
healthcare, Cultural and the Environment. US: IGI Global, 
ISBN 978179935769.

11. Ngqalakwezi A. (2020). Hydrogen storage: materials, 
kinetics and thermodynamics. Advanced technologies 
of hydrogen and engineering systems in automotive. US: 
IntechOpen Publisher, ISBN 978183682988.

12. Taguta J, Ngobeni P, Kebone & Teme KC. 2020. The 
Role of Gangue Mineralogy on Flowsheet Development 
in Fluorite Processing. Arkady Kalinin (Ed). The role of 
gangue mineralogy on flowsheet development in fluorite 
processing. Telangana, India: VIDE LEAF, ISBN 978-98-
90014-15-6.

13. Van Rooyen M & Van Staden PJ. (2020). Deriving 
value from acid mine drainage. Burgess, J., Fosso, E. & 
Wolkersdorfer, C. (eds.) Recovery of byproducts from acid 
mine drainage treatment, John Wiley & Sons, London, 
UK, p.235-261.

12.4 Book

1. Sikhwivhilu K, Mutanga S & Siame J. 2020. 
Understanding the Water-Energy-Health Nexus in Urban 
Contexts in Africa. Africa Institute of South Africa, South 
Africa, ISBN 978-0-7983-0480-1
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12.5 Glossary

AEMFC
African Exploration Mining and 
Finance Corporation

ALF Advanced Leach Facility

AMD Advanced Materials Division

AMI Advanced Metals Initiative

ARC Audit and Risk Committee

ASSM Artisanal and Small Scale Mining

AVE Advertising Value Equivalent

BEE Black Economic Empowerment

CANSA Cancer Association of South Africa

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CoEW Cobalt Electrowinning

CRM Certified Reference Materials

CSFR Client Satisfaction Frequency Rate

CSR Corporate Social Responsibility

DMR Department of Mineral Resources

DRC Democratic Republic of Congo

DST Department of Science and Technology

DTI Department of Trade and Industry

e-Waste Electronic Waste

EAP Employee Assistance Programme

EI Environmental Incidents

EWIT E-waste Implementation Toolkit

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

GDP Graduate Development Programme

HIFR Health Incidence Frequency Rate

HMD Hydrometallurgy Division

HRC Human Resources Committee

HRD Human Resources Division

HSS High Speed Steel

HySA Hydrogen and Fuel Cells Programme

IA Internal Audit

IMS iNgcaphephe Metallurgical Services

IP Intellectual Property

ICT
Information and Communications 
Technology

KPIs Key Performance Indicators

LTIFR Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate

MaC Measurement and Control

MESU Mineral Economics and Strategy Unit

METF Minerals Education Trust Fund

MHP Mixed Hydroxide Product

MoU Memorandum of Understanding

MQA Mining Qualifications Authority

Mintek Nanotechnology Innovation Centre (NIC)
Cleanroom Preparation room: Preparation of reagents for 

use in the manufacturing of lateral flow test kits.
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MTC Metals Technology Centre

MTEF Medium Term Expenditure Framework

NIC Nanotechnology Innovation Centre

NIM National Institute for Metallurgy

NRF National Research Foundation

PCB Printed Circuit Boards

PDFR Public Dissatisfaction Frequency Rate

PDP Professional Development Programme

PFMA Public Finance Management Act

PGMs Platinum Group Metals

PLP Preform Line Products

PMDN Precious Metals Development Network

R&D Research and Development

REE Rare Earth Elements

RMC Risk Management Committee

RSC Risk Steering Committee

SACREF South African Centralised Refinery

SADC Southern African Development Community

SAF Submerged-arc furnace

SAQA South African Qualifications Authority

SASSETA Safety and Security SETA

SEDA Small Enterprise Development Agency

SETA Sector Education and Training Authority

SHEQ Safety, Health, Environment and Quality

SMMEs Small, Medium and Micro Enterprises

SPEs Screen Printed Electrodes

SPPIA
Standards for the Professional 
Practice of Internal Auditing

SSMB Small Scale Mining and Beneficiation

STEM
Science, Technology, Engineering 
and Mathematics

TC Technical Committee

TCTC Total Cost to Company

ToR Terms of Reference 

UCT University of Cape Town

WIL Work Integrated Learning

XRT X-ray Transmission

Mintek NIC Cleanroom: Packaging of lateral flow kits into 
foil pouches 
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2 0 2 0 
saw the entire world plunged 

into a battle against a Pandemic which 
has led to millions of lives being lost. 

Now in 2021, the fight against this Pandemic is 
still being fought across the globe by millions. We at 

Mintek would like to express our condolences to the 
families of those who lost loved ones to COVID-19. We 

also want to encourage those left behind to continue this 
fight with both their bodies and their minds.

In response to the Pandemic, Mintek repurposed its 
programmes and facilities to contribute to the national 
COVID-19 response. We established the capacity 
to produce hand and surface sanitisers which were 
distributed to our employees and key stakeholders. 
We also accelerated the development of COVID-19 
Rapid Diagnostics Test Kits and advanced our 
capacity to produce antigens and antibodies 
which are the key ingredients in the research, 

development and manufacture of rapid 
diagnostics kits. We also focused on 

repositioning the organisation to 
ensure that it remains relevant 

and true to its mission of 
being a global leader in 

innovative mineral 
solutions.

A Worldwide Pandemic Struck,
Mintek Countered with 

Innovation
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